TECHNICAL REPORTS SERIES No. 63

Manual of

Radioisotope Production

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, VIENNA, 1966

Manual of radioisotope production AN: 034148 c.2 UN: 621.039.8.002 I61



34148

MANUAL OF RADIOISOTOPE PRODUCTION

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ARGENTINA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA BELGIUM BOLIVIA BRAZIL BULGARIA BURMA BYELORUSSIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC CAMBODIA CAMEROON CANADA CEYLON CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA CONGO, DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF COSTA RICA CUBA CYPRUS CZECHOSLOVAK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC DENMARK DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EL SALVADOR ETHIOPIA FINLAND FRANCE

GABON GERMANY, FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF **GHANA** GREECE **GUATEMALA** HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY ICELAND INDIA INDONESIA IRAN IRAQ ISRAEL ITALY IVORY COAST JAMAICA JA PA N IORDAN KENYA KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT LEBANON LIBERIA LIBYA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALI MEXICO MONACO MOROCCO NETHERLANDS NEW ZEALAND

NICARAGUA NIGERIA NORWAY PAKISTAN PANAMA PARAGUAY PERII PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL ROMANIA SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SUDAN SWEDEN SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC THAILAND TUNISIA TURKEY UKRAINIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS UNITED ARAB REPUBLIC UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUA Y VENEZUELA VIET-NAM YUGOSLA VIA

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1966 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

C IAEA, 1966

Permission to reproduce or translate the information contained in this publication may be obtained by writing to the International Atomic Energy Agency, Kärntner Ring 11, A-1010 Vienna I, Austria.

> Printed by the IAEA in Austria July 1966

TECHNICAL REPORTS SERIES No.63

MANUAL OF RADIOISOTOPE PRODUCTION



INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 1966 International Atomic Energy Agency:

Manual on radioisotope production. Vienna, the Agency, 1966.

446 p. (IAEA, Technical reports series no.63)

621.039.8.002

MANUAL OF RADIOISOTOPE PRODUCTION, IAEA, VIENNA, 1966 STI/DOC/10/63

FOREWORD

Many countries now possess research reactors. Since the radioisotopes from these reactors bring benefits in many different spheres, such as agriculture, medicine, biology, hydrology and engineering, the first step taken at any new reactor centre is usually the establishment of a sound isotope production programme.

The International Atomic Energy Agency organized a series of regional study-group meetings, the aim of which was to stress the importance of isotope production and encourage the efficient use of these research reactors. Actual production processes differ, depending on the scale of production and prevailing local conditions, so each reactor centre has of necessity to adapt itself to the processes most appropriate to it.

This Manual is a first attempt to collect information on isotope production processes for the use of isotope producers. The dissemination of such information may enable appropriate isotope production programmes to be established at new centres and, at the same time, contribute to the improvement of those production processes already in operation.

The Agency is grateful to the consultants who offered invaluable assistance in the preparation of this Manual and to the national atomic energy authorities who have provided up-to-date information on their radioisotope production processes. ,

•

CONTENTS

PART I: GENERAL

INT	FRODUCTION	3
1.	Production and utilization of radioisotopes	3
2.	Analysis of a radioisotope production programme	14
3.	Handling and processing facilities	19
4.	Dispensing of radioisotope solutions	46
5.	Requirements for product quality control	67
6.	Radioassay	74
7.	Radiological Protection	92

PART II: DESCRIPTION OF SUITABLE REACTORS; NUCLEAR DATA; REFERENCES; PROCEDURES

Description of reactors suitable for the production of radioisotopes	103
Nuclear-data, references and procedures	107
Bromine-82	107
Chromium-51	125
Cobalt-58	152
Copper-64	169
Fluorine-18	184
Gold-198	197
Iodine-131	234
Iron-59	273
Magnesium-28	290
Phosphorus-32	300
Potassium-42	339
Sodium-24	356
Sulphur-35	379
Yttrium-90	419
Zinc-65	429
LIST OF CONSULTANTS	443
LIST OF CONTRIBUTING ORGANIZATIONS	445

. . . .

PART I

1

GENERAL

,

1 -

1*

INTRODUCTION

The Manual of Radioisotope Production has been compiled primarily to help small reactor establishments which need a modest programme of radioisotope production for local requirements. It is not comprehensive, but gives guidance on essential preliminary considerations and problems that may be met in the early stages of production. References are included as an aid to the reader who wishes to seek further in the extensive literature on the subject.

In preparing the Manual, which is in two parts, the Agency consulted several Member States which already have long experience in radioisotope production. An attempt has been made to condense this experience, firstly, by setting out the technical and economic considerations which govern the planning and execution of an isotope programme and, secondly, by providing experimental details of isotope production processes. Part I covers topics common to all radioisotope processing, namely, laboratory design, handling and dispensing of radioactive solutions, guality control, measurement and radiological safety. Part II contains information on the fifteen radioisotopes in most common use. These are bromine-82, cobalt-58, chromium-51, copper-64, fluorine-18, gold-198, iodine-131, iron-59, magnesium-28, sodium-24, phosphorus-32, sulphur-35, yttrium-90 and zinc-65. Their nuclear properties are described, references to typical applications are given and published methods of production are reviewed; also included are descriptions in detail of the production processes used at several national atomic energy organizations.

No attempt has been made to distinguish the best values for nuclear data or to comment on the relative merits of production processes. Each process is presented essentially as it was described by the contributor on the understanding that critical comparisons are not necessary for processes which have been well tried in practical production for many years. The information is presented as a guide to enable the reader to select processes most suitable to his local conditions.

1. PRODUCTION AND UTILIZATION OF RADIOISOTOPES: SOME GENERAL ASPECTS

The immense variety of radioisotopes and their derived products is illustrated by the large number of suppliers' catalogues and directories that exist. The latest edition of the International Directory of Isotopes published by the International Atomic Energy Agency in 1964 [1] lists some 80 distributors and several thousand different products. The uses to which these materials are put are equally numerous and diverse but, broadly speaking, they can be regarded as falling within three categories.

In medicine, the ionizing radiation from radioisotopes has long been used for purposes of therapy, but in recent years techniques in which radioactive materials are used as tracers in diagnosis has dominated medical application [2-6].

3 '

In industrial applications [7-12] the amounts of radioactivity used are generally higher and there is a greater need for radiological protection and for some measure of legal control. Even so, many techniques, such as gamma radiography, thickness gauging and other methods of process control, are already in established use. However, it is probable that the potential for industrial applications is much greater than is indicated by their present use.

The third category, applications in research, is so diverse as to make it difficult to appreciate its full extent. Several Agency publications [7-8,13] provide examples of research uses in special fields of application but, in general terms, the radioisotope has become an accepted tool of the research scientist and one with which great progress has been made, especially in biochemistry, agriculture and related sciences.

After twenty years of effective existence radioisotopes have become established as an important element of progress in three major fields of human activity: medicine, industry and research.

The major beneficiary of radioisotopes is undoubtedly medicine; it accounts for more than 50% of the total radioisotope consumption. The utilization of isotopes for medical purposes stands in a class by itself and the diversity of radioactive materials in use for such purposes is briefly illustrated in Table I.

In industrial applications radioisotopes contained in sealed capsules are used as sources of radiation. For example, alpha particle emitters, such as polonium-210, americium-241, plutonium-239 or radium-226, are used for ionization, or, in conjunction with beryllium, for the production of neutrons. Beta particle emitters, such as strontium-90, thallium-204, promethium-147, tritium and krypton-85, are used as radiation sources for gauging, ionization, X-ray production and for self-luminous paints. Gamma emitters, such as caesium-137, cobalt-60, iridium-192 and thulium-170, are used for radiography, for sterilization and for the initiation of chemical reactions. The use of radioactive tracers has also been applied extensively in engineering and metallurgy, and in the investigation of industrial plant processes.

Some typical examples of the isotopes used in industrial processes are given in Table II.

Industrial uses of radioisotopes are receiving increasing attention and a comprehensive survey has been carried out recently by the Agency [10]. The survey shows some of the savings which can be achieved from the application of radioisotopes to industry. The findings are summarized in Table IIL

Finally, the application of radioisotopes to problems in agriculture and hydrology well illustrate the use of radioactive material as a tool of research and its value to countries where an increasing population demands the proper development of food and water resources [14-19]. Some examples of the isotopes used in agriculture and hydrology are given in Table IV.

The extent of radioisotope consumption

Generally speaking, the more a country is industrialized the greater is the extent of its consumption of radioisotopes. In 1963, for example, isotope consumption per capita was twice as high in the United States of America

TABLE I

SUMMARY OF MEDICAL APPLICATIONS OF RADIOISOTOPES

Blood cell labelling	Chromium-51 DFP- ³² P
Bone scanning	Calcium-47 Strontium-85
Brain scanning	Arsenic-74 Bismuth-206 Copper-64 Chlormerodrin- ¹⁹⁷ Hg and ²⁰³ Hg 131-Radioiodinated Human Serum Albumin Iodinated polyvinyl pyrrolidone- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Technetium-99m
Cardiac output	131-Radioiodinated Human Serum Albumin Sodium-24
Cardiac shunts (diagnosis)	Krypton-85
Cerebral blood flow	Iodoantipyrine- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Krypton-85 Xenon-133
Chondrosarcoma (radiotherapy)	Sulphur-35
Circulatory studies	Chromium-51 131-Radioiodinated Human Serum Albumin Sodium-24
Copper metabolism	Copper-64
Fluid volume - (extracellular)	Bromine - 82 Sodium - 24 Sulphur - 35
- (total)	Iodoantipyrine- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Tritiated water
Gastro-intestinal tract studies -	
Blood loss Fat absorption Protein loss Vitamin B ₁₂ uptake	Chromium-51 Iodinated oleic acid- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Iodinated triolein- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Iodinated P. V. P ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Cyanocobalamin- ⁵⁷ Co and ⁵⁸ Co Hydroxocobalamin- ⁵⁷ Co and ⁵⁸ Co
Intraocular tumours (diagnosis)	Phosphorus-32
Iron metabolism	Iron-55 and 59
Kidney function	<u>o</u> -iodohippuric acid- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Sodium diatrizoate- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Rubidium-86
Kidney scanning	Chlormerodrin- ¹⁹⁷ Hg and ²⁰³ Hg

5

Leukaemia (radiotherapy)	Bismuth-206 Phosphorus-32
Liver function	Gold-198 Rose Bengal- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I
Liver scanning	Rose Bengal- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I Technetium-99m
Lung function	Xenon-133
Lymphatic irradiation	Iodinated triolein in 'Lipiodol'
Osteomyelitis (diagnosis)	Calcium-47
Paget's disease (diagnosis)	Calcium-47
Pancreas scanning	L-Selenomethionine- ⁷⁵ Se
Peritoneal effusions (radiotherapy)	Gold-198 colloid Yttrium-90 colloid Zirconium phosphate- ³² P colloid
Pernicious anaemia (diagnosis)	Cyanocobalamin- ⁵⁷ Co and ⁵⁸ Co
Pleural effusions (radiotherapy)	See peritoneal effusions
Polycythemia vera (radiotherapy)	Phosphorus-32
Potassium metabolism	Potassium-42
Sodium metabolism	Sodium-24
Thyroid disorders (radiotherapy)	Sodium iodide (^{131}I) injection and Solution
Thyroid function	Sodium Iodide (¹³¹ I) injection and Solution Iodine- ¹³¹ I Diagnostic Capsules
Thyroid function (in vitro tests)	L-Thyroxine- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I L-Triiodothyronine- ¹²⁵ I and ¹³¹ I
Thyroid scanning	Sodium Iodide (¹³¹ I) Injection and Solution Technetium-99m
Wilson's disease (diagnosis)	Copper-64

as in the United Kingdom, and in the latter it was twice as high as in France. The pattern of isotope use is similar in all countries and always shows that the greatest use is in medicine, with research and industrial applications making their appearance later and in smaller amounts. The utilization of isotopes in a country which is undergoing development generally tends to be lower: this can readily be understood since the use of radioisotopes in medicine, in industry and in research requires a basic minimum of industrial attainment. At a symposium organized by the Agency in October 1961 on the Programming and Utilization of Research Reactors [23], figures were presented for the average consumption of isotopes by a country with a population of 10 million inhabitants. The figures are reproduced in Table V.

The radioisotopes cited are used almost entirely for medical purposes and their value at the international prices prevailing in 1961 is estimated

Radioisotope	Industrial applications
¹⁴ C, ¹⁴⁴ Ce, ⁹⁰ Sr, ¹⁹² Ir, ¹³⁷ Cs ⁶⁰ Co, ¹⁷⁰ Tm, ²⁰⁴ T1, ¹⁰⁶ Ru, ⁸⁵ Kr	Thickness gauging
¹³⁷ Cs, ⁶⁰ Co, ⁸⁵ Kr, ⁹⁰ Sr, ²⁰⁴ Tl, ¹⁴⁴ Ce	Density gauging
⁶⁰ Co, ¹³⁷ Cs, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁸⁵ Kr	Level gauging
Ra-Be, ²⁴¹ Am, ²¹⁰ Po, ¹³⁷ Cs, ²³⁹ Pu, ⁶⁰ Co, Ra	Logging devices
¹³⁷ Cs, ⁶⁰ Co, ¹⁹² Ir	Radiography
³ H, ¹⁴ C, ²⁴ Na, ³² P, ⁸² Br, ³⁵ S, ⁴⁵ Ca, ⁵¹ Cr, ⁴⁶ Sc, ⁵⁵ Fe, ⁵⁸ Co, ⁶⁵ Zn, ⁸⁵ Kr, ⁸⁶ Rb, ¹³¹ I, ¹¹⁰ MAg, ¹⁹⁸ Au, ²⁰³ Hg, ²¹⁰ Po, ¹⁴⁷ Pm, ¹²⁴ Sb	Tracing

ISOTOPES USED IN INDUSTRIAL PROCESSES

at \$10 000. This level of consumption can be taken as a useful guide for developing reactor centres.

The utilization of radioisotopes requires not only well-developed medical institutions but some auxiliary services such as electronics and health physics. These services are essential before significant progress can be made in the use of isotopes for both medical and other purposes. Although international suppliers offer a large choice of appropriate electronic equipment it can only be used if adequate servicing and repair facilities are available within the country. A new reactor centre commonly provides such services and therefore acts as a nucleus for radioisotope development.

The legal control of health and safety, when using radioisotopes and radiation, is a matter which sometimes restricts the initial development of the use of radioactive materials. It is advisable to establish some form of legislation at an early stage since risks can go undetected in the absence of special training and the use of special instruments. In this context, the Agency has already published much of the necessary information [24-26].

Finally, it is essential that those handling radioactive materials, whether in the form of sealed or unsealed sources, should have the necessary training: this can most readily be acquired in one of the many countries which now organize radioisotope courses in Isotope Schools.

7

TABLE III

	24 countries (1961-1963)	USA (1963)	USSR (1961)	Total
Gauging	26.7-43.4	35.2-50.4	100 ^{a)}	162 - 194
Radiography	12.1-28.9	4.0-7.6	22	38 - 58
Ionization	1 - 2	- ^{b)}	_ ^{b)}	1-2
Tracing	~10 -40	27.0-48 ^{c)}	58 ^{a)}	95 - 146
TOTAL	~49 -104	66 - 106	180	296-400

SOME SAVINGS FROM THE APPLICATION OF RADIOISOTOPES TO INDUSTRY (\$ million)

a) The exact distribution of savings in gauging and tracing is not known.

) Included in other groups.

c) Includes also certain gauging and ionization applications.

Some problems of the local production of radioisotopes

Although small amounts of radioactive materials can be produced with neutron generators or with other types of accelerators, a local radioisotope production programme depends essentially on the availability of a nuclear reactor. This Manual considers only those radioisotopes which can be prepared by means of a reactor. Clearly, although important, radioisotope production by itself does not justify the construction and operation of a reactor: this function can only be part of an integrated research programme. The multi-purpose use of reactors is typical of the actual situation in most nuclear centres. It is also clear that the type of reactor will determine to a large extent the possibilities for radioisotope production. A report by the Agency [27] includes a review of reactor-based isotope production and comments on the suitability of different facilities. Generally speaking, the swimming-pool type of reactor, used mainly for research purposes, is the most suitable type of reactor for isotope production. Its main advantages are the ability to introduce samples into the reactor core for high-flux irradiation, and the ability to load hot samples under water. The ease with which pneumatic tubes can be introduced is of value for short irradiations.

The availability of a reactor for isotope production is usually governed by the extent to which it is used for other research projects. Further, it should be recognized that one type of reactor is not ideal for the production of <u>all</u> radioisotopes: the large production of cobalt-60 or tritium will present difficulties for the small reactor centre. In practice, except in unusual circumstances, it is unreasonable for a small reactor centre to try to make all types of radioisotope with a research reactor.

TABLE IV

EXAMPLES OF ISOTOPES USED IN AGRICULTURE AND HYDROLOGY

Isotope	Agriculture
¹⁴ C, ²⁷ Mg, ³² P, ³⁵ S, ⁴² K, ⁴⁵ Ca, ⁵² Mn, ⁵⁴ Mn, ⁵⁶ Mn, ⁵⁵ Fe, ⁵⁹ Fe, ⁶⁰ Co, ⁶⁴ Cu, ⁶⁵ Zn, ⁸⁹ Sr, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁹ Mo, ¹³⁷ Cs	Soil, plant and animal nutrition
¹⁵ N, ³² P	Fertilizer placement
³ H, ³⁶ Cl, ³⁸ Cl	Water movement
Ra-Be, Po-Be, Am-Be neutron sources	Percentage soil moisture determination
²² Na, ²⁴ Na	Soil and animal water volume determination
131 ₁	Animal pathology and nutrition
³ H, ¹⁴ C, ²² Na, ²⁴ Na, ³² P, ³⁵ S, ³⁶ Cl, ³⁸ Cl, ⁴² K, ⁴⁵ Ca, ⁴⁶ Sc, ⁵² Mn, ⁵⁴ Mn, ⁵⁶ Mn, ⁵⁵ Fe, ⁵⁹ Fe, etc.	Entomology
⁷⁴ As, ⁷⁶ As, ¹⁴ C	Weed control
•	Hydrology
	Surface water
¹³¹ I, ⁸² Br, ¹⁹⁸ Au, ³ H, ²⁴ Na	Water stream gauging (discharge measurement)
⁸² Br, ¹³¹ I	Effluents from waste disposal
⁸⁶ Rb, ¹⁴⁰ Ba, ¹⁴⁰ La, ⁴⁶ Sc, ¹⁹⁸ Au	Sediment transport; bed load sediment by tagged particles

9

TABLE IV (cont'd)

	Ground water
Be-Ra, Be-Po, Be- ²⁴¹ Am	Percentage soil moisture
neutron sources	
³ H, ⁵¹ Cr (complexed), ⁶⁰ Co (complexed), ⁵⁸ Co (complexed), ⁸² Br, ³⁵ S (as sulphate)	Ground water tracing
⁸² Br, ¹³¹ I, ³ H	Ground water velocity
¹³¹ I, ^{110 m} Ag	Ground water direction

A comment should be made here about the running of the reactor. It is unusual to keep a research reactor in operation without some interruptions. Radioisotope production, on the other hand, requires a certain degree of continuous running and regularity of reactor cycle. It is therefore essential when a production programme is drawn up to be able to rely on some

TABLE V

Radioisotope	Annual consumption (Ci)	
 131 _I	5 - 10	
¹⁹⁸ Au (colloidal)	5 - 10	
³² p	1 - 2	
	(mCi)	
⁵¹ Cr	100 - 150	
²⁴ Na	100	
⁵⁹ Fe	2 - 5	
³⁵ S	up to 200	
¹⁴ C	up to 50	

AVERAGE CONSUMPTION OF ISOTOPES (Population of 10 million inhabitants)

measure of regularity of reactor operation and also to allow for the inevitable occasional interruption in the reactor schedule.

Apart from the reactor, it is also essential to have sufficient in the way of ancillary services, such as health physics, nuclear electronics, workshops, analytical services and counting rooms, etc. A minimum of processing laboratory space will also have to be provided.

It is also useful at this point to consider, before an essentially localized isotope production programme is started, the possible advantages of establishing a larger regional centre for isotope production and distribution or one in which several centres embark on a co-ordinated programme, each carrying out that part to which its facilities are best suited. Either of these schemes can of course only exist where efficient communications allow. A regional centre undoubtedly leads to a great saving in money, facilities and manpower and should be more efficient than a national centre due both to the larger market it can supply and to the larger pool of scientific experience available to it. The extra degree of specialization which each part of the region can then achieve also has some advantages.

There is undoubtedly much to be gained in establishing a national isotope production programme. As has been shown in many countries already, it stimulates a more rapid growth in the use of radioisotopes. It provides a good training ground for scientists who, once qualified in these techniques, can give advice to new customers and assist them in their projects. Radioisotope production acts as a stimulus to other research activities.

Some of the difficulties of establishing a local isotope production programme must, however, be recognized. From the economic point of view, local production will always cost more than importation from large suppliers who have the means and volume of production to operate more economically. A research reactor will never produce all the isotopes needed, and such products as cobalt-60 for cobalt therapy, carbon-14 and tritium, which represent a large proportion of the demand, require irradiation conditions which cannot be met in a conventional research reactor. Similarly, the labelled compounds required in research are so varied that it is impossible to make reasonable provision for the production of all that may be needed in a particular country. It is therefore usual for new reactor centres to embark first on the production of short-lived radioisotopes where transport from a distant producer is relatively costly and inconvenient. However, in view of the speed of air transport, even this comment is valid only for isotopes with a half-life of about 30 h or less.

All things considered, the local production of radioisotopes will be able to satisfy only a fraction of the national demand, say about half, since it has often been observed that the commencement of domestic production stimulates the demand for more, and less accessible, radioactive materials. Thus, if national production is considered necessary for short-lived radioisotopes, or valuable in promoting the use of radioactive methods, its limitations and cost must be appreciated. The decision to start should only be the result of a deliberate choice, though it may be influenced by political and other considerations. Scientific prestige, lack of foreign currency, independence from foreign supply and other such considerations must be carefully weighed against cost in terms of money and scientific manpower requirements. The extent to which radioisotope production can be undertaken at a particular reactor centre depends very much on the general policy at that centre and the size of the total effort available to the whole programme. Isotope production will usually be only one of the many projects based on the reactor and the choice of which radioisotopes to produce will to some extent depend on the nature of the other work undertaken. If it is planned to start with a laboratory which produces only the short-lived radioisotopes, this can be a relatively simple and inexpensive operation. The next stage of development, involving a larger range of isotopes, particularly those used in medicine, needs a larger and much more costly facility.

It is an advantage to prepare the way for local production by importing radioisotopes from other reactor centres a long time in advance of local production. In this way the users can be made familiar with the problems of radioisotope handling and experience can be gained by health physicists, technicians and others who will eventually be concerned with production. At this stage elementary safety regulations can be worked out and forms of control can be practised. When local isotope consumption reaches a level where several customers are importing the same materials routinely and frequently, the point is reached where some form of central distribution becomes possible and economic. According to the Agency Report (Technical Reports Series No. 19 [28]), considerable savings can be made by grouping orders together. If there are at least three establishments receiving deliveries at the same time, savings can achieve as much as 50% of the separate cost. Any central dispensing and distribution developed at this stage can later be incorporated into the local production programme. The creation of such a distribution centre has other advantages. It enables those concerned directly with the work to keep up-to-date on the exact state of the radioisotope demand and to forecast its development through the contacts established with users. It also makes for greater efficiency in the supervision of protection and all matters of safety, since all users within the country will be known.

Finally, the training of scientific and technical personnel is a problem which must be faced at an early stage. Visits to overseas laboratories, visiting fellowships to organizations using radioisotopes and consultation with the Agency are some of the ways in which this can be done. Sufficiently long training periods should be allowed for each individual, say one year, and it is important to arrange training not only for those staff directly in charge of radiochemical work but also for those responsible for the design and construction of laboratories and equipment.

REFERENCES

- [1] International Directory of Isotopes, Third edition, IAEA, Vienna (1964) 488 pp.
- [2] Use of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. Conf. IAEA, FAO, WHO, Mexico City (1961) Academic Press, London (1962) Vol.1 563 pp., Vol.II 328 pp.
- [3] Tritium in the Physical and Biological Sciences, Proc. Symp. IAEA and Joint Commission on Applied Radioactivity of IUPAC, Vienna (1961), IAEA, Vienna (1962) Vol.I 369 pp., Vol.II 438 pp.
- [4] Radioisotopes in Tropical Medicine, Proc. Symp. IAEA, WHO, Bangkok (1960) IAEA, Vienna (1962) 375 pp.

- [5] Radioactive Isotope Therapy with Particular Reference to the Use of Radiocolloids, J.H. Müller, Review Series No. 27, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 64 pp.
- [6] Medical Radioisotope Scanning, Proc. Symp., Athens (April 1964) IAEA, Vienna (1964) 266 pp.
- [7] Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors, Proc. Seminar, Vienna (Nov. 1962)
 Vol.I 432 pp.; Vol.II 274 pp.
- [8] Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, Proc. Conf. IAEA, UNESCO, Copenhagen (Sept. 1960), IAEA, Vienna (1962) Vol.I 542 pp; Vol.II 554 pp; Vol.III 633 pp.
- [9] Radioisotope Applications in Industry (Technical Directory) IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp.
- [10] Industrial Radioisotope Economics, Technical Reports Series No.40, IAEA, Vienna (1965) 576 pp.
- [11] Large Radiation Sources in Industry, Proc. Conf., Warsaw (Sept. 1959) IAEA, Vienna (1960) Vol I 438 pp. Vol II 456 pp.
- [12] Industrial Uses of Large Radiation Sources, Proc. Conf., Salzburg (May 1963) IAEA, Vienna (1963) Vol.1 422 pp., Vol.II 328 pp.
- [13] Radiochemical Methods of Analysis, Proc. Symp., Salzburg (Oct. 1964) IAEA (1965) Vol.I 433 pp.; Vol.II 522 pp.
- [14] Radiation in Agricultural Research and Practice, K.Kaindl and H.Linser, Review Series No.10, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 48 pp.
- [15] Laboratory Training Manual on the Use of Isotopes and Radiation in Soil-Plant Relations Research, Technical Reports Series No.29, Joint IAEA/FAO, IAEA, Vienna (1964) 166 pp.
- [16] Effects of Ionizing Radiations on Seeds, Proc. Symp. IAEA, FAO, Karlsruhe (Aug. 1960) IAEA, Vienna (1961) 655 pp.
- [17] Radioisotopes and Radiation in Entomology, Proc. Symp., Bombay (Dec. 1962) IAEA, Vienna (1962) 307 pp.
- [18] Radiation and Radioisotopes Applied to Insects of Agricultural Importance, Proc. Symp. IAEA/FAO, Athens(1963) IAEA (1963) 508 pp.
- [19] Radioisotopes in Soil-Plant Nutrition Studies, Proc. Symp. IAEA / FAO, Bombay (Feb-March, 1962) IAEA, Vienna (1962) 461.pp.
- [20] Radioisotopes in Hydrology, Proc. Symp., Tokyo (March 1963) IAEA, Vienna (1963) 459.pp.
- [21] Isotope Techniques for Hydrology, Technical Reports Series No.23. IAEA, Vienna (1964) 36 pp.
- [22] Application of Isotope Techniques in Hydrology, Technical Reports Series No.11, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 31 pp.
- [23] Programming and Utilization of Research Reactors, Proc. Symp., Vienna (Oct. 1961), Academic Press Vol. III (1962) 363 pp.
- [24] Safety Series

Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Series No.1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 150 pp.

Safe Handling of Radioisotopes: Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No.2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 120 PP-Safe Handling of Radioisotopes: Medical Addendum, Safety Series No.3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 80.PP-Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Materials, Safety Series No.6, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 76 pp. Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Materials: Notes on Certain Aspects of the Regulations, Safety Series No.7, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 112 pp.

The Use of Film Badges for Personnel Monitoring, Safety Series No.8, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 87 pp. Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No.9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 57 pp. The Management of Badiatering Matter Badward has Padiatered Vienna (1962) 10 14 Feb

The Management of Radioactive Wastes Produced by Radioisotope Users, Safety Series No.12, IAEA, Vienna (1965) 58 pp.

Radioactive Waste Disposal into the Sea, Safety Series No.5, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 168 pp.

- Disposal of Radioactive Wastes into Fresh Water, Safety Series No.10, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 100 pp. Methods of Surveying and Monitoring Marine Radioactivity, Safety Series No.11, IAEA, Vienna (1965) 95 pp.
- [25] Technology of Radioactive Waste Management Avoiding Environmental Disposal, Technical Reports Series No. 27, IAEA, Vienna (1964) 148 pp.
- [26] A Basic Toxicity Classification of Radionuclides, Technical Reports Series No.15, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 39 pp.
- [27] Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No.17, IAEA (1963) 264 pp.
- [28] The Efficient Importation and Distribution of Radioisotopes, Technical Reports Series No. 19, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 28 pp.

2. ANALYSIS OF A RADIOISOTOPE PRODUCTION PROGRAMME

Once it has been decided to establish a reactor centre and a positive decision has been made to produce radioisotopes locally, the immediate subsequent step is to carry out a detailed analysis of the aims of the programme, to survey the local needs for radioisotopes, and to study the prospects for their utilization at various stages as the programme develops. These preliminary steps are of great importance, since they will form the basis for a working plan, and, where possible, the survey should be carried out with the aid of experts.

The rate of development of a radioisotope production programme will depend primarily on the extent of urgency and support that it is given by the controlling authorities. A prerequisite for the proper implementation of such a programme, if it is to be a positive factor in the economy and technical progress of a country, is the preparation and timely execution of a master plan along the following lines:

(a) Training to be carried out of skilled personnel, especially chemists, who are capable of carrying out a production programme and correlating it with a research and development programme.

(b) Radioisotope techniques and basic nuclear concepts to be introduced into the curricula of higher educational institutes. Courses in radioisotope techniques to be organized for students, teachers, physicians, scientists and engineers, and a cadre of scientists capable of using radioisotopes for industrial, agricultural, hydrological and other applications, to be formed.
(c) Departments of medical institutions to be organized for the use of radioisotopes for therapy and diagnosis.

(d) A broad radioisotopes promotion programme to be started among other potential users in industry and research.

(e) Radioisotope production and development facilities to be constructed near the reactor and the necessary equipment acquired.

The direction which the radioisotope production and development programme will take, its rate of progress and its goals will be different for each country, depending on local conditions such as the nature of the economy, its state of development, the availability of scientists, engineers and technicians, and the potential needs and capacity for utilizing isotopes in medicine, industry, agriculture and other branches of applied and pure science.

The shortage of skilled manpower is a major problem in all developing countries. The main obstacle to realizing a scientific and engineering project, such as a radioisotope production programme, is the acute lack of personnel firstly during the early planning stages and later for the execution of the programme. A first step must therefore be the selection and training of suitable people. Two types of personnel are necessary for the production of radioisotopes. The first is the radiochemical engineer who carries out the production and the processing of isotopes on a routine basis. His background is preferably chemistry, or chemical engineering with some basic knowledge of radiochemistry. A period of six months to one year training in radioisotope production and processing with an overseas group operating in the isotope field should be sufficient to prepare him to carry out his duties. The other type of person needed, especially in the development stages of a radioisotope programme, is a skilled radiochemist. His education should be more thorough, both in chemistry and nuclear physics. A man with a postgraduate degree is to be preferred. Six months to one year of additional training in a radioisotope development and production group, or with a nuclear chemistry group, is usually sufficient to provide him with the necessary practical experience. Such a person should be in control of the radioisotope production and development team. The training of skilled supporting technicians can usually be done locally on the job. The close association of an engineer concerned with the problems of remote control operations, shielding and other specialized equipment design, is of great assistance; he will also require appropriate training.

The size of the radioisotope team depends on whether it is closely connected to a nuclear and radiochemistry research group, in which case the number of people providing services can be kept to a minimum, or whether the team operates independently and has to be large enough to deal with routine services, with development with research, and trouble-shooting. The presence of an analytical chemistry group is helpful in this context. otherwise the radioisotope group will need to carry out analytical control operations as well as its other duties. As a general rule it is advisable to start with a group of about four chemists, two employed on routine production, assisted by two technicians, one on development and one on quality control measurement and standardization. To a certain extent, it is also advisable to interchange the people doing different types of work to make them more familiar with and competent in all aspects of the team's function. As the programme expands more people may be added to the team, but overstaffing should naturally be avoided. This interrelation of staff functions is referred to again later.

The use of radioisotopes always begins in medical institutions, which do not depend on local supplies alone. Many of the common radiopharmaceutical preparations are relatively long-lived and their importation is common. This may remain the case even after a local programme is effective. Commencement of the local production and distribution of radioisotopes will only alter in degree the need for further facilities and equipment. Some additional training and experience for the medical staff might be needed, but this can be supplemented locally by a visiting expert and by topical courses.

The situation with regard to the industrial applications of isotopes is different from that in medicine. The use of sealed sources for industrial applications will generally be independent of a local radioisotope production programme for a long time. Though it is important to develop such industrial uses, it should be recognized that they are fairly specialized and call for advanced types of radiation sources, which are usually supplied by specialized manufacturers. The situation is different for industrial tracer applications which are of an investigatory nature, the tracer technique usually being employed to determine process parameters or plant dynamics. Such tracer applications require experienced staff equipped with the necessary monitors and measurement equipment and who are familiar with the particular system under investigation. The training in different industrial applications of several such persons for about a year is desirable.

In general terms, the greatest benefit from the applications of radioisotopes is achieved when local production is supplemented by a broad educational and promotional programme.

Stages in the development of a production programme

Construction of the radioisotope handling and processing facilities can be undertaken in stages according to the production and development programme decided on and according to the levels of radioactivity to be handled. A modest programme of isotope production will obviously require only a limited amount of equipment whilst an ambitious programme will require a hot laboratory with versatile facilities and a stockpile of equipment. It is difficult to make specific recommendations in this connection but guidance for a stage-wise development of a radioisotope programme is outlined in what follows.

Stage 1

The programme should start with custom irradiations and the supply of unprocessed isotopes, such as sodium-24, potassium-42, bromine-82 and gold-198 seeds. The operations involved consist mainly of irradiation, in a pneumatic "rabbit" or in sealed aluminium or quartz vials, inside the reactor core, and occasionally subsequent dissolution of the irradiated target, or some similar simple chemical operation such as precipitation or electroplating. At times it may be necessary to prepare an isotope as a radiation source.

Calibration of the preparation to a required precision is of special importance. The supply of standard and reference sources might form an additional useful service and could be extended to include the calibration of imported radioisotopes. At this stage, the aim should be to achieve confidence and experience in the basic radiochemical procedures. Most operations could be carried out with simple equipment such as gloves, tongs and a few lead bricks in a fume hood – possibly the occasional use of a glove box. The levels of radioactivity should not exceed a few millicuries of short-lived isotopes ($T_{\frac{1}{2}} < 3$ d). This stage of progress will meet some of the needs for sources and tracers in research and for industrial studies, while the medical uses will be quite limited to preparations which can be further treated at the hospital's own laboratory (e.g. sterilization) or used mainly for external purposes and for oral administration.

Stage 2

Production involving the simple processing of short-lived isotopes (<3 d) should generally follow after six months' to one year's experience of the first stage. In some instances this stage can overlap the first, especially in centres which are interested in launching an accelerated programme, or in countries which have a low demand for isotopes other than for medical use. It should be emphasized that such a short cut requires well-trained

and experienced personnel and the assistance of experts. Additional operations to those mentioned previously consist of simple chemical treatment. the increase of radioactivity levels to a few tens of millicuries, or the sterilization of preparations and their supply in readily usable forms, such as in multi-dose vials for medical use. Products for injection, which fall in this category are, for example, isotonic and sterile solutions of sodium-24, potassium-42, copper-64, arsenic-76, gallium-72, fluorine-18 and bromine-82. Although this stage provides some isotopes for medical use, the more commonly-used isotopes in medicine are not included, since their preparation is more complicated and a substantial amount of experience must be gained before their inclusion in a routine supply programme. It is advisable to concentrate at this stage on studying simple labelling, Szilard-Chalmers separations and other processing procedures for later possible introduction into routine production. Of special importance is the study of procedures for preparing isotopes of high specific activity. Attempts should be made to promote industrial and research uses of short-lived isotopes, especially for tracing purposes.

Although the demand for these short-lived isotopes only amounts to a small proportion of the total demand, its importance must not be underestimated; these products often serve to stimulate the introduction of radioisotope techniques. The manipulation of unsealed sources and the use of short-lived isotopes is an excellent apprenticeship since the risks associated with them are obviously small by comparison with those arising from long-lived materials.

The facilities necessary for this stage of production consist of semihot laboratory rooms with sufficient space for several 5 to 10-cm leadshielded benches, fume hoods and one or two glove boxes. Most operations can be carried out with tongs and beakers but some will require throughthe-wall tongs and remote viewing through lead glass bricks or mirrors. Standard procedures of bottling, sterilization and standardization must be practised. Only after sufficient experience and confidence is achieved in proper execution of this stage can the operation be scaled up to the third stage.

Stage 3

2

This stage is concerned with the production of processed radioisotopes of relatively short half-lives, and with the special preparations of longerlived isotopes. The recommendation to include long-lived isotopes refers to such products for which either their specifications and availability from other sources are not satisfactory, or local demand is high and the production effort is justified. Processing fission products, or the production of isotopes of high toxicity which require special precautions, should still be avoided.

Radiopharmaceutical preparations of special importance at this stage are, for example, colloidal gold-198, Neohydrin mercury-197 and technetium-99m. The production of special forms of phosphorus-32, sulphur-35, chromium-51, cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 might also be worth while. A greater demand for such preparations might arise from special interests

17

in medicine, agriculture, hydrology or industry. In this connection, simple labelled compounds might also be considered but preparation should be limited to special needs which justify the effort.

Another kind of activity to be included in the programme at this stage is the establishment of a central dispensary for imported isotopes which are in frequent and widespread demand. This function could result in a substantial saving in the cost of shipments from outside the country as well as minimize inefficient use and waste. Isotopes such as iodine-131, iodine-125, phosphorus-32, and sulphur-35 are examples of those which might be included in the central import and dispensary service of a radioisotope production programme at this time. A careful economic appraisal should always be made before such an additional function is included in the programme.

At this stage the production group can no longer be housed in simple temporary accommodation and a special hot laboratory is likely to be required. The different facilities and equipment needed for such a programme are discussed in detail in Section 3.

The stages of development and the scale of each stage proposed for developing a radioisotope programme are based on experience gained in several small reactor centres during the last decade. The recommendations have attempted to be objective and have taken account of such factors as the economics of maintaining a limited and balanced programme versus an extensive one. Due consideration should be taken of the cost of putting scientific personnel, usually in short supply in developing countries, on to routine production and services rather than directing them to more important functions. Limited scientific manpower needs to be carefully conserved. Considerable expenditure may be involved in constructing and operating a hot radiochemical facility for producing isotopes, the purchase and import of which is competitive and satisfactory. Iodine-131, carbon-14, cobalt-60, tritium and caesium-137 are isotopes which may be mentioned in this context. This is especially true for long-lived isotopes or fission products. These criteria are flexible to a certain extent and have to be considered together with local policies and circumstances before a decision on their production is made.

Further expansion of radioisotope production to include a wider spectrum of isotopes than those recommended above, at higher levels of activity, will require specially designed hot facilities and a larger staff. This may be practical for countries which are very active in agricultural and industrial studies and have to meet the supply of isotopes to advanced medical institutions serving a population of more than 20 to 30 million people. The production of substantial amounts of iodine-131 or cobalt-60 on a routine basis or the large-scale separation of fission products requires very advanced equipment, such as hermetically-sealed cells, lead or heavy concrete shielding, and active waste-disposal problems become serious. These special facilities become necessary where the levels of radioactivity handled and processed exceed the curie level. The facilities require skilled engineering and maintenance personnel and the support of a large reactor centre with an advanced nuclear research and engineering programme. This scale is beyond the scope of this Manual. The aim should be to maintain a balanced and restrained production programme and each new extension of the programme should be given careful consideration.

Some mention should be made here of the research and development work associated with a production programme. Two major motives should be considered: first, the need to find new or more suitable methods for producing the required radioactive preparations; and second, the need to maintain an atmosphere of scientific satisfaction and to encourage new ideas and radioisotope application. Such an attitude avoids stagnancy of existing personnel and will also serve to attract good people. A positive and longterm view should be taken of the balance between research and development on the one hand and the need for production services on the other. Considerable emphasis should be given to research and development activities, and in this connection mention should also be made of the advantage of seeking co-operation from other regional centres in developing new methods and new applications. Co-operation and co-ordination between closely-located centres is of great value and might make the production programme more efficient and economical as well as providing more momentum for development.

3. HANDLING AND PROCESSING FACILITIES

When planning an isotope production programme at a newly established reactor centre, some of the first questions that arise are: What kind of equipment and facilities are really needed? Which of the types commercially available are best suited to the desired production range? What do they cost?

It is assumed that the final goal of planning is to establish a routine production of radioisotopes mainly for medical and agricultural use on a scale sufficient to cover the demand of a country where radioisotope methods are in current use. A considerable fraction of any future requirements of industry, and for the physical and technical sciences, for instrumentation and radiography sources, etc., could be met by minor additional investment.

A programme like this can be gradually developed along the lines described in Section 2, and the first stage, the preparation of short-lived unprocessed isotopes or targets dissolved in water or mineral acid solutions, can be established at relatively modest cost. The second stage of the programme can usually be achieved by putting up some additional equipment within the existing chemical laboratory. Such a laboratory will in most cases be provided at the various reactor centres.

The third stage, the production of radioisotopes most commonly used in medicine and agriculture, involves considerably more investment, as this production level requires a laboratory facility specially constructed for the purpose. However, this does not mean that the erection of a completely new building is unavoidable; often good conventional chemical laboratories can prove very useful as accommodation for a smaller plant. If plans are to proceed to the third stage, and sufficient money can be raised, it is strongly recommended that the question of laboratory design be looked into at an early opportunity. This can be done by utilizing the experience of centres which

19

have already developed their isotope production facilities following schemes similar to those sketched in the previous chapter. If detailed plans for the isotope laboratory are decided upon before the programme is started, the training and development through the introductory stages can be undertaken during laboratory construction, with the equipment that later will be part of the completed facility. In this way much time and money can be saved.

Irradiation facilities

The necessary irradiations are assumed to be carried out in a mediumsized research reactor. It is preferable that the needs for radioisotope production should be considered during the design of the reactor, thus avoiding problems that might arise later. Usually irradiation containers, transfer systems, etc., must be specially designed to fit both the reactor irradiation facilities and the processing equipment, and it is of great advantage to be able to plan the entire concept at one time.

For the range of isotope production as envisaged in this Manual, an effective irradiation volume of about 5 litres, with an average thermal neutron flux of $10^2 \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ will be necessary. If the average neutron flux available for target irradiation is higher than $10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$, this volume can be reduced. In addition, irradiation positions with a lower flux should be provided, e.g. in a thermal column. The neutron flux distribution within the irradiation facilities should be carefully plotted.

For irradiation in moderate and low neutron fluxes no special equipment will be required beyond that necessary to locate the targets in their proper position. For fluxes around 10^{13} n/cm²s and higher, however, the problem of nuclear heating becomes significant. The attenuation of gamma rays may cause the temperature of targets to rise to several hundreds of degrees centigrade. This will, to some extent, restrict the selection of chemicals to be irradiated, and in some cases cooling of the targets must be provided. The heat evolution may also be reduced by fixing the target cans to a firm support during irradiation, to improve the heat conductivity conditions.

If the reactor is of the tank type, the irradiation facilities usually consist of air-filled horizontal or vertical tubes penetrating the reactor core or the reflector. To secure the best possible utilization of the available channels the effective diameter should be from 30 to 50 mm. Arrangements should be made to be able to unload the reactor frequently, preferably every day.

Most reactors have to be shut down during the loading and unloading of target materials and, to avoid waste of time, care should be taken in planning the handling equipment to secure rapid and convenient manipulation. Special equipment for loading and unloading a reactor without shut-down, the so-called "irradiation machines", are available commercially, but the cost is considerable, and to use such a device fully requires a large production programme.

Irradiation containers are made of aluminium, preferably with a low content of sodium, manganese and copper. For most applications in reactors with "dry" channels, ordinary cans with screw-caps, wall thickness 0.4-0.7 mm, are sufficient. Most of the materials irradiated for radioisotope production can be placed directly into the aluminium cans. In some cases, however, an inner container is necessary, for example if the target material is likely to react with aluminium during irradiation, or if the target is a very small amount of powder, which may be difficult to manipulate. Sealed quartz tubes or, for shorter irradiation periods (up to one week with a flux of 10^{12} n/cm²s), sealed polyethylene can be used as an inner container. Standard irradiation containers may be purchased commercially; approximate prices are \$0.10-0.30 per unit.

In reactors of the "swimming-pool" type irradiations may be performed by lowering the target containers down into the water pool near the reactor core in some sort of basket. This type of reactor is usually more easily adaptable for irradiation work and is more easily modified at a later stage than the tank type. On the other hand, immersing the target containers in water produces additional technological problems. The irradiation containers must be sealed by welding and must also have heavier walls, otherwise they will float to the surface of the water. Such target containers will also require more complicated equipment for decanning.

To meet the requirements for short-time irradiations without shutting down the reactor too often, a pneumatic irradiation facility ("rabbit" channel) will prove very useful. A "rabbit" facility is commonly provided for research purposes and can be used for radioisotope production during unoccupied periods. The installation costs for a pneumatic irradiation facility are approximately \$20000.

The transport of irradiated target cans from the reactor hall to the isotope production laboratory should take place in shielded containers. The type to be chosen for this purpose will depend upon the distance between the irradiation and processing facilities. If the distance is short, up to a few hundred metres, a small lead-shielded carriage, housing four to eight irradiated cans simultaneously, is recommended. Such a carriage can be purchased for \$1500. If the distance is of the order of several kilometres, shielded containers carried by a truck, with lifting cranes for handling, are preferable. When irradiated materials are to be transported outside the premises in which they are produced, the containers should, of course, comply with the requirements for the safe transport of radioactive materials [1].

Production equipment

The constituent parts of an isotope production facility are described later in this Section. Equipment of this kind is necessary to maintain a production programme whether it is decided to proceed to stage 3 or not. The introductory stages in the development of a programme are also discussed.

(a) Process enclosures and supports

To prevent the uncontrolled spread of radioactive contamination, the processing of radioactive materials requires a specially ventilated enclosure for each apparatus, the required volume per enclosure being about one cubic metre. This basic idea of containment should be applied in planning all types of radioisotope production laboratories, but the system may vary, both in the enclosures used and in the manner in which they are arranged to form the whole plant.

The types of enclosures are:

Open fume hoods

Ventilated boxes with a limited opening for hand access ("slit boxes") Sealed glove boxes working at reduced pressure

Sealed reduced-pressure boxes with remote handling equipment

"Master-slave" manipulator cells

Equipment that is as expensive as manipulator cells is not necessary for the type of work proposed in this Manual, but the other four types are all suitable.

Generally, 0.5 m/s is adopted as the minimum linear air velocity through openings in a process enclosure of this kind. An open fume hood may consume as much as 1500 m^3 air per hour to fulfil this requirement. If the air has to be heated or cooled, the operation of a number of such hoods will be rather expensive and troublesome. Uncertainty in the laboratory air balance conditions is also introduced, since the extent of the opening of the hood may vary from time to time. However, fume hoods are ideal for many types of inactive and low-activity chemistry and will always be preferred by the laboratory personnel, since operations can be performed more easily and rapidly than in glove or slit boxes. They should therefore not be omitted; a limited number of hoods should be provided in locations where air balance conditions allow them.

Ventilated boxes with small hand openings are convenient, especially for process development work on the microcurie scale. It is also preferable to perform the cleaning of contaminated glassware and laboratory apparatus in a container of the slit box type.

Glove boxes may be used as enclosures for work with low-energy beta emitters like carbon-14 and sulphur-35, although efficiently ventilated fume cupboards are usually adequate for such low-toxicity isotopes. However, in the production of radioisotopes emitting gamma rays, the radiation level will be too high for hand access. Sealed boxes under reduced pressure, with remote handling tongs, are the most widely used enclosures in radioisotope production. The same type is well suited to dispensing work.

Some of the boxes in the laboratory will probably have to be shielded with a lead wall. Usually 5 cm thickness is sufficient for millicurie quantities, but for the preparation of sodium-24, and perhaps also iodine-131 in large quantities, 10-cm lead thickness is advisable. Boxes for the production of pure beta emitters like phosphorus-32 and calcium-45 do not normally need any shielding beyond that provided by the box wall. For large quantities of high-energy beta emitters, however, about 1 cm of lead is required as a shield against the brehmsstrahlung. Local shielding may be necessary to reduce the intense β dose in dose proximity to the apparatus.

Enclosures may be constructed in several ways, and the choice of materials may also vary widely. As a general principle, the main parts of the side walls and roof should be made of transparent material, methyl methacrylate sheet (Perspex, Plexiglas) being ideal for this purpose. A cheap but very suitable type of production enclosure consists of a rectangular box made of ordinary mild steel, 2 mm thick, which is covered by a good quality epoxy resin paint. Suitable dimensions are 1200×700 mm, with a height of 900 or 1000 mm. The side walls and roof of the box are cut away, leaving just a ledge which serves as support for 8-mm Plexiglas windows. The windows are pressed against air-tight rubber seals by means of a frame with screws or spring clips, and may easily be removed, permitting access for the maintenance of box equipment. Operations are carried out through one of the larger faces. Connections for services and effluent lines are welded into the bottom of the box, or service lines may be brought in through a panel in the top face.

Many isotope producers prefer process boxes made entirely of plastic materials, the main structure being made of polyvinyl chloride or resinbonded glass fibre. Many kinds of such boxes are available commercially, but prices are higher than those for steel boxes.

One drawback to the use of steel boxes is the possibility of corrosion. If the epoxy painted surface is broken by impact, the steel plates will become exposed to attack from acid vapours which are usually present. By careful operation, however, abrasion of the epoxy surface is avoided.

Stainless steel is an alternative to epoxy-painted mild steel as a construction material for process enclosures; the price is somewhat higher. However, since hydrochloric acid vapour will also attack stainless steel to a considerable extent, the gain in using it is small.

Since some of the boxes have to be shielded with lead, a rigid support has to be provided. If this support is made in the form of a thick concrete platform (300 mm), on which the box stands, and supported on either concrete blocks or a steel construction, base shielding is simultaneously taken care of. The supporting table should preferably be designed as a steel container, into which concrete can be poured. Between the platform and the box a thin sheet of rubber is placed.

Figure 1 shows a complete box unit, commercially available, constructed according to the principles outlined above. Illumination of the box equipment is provided by fluorescent tubes mounted in a frame on top of the box and shining in through the roof window.

(b) Shielding

To obtain the most economical result, shielding walls should always be placed as close to the source of radiation as is practically possible. The usual way to protect production personnel against the radiation from gammaemitters is to erect a lead wall surrounding all sides of the production enclosure. The thickness of such a wall will generally be 5 cm or, in special cases, 10 cm. For the production of limited amounts of soft gammaemitters, however, a sufficient degree of shielding can often be obtained by just shielding locally some of the glass equipment in the box, thus saving money and improving convenience in handling.

A lead shield is easily made of bricks, such as the one shown in Fig.2. Such bricks can be cast to a sufficient accuracy and are better when made of lead containing 4-7% antimony to increase their mechanical strength.

Some sort of interlock between the bricks should be provided. The leakage of radiation between plain bricks is in fact negligible, but the inter-



FIG.1. Typical shielded cell for isotope production

24



FIG.2. Interlocking lead bricks for shielding walls (10×10 cm, 5 cm thick)

locks will contribute considerably to the stability of the complete lead wall, and this is important. In addition, the wall should be held in place by some sort of rigid steel framework, conveniently placed between box and shield.

The price for a lead shield of this type is estimated to be 300 to $400/m^2$ if it is 5 cm thick, a 10 cm-thick wall costing double. Provisionalso has to be made for viewing windows, transfer port plugs and sphere joints for the handling tongs.

Viewing windows are made of lead glass and may be obtained in several qualities and forms. For a 5-cm-thick lead wall a window 10 cm thick, of a standard density of 4.2 is appropriate. A 10-cm-thick lead shield requires twice the window thickness. The windows should be mounted in frames fitting the interlocking lead brick system, and the space between the glass and the lead frame should be packed with lead yarn. The protection given by such a window is a little less than equivalent to the lead wall, but if it is mounted in a line with the inside of the wall and with a frame like those shown in Fig.1, the extra distance from the source adds to the protection. Practically, no deficiency of shielding at the windows can be measured with such a wall.

Lead glass windows with densities of up to 6.2 are available, as also are glasses specially resistant to radiation, but the prices are higher and the colour darker compared to standard windows. They are also more easily scratched. The price of a standard lead glass, 10 cm thick, with window area 15×15 cm, is about \$75.

Because of the helpful effect of refraction, just one or two windows of the type mentioned will be sufficient to see the whole area of the operations in one cell.

(c) Tongs and related equipment

Remote-handling tongs of various types and at different prices may be obtained from commercial suppliers. This equipment is normally satisfactory, but as a general guide the more rigid type of tongs should be chosen. Some isotope producers use tongs with detachable heads to enable them to change the types of jaws without removing the tong from the box. However, it is not difficult to find one type of head among those available commercially that will suit almost all the operations that have to be carried out. This seems to be the most practical solution, with the addition of a few special tools for opening screw-cap cans, cutting polyethylene tubes, etc.

Flexible plastic sleeves should be attached to the tong shafts to prevent contamination being carried into the laboratory when the tongs are drawn outwards. Several types of such sleeves are on the market, but special care should be taken to select a rather rigid type, preferably bellow-shaped and as narrow as possible; the price is higher, but it is well worth it. A wide, clumsy sleeve is easily torn and will prevent the operator from seeing much of the cell equipment.

Sphere joints are used for tong handling through the lead walls to prevent binding. The spheres and seating should not both be made of lead unless the sphere is coated with brass or stainless steel. Another method is to have the seatings cast in brass. The whole joint should be put together as a single removable unit; it will then be possible to replace a damaged PVC sleeve from outside the lead wall. The sphere joint principle is also used conveniently in beta boxes, a small sphere made of plastic or hardwood being used.

Many types of gloves for use in glove boxes are available commercially. It is useful to provide a glove port in most production boxes for making adjustments with the hand while the radiation level in the box is low. Neoprene gloves will last longer than those made of ordinary latex rubber and are to be preferred in spite of the higher cost. The standard type of glove fits a glove port of 15-cm diam. Plastic plugs should be available in the boxes to seal the glove ports when they are not in use.

(d) Chemical processing equipment

Most of the chemical processing equipment, dissolution and reaction vessels, transfer tubes, evaporation and distillation facilities, filters, etc., should be made of ordinary borosilicate glass, with standard stop-cocks, socket-cone joints and ball joints. Only in special operations do materials other than glass have to be introduced. For introducing inactive reagents into the box during the operation, glass tubes may be used, but more flexibility is achieved by the use of plastic or silicon rubber tubes, with a glass connection penetrating the shielding wall; a funnel may be attached to the outer end. When not in use, the glass connection socket should be blocked by a stopper fitted with a safety clip.

As all sense of touch is lost when the fingers are replaced by a remotehandling tong, the stop-cocks used should always be of the type with a re-
taining ring to hold the key in place. In most cases vacuum quality stopcocks are necessary.

An opening station for screw-cap cans should be provided in each production box and, if inner irradiation containers are to be used, a cutter for the silica ampoules or polyethylene tubes must also be at hand.

Some sort of rigid support frame should always be provided for the glass equipment; this is specially important since the handling is to be carried out by means of tongs. Several materials are suitable for supporting frames, but the possibility of corrosion should be kept in mind. Aluminium, preferably anodized, is quite suitable for this purpose. When mounting processing equipment in a box it is important to allow sufficient distance between the operation face and the equipment to be handled, otherwise the useful area covered by tongs will be significantly reduced. The glass apparatus should be placed as close to the back wall of the box as possible, leaving at least 35 to 40 cm open space at the front.

Liquids are commonly transferred from one production stage to the next by suction. Vacuum is provided by a rotary vacuum pump, conveniently mounted in the supporting fable and serving three or four production boxes. Electromagnetic valves can be used for connecting the pump to the various equipment sections. Autopipette filler bulbs made of rubber are very useful for transfers of this sort when only a slightly reduced pressure is required. Where heating is needed a convenient source is the electric "Isomantle" type, which can be purchased in several sizes to fit various sizes of reaction vessel. For the gentle heating of liquids an infrared heating lamp will be found convenient. A variable transformer, mounted outside the process box, controls the heating rate. As a general rule, heating by gas flame should be avoided and indeed is dangerous in any sealed enclosure which has little or no ventilation.

(e) Dispensing, packing and control facilities

Organization of the dispensation of radioisotopes is discussed in detail in Section 4, but a few comments on the equipment needed are given here. When dealing with isotopes for medical use, dispensing should always take place in special boxes, preferably, though not essentially, isolated in a dispensing room. Boxes, shielding, remote handling tongs and transfer ports, etc., for dispensing are identical to the equipment used for production. Dispensing boxes should be installed in such a way that the operator can perform the filling, reading and emptying of pipettes in a seated position. To read a pipette at some distance through a lead glass window may be difficult, therefore care should be taken to select pipettes with very distinct graduations. Only top quality pipettes should be used notwithstanding the higher cost.

The main equipment to be placed inside a dispensing box is a remotely operated rack of pipettes, a sealing machine for bottles and an autoclave for sterilization. Beside these, it is useful to have a device for the storage of production batch bottles. Bottles standing about loose on the floor of the box should be avoided.

A relatively large room should be left for packing shipments of radioisotopes. The bottles containing the radioisotope solutions are placed in lead pots within the dispensing unit. Such containers can then be handled with very short, rigid tongs, and no lead-shielding packing cell will then be necessary.

It will be necessary to check the activity in the shipment to detect any possible mistakes in calculation or volumetric measurement which may occur. Such a check can be performed within the dispensing unit or in the packing room. An ionization chamber suitable for this check together with the necessary lead for shielding can be purchased for about \$1000.

Another item of equipment necessary in the packing room is a sealing device for tin cans. The bottles should be enclosed in sealed cans to meet the requirements for the safe transport of radioactive materials [1]. Ordinary tin cans with a volume of 1 litre are suitable for most shipments of radioactive solutions. The price of an electrically operated sealing machine for such cans is between \$200 and \$300.

The packing room should also be provided with a well for the temporary storage of radioisotope packages. Packing materials, i.e. lead pots, tin cans, cardboard boxes, etc., also need a lot of space for storage, and it should be kept in mind that such materials will be cheaper if purchased in bulk.

Figure 3 shows a typical lead container used for the shipment of radioisotopes. The construction should be noted. With a lead pot like this the upper part of the bottle stands above the top of the container after lifting off the lid. As the bottle will never be filled to the neck with radioactive solution, this will cause no radiation problem, but the removal of the bottle with tongs is thus facilitated.

Instruments to measure the radiation dose-rate must be available in the packing room for the measurement of surface radiation of the packages ready for transport. Many types of battery-operated instruments are available which are very suitable for this purpose. Prices range from \$200 to \$800.

Facilities for a limited programme

A radioisotope production programme limited to the supply of shortlived isotopes in an unprocessed form, or in simple solution, (the proposed first stage referred to in Section 2), can be carried out at relatively modest cost. The space required might be found within the laboratory facilities already present at the reactor centre. A radioisotope service on this scale should be organized in connection with a nuclear chemistry group, if one exists.

This first-stage production programme will probably satisfy only a small fraction of the country's demand; for the rest, importation must be depended on. In such a case it may prove practical and economical to operate a dispensary for imported isotopes in conjunction with the production group.

An example of an isotope laboratory intended for production on the first stage scale, together with the dispensing of imported stock solutions of other radioisotopes, is sketched in Fig.4. The space required is 75 m^2 , and it is assumed that the isotope laboratory will occupy part of an established laboratory installation. If the programme is limited to production only, the

28



FIG.3. Lead pot for shipment of bottles containing radioactive solutions



FIG.4. A small isotope production laboratory

dispensary can be omitted, bringing the space requirement down to 55 m^2 , but this should be considered an absolute minimum. Additional space for counting, analytical control, offices, etc., will of course be necessary, but these facilities could be located elsewhere.

The rooms should be arranged together in such a way that only one entrance will normally be used. At this entrance a small area should be left for change of clothing and contamination control. A sink for hand washing is necessary. The production laboratory should be fitted out with a few leadshielded remote handling tong boxes, a glove box (or slit box) and a fume hood. The fume hood should be used as a multi-purpose unit, and extra lead bricks should be provided for temporary shielding. Typical examples of the use of this equipment are the transfer of radioactive material from one type of container to another, the dissolution of irradiated materials in water, and the preparation of radiation sources of various kinds. Ventilators and filters for the enclosures may be placed on the top of the boxes. The production laboratory should also have sinks for cleaning glassware, etc., and a supply of medical-grade water must be provided. Bench space will be required for preparing targets for irradiation and for handling dilute solutions for measurement and standardization. The dispensing and sealing of bottles may be performed within the production boxes.

The packing room should have plenty of bench space, a suitable instrument for the measurement of surface radiation from the packages and preferably also an ionization chamber for checking the shipments. Packing materials need a lot of space for storage, and a shielded storage area should be provided for imported shipments and packages ready for dispatch.

The dispensing room is intended for the treatment of imported stock solutions and should have one or two shielded boxes equipped with opening and sealing devices for penicillin bottles, remotely operated pipettes and autoclaves. The room should have sinks for cleaning of glass ware, and laboratory benches with lockers and drawers. It is useful to provide small openings in the walls of the laboratories for the transport of units between adjacent rooms; the same can be done for passing packages into the packing room.

The special equipment needed for a laboratory like this, such as boxes, tongs, processing equipment, lead bricks, instruments, etc., should be purchased with a view to using it later in a more comprehensive plant.

With a laboratory like this, or a similar one, it should be possible to proceed to the second stage of a radioisotope programme without any major additional investment. Most of the isotopes produced are in small demand, and a production service can be maintained with just a few production boxes, changing the glass equipment for each new isotope. It is assumed that a counting room, instruments for physical measurement and analytical services are available in other parts of the reactor site. Some additional office space will be necessary for record keeping.

Laboratory layout and structure

The production of the radioisotopes described in Section 2 as coming within the third stage of development require a laboratory facility of more specialized construction. The size of such a laboratory will vary within wide limits depending on the size of the population to be served. Apart from a few special items, a laboratory for isotope production can be constructed very similarly to, and should cost little more than a conventional chemical laboratory of high standard. If the processing of high-toxicity isotopes is to be included in the programme the laboratory, or at least part of it, must be classified as a Type A [2], which means that the laboratory design and construction should not be undertaken without the aid of experts. An important question is of course, whether a new building is to be erected for housing the plant, or if an existing building is to be converted.

It is better for a new building to be constructed as a single storey, as this removes any doubt about the ability of the top floor to carry the weight of shielding and saves the expense of a top shield on the production cells. This also makes access for maintenance of the cell equipment much easier. The scattered radiation reaching the operator area from the top of the cells will not be negligible. Services like water, electricity and compressed air lines may then be brought into the production cells through the box roof. If the laboratory is to be erected in a cold-climate area, it will prove most practical to provide a basement under the laboratory floor in which to place water and sewage pipes to prevent freezing. In such a case the area covered by the building may be reduced significantly, as service equipment, ventilation plant, stores and a laboratory waste system can also be placed in this basement.

Where a building of more than one storey is to be used for the plant, it should be noted that bottom shielding for the production cells is cheaper and more convenient to provide than top shielding, since some sort of support for the side shielding will be necessary in any case. For this reason the location of the gamma-emitter production rooms on the top floor of a building is preferred if the floor is strong enough. Such an arrangement will, however, necessitate a lift arrangement for the transport of shielded radioactive materials to and from the plant. Fitting an existing building to a radioisotope production plant will often give rise to practical problems. If the building to be used was originally constructed for non-laboratory purposes, the cost of conversion will probably be very high. Generally it is recommended that such a conversion should be avoided if possible. In either case it is good practice to keep all radiochemical laboratories and related rooms together as one area to which access is restricted and completely separated from the offices. A new building should consist basically of two main wings, one for administration and other office work and the other for active work such as production, dispensing, research and development. Between the two should be a section for cloakrooms, washing rooms and equipment for contamination control. The need for sufficient space both for cloakrooms and offices should not be underestimated.

A few practical solutions to problems of layout, taken from existing radioisotope plants in the small- and medium-size class, are shown in Figs. 5, 6 and 7. Figure 5 shows a relatively small plant in Ris ϕ , Denmark, of one storey, with a total floor area of 990 m². Production laboratories and related rooms occupy about one half of the total area [3].

A production laboratory of the "one storey with basement" type in Kjeller,, Norway, is shown in Fig.6. The sizes of the various sections are:

	(m²)
Laboratories and related rooms	700
Cloakrooms, contamination control section and	
lobby	220
Offices (two storeys)	430
Basement (ventilation, waste-room, stores,	
stokehold, etc.)	500
Total area	1850

This laboratory was built and equipped during the period 1958-1960 for about \$400 000 [4]. The radioisotope production programme has been combined with research work in the field of production methods development, measurement techniques and radioisotope applications. As mentioned in Section 2, such a programme extension is generally advantageous, and the extra space required will not cause more than a small addition to the total plant investment.



FIG. 5. Laboratory ground plan (Isotope Production Plant, Risø, Denmark)



FIG.6. Laboratory ground plan (Isotope Production Plant, Kjeller, Norway)

32 2 Figure 7 shows a plant in Inchas, United Arab Republic, intended for a more extensive programme, with a staff of about 35 persons [5]. The design closely resembles that of the Norwegian laboratory (Fig. 6), with a basement under a part of the laboratory wing and a second storey on top of the inactive wing. The approximate costs for this laboratory are as follows:

	\$
Building costs	250000
Fixed inventory, waste collection,	
ventilation monitoring systems	180 000
Production equipment	120 000
Mobile instruments, tools, etc.	150 000
Total cost	700 000

It may be noted that all these laboratories are constructed with complete separation between the offices and the active section. Choice of the best form structure will, of course, depend upon the terrain and the climate. All rooms should be arranged together as simply as possible and the windows permanently sealed to maintain the ventilation balance.

Gamma shielding is usually 5 to 10-cm-thick lead, and the laboratory floors must be designed to carry this load. A reasonable figure is 5 tons/m². All radiochemical laboratories should preferably have swinging doors without thresholds and transparent glass panels should be provided in the doors, to prevent collisions and to enable inspection of a room from outside in the case of a contamination accident. The rooms should not be unnecessarily high, as the amount of air to be supplied increases directly with the height of the room once the number of air changes per hour is decided. A suitable ceiling height is 2.5 to 3 m.

The general finish of the laboratories should be clean and smooth. Corners between walls, ceilings and benches should be rounded by means of plastic strip, and laminated plastic is a good cover material for working benches. Plastic asbestos tiles are ideal for the floors; they are easily cleaned and decontaminated. The joints represent no problem provided the floors are carefully waxed from time to time. The greatest advantages of tiles compared to linoleum is their mechanical strength and the fact that the tiles can be replaced one by one should they be damaged or seriously contaminated. Welded polyvinyl chloride is also a good material for floors but it is somewhat more expensive than tiles if the rooms are not large.

Conventional equipment can be used for illumination, window frames, etc., and a good quality paint is sufficient for walls and ceilings finish. Walls between adjacent rooms should preferably be of a light structure since there is no advantage in making the walls very heavy for shielding purposes. The principle of shielding the radioactive sources and not the rooms in which the radioactive work is carried out, should always be applied. In general, the recommendations for a high-standard conventional chemical laboratory are directly applicable to the planning of a moderate-size isotope production plant.

The production and dispensing cells within the rooms may be arranged in several ways. Some isotope producers prefer one separate room for the production of each isotope, while others use a single production laboratory

э



FIG.7. Laboratory ground plan (Isotope Production Laboratory, Inchas, United Arab Republic)

34

ŵ

for all the processing equipment. The main advantage of the first case is that the chance of cross-contamination is reduced and, if an accident occurs, it will be limited to a small part of the plant. On the other hand a single large production laboratory secures the best space utilization and is, of course, cheaper to build. Something between these two extremes seems to be the best solution. When designing a laboratory of this kind it is advisable to reserve at least two rooms for production and two for dispensing, in which the various cells can be grouped together according to the type of shielding. If processing of high-toxicity isotopes, e.g. ¹³¹I, is to be included in the production programme, it might be advantageous to isolate this production equipment in a special room.

The number of tong boxes to be allowed for should be about ten to fifteen. In addition to these, dispensing might further occupy a minimum of three boxes. The number of dispensing units should not be too small as this equipment will need service and maintenance from time to time. It should be possible always to take about half the equipment out of regular operation and still be able to make the necessary shipments with the rest of the boxes. All dispensing boxes should preferably be equipped identically. At some isotope-production centres it is the practice to link dispensing equipment to the processing equipment in a combined productiondispensing unit. In this way a few boxes may be saved, but on the other hand the boxes must have larger dimensions and additional difficulties arise when maintenance work is being carried out. Also, during normal operation complete separation between production work and dispensing work is preferable.

If the production boxes are placed together, three to four per row, better economy of laboratory space is achieved. In addition, considerable shielding may be saved and the layout of benches, services and effluent systems simplified. Figure 8 shows a set-up of three production units for beta emitters.



FIG.8. Production boxes for beta emitters (Kjeller, Norway)

constructed according to this principle. The boxes are made of stainless steel with 8-mm Plexiglas windows.

In connection with the arrangement of production boxes the following question must be answered: To what extent will the programme include the production of the less frequently used radioisotopes, such as bromine-82, cobalt-60, mercury-197 and -203, and silver-110 m? The production methods for such isotopes usually consist of simple dissolution of the target material in water or the transformation of a carbonate, metal or oxide to a chloride solution with the subsequent need to evaporate the hydrochloric acid. It is by no means necessary to keep one production box fully equipped for each radioisotope. A better approach is to keep one or two boxes for this type of operation and simply change the glass equipment within the boxes. By careful operation this arrangement should cause no radiation or cross-contamination problems.

For major products, such as iodine-131, phosphorus-32, gold-198, sulphur-35, etc., it will of course be necessary to reserve one box for each process. For countries with sufficient demand it is recommended that a reserve production box be set aside for isotopes where continuity of production is important (Fig. 9).



FIG.9. Shielded production cell for gamma emitters (Kjeller, Norway)

A few comments should be made on the placing of production units within the laboratory. Beta boxes do not need additional shielding beyond the Perspex windows and can be placed anywhere in the laboratory, preferably at some distance from the walls, giving access from all sides. Gamma boxes are conveniently arranged so that they have lead shielding at the front and sides whilst the back shielding is made of a cheaper material, e.g. heavy concrete blocks. Space should be left between the boxes and the back



FIG.10. Arrangement of shielded production cells

shielding to allow access for maintenance work when the radiation level is low. The principle is illustrated on the left of Fig. 10.

Another form of arrangement is shown in the right hand part of Fig.10. This method is suitable when dealing with a number of gamma boxes in adjacent rooms. Much lead shielding can be saved but access to the interior of the boxes for repairs must be provided through the box roof, or through a removable side wall. A system used at some centres is shown in Fig.11. The production cells are grouped together within a large shielding wall with their operating faces outside and a maintenance and transport oven between the two rows of cells. The transport can also be arranged with a conveyor belt system. An advantage of this system is that the operation hall can be regarded as a semi-active area, but the arrangement is expensive and is suited to a larger programme than the one considered here.

Transfer of radioactive materials within the laboratory

The system for transferring radioactive materials between laboratories and cells should be planned carefully, since it will always represent a weak point in the containment system. The majority of contamination accidents in radiochemical laboratories are caused by some weakness in the transfer system. Transfer of highly radioactive sources within the laboratory should be done in a shielded transport container which should be constructed to fit the transfer ports of the various production and dispensing cells. Figure 12 shows a typical transport container of this kind. It consists of a drawer designed to hold either target cans or product bottles. The drawer can be pushed into a production box or drawn back into the lead container, which is carried on a small four-wheeled carriage. The container is closed by means of a sliding door. For carriages of this type to be fully effective, it is important that the working height above the floor is standard throughout the laboratory.

The simplest method for transfer operations of this kind is to use a lead pot on a wheeled table. The whole pot is placed inside the cell and emptied by means of the cell handling tongs. This method is best suited to small



FIG.11. Arrangement of shielded production cells



FIG.12. Transfer unit for radioactive materials

amounts of radioactive material, e.g. transport of bottles for shipment from dispensary to packing room, since the shielding pot must be small to be handled in this way.

If production and dispensing boxes are arranged together in adjacent rooms, as outlined in Fig.9, transport is most conveniently arranged by

connecting two boxes with a tube through the wall. The transfer of bottles is then easily performed with the cell tongs or, if greater distances are involved, by the use of a suitable conveyor belt. Transport of this kind should be limited to certain areas within a laboratory, thus minimizing the background radiation in counting rooms, etc., and possibility of the spread of contamination to areas intended for low-activity work. The principle is illustrated in Fig. 13. The rooms to the right are used for counting, research and development, and will not be affected if a transport accident should occur. During a transfer operation the box containment has to be broken. Opinion is divided about the best way to solve this problem of transfer ports. Some centres use double-sealed transfer ports in the boxes, giving full air-lock conditions: cthers prefer a system with a completely air-tight outer door and a slide door inside to prevent the escape of loose solid contamination when the outer door is opened. The first method with a complete air-lock cannot guarantee no transfer of solid contamination into the laboratory and air-borne contamination may be trapped inside the air-lock to be released



FIG.13. Diagram illustrating the way in which movement of radioactive materials is limited to defined areas

39

when the outer door is opened. The system with the extra slide door reduces the possibility of direct outward flow during a transfer operation but will be of value mainly for transfer ports with relatively large dimensions.

The simplest and most practical solution is to use a single sealing door when the transfer ports must be kept relatively small. In most cases an ordinary standard glove port, diameter 15 cm, is suitable for the purpose. If the process enclosures are operated at the usual reduced pressure of a few centimetres of water, the air-flow velocity inwards through an open port of this kind will not drop below 0.5 m/s, the minimum air-flow velocity recommended for hoods. A system like this will give no more risk of laboratory contamination than a double-sealed air-lock provided not more than one port is open simultaneously in the same box. The standard 15 cm glove port is closed by means of a plastic plug with a rubber sealing ring. During a transfer operation such a plug has to be left somewhere; in the case of lead shielded boxes it often has to be placed inside the box. The opening and closing of a port of this kind thus requires a hand inside the shielding wall. In such a case the plugs must be considered active, and never touched by bare hands. It is possible to operate such a system without having radiation dose problems, provided the personnel have the necessary training and discipline. However, a better method is to use a closure which is pressed against the port by a spring, and which can be operated with a handle outside the lead wall. The lead wall should have a hole corresponding with the box port which is closed by a thick steel plug when the port is not in use. Lead plugs have certain disadvantages because of their lack of mechanical strength.

Ventilation system

All working areas in which unsealed radioactive sources are handled need careful ventilation. A well-planned ventilation system in fact forms the basis of contamination control. It should be realized, however, that proper room ventilation alone will not be sufficient protection for the laboratory personnel. The air-flow balance may be altered by opening and closing doors and hoods, and the laboratory equipment and furniture will affect the flow of air to a considerable extent. To overcome irregularities of this kind a quite unreasonable amount of air has to be supplied to the laboratories. The best way to secure safe working conditions in processing rooms is by using sealed boxes with a separate exhaust system. Then it is only necessary to provide sufficient room ventilation to give comfortable working conditions, a reasonable figure being six to eight air changes per hour.

The main principle to be followed in the planning of the laboratory ventilation system is that the direction of air flow should always be towards the zones with the highest levels of radioactivity. In practice, this is arranged by supplying fresh air to the corridors. This air is drawn through the laboratories into the boxes and hoods, and finally filtered before being exhausted to the atmosphere. With a proper air-flow arrangement the relative pressures should be as follows:

Corridor, inactive rooms, etc.: Pressure of the surrounding atmosphere or slightly less

40

Laboratory rooms: ~10 mm of water-reduced pressure Production and dispensing boxes: 20-30 mm of water-reduced pressure (10-20 mm relative to laboratory rooms).

In rooms where open fume hoods are to be used the number of air changes has to be increased, otherwise the rooms have to be very large to supply adequate air. It is useful to equip a few research and development rooms, of limited size, with open hoods and to give them more air changes, for example, about 20 changes per hour. The use of fume hoods in the laboratory should then be restricted to these areas.

The inlet air to the laboratory must be cooled or heated according to climatic conditions. In most countries atomic energy centres are not placed close to big cities. Therefore the air is usually clean enough to be fed into the laboratory through cheap, low-grade filters. The exhaust air from the laboratories will not require filtering, but the air exhausted through hoods may contain contamination and should pass through absolute filters before being released to the atmosphere.

The sealed production and dispensing enclosures should be provided with a separate ventilation system. This system should have two exhaust fans, both of them being capable of providing the necessary reduced pressure. Polyvinyl chloride or other suitable plastic material should be used for the pipe work. The diameters of the extract ducts should be diminished stepwise from 18 to 20 cm near the fans to 4 or 5 cm at the box connections. The exhaust air should be filtered through absolute filters and, if the production programme includes work with volatile nuclides like iodine-131, a charcoal filter should be fitted also.

If the boxes are kept well sealed they will consume a negligible amount of air. In many cases, however, both corrosive and contaminated vapours may be present in the box atmosphere and to remove these a minimum rate of air flow should be provided. This is easily arranged with an adjustable air inlet valve with which the required reduced pressure can be obtained. Small absolute filters may be mounted on the inlets but in most cases this will not be necessary.

Vacuum pumps used with active process equipment should be regarded as part of the box ventilation. Air from such pumps may contain contamination and should be exhausted into the box ventilation system.

There is no need for an elaborate automatic control system for the ventilation. The reduced pressure level in production boxes is simply measured by U-tube manometers, and the ventilation balance between working rooms and corridor is sufficiently controlled by observing the position of the swing doors, which under normal conditions should point towards the more active rooms. It is a good practice to have control switches for the fans situated on a central panel, preferably with a control lamp showing that the fan motor is running. If a single room has more than one fume hood, only one switch should be used for all of them, as one hood in operation may draw contamination into the laboratory from another which is shut down. The fans used for supply and exhaust of air to the open working areas should be adjustable, as ventilation balance conditions may be changed during laboratory operation.

A failure in the box ventilation system will cause the reduced pressure in all process enclosures to drop to zero, and under such conditions activity may be released into the rooms. For such emergencies a warning system should be fitted. It can be arranged very simply by means of a pressure indicator placed in the main ventilation duct, which actuates alarm bells in the production rooms if the pressure falls below a predetermined value. Consideration should be given to the provision of an emergency electric generator for the ventilation system, to be used in the event of a main power failure.

Waste management

The key to waste management for a radioisotope plant is to reduce, as far as possible, the amount of waste material that requires special treatment. For all practical purposes waste can be divided into the following categories:

- 1. Inactive waste
- 2. Low-activity liquid waste
- 3. Liquid process waste
- 4. Solid process waste
- 5. Solid laboratory waste.

Effluents from the inactive part of the laboratory building can be connected to ordinary sewage. This also applies to cooling water lines to some equipment in the active section, for example, water distillation sets. Particularly in laboratories for research and development work it is practical to provide a few drains leading directly to sewage. The reduced volume of active waste is an advantage, but special care must be taken to avoid the inactive drains being used for discharge of active or potentially active effluents.

All washings and dilute solutions of radioactive materials should be considered as a low-activity liquid waste. In many cases this low-activity waste can be released to the sewage system, but it has to be monitored and, in some cases, stored for decay of the activity. A large delay tank, or two tanks connected in parallel, should be used for collecting the low-activity waste. The tanks should be of at least 5000-10000 litres capacity and should be surrounded by trays of a sufficient size to collect the tank contents in case of leakage. Suitable materials for such tanks are epoxy-painted mild steel, stainless steel and plastic materials. The price is a conclusive argument against stainless steel, and painted mild steel may cause trouble from corrosion, particularly near pipe connections. Reinforced glass fibre or plastic material seems to be the best solution, and the price will in most cases be only slightly higher than for painted steel. A so-called compound steel (mild steel with a stainless-steel coating) may also be used. It combines the corrosion resistance of a thin sheet of stainless steel with the mechanical strength of an ordinary steel plate. The tanks should be provided with taps for sampling and should be vented through a filter, and some sort of liquid level indicating system will be necessary.

The amount of liquid released into such tanks should be kept to a minimum, allowing storage for decay without exceeding the total delay tank capacity. For this reason, the use of water ejector pumps for providing vacuum should be avoided in active laboratories. Fundamentally, storage for decay is a better approach to the waste problem than dilution, provided personnel are adequately protected against radiation from the storage tanks; dilution does not reduce the amount of radioactivity released to the environment. The nuclides referred to in the introduction all have relatively short half-lives and therefore will decay sufficiently in a period of a few weeks. The treatment of the low activity waste will not give rise to any problems provided its volume is kept to a minimum and a separate waste system is available for highly radioactive solutions.

The liquid process waste from the production and dispensing boxes should be taken out of the boxes through a bottom outlet leading directly down to a plastic container placed either under the box or preferably in the basement, if one exists. Polyethylene is a suitable material for such containers, which should not be larger than 50 to 60 litres. As for all radioactive solutions the principle of double containers should be followed, providing trays with sufficient dimensions to collect the entire contents of a full polyethylene bottle.

Pipe work for process waste should be corrosion resistant. Stainless steel, glass and polyvinyl chloride are suitable. Full containers should be disconnected and replaced by empty ones. With a reasonable number of extra containers available, full containers may be left for decay in a suitable store-room until the waste can be treated as ordinary sewage. It is helpful for the process waste containers to be fitted with some sort of level indicator. This is conveniently arranged with electrodes in the bottom and top of the container, the liquid itself completing the circuit which in turn operates an alarm when the container is filled to the limit.

Active operations will also produce solid radioactive waste consisting mainly of irradiation containers and used target material. A similar system with polyethylene containers placed under the boxes or in the basement is also suitable here. If no basement is provided, it may become difficult to find sufficient space under the boxes. With boxes placed together in a row a single liquid waste bottle may be used to serve three or four boxes, thus freeing space for solid waste containers. In a system for solid waste the tubes should be as straight as possible with no sharp angles where cans and similar objects may get jammed. The need for shielding of the waste containers has to be considered in each case.

All working rooms should be equipped with containers for ordinary laboratory solid waste, like disposable gloves, paper, etc. The type of container widely used in hospitals, with a pedal-operated lid, is suitable.

A view of a waste-treatment facility placed in the basement of a production plant is shown in Fig.14. Two delay tanks for low-activity waste, each of 10 m³ volume, are seen to the left. The steel drums in the centre of the picture are lined inside with 7 cm of concrete, and serve simultaneously as shielding and trays for the process waste polyethylene containers. The same type of container and drum is used for both the dry and liquid process waste systems. Full containers are simply carried away together with the



FIG.14. General view of basement for storage and treatment of solid and liquid waste (Kjeller, Norway)

shielding drum and replaced by another by means of a small carriage with a lifting-jack. Tubes carrying radioactive liquid are provided with driptrays underneath, and the presence of liquid in these, or in the waste container trays, actuates a leakage alarm system by means of simple moisture detectors. Top shields for the waste bottles are usually not necessary, but have to be provided in special cases.

Personnel protection

The most essential aspect of personnel protection in radiochemical laboratories is training and instruction. New personnel should always receive a thorough training in radioactivity before being allowed to operate any of the installations single-handed. Special care should be taken to issue clear instructions for the work, both general instructions for work with radioisotopes and more special regulations concerning the actual laboratory installations. A detailed emergency plan should be made known to all members of the staff.

As previously noted, a well-established system for area monitoring is essential for the safety of a laboratory of this kind. However, there is no need for elaborate fixed automatic monitoring systems; usually simple routine checks using portable equipment are just as effective. A certain degree of control in connection with the waste and ventilation system will be necessary, especially control of fan operation and reduced-pressure measurement in process enclosures. Before starting radioactive work in box units the reduced-pressure conditions must be checked always. Most nuclear energy centres operate a central radiological protection service, which provides services such as personnel film dosimeter monitoring, air filter tests for airborne contamination, smear tests for surface contamination in the laboratories and also medical supervision of personnel.

Contamination control instruments and dose-rate measuring instruments should always be at hand in the laboratory. Such instruments should preferably be of a battery-operated, light and handy type.

Gas masks with charcoal filters should be provided in the laboratory in a sufficient number (one for each person) and a few sets of plastic overall suits and compressed air respirators should also be available. This equipment may be needed in an emergency and it will be necessary when a box unit has to be opened for some sort of maintenance work. A material that always proves useful in the handling of radioactive materials and contaminated objects is polyvinyl chloride sheet. It may be obtained in various thicknesses and qualities and should always be at hand in sufficient quantities.

A laboratory like this is not very likely to catch fire, but fire-extinguishers should be provided in a sufficient number. The powder-type extinguisher is the most effective in a serious case. For fire inside an enclosure small carbon dioxide units are preferred. If the laboratory should catch fire, the general principle to be followed in such an installation is that the fire is more dangerous than the radioactivity; therefore general rules for the handling of radioactive materials have to be disregarded to some extent if necessary during the fire fighting. Detailed plans on dealing with a fire should always be established with a view to minimizing the risk from the spread of contamination.

The need for sufficient space in changing rooms in the laboratory has already been mentioned. This area should be divided into three parts, an "inactive" cloakroom where the regular staff can leave clothes and things that do not need to be brought into the active area, an "active" wardrobe for laboratory coats and special shoes or shoe covers, and between these a control and decontamination section, equipped with the necessary instruments, sinks for washing and preferably a shower. Decontamination materials and a reserve of spare clothing should also be available. After a contamination accident, the monitoring of people involved can take place in this room.

Conclusions

The handling and processing facilities necessary for maintaining a national isotope production and distribution service have been described in the preceding pages. The general recommendations can be summarized as follows:

A modest production programme, combined with the dispensing of imported isotopes, can be carried out in a small laboratory ($\sim 75 \text{ m}^2$) equipped with a few shielded boxes. In such a situation the production group should be closely associated with a nuclear chemistry group which could provide auxiliary space and equipment for analytical control, counting and other services. Such an organization should be considered as temporary.

A programme comprising the production of those isotopes most widely used in medicine will require a special laboratory facility, preferably a separate building or wing specially constructed for the purpose. The laboratory floor area requirement will be at least 400 m². The design of such laboratories should not be undertaken without the aid of experts. A large proportion of the problems encountered during the planning of an isotope production facility will depend on local conditions (climate, terrain, legislation) and cannot be discussed further here. However, a few general principles should be pointed out:

The use of shielding, manipulators and other special equipment should never be carried to extremes. Very often the result of extra investment in shielding and tongs is that operations become more difficult and timeconsuming, to such an extent that the dose received is not reduced. If handling methods are made too complicated and inconvenient personnel will not use the equipment properly unless supervised. Much working time can be lost. All handling methods and operations should therefore be carefully examined before deciding upon the amount of remote-handling equipment and shielding to install.

Most of the equipment needed for radioisotope production is now available commercially and in most cases the best results, both technical and economic, will be achieved by the use of such standard equipment. An important point in the planning of a production laboratory is to decide to what degree one should make use of commercial equipment. There are firms today offering for sale complete laboratory facilities of this kind and also standard shielding box units complete with chemical processing equipment, dispensing facilities, etc., ready for installation in suitable laboratories.

Those planning an isotope laboratory are recommended to examine carefully quotations from firms having special experience in the field of smalland medium-sized radioisotope plants before starting to make everything themselves from the beginning. Instead of 5 yr for the gradual development of a full programme, the period may be reduced significantly by utilizing the experience gained by others, and much money will be saved.

REFERENCES

- INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Materials, Safety Series No. 6, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 76 pp.
- [2] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes: First Edition with Revised Appendix I, Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [3] HEYDRON, K., Production of Radioisotopes in Denmark, Ingeniøren 4 (Sept. 1960) 78.
- [4] BEEN, U., "Experience in Radioisotope Production in Norway", Programming and Utilization of Research Reactors, Proc. IAEA Symp., Vienna (Oct. 1961) <u>3</u>, Academic Press, London (1962) 387.
- [5] MAHMOUD, H., EL-GUEBEILY, HALLABA, E., AXELSEN, R., HIDLE, N., "A Radioisotope Production Facility Utilizing the Inchas 2 MW Research Reactor", Programming and Utilization of Research Reactors, Proc. IAEA Symp., Vienna (Oct. 1961) <u>3</u> Academic Press. London (1962) 395.

4. DISPENSING OF RADIOISOTOPE SOLUTIONS

When a radioactive isotope has been prepared from an irradiated target the stock solution is generally transferred to a labelled container. Samples are removed for the determination of radioisotopic and chemical purity and

46

the radioactivity is measured. The solution is not necessarily ready for use, particularly if it is required for medical purposes. The solution will have to be sub-divided, it may have to be diluted, neutralized, buffered and possibly sterilized.

Although it is a relatively simple matter to place dispensing pipettes in with the production equipment, it is usually difficult to find sufficient space for a sealing machine, an autoclave and measuring equipment for checking the content of the filled bottles. It could also lead to unnecessary duplication of equipment if more than one radioisotope solution is regularly handled. The arrangement which is generally preferred is to construct a separate dispensing enclosure at another place in the isotope laboratory. All of the necessary apparatus can then be laid out in the most effective way for routine dispensing operations. The design of the enclosure will, of course, vary according to the radioisotopes and activity being handled. For large amounts of gamma emitters, such as iodine-131, gold-198 and sodium-24, a fully shielded remotely operated enclosure will be required. For small quantities of pure beta emitters, such as phosphorus-32, sulphur-35 and chlorine-36, a glove box or good fume hood will suffice. The design aspects of laboratories and equipment for this purpose have already been discussed in some detail in the preceding section.

The process of dispensing a radioisotope solution can be reduced to about five operations which are discussed in more detail in what follows. Several photographs (Figs. 13-24) illustrating typical dispensing operations have been collected together at the end of this section. Systems and equipment are described in Refs. [1-3].

The storage of solutions

To facilitate subsequent work, and to avoid possible confusion, it is essential that stock solutions of radioisotopes should be properly stored and labelled systematically with sufficient information to identify each solution clearly. Labelling is best kept to a minimum, the symbol for the isotope and production batch number usually being sufficient to identify the stock unambiguously. All necessary further information should be recorded on the "operation sheet", an example of which is shown in Table I.

Operation sheets are usefully prepared in duplicate, one copy being sent to the dispenser and the other used for control laboratory purposes, such as for biological control when this is required for medical isotopes.

Storage of solutions is preferably in glass or in plastic. A good quality neutral glass, such as is used in pharmaceutical preparations, is ideal. Polythene or polystyrene are acceptable. There is an advantage in having a transparent container since any slight turbidity, precipitation or other deterioration of the solutions can be readily observed.

The size and design of the storage area will obviously vary according to local needs. It can be located either within the dispensing area if space permits or, preferably, in a separate enclosure. In either case sufficient space should be allowed for additional stock solutions prepared by dilution from the original since it is often convenient to have solutions of several concentrations available, for example, 1 mCi/ml, 10 mCi/ml and 25 mCi/ml. Shielding must take account of the highest activity likely to be stored.

TABLE I

PREPARATION OF IODINE-131

..... Service

Operation No. 58

Catalogue reference: I-S-5

Nature of target:	TeO2
Weight:	100 g
Container Nos:	101 - 102
Reactor:	W Z 2
Duration of irradiation:	15 d
Flux:	3×10^{12}
Unloading date:	10 March 1964
Carrier:	None
Buffer solution:	Na carbonate + thiosulphate
Volume:	5 ml
Specific activity:	No carrier
Radioactive concentration:	36 mCi/ml
Volume of solution:	50 ml
Total activity:	1800 mCi at hours
Date:	12 March 1964
Spectrographic purity:	Good
pH:	9.5
Observations:	None

A common form of storage area consists of a concrete or lead block containing a series of numbered and plugged cavities into which bottles of stock solution can be placed by means of tongs, or with a simple overhead crane. Small storage units have been made which consist of trays capable of being rotated and raised (Fig. 1) or, more simply still, an isolated area of the laboratory protected by lead bricks (Fig. 2).



FIG.1. Small storage unit with mobile tray

Sub-division (pipetting)

The most important step in the whole of the dispensing operations is the actual sub-division of the stock solution into the aliquots required by the users. This must be done as accurately as possible and without crosscontamination from other radioisotopes which may be handled in the same enclosure. It is useful to establish a dispensing routine in which certain isotopes are dispensed only on certain days, though such a system must not be too rigid and the dispenser should be in a position to meet urgent orders at short notice. In this way the users become accustomed to the pattern of supply and commonly adjust their orders accordingly. Further, most isotope production laboratories will be tied to regular reactor unload dates which will, to a large extent, determine the times at which radioisotope solutions are available for dispensing and distribution. In this way the risk of crosscontamination and confusion of solutions is also minimized.

TABLE II

PHOSPHORUS-32

of: Friday, 10 January 1964.

Date of measurement: 13 January 1964

No.*	Users	Activity requested (mCi)	For use on (Date and time)	Catalogue or other reference <i>No.</i>	Observations and comments	Solution* No.	Volume [*] (ml)	Volume [*] activity (mCi/ml)	Specific* activity	No. of* bottles 10 ml 30 r	Remarks
64	DUVAL	5		S-2		13	2. 5	2	carrier-	1	
65	PEETER	10		S-2		13	5	2	free "	1	
66	ALFRED	20		S-2		13	. 10	2	v	1	
67	JOHN	1		S-2		13	0.5	2		1	

.

* To be filled in by dispenser

50

٠

.

÷



FIG.2. Isolated area for storage protected by lead bricks

It is convenient to group orders for the same isotope, or orders that are of the same nature, together. For example, orders for radioisotopes for medical use have to go through the same procedure and are therefore conveniently done at the same time. Instructions from users are not always in the same form and sometimes are not very clear. Conversion of orders into standard systematic terms leads to less likelihood of error. These points can be taken care of by using either separate forms for each order or, more usually, by preparing a "Dispensing Sheet" for each group of orders for a given isotope. A typical example of a dispensing sheet is shown in Table II.

The necessary calculations for each order are completed before dispensing operations start. Duplicates of such dispensing sheets can also serve for the preparation of delivery notes and for planning delivery arrangements. All calculations and entries on the dispensing sheet should be checked by a second operator.

Bottles

The choice of bottle for containing radioisotope solutions, and their preparation, requires some care. Screw-capped bottles are convenient for non-medical preparations but multi-dose rubber closed vials, of the the penicillin type, or sealed glass ampoules are essential for injectable radioisotopes which have to be sterilized. The present trend amongst many established isotope producers is to use only one type of bottle - usually the multi-dose vial.

Bottles should preferably be made of good-quality neutral glass of the type used in the pharmaceuticals industry. Specifications for such glass can be found in several of the national pharmacopoeias. Soft soda glass should be avoided since its soluble alkali content is liable to cause variations of the pH of solutions and loose particulate matter from such glasses can have a marked adsorption for carrier-free radioisotopes.

Bottles should be washed in acid detergent solution and <u>thoroughly</u> rinsed with distilled water, dried and stored in clean dust-free conditions. It is convenient to label the bottles with the details corresponding to each dispensing before filling them. The label need carry only sufficient information to identify the isotope and the amount of activity present. Detailed information is not easily read on a small bottle containing a significant amount of radioactivity, for obvious reasons, and if much information is to be presented it is best put on accompanying package labels or on separate documents. It is obviously necessary also to choose labels which will withstand steam sterilization.

The filling area

Many different systems have been devised for the actual filling operations. It is not possible to describe them all but only to give general guidance and to rely on local invention to design the equipment which best suits local needs. Much can be learned from photographs of existing installations.

The dispensing area has to provide the apparatus for several operations. The stock bottle coming from storage will have to be opened. All bottles have to be moved and handled without the risk of overturning them and for such operations as opening, a jig or vice to hold the bottle is advisable. If the stock solution does not come from the production plant ready for dispensing, it will be necessary to provide, in the dispensing area, means for dilution and pH adjustment. Dilution as, for example, in preparing subsidiary stocks of lower concentration, is carried out by preparing the diluent outside and then introducing it into the installation. The required amount of radio-isotope solution is then added and the whole thoroughly mixed, if necessary by the use of a magnetic stirrer, though thorough shaking is usually sufficient.

The adjustment of pH is usefully done with a standard laboratory pH meter outside the installation connected, by means of shielded cable, to electrodes within the cell. If the meter is mobile it can be used to serve several sets of electrodes in different cells or boxes. Standard buffer and a means of rinsing the electrodes should be permanently available within the cell.

The essential step in dispensing radioisotope solutions is of course the actual volumetric sub-division of the stock solution into the aliquots required for each user's order. The problem of devising ways of doing this are not difficult for beta emitters contained in a fume cupboard or simple glove box. If the dose-rates are sufficiently low to allow the use of hands, then all that is needed is a series of graduated glass pipettes (one for each isotope) and a series of hand-operated rubber bulbs for filling the pipettes and discharging a measured volume. When the activity handled requires lead shielding and

remote control the system at once becomes more complex. In its simplest form remote control dispensing can be done with a pipette (one of several taken from a storage rack) held in remote handling tongs and connected by means of a plastic tube to a hypodermic syringe outside the cell. In more highly engineered systems the pipette may be mounted in a fixed location and moved vertically by remote mechanical means. Because of the need to read pipette graduations from a distance "Photophor"-type pipettes will be found useful.

For more advanced mechanical remote control of pipetting operations there is a choice between two alternatives. In the first alternative a fixed pipette, or burette, is used together with a moving platform or revolving tray which carries the stock solution and the bottles into which the radioisotope is to be dispensed; it is an advantage if the platform can both revolve and be raised and lowered. The second commonly used alternative is to mount the pipette on a mobile support similar to a bridge crane and to locate the bottles on the working surface of the enclosure (Fig. 3).



FIG.3. Pipettes on a mobile support

Two other pieces of equipment are of interest in this context. The Metrohm burette (Fig. 4) and the burette specially designed for this purpose, the CEA burette [4], in which the volume is read on a dial located outside the enclosure. In both of these instruments the draining and refilling operations are effected by means of a motor-driven Teflon piston (Fig. 5).

Where only one pipetting system is installed it must be possible to replace the pipette each time the radioisotope is changed in order to avoid



FIG.4. Metrohm burette

cross-contamination (Fig. 6). Standard pipettes may be used. A standard ground-joint is fused to the upper end of the pipette and attached to the piston assembly which has a similar standard joint. Whatever the system employed, pipettes must be thoroughly rinsed after use. For this purpose, a vessel containing distilled water can be introduced into the cell but it is preferable to have a fixed washing point placed in the pipette's line of movement. Draining of the wash container can be effected by means of a syphon. Pipettes not in use can be stored in a rack and should be clearly marked with the name of the isotope for which they are used. After filling the bottles are then moved to the sealing machine.

Sealing

Bottles should not be moved about the cell without being sealed and this should be done as soon after filling as possible. When screw caps are used the bottle may be locked into a plastic block or vice and the cap applied by



FIG.5. Pipetting zone

means of screw action tongs. When the "pepicillin" type is used the stopper is placed in position with tongs and the cap crimped on with a special sealing machine. The rubber stoppers are made either of latex or of other elastomers. They should be tested before use to ensure that they absorb no activity and that no undesirable impurities are released from them into solution. They should be carefully washed in dilute hydrochloric acid, rinsed thoroughly in distilled water, air-dried and placed for storage in dust-free boxes.

Various types of commercial sealing machines are available which are easily modified for remote control. Figure 7 illustrates one such type. Care must be taken in adjusting these machines since a slight maladjustment in centring can result in bottle breakages. The sealed bottle is now ready for sterilization.

Sterilization [5, 6, 7]

Isotopes for injection should be sterilized as soon as possible after dispensing to avoid bacterial growth and the development of pyrogens. Of the



FIG.6. Interchangeable pipettes

TUTT

FIG.7. One type of commercially available sealing machines



FIG.8. Commercially available standard autoclave with pneumatic jack





FIG. 9. Horizontal autoclave for remote control



FIG.10. Vertical autoclave for remote control

various methods used in pharmacy for sterilization, only two are useful for radioactive solutions. The most commonly used is heating in an autoclave (steam sterilization). Occasionally, for heat labile materials, sterilization by filtration is necessary.

Alternative recommended methods are well described in the various pharmacopoeias. For all practical purposes, particularly where short-lived isotopes are being dispensed, heating in an autoclave is the only method which needs to be considered by the small isotope production unit. In this method the sealed bottles are heated at $115^{\circ}C - 120^{\circ}C$ in saturated steam for thirty minutes. This is regarded as an absolute method of sterilization and, provided the time and temperature conditions have been correct, there is no need for routine checks for bacterial contamination, though of course the occasional check is advisable.

Sterilization by heating in an autoclave can be achieved either by means of a suitably modified household pressure-cooker, heated electrically and fitted with an additional pressure gauge, or with one of the commercially available standard autoclaves such as illustrated in Fig. 8. Autoclaves are available, specially modified for the sterilization of radioisotopes and adapted for remote control [8]. Such types are shown in Figs. 9 and 10.

It may be necessary occasionally to resort to sterilization by filtration. This is especially necessary for heat labile organic molecules and is normally carried out at room temperature through special bacteriological filters. The technique is, however, a highly specialized one requiring knowledge of aseptic manipulations and it is recommended that this method is not undertaken without seeking the advice of a skilled bacteriologist or pharmacist.

The same comments apply to the use of added chemical agents such as bactericides and bacteriostatics. The use of these materials in pharmaceutical preparations is usually closely regulated by national legislation [9] and the isotope producer interested in the possible use of such materials in radioactive preparations is strongly recommended to take expert advice.

Packaging

Before despatching the bottle it is a wise precaution to ensure that no errors have crept into the dispensing or into the calculations associated with the particular consignment. Measurements of great accuracy are not required; all that is needed is to make sure, by means of an ionization chamber, whether the activity on the label matches the actual content of the bottle. It is easy to make a mistake in dispensing, for example, by a factor of 10 in the calculations, especially when a large number of bottles is being filled in one operation. The final check enables any irregularity of this sort to be detected before the consignment is shipped. Check measurements need be accurate only to within 10% or so.

Any detector built into a dispensing unit will have to be shielded carefully to avoid measurements being disturbed by the radiation background from the stock solutions awaiting dispensing. If the detector is carefully calibrated in advance for various radioisotopes and long-lived standards kept to hand for occasional checking throughout the day, there is little likelihood of error arising. Beta emitters can be checked in this way if the detector is sensitive to bremsstrahlung. Lastly, bottles should not be removed from the dispensing enclosure without some form of protection against spillage. It is convenient, for this purpose, to use the inner packaging material (e.g. the tin can) in which the consignment will eventually be shipped.

Finally, the consignment will have to be packed, together with appropriate documents, taking due account of the need for safe transport [10-13].

The entire set-up for the dispensing of gamma emitters is shown in Figs. 11 and 12.



FIG.11. Dispensing unit for gamma emitters



FIG.12. Dispensing unit for gamma emitters



FIG.13. View of a radioisotope laboratory showing a Perspex-shielded dispensary for beta emitters and gamma dispensing shielded with 10 cm lead. In the background is a concrete storage unit for stock solutions (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG.14. A general view of a dispensary for beta emitters. In the background is a direct reading measurement equipment connected to a bremsstrahlung chamber within the dispensing enclosure (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG.15. View of a dispensary for gamma emitters. The operations are similar to those illustrated for beta dispensing. Shielding is 10 cm of lead and viewing is through lead glass windows (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG.16. Dispensary for beta emitters. Opening a stock solution of several curies of phosphorus-32 (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)


FIG.17. Dispensary for beta emitters showing local shielding of stock solutions and a remotely-controlled pipette operated by means of stainless-steel bellows (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG.18. A close-up of dispensing showing the stock bottle and multi-dose vials ready labelled. The trolley is moved on its track by means of the control on which the operator's left hand is resting

(By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG. 19. Dispensary for beta emitters. Sealing the caps on multi-dose vials (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG.20. Dispensary for beta emitters. Two domestic pressure cookers adapted for sterilizing solutions. The lid is closed by hand using the glove at the back of the cell. The temperature and time of the sterilizing cycle are recorded outside the box

(By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)

FIG.21. Dispensary for beta emitters. Checking the activity of a dispensed solution by means of a bremsstrahlung counter

(By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)





FIG.22. Dispensing of gamma emitters. Removing a consignment of a gamma-emitting isotope, iodine-131, from the dispensary

(By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)

5



FIG.23. Dispensing gamma emitters. Lead transport containers, labels and documents ready for packing as consignments are dispensed

(By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)



FIG.24. Dispensing gamma emitters. Inner containers awaiting sealing and packaging for despatch (By courtesy of the UKAEA Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom)

REFERENCES

- [1] STANG, L.G., Jr., Hot Laboratory Equipment, Brookhaven National Laboratory (April 1958).
- [2] UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, Chemical Processing and Equipment (1955).
- [3] HUDSWELL, F., NEATHWAY, G.A., PAYNE, B.R., PAYNE, J.A., SCARGILL, P., The Handling and Dispensing of Chemically-processed Radioactive Isotopes, AERE-I/R 1360 (1954).
- [4] SAVOUYAUD, J., DESFOSSES, J., GERMOND, Ph., Pipette à distance électro mécanique 30 ml type A nomenclature GR 32 CEN-S (27 March 1958) BF: I. 193. 889.
- [5] DORVAULT, La Nouvelle Officine, Répertoire Général de Pharmacie Pratique (Vigot Frères, Ed., Paris) I (1955) 456-95.
- [6] DUMAS, J.-C., Bactériologie Médicale, 117-27.
- [7] Pharmacopée Française, 7th ed. (1949).
- [8] LAURENT, H., DOUIS, M., Perfectionnements apportés aux autoclaves pour permettre la stérilisation des substances radioactives, particulièrement des substances émettrices de rayons gamma, C.E.A. BF. I. 249, 550 (20 Nov. 1959).
- [9] United States Pharmacopoeia, 16th Rev. (Preserving Agents) (1960) 827.
- [10] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Materials, Safety Series No.6, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 76pp.
- [11] INTERNATIONAL AIR TRANSPORT ASSOCIATION (IATA), 1060 University Street, Montreal, 3, Canada.
- [12] REGLEMENT INTERNATIONAL POUR LE TRANSPORT PAR CHEMIN DE FER DES MARCHANDISES DANGE-REUSES (RID), Geneva.
- [13] LAURENT, H., DOUIS, M., Perfectionnements apportés aux unités de répartition des substances radioactives, particulièrement des substances émettrices de rayons gamma, C. E. A. BF. 1.249.990 (26 Jan. 1959).

5. REQUIREMENTS FOR PRODUCT QUALITY CONTROL

Methods of quality control are discussed here in general terms and are intended only as a guide to good practice. The reader should, however, acquaint himself with other statutory requirements for quality which may exist in his own country, particularly for isotopes used in medical applications.

First, it will be useful to define the main purity concepts before examining them in detail.

The radioisotopic purity (sometimes referred to as radioactive purity or radionuclidic purity) of a radioactive preparation consisting primarily of one radioisotope is the proportion of the total radioactivity which arises from that radioisotope. Radioisotopic impurities are usually the result of inactive impurities in the target material which give rise to isotopes other than the one desired by concurrent nuclear reactions on the target material (for example, a np or n α reaction occurring at the same time as a n γ reaction) or of incomplete separation of a radioisotope from its target during chemical processing (e.g. the presence of sulphur-35 in phosphorus-32 separated from irradiated sulphur).

The radiochemical purity of a radioactive preparation in a given chemical form is the proportion of the radioisotope which is in that chemical form. The presence of iodate- I^{131} in a solution intended to be entirely iodide- I^{131} is an example of radiochemical impurity in a solution which is radioisotopically pure. The chemical purity of a radioactive material concerns the presence of non-radioactive impurities in a preparation. They may arise from the target, the solvent, or from reagents used in processing the radioisotope.

The following list of forms in which radioisotopes might be used in medicine indicates the kind of quality control required:

- (a) Irradiated materials used directly, e.g. gold grains, yttrium oxide pellets, cobalt needles, etc. Here quality control is concerned only with dosimetry, namely, with the activity of the source and the radiation dose-rate it produces under certain defined conditions.
- (b) Irradiated targets brought into solution, e.g. solutions of sodium-24 chloride or potassium-42 chloride prepared by simple dissolution of the irradiated carbonate in hydrochloric acid. Here radioassay and radioisotopic purity are important. Chemical impurity is unlikely to arise, though pH and isotonicity may be important.
- (c) Radioisotopes which are prepared by chemical separation from an irradiated target, e.g. solutions of phosphorus-32 as phosphate and iodine-131 as iodide. Here possibilities of radiochemical impurity are also present.
- (d) Radioisotopically labelled compounds used, for example, in diagnosis, such as iodine-131-labelled human serum albumin or iodine-131-labelled insulin. Additional quality control tests here may include verification of the metabolic behaviour of the product since labelling may modify its properties.
- (e) Radioisotopes in colloidal form, e.g. colloidal gold-198, yttrium-90 colloid or chromic phosphate-P³², are special cases of radioactive products which may need special additional controls, such as particle size determinations.

Any of the above types of product may need to be tested for sterility and freedom from pyrogens if they are intended for injection into human patients.

The eventual purity of a product is often a compromise between the ideal requirements of the user and what is readily possible from the manufacturing point of view. Extensive purification will often reduce the yield; the choice of test may depend on what is practical by remote control means or what is sufficiently speedy. These factors become especially important when dealing with short-lived radioisotopes.

Control of radioactive properties

Radioactive concentration

Methods of determining the radioactivity, and hence the radioactive concentration, have been dealt with fully in Section 6 and need be mentioned here only as one of the factors in quality control.

Radioactive (radioisotopic) purity

Radioactive impurities arise during the irradiation of the target material by nuclear reactions other than that responsible for the main product, by nuclear reactions on chemical impurities in the target material and, possibly, by contamination with other radioisotopes during the production processing. The impurities arising by the first two means can be estimated from known nuclear constants [1], the irradiation conditions and the known chemical purity of the target. The extent to which they are present in the product may depend also on the efficiency of the separation process, if one is used. The production of other radioisotopes of the same atomic number as the one required can be reduced by using isotopically enriched targets.

Gamma-emitting impurities can be identified and determined by gamma spectrometry [2,3]. This method, which is commonly used, has some limitations, since the gamma impurity can be detected only if its gamma energies are sufficiently different from the gamma energies of the main product. In some circumstances, however, it is very sensitive, particularly if at least one of the gamma energies of the impurity is higher than the maximum gamma energy of the main product, e.g. in the determination of sodium-24 in potassium-42. By contrast, the method is not suitable for the determination of radioactive tellurium in iodine-131 [4]; in this case radioactive tellurium can be detected only in amounts greater than 5-8%. Gamma spectrometry is also limited when it is used to determine the presence of gamma-emitters in pure beta-emitters because of the continuous spectrum of brems-strahlung which may obscure small gamma peaks [5].

The determination of impurities by the method of beta-ray absorption in aluminium absorbers is limited to cases where the maximum beta energy is higher for the impurity than for the main radioisotope [6]. This method is also insufficiently sensitive for the determination of beta-emitting impurities in beta-gamma-emitters: such mixtures may be analysed by means of a variable voltage plastic scintillation counter which will resolve differing beta-energies [7].

The presence of long-lived impurities in short-lived radioisotopes can be estimated, when time allows, by following the radioactive decay over 10-20 half-life periods. This has been used, for example, for the determination of phosphorus-33 in phosphorus-32 [8, 9], for the determination of iodine-129 in iodine-131 [10] and for the presence of iodine - 131 in iodine-132 [11]. Clearly this cannot be the method for routine use since it necessitates the almost complete decay of the product before the result is known.

One of the most reliable methods for the determination of radioisotopic impurities is that of chemical separation, using the appropriate carriers, followed by measurement of the activity of the separated fractions. A chemical separation of this sort has been used for the determination of sulphur-35 in phosphorus-32 [12], for the determination of tellurium in iodine-131 [4] and for the presence of sodium-24 in potassium-42 [5]. Separation of constituent impurities by means of paper electrophoresis is another method which has been used, for example, for the determination of phosphorus-32, sulphur-35 and chlorine-36 [13, 14], for the determination of strontium-90 in yttrium-90 [14], and for radioactive tellurium in iodine-131. A review of this method has been published [15]. Ion-exchange separation followed by radioactive measurement of the separated fractions is another variant of the same basic method and has been used for the presence of sodium-24 in potassium-42 [16-18], and for cobalt-60 in iron-59 [19]. Finally, thinlayer chromatography has been used in a similar manner for the determination of tellurium in iodine - 131, sulphur -35 in phosphorus -32 and strontium -90 in yttrium -90 [20]. Some of these methods may be used in combination as, for example, the use of gamma-ray spectrometry in conjunction with chemical separations for the determination of iron -59, zinc -65, antimony -124 and phosphorus -32 [5].

The requirements for purity obviously vary according to the application for which the isotope is intended. In biochemical transport studies an impurity of 0.2% of sodium-24 in potassium-42 is unacceptable. In short-lived isotopes used medically long-lived impurities must not be present because of the possibility of their biological deposition. By contrast in the therapeutic use of gold-198 the presence of 20% of gold-199 is considered as acceptable because of the similar properties of these two radioisotopes.

Radiochemical purity

Radiochemical impurities may arise during the production process or during storage of the product from radiation self-decomposition. For the determination of radiochemical impurities any method may be used which enables the different chemical forms of the radioisotope to be separated. Because radiochemical impurities are usually present only to a small extent the separation methods chosen have to be sensitive. Paper chromatography, paper electrophoresis, ion-exchange and thin-layer chromatography are techniques in common use for this purpose. Some examples will serve to illustrate the kinds of radiochemical impurity which may arise in some commonly used radioactive preparations.

In the preparation of phosphorus-32 solutions as an orthophosphate a small proportion of the phosphorus-32 may be present as pyrophosphate or as higher-condensed polyphophosphate. Such impurities can arise during the evaporation of carrier-free phosphorus-32 solutions, especially if the temperature of the evaporator is high and the solution is not sufficiently acid. In solutions of chromium-51 prepared as chromate, part of the activity may be present as chromic ion, soluble or insoluble [21], if insufficiently oxidized during processing or as a consequence of radiation decomposition of the solution [22]. Lower valency ions may occur in solutions of iron-59 as ferric chloride and in arsenic-76 solutions as arsenate. Arsenic-74 solutions may also contain traces of cacodylic acid if this material has been used as the target and incompletely separated during the production process. Solutions of iodine-131 as iodide may also contain traces of iodate since iodides are oxidized by atmospheric oxygen, especially if in alkaline solution (pH > 8), or in the absence of reducing agents such as sulphite or thiosulphate. Soluble ionic gold may be present in preparations of colloidal gold-198.

Some methods used for the determination of radiochemical impurities are listed in Table I.

Control of chemical factors

Carrier content

If the true specific activity of a separated radioisotope is to be known with any accuracy it is necessary to determine the total element present, i.e. the radioisotope plus any carrier. This inevitably requires the measurement of very small chemical quantities. The methods available are numerous but the ones selected will in general be those which are adaptable to active solutions and which do not require too large a sample. Colorimetry has been commonly used for the determination of phosphorus as the phosphomolybdate complex [36], for chromium as the chromate [32, 37, 38], or as the diphenylcarbazide [31], for the determination of iron with o-phenanthroline [31], for arsenic as the molybdate complex [31] and for iodine as free iodine in carbon tetrachloride [39].

The total content of sodium chloride in a radioisotope solution, which has been added for purposes of isotonicity, is conveniently measured by determining the conductivity of the solution: pH by means of a small glass electrode [40].

Chemical impurities

Chemical impurities may arise from the target material or from reagents and apparatus used in processing. Impurities may be of the sort that would constitute a risk if administered medically; for example, the commonly recognized toxic or objectionable elements like arsenic, tellurium or selenium (which are likely contaminants of iodine-131 prepared from irradiated tellurium), or they may be entirely non-toxic but be present in sufficient amount to interfere with the normal behaviour of the isotope. The presence of aluminium (arising from the irradiation cans) in phosphorus-32 is an example of the latter.

Impurity limits have been suggested [24, 39, 41]. The selection of methods used to determine small chemical impurities depends to some extent on what equipment is available locally. Spectroscopic analysis is popular [24, 42-44] for the reason that many elements can be measured simultaneously and it requires only a very small volume of active solution. The classical sulphide tests for heavy elements and modifications of the well-established "spot tests" can often be adapted to use with very small volumes of active solution.

The particle size of colloids

The biological behaviour of colloidal radioactive preparations may be influenced by the particle size of the colloid [45]. In general, the particle sizes of a particular colloid should be as uniform as possible. Electron microscopy appears to be one of the best methods for particle size determination [24, 45, 46]. Centrifugal sedimentation has also been used [47] and where the two methods have been used comparatively the particle size distributions are in agreement, within the experimental error, for particles whose shape does not deviate significantly from sphericity [48, 49]. For the particular case of colloidal gold, absorption spectra can also provide information on particle size [50]. The tendency for some colloids, such as colloidal chromic phosphate, to aggregate creates some difficulties in determining particle size by electron microscopy.

TABLE I

.

METHODS FOR THE DETERMINATION OF RADIOCHEMICAL IMPURITIES

Basic chemical form	Method ^x	Conditions	Separation time (h)	R _F values or mobilities	Reference
32PO 3 -	PC-ascending	Isopropanol, water, trichloro- acetic acid, ammonium hydroxide 75:25:5:0.3	16	Phosphates: ortho 0.75 pyro 0.45, poly < 0.35	[23-25]
	PC-ascending	Water, trichloroacetic acid, ammonium hydroxide, acetone 170:25:1.7:325	1-2	phosphates: ortho > pyro > poly	[26]
	PC-descending	t-butylalcohol, water, formic acid 40:20:5	4	Phosphates: ortho > pyro > poly	[27]
	TLC	Ethanol, water, trichloro- acetic acid. ammonium hydroxide 80:10:5:0.3; cellulose	0.5	Phosphates: ortho 0.9 pyro 0.6; poly < 0.5	[28]
	PE	0.1 <u>M</u> lactic acid		Phosphates: ortho pyro and poly	[29,30]
⁵¹ CrO ² / ₄ -	PC-ascending	Water, ethanol, ammonium hydroxide 125:50:25	2.5	$CrO_4^{2-}0.9; Cr^{3+}0$	[31]
		120.00.20			

TABLE I (contd.)

	IE	Strongly basic anion exchange resin,dilute nitric acid as eluent		Cr 3+in first 25 ml of eluate	[32]
59Fe3+	PC-ascending	Butanol, water, acetic acid, ethylacetoacetate 50:30:10:5	6	Fe ^{3+0.7} ; Fe ²⁺ 0.25	[31]
⁷⁶ AsO ³ -	PC-ascending	Ethanol, pyridine, water, [/] ammonium hydroxide 60:20:16:4	2	AsO_4^{3-} 0.04; AsO_3^{3-} 0.18; cacodylic acid 0.35	[31]
	PE	0.01 <u>N</u> sodium hydroxide		AsO_4^3 AsO_3^3 .	[33]
¹³¹ I ⁻	PC-ascending	Methanol, water 3:1	2,5-4	I^{-} 0.9; 10_{3}^{-} 0.4	[34, 35, 24]
	TLC	Acetone, 6 <u>N</u> ammoniac 1:1; silicagel	0.75	$I^- 0.9; 10_3^- 0.4$	[20]
	PE	0.01 <u>N</u> sodium hydroxide		$I^{-} 10^{-}_{3}$	[33]
¹⁹⁸ Au colloid	PC-ascending	Acetone, water, hydrochloric acid 70:20:10	1	Au soluble 1; colloidal 0	[24]
	TLC	Acetone, water, hydrochloric `acid 70:14:16; silicagel	1	Au soluble 0.9; colloidal 0	[20]

x
PC paper chromatography (ascending or descending)
TLC- thin layer chromatography.
PE - paper electrophoresis.

IE- ion-exchange resin.

73

Biological control

Radioactive preparations used in medical applications must fulfil the general requirements for other medicines. The quantity of the active ingredient must be accurately known, the purity must be adequately high and, in particular, those preparations intended for injection must be sterile and free from pyrogens. Reference has already been made to sterilization and the need for sterility testing in Section 4. If testing for sterility and freedom from pyrogens is undertaken it is recommended that skilled advice be sought: this is particularly necessary for pyrogen testing since consistent results are difficult to obtain and indeed the presence of radioactivity may confuse results since radiation can itself cause pyrogenic reactions in test animals. However, much can be done in isotope processing to minimize the formation of pyrogens, such as using freshly made reagents, using apparatus washed with pyrogen-free water and not keeping stock solutions of radioisotopes too long before sterilizing them.

It is clear from what has been said in this section that no single set of quality control tests will apply equally to all radioactive products. Quality control has to be matched to the use to which the products are being put. Medical isotopes are in a class which requires the most thorough control, though it is recognized that this may become difficult, especially with shortlived isotopes.

As a summary of what has been said already, and as a guide to suitable accuracies for the control of medical isotopes,

- (a) Radioactive concentration should be determined with a 5% reliability.
- (b) Radioactive impurity should in general be less than 0.1%.
- (c) Radiochemical purity should be greater than 95%.
- (d) The specific activity should be known.
- (e) Solutions for injection should be neutral and isotonic, sterilized and apyrogenic, and non-toxic.
- (f) Biological behaviour of a product should be established.

6. RADIOASSAY

The radioactive products to be measured are, in most cases, in the form of aqueous solutions. Their concentration may vary between some microcuries and several hundreds of millicuries per gram of solution. This range only is discussed here.

A laboratory producing radioisotopes will routinely assay its products by some "relative" procedures, i.e. methods where use is made of apparatus previously calibrated for the radionuclide in question by means of standard sources. These sources can be prepared and calibrated absolutely by the laboratory itself or in many cases more conveniently procured from elsewhere [1].

This section of the Manual is divided into four main sub-sections, as follows: the first gives a short general review of the methods recommended for the routine assay of the radioactive concentration of solutions, preference being given to techniques for which no special source preparation is necessary; the second contains a description of some "absolute" methods which can be used for the preparation of standard sources; the third contains some practical details on sample preparations; and the last sub-section gives recommendations for the assay and calibration of a number of special nuclides.

General methods of radioassay

As the range of γ -rays in matter is much larger than that of the other radiations emitted from radioactive nuclei (α , β , e- and X-rays), γ -detection will be used whenever sufficiently intense γ -rays are emitted by the sample. Fortunately, most of the important radionuclides are γ -emitters; therefore, the γ -assay is by far the most important tool for routine assay.

Assay of γ -emitting nuclides

To avoid more complicated preparation procedures, whenever possible, the samples to be measured should be in a solution of a volume not less than 1 ml and should be in a closed container. For volumes of less than 1 ml pipetting accuracy may not be sufficient for an accurate standardization.

Since γ -self-absorption may not always be negligible the containers to be used for the determinations should all be of the same dimensions and should all contain the same amount of liquid. When the activity of thick solid sources has to be assayed, self-absorption corrections must be made. In general, this involves more elaborate techniques; however, the simplest way to determine the self-absorption correction for a specific type of source is to measure one source in its original form, then dissolve it and measure all or part of the solution in a calibrated detection arrangement. This calibration factor may then be used for all solid sources of the same form and nuclide.

<u>Ionization chambers</u>. Ionization chambers are the first choice for the routine assay because of their well-known stability. While a standard direct current amplifier (voltage sensitive, high impedance) is sufficient for most purposes, for high precision applications the more expensive vibrating reed electrometers must be used. The so-called 4π -gamma-ionization chambers are widely used because their response is relatively insensitive to changes of position and dimensions of the source [2-4]. Such chambers filled with pressurized argon give larger currents (and backgrounds) but open chambers containing air at atmospheric pressure fulfil most purposes [3].

Since the response of open chambers varies with the air pressure for most accurate measurements, it is recommended to determine the ratio of the ion current from the unknown source to that of a long-lived standard γ -source. Any changes in the sensitivity are, therefore, compensated, since such changes will affect the response to the standard and the unknown source to about the same extent; ²²⁶Ra or ¹³⁷Cs are suitable for this purpose, and one should have a set of these sources to cover the whole range of ion currents generally encountered. Figure 1 shows a 4π gamma-chamber for routine calibrations of various kinds of γ -sources. Table I gives an example of the ionization current per millicurie for a special 4π -gamma-chamber



FIG.1. 4π gamma ionization chamber [5]

(Fig. 1) and also the activity of each radionuclide equivalent to a special radium source (nominal activity $25 \ \mu Ci$) [5].

When measuring larger activities, outside the range of the amplifier, it may be necessary to reduce the sensitivity. This may be done by connecting condensors in parallel in order to increase the effective input capacity. The wall of the inner tube must be thick enough to stop all β -rays (e.g. 2 mm of brass).

Combined 4π -gamma-beta ionization chambers are also often used (see Fig. 4); for γ -sources they have nearly as good characteristics as the $4\pi\gamma$ chambers meant exclusively for γ -detection. For very large sources ionization chambers of lower geometric efficiency (i.e. lower sensitivity) are useful. The sensitivity may be very simply changed by varying the distance between the chamber and an external source by means of an optical bench [6,7]. Because the maximum sensitivity is considerably lower than that of 4π chambers, and shielding of the whole assembly is difficult, this technique is rarely used.

|--|

	sealed glass ampoule) [5]	
Nuclide	Equivalent activity of a Ra standard source (25.0 µ g) (µC i)	Current sensitivity (A/ mCi)
²² Na	16.66	2.54×10^{-10}
⁵⁴ Mn	44.8	0,943
⁵¹ Cr	788.5	0.0536
⁵⁹ Fe	35.5	1.190
⁶⁰ Co	17.17	2.46
⁶⁵ Z n	71.2	0.593
⁸² Br	14.55	2.90
¹³¹ I	77,3	0.547
¹³⁷ Cs	60.8	0.695
¹⁴⁴ Ce	433.4	0.0975
¹⁹⁸ Au	71.2	0.593
²⁰³ Hg	90.6	0.466
226 Ra	25	1.69

RESPONSE OF A TYPICAL 4π-γ-IONIZATION CHAMBER (height, 34 cm; external diam., 20.5 cm; filling, 1000 mm argon; no shield; background 2×10⁻¹⁴ A; 4 ml of solution in a sealed glass ampoule) [5]

For the assay of radionuclides for which no standard sources are available, a curve of the response of the chamber as a function of the γ -energy may be used. Such a curve may be established by measuring the chamber response for calibrated sources of different γ -energies (e.g. from Table I). To use such a curve the decay schemes have to be known precisely. However, it is preferred, whenever possible, to determine the chamber response (or the current equivalent of the long-lived standard source) for each radionuclide separately by means of a calibrated source of the same nuclide.

<u>NaI scintillation counting</u>. Scintillation counting, using NaI (Tl) crystals is the most important method for the assay of low-activity γ -sources. Convenient counting rates may be obtained for sources up to several millicuries by increasing the distance between source and crystal.



FIG.2. NaI gamma-spectrometer apparatus [5]

Figure 2 shows an assembly used in the IAEA laboratory, which is connected to a simple counter and also to a multichannel analyser. The sample is in the form of either a dried deposit on a thin polythene disc or 1-2 ml of solution in a standard plastic tube. Figure 3 gives the measured photopeak-efficiency (see Heath [8]) as a function of the γ -energy for a distance of 30 mm between source and detector surface. This efficiency is roughly inversely proportional to the square of the distance. Too small distances should be avoided because the reproducibility of the source position is then the precision limiting factor. A detailed description of all problems concerning accurate γ -measurements, using NaI crystals is given by Heath [8].

Relatively large dimensions of the lead shield are often chosen in order to reduce the backscatter peak in the pulse height spectrum. If the assembly is used only for assay, a small lead castle will be sufficient. For a maximum distance between source and detector (NaI 3 in \times 3 in) of 40 cm, γ -sources from 0.1 to several tens of μ Ci may be measured. These are easily obtained from the mother solution by aliquoting, if necessary, after dilution.

Since the pulse height spectra of a NaI counter are rather extended, in the case of the most simple counting apparatus the stability of the pulse height discrimination threshold may become a problem if the discriminator level is set so that a substantial part of the pulses is rejected. The discrimination threshold may be safely set anywhere in the spectrum only if a pulse height stabilizing system* is used.

Stability problems may be avoided if amplification and high tension are chosen so that most of the pulses saturate the amplifier, and the threshold is set much lower, e.g. 5% of the saturation pulse height. Then the counting

^{*} Commercially available from many manufacturers of nuclear electronics.



FIG.3. Photopeak efficiency for NaI (3 in X 3 in; distance 30 cm) [5]

rate becomes nearly independent of changes in amplification, high tension and threshold. But in this case, the amplifier must be anti-overload, and for high counting rates large dead-time corrections must be applied. Under these conditions the Nal counter may be used in the same manner as the ionization chamber.

The advantage of the NaI counting techniques over the ionization chamber techniques is that the former offers the greater sensitivity and the possibility of radioactive purity controls. However, there are also disadvantages. Some pulses due to electronic and/or true coincidences have to be corrected for. Further, dead-time corrections must be applied to the NaI counting rate and the measurement of activities higher than several hundred microcuries becomes inconvenient. Should a secondary long-lived standard for the calibration of a given short-lived radionuclide, R, be desired it may be prepared by the following procedure. A calibrated source of R is measured in various positions. The secondary standard, which should emit γ -rays in about the same energy range as R (e.g. ¹³³ Ba, ¹³⁷ Cs, and ⁶⁰ Co respectively, for low-, medium- and high-energy γ -rays) is measured in a similar manner. Its equivalent activity, A_E, which gives the same counting rate as A_R millicuries of the radionuclide R, is determined for the different

positions. A_E is then largely independent of possible changes in the experimental conditions and may be used for future assays of R-sources.

A NaI well-crystal arrangement is also often used for the assays of γ -emitters [9]. The reproducibility is very satisfactory and the high efficiency, which may approach 100%, is desirable for low-activity sources. However, this high efficiency is sometimes a drawback for determining larger activities.

Pure β -emitters

Since β -emitters are all subject to strong self-absorption which, in practice, cannot be avoided, it is even more advantageous to assay them in the liquid form than it is for γ -emitters. Thus it is much easier to obtain reproducible conditions with respect to self-absorption from liquid samples than from solid ones.

Except for low-level measurements, the use of solid sources and endwindow Geiger counters should be discontinued. Combined β - γ ionization chambers [3, 10], special β -chambers, or proportional counters are much more reliable.

Ionization chambers. The diagram of a combined β - γ ionization chamber [3] is given in Fig. 4. In such a chamber 1 ml of the solution to be assayed



FIG.4. Combined beta-gamma ionization chamber [3]

is placed in a Polythene planchet. The sensitivities for a number of nuclides are given in Table II. For β -maximum energies lower than ~400 keV the sensitivity becomes very small because of the β -absorption by the window and the air; for example, for sulphur-35 it is approximately 3×10^{-12} A/mCi ml.

It should be noted that, for routine assay, counting methods should be avoided which have a low sensitivity for the nuclide to be determined and a

TABLE II

 Radionuclide	Sensitivity (A/mCi ml)	
32 P	2.68 × 10 ⁻¹⁰	
⁴² K	4,33	
⁸² Br	1.03	
¹³¹ I	0.73	
¹⁹⁸ Au	1.37	

RESPONSE OF A COMBINED $4\pi\gamma$ - β -IONIZATION CHAMBER* FOR SOME β -SPECTRA [3]

* Fig. 4.

large sensitivity for a possible impurity. For example, an impurity of only 0.2% ^{32}P in a ^{35}S solution would, in a chamber of the type shown in Fig. 4, give a ^{35}S activity value 20% too high. To be assured that such false results are not obtained, it is best to use detection techniques in which the counting efficiency of the nuclide to be assayed is at least of the same order of magnitude as that for possible contaminations.

Special ionization chambers for β -emitters may be preferred because of their lower background current [4]. A grid may be used in place of the thin-foil window [Fig. 5] if the chamber works under normal air pressure. To avoid evaporation during lengthy measurements, the cup may be protected by a thin foil cover, such as aluminized Mylar which is commercially available in thicknesses of ~ 1 mg/cm², or other plastic films which one can make in the laboratory with less than 30 μ g/cm². Since the chamber response varies with the air pressure, solid standard sources may be used to determine correction factors.



FIG.5. Beta ionization chamber [5]

81

Geiger counting of liquid samples. Solutions with specific activities of up to $\sim 20 \text{ nCi/cm}^3$ may be conveniently counted in an all-glass Veall-type liquid counter in which the solution counted is contained in an annular space surrounding the Geiger tube [16]. Unfortunately, these counters operate in the Geiger region and rarely keep for longer than one year.

Precise determination of the efficiency of many radionuclides is, therefore, only worthwhile if such counters are used frequently. Table III gives typical values of the efficiencies for some radionuclides.

TABLE III

Radionuclide	β maximum energies (MeV)	Liquid counter efficiency (%)	
42 K	3.84	16.0	
	1.92		
⁹⁰ Sr (+ ⁹⁰ Y)	2.18	13.8	
	0.53		
³² p	1.70	10.1	
⁸⁶ Rb	1.80	7.9	
	0.72	. ·	
²⁴ Na	1.39	7.8	
²¹⁰ Bi	1.17	2.8	
198 _{Au}	0.96	2.8	
²⁰⁴ T1	0.765	1.46	
131 ₁	0.608	0.77	

β-EFFICIENCY OF A CYLINDRICAL GLASS-WALLED GM LIQUID COUNTER

Another type of Geiger counter, useful when large solution volumes are available, is a thin-glass-walled variety which may be dipped directly into the solution to be assayed. This type is easier to clean and may have somewhat higher efficiency.

Proportional counting of liquid samples. When using a windowless 2π proportional flow counter with aqueous solutions, the counting characteristics may be impaired by water vapour. This difficulty can be avoided by diluting the radioactive solution 1:9 or less with formamide [2].

In another proportional counter the β -emitting solutions are placed in a tube whose bottom consists of a thin plastic film such as the 1 mg/cm²

6*

aluminized Mylar. This Mylar foil is at the same time the cover of a hemispherical counter. For such an arrangement the reproducibility is better than \pm 0.5% [12]. The efficiencies of such a counter for some β -emitters are given in Table IV.

TABLE IV

Nuclide	Volume of solution (ml)	Specific activity giving 100 cps (nCi/ml)*	Efficiency (%)
^{\$5} S	2.0**	670.0	0.2
²⁰⁴ T1	2.0	43.0	3,2
32p	3, 5	9.8	7.9
⁹⁰ Sr (+ ⁹⁰ Y)	5.0	6.2	8.7

β -EFFICIENCIES OF A PROPORTIONAL COUNTER FOR PRECISE RELATIVE CALIBRATION OF β -EMITTING SOLUTIONS [12]

* Background 1.5 cps.

** Minimum quantity necessary for safely covering the window.

Liquid scintillation counting. While liquid scintillation counting may be the simplest method of assay for very low-energy β -emitters, such as ³H and ⁶³Ni, it also has the great advantage of being able to count samples of relatively large masses with high efficiency [13].

Some details on this technique are given in Section 2. For the routine assay solutions with a lower carrier content other methods are more convenient.

Assay of α -emitters

The range of α -particles is shorter than that of most β -particles. However, the absorption corrections are not as large as one may expect for solid sources if the sources are prepared from solutions of low carrier concentration.

As pure α -emitters play only a minor role in the production of radionuclides, only the most popular methods of assay are mentioned, namely:

 2π -ionization chamber

 2π -proportional counting [2]

ZnS scintillation counting [3]

Liquid scintillation counting [14].

Assay of pure electron-capture nuclides

When a nucleus decays by K-capture, the K X-rays are emitted with the probability given by the fluorescence yield, $\omega_{\rm K}$. Otherwise, only the low-energy Auger electron is emitted. Since it is very difficult to count these electrons reproducibly, generally only the K X-rays are used for the assay. In addition to the fluorescence yield, the L-capture/K-capture ratio must be taken into account if the activity is to be calculated from the K X-ray yield [15].

Solid angle techniques are widely used for the assay of these nuclides. The most convenient detector is a thin NaI crystal (thickness 1-2 mm) with a Be-window (thickness about 0.2 mm). If the nuclide has $Z \ge 40$, a NaI crystal in a normal aluminium can (thickness about 0.2 mm) may also be used. As the self-absorption of solid sources may be appreciable, it is recommended to assay the nuclide in solution form.

End-window Geiger counters, filled with krypton or xenon to enhance the absorption of the X-rays in the counting gas, are no longer in much use for this purpose.

Methods for the determination of the absolute disintegration rate

In this paper, a calibration method is considered to be "absolute" if no other standard radioactive source, whose activity was determined elsewhere or by some other method, is needed.

Earlier methods were based mainly on the measurement of the radiation emitted from a point source into a well-defined but small, solid angle. Increasing this angle to 2π or 4π for α and β -emitters has now eliminated numerous sources of error. Small solid angles should be used only in exceptional cases.

Surveys of calibration methods have been published by Gandy [16] and Allen [17]. The latter covers publications till 1963.

The 4π proportional counter

The 4π -counter is now the most important detector for the calibration of β -emitting radionuclides [18-20]. The common type is the "pillbox" counter. For such counters the source consists of an aliquot of the radioactive solution deposited on a very thin film which is then dried. The film is placed over an annular source holder, which represents part of the wall between two "pillboxes" forming the two 2π counters with parallel wire anodes. The counting gas, preferably methane, streams through both counters. The counters are connected in parallel and operate in the proportional region. Also used are the "loop-type", where the anode wires have the form of a loop [19]. These counters may have a somewhat better characteristic than the "pillbox" type, but because of their relatively large height, for $4\pi\beta$ - γ -coincidence counting the flat "pillboxes" are preferred.

A low-noise amplifier (about 200 μ V rms at the input) with very good overload characteristics is essential. Good statistical accuracy is achieved in reasonable time by using high counting rates (up to 104 cps). However, it is necessary to use a special electronic device which generates a welldefined dead-time. A counter of this type should be able to register every ionizing particle emerging from the source. To reduce self-absorption the sources must be exceedingly thin. Generally several drops, each about 12 mg, of the source solution, which must have a Iow carrier concentration only, are placed on a plastic film ($\sim 10 \ \mu g/cm^2$) which is covered with a layer of evaporated gold (thickness $\sim 12 \ \mu g/cm^2$). The gold layer ensures that static charges do not build up on the source. Nevertheless, even for such thin sources, the self-absorption losses are of the order of 0.2% for ³²P, 2% for ⁹⁰Sr + ⁹⁰Y, 4% for ²⁰⁴Tl and 6% for ³⁵S. Therefore, the 4π counter alone can only be used for the calibration of β -emitters with maximum energies above 1 MeV, if accuracies of $\pm 1\%$ or better are desired, and even then elaborate techniques have to be used for the film and source preparations [21, 22].

$4\pi\beta$ - γ coincidence counting

If two counters, each sensitive for one kind of radiation only (usually one counter for β , α or X-rays, the other for γ -rays) are used, and the single counting rates, as well as the coincidences, are registered, then the absolute disintegration rate of the source can be determined directly for many nuclides; from these data the counter efficiencies may also be calculated. Generally, it is preferable to have the efficiency of one counter as nearly to 100% as possible; for α and β -emitters, the 4π proportional counter is, therefore, most suitable. The γ -rays are detected by one or two NaI crystals [23].

 $\beta - \gamma$ or $\alpha - \gamma$ cascades. If the nuclide emits only one β and one γ in cascade, the straightforward coincidence method may be used. If there are several cascades, small correction factors may be necessary [23]. The γ -efficiency of the 4π -counter may also have to be taken into account [24].

Extrapolation method for complicated decay schemes. For complex decay schemes, especially if there is a β -emission leading directly to the ground state, a more complicated method is needed. The self-absorption of the source is varied by adding carrier or sandwiching the source between absorbing films [25], and the β -counting rate is then plotted as a function of the ratio of the coincidences to the γ -counts, i.e. the "mean" efficiency of the 4π -counter for the β -spectra associated with the counted γ -rays. Linear extrapolation of the β -efficiency to 100% then gives the counting rate for zero self-absorption, i.e. the disintegration rate [25-27].

<u>Pure β -emitters</u>. For these nuclides the "efficiency tracing techniques" [26] can be applied. The β -emitter, B, is mixed with a convenient β - γ emitter as tracer whose activity is known from an earlier calibration (e.g. ⁶⁰Co) or can be determined by the disintegration curve (e.g. ⁸²Br). The self-absorption is varied by additional carrier or foils. If the self-absorption of the β -spectra of tracer and B can be assumed to be proportional, the β -efficiency of the tracer (ratio of coincidences to γ -counts) can be used as

a parameter to extrapolate the β -counting rate of B linearly to 100% β -efficiency [25, 26, 28].

The two foregoing methods, extrapolation and efficiency tracing, are cumbersome, but at present they are the only ones which make it possible to evaluate reliably the self-absorption of solid sources.

 γ - γ coincidence counting. This method is, in principle, the most convenient if there are two γ -rays which are emitted in cascade. In contrast to the β - γ coincidence method the efficiencies of one counter for both γ -rays is of the same order of magnitude, which causes considerable complications; sum peaks must be avoided also. If the efficiencies are made very small, and about equal, these difficulties can be overcome [29-32]. Unfortunately, complicated fast-slow coincidence electronics are necessary, and the coincidence counting rate is very low. Consequently, this method is mainly useful for occasionally checking the results obtained by β - γ or X- γ coincidences.

Absolute γ -counting by Nal-crystals. For a number of different crystal sizes and geometries, absolute values for the total and photopeak efficiencies have been calculated [8,33-35]. A cylindrical Nal crystal, 3 in. diam. and 3 in. height, is the standard detector for this type of measurements [8]; the source-to-detector distances most commonly chosen are between 10 and 30 cm. In the Compton region of the spectrum, the contribution of γ -rays scattered from the source holder, walls of the lead shield, etc. may be significant. Very light source mounts and large shields (up to 100 cm side length of a cube) are, therefore, often used. When the fraction of γ -rays per disintegration is known and the published values for the efficiency used, the activity of the source can be determined very easily; the accuracy is between ± 3 and $\pm 5\%$.

However, if a better accuracy is desired, the set-up should be calibrated by means of standard sources.

Absolute liquid scintillation counting of β -emitters. In liquid scintillation counting there is no self-absorption in the normal sense of the word, and this method may be used for the calibration of β - and α -emitters.

The aliquot of the aqueous solution to be calibrated is at first diluted with alcohol and then added to the scintillating solution. Small aliquots may also be diluted directly in the scintillator [36].

It is also possible to place a filter paper soaked with the scintillator in a translucent box or directly on the photocathode [37]. The effects of relatively large amounts of carrier may be reduced, if some 10 mg of the radioactive solution are put on the filter paper, which is dried, and then wetted with the scintillator [5].

The detection threshold, which cannot be set lower than several keV, is considerably higher than in $4\pi\beta$ proportional counting. Since a fraction of the low-energy part of the β -spectrum is, therefore, not counted, extrapolation techniques must be used to correct for this [38]. For β -emitters with maximum energies above 150 keV, an accuracy of better than $\pm 0.5\%$ has been claimed [39].

/The liquid scintillator can also serve as the β -detector in β - γ coincidence counting [40]. As the γ -efficiency is higher than for the 4π proportional counter, and the corresponding corrections difficult to apply, in general, the latter is preferred for coincidence calibrations.

Calibration of α -emitters

For solutions with very little carrier 4π proportional counting gives more than a 99% α -counting efficiency. This has been verified by α - γ coincidence counting. The latter method can be used if some γ or X-rays are emitted in cascade with the α -rays. A precision of \pm 0.5% can be expected [41].

Small-solid-angle techniques have also been claimed to give an accuracy of 0.2% [42]. Apparently, the self-absorption perpendicular to the source is smaller than for 4π -geometry.

Calibration of electron-capture nuclides

E.C. and γ -ray in cascade. Coincidence techniques are the most convenient counting methods when an appreciable fraction of the electron-capture processes are followed by γ -emission. In this case, one detector should be sensitive for X-rays, preferably both for X-rays and the Auger electrons, while the other detector is sensitive only to the γ -rays. An argon- or xenon-filled proportional counter without a window can be used for the X-ray and Auger electron determination, while a Be-window NaI crystal detects only X-rays. The γ -effect in the X-ray detector must usually be corrected for [44]. In general, the calibration of these nuclides is not more difficult than that of β - γ emitters.

E.C. to ground state only. The self-absorption of Auger electrons is so large that it cannot be determined accurately. Therefore, the source is normally sandwiched between foils or films of low Z material which absorbs the Auger electrons completely but attenuates the X-rays only slightly. Complete or nearly complete absorption of the X-rays within the counter is necessary [43, 45]; 4π geometry is preferred but 2π geometry will also do since scattering can be considered negligible if the photo effect in the detector predominates.

Figure 6 shows a hemispherical 2π proportional counter for the calibration of medium Z electron capture nuclides; for X-ray γ -coincidence counting the NaI crystal can be much nearer to the source than in the case of 4π geometry [46]. Small solid angle geometry is not recommended for use with gas proportional counters. A thin NaI crystal as X-ray detector does not need a vacuum system, but should, because of the difficulty of defining the solid angle, only be used for higher Z nuclides where the absorption in the counting gas is too small.

For nuclides with $Z \lesssim 30$ the self-absorption of the X-rays within the small crystals constituting the source may necessitate intricate techniques. It is necessary to extrapolate to zero self-absorption and the ratio of the detected X-rays to the sum of the detected X-rays and Auger electrons for



FIG.6. Proportional gas counter for the calibration of electron capture radionuclides [5]

the bare source may serve as parameter [45]. Support film absorption and incomplete X-ray absorption in the counter have also to be corrected for. Accuracies of \pm 2% have been claimed [5,45]. When only the K X-rays are detected, the fluorescence yield and the K/L capture ratio have to be known accurately.

Some details on sample preparations

Carrier solution

If aliquoting is used for the preparation of liquid samples, the chemical composition of the solution must be appropriate to avoid any separation effects, e.g. adsorption on the walls or precipitation. The minimum carrier content is generally of the order of 10 μ g per ml of solution. For cations, in general, less carrier is needed if the acid concentration is made higher. It has been shown that 2 μ g/ml Cs or Co are sufficient if the solution is 0.1 N HCl [5]. Nearly neutral solutions seem to be unreliable.

Details on reliable carrier solutions have been given in the literature [17,47].

Precise diluting

Dilutions by volume are rarely more precise than 1 or 2%; however, if the mass is taken as the criterion, accuracies of better than 0.1% can

be obtained. The specific activity of a solution is, therefore, generally given in units of Ci/g. This also eliminates differences caused by variations of the density. Large dilution factors are possible if the mass taken from the stock solution is determined separately by weighing. A simple pipette may be fabricated from a glass tube by drawing one end to a capillary. Some of the solution to be assayed can be sucked into the capillary by means of a rubber bulb (Fig. 7).



FIG.7. Pipette for accurate dispensing of solutions [5]

Treating the capillary with silicone prevents drops from clinging to the outside. This pipette is weighed on a semi-micro or micro-balance before and after dropping some liquid into the diluent. If the weight of the latter is large, it can be determined easily on a simple balance [5]. For accurate results one must prevent appreciable evaporation of the solvent.

Preparation of sources

Polythene tubes with a lid, or screw-top bottles, are very practical and inexpensive containers for liquid samples to be assayed by γ -ray detection, although there is some evaporation through the walls.

For $4\pi\beta$ counting the weighed mass of liquid must be deposited on a very thin film. Since sufficiently thin films are not commercially available, the required films (~ 25 μ g/cm²) must be prepared in the laboratory [22]. The following procedure for source preparation gives good results for most nuclides:

Several drops (each ~12 mg) are deposited on the film from a pipette. The exact amount of material deposited is determined by the difference in the weight of the pipette before and after. The drops are dried on the film. The crystalline residue is then re-dissolved with two drops of a solution consisting of LUDOX [22] diluted 1:10⁴ and TEEPOL diluted 1:10⁵ with water. The source is then given a final drying.

For some nuclides special treatment is necessary, for example,

Iodine-131: Addition of AgNO₃ solution to the deposit (prevents evaporation of the iodine)

Cobalt-60: Precipitation with NH_3 by exposing to NH_3 gas or by the addition of NH_4OH (reduces self-absorption)

Mercury-203: Precipitation as HgS; H_2S as gas or aqueous solution (prevents evaporation of Hg).

The errors of different weighing techniques in preparing these sources have been thoroughly investigated [48].

TABLE V

METHODS RECOMMENDED FOR THE CALIBRATION OF SOME RADIONUCLIDES

Padiopuclida	Relative	Absolute cali	4πβ-efficiency	
	calibration	Method	Precision (%)	(%)
18 F	γ. (B)	4πβ-γ γ - γ	± 3	95.0
²⁴ Na	γ, β	4πΒ, 4πβ-γ γ-γ	± 1	99.5
²⁸ Mg	γ, (β)	4πβ - γ ^b	± 3	
³² P	в	4πβ	± 1	99.8
³⁵ S	β ^a	$4\pi\beta$ - γ (tracer) ^b	± 2	94.0
42 K	γ, β	4πβ, 4πβ-γ ^b	± 1	99.0
- ⁵¹ Cr	γ	Χ-γ	± 2	-
⁵⁸ Co	γ, (β)	γ-comp.	± 3	
⁵⁹ Fe	γ. (β)	4πβ-γ ^b	± 1	95.0
⁶⁵ Zn	γ	Χ-γ	± 2	-
⁸² Br	γ,(β)	4πβ-γ	± 1	96.0
⁹⁰ Y	в	4πβ	± 1	99.5
¹³¹ I	γ, (β)-	4πβ-γ	± 1	96.0
¹⁹⁸ Au	γ. (β)	4πβ-γ	± 1	98.0

a See first main sub-section of the text.

^b See second main sub-section of the text.

Methods for the calibration of special radionuclides

Table V gives recommendations for the methods most appropriate for the calibration of some radionuclides.

Relative calibration

As emphasized in Chapter 1, γ -assay is to be used whenever possible. If a " β " is also given in column 2 of Table V, β -counting gives good results. If (β) is given, γ -detection should be preferred.

Absolute calibration

In column 3 of Table V the following abbreviations are used:

 $4\pi\beta = 4\pi\beta$ proportional counter

 $4\pi\beta-\gamma = \beta-\gamma$ coincidence method using a $4\pi\beta$ -counter and a NaI crystal

 $X-\gamma$ = coincidence method, detecting the K X-rays and the γ -rays separately

Cobalt-58 can be calibrated using an interpolated value for the γ -efficiency (805 keV) of a NaI-spectrometer [49].

The "precision" in column 4 of Table V means the agreement which is to be expected between the results measured by different specialized laboratories (standard deviation).

The last column gives the efficiencies of the $4\pi\beta$ -counter (average values) for carefully prepared sources.

REFERENCES

- [1] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, International Directory of Isotopes, 3rd ed., IAEA Vienna (1964) 488 pp.
- [2] MANN, W.B., "Routine methods of radioactivity standardization at the National Bureau of Standards (USA)", Metrology of Radionuclides, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 89.
- [3] ROBINSON, B. M. W., "Routine standardization of radionuclides in the UK", Metrology of Radionuclides, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 41.
- [4] GRINBERG, B., "L'étalonnage des radioéléments en France", Metrology of Radionuclides, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 21.
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Physics Laboratory, IAEA, Vienna, not published.
- [6] GEIGER, K. W., "National Research Council of Canada", Metrology of Radionuclides, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 13.
- [7] ENGELMANN, J.J., Bull, inf. Sci. techn. CEA, 27 (March 1959) 56.
- [8] HEATH, R.L., Gamma-Ray Spectrum Catalogue, 2nd ed. IDO-16880 (Aug. 1964).
- [9] WACHTER, M.H., et al., Rev. Sci. Instr. 31 (1960) 626.
- [10] DALE, J.W.G., PERRY, W.E., PULFER, R.F., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. <u>10</u> (1961) 65; DALE, J.W.G., WILLIAMS, A., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. <u>15</u> (1964) 567.
- [11] HOUTERMANS, H., Strahlentherapie 103 (1957) 98.

- [12] MIGUEL, M., HOUTERMANS, H., "Compteur proportionnel de précision pour émetteur liquide", Symposium on Radioisotope Measurement Techniques in Medicine and Biology, IAEA, Vienna (May 1965) 750.
- [13] RAPKIN, E., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 15 (1964) 69, a review.
- [14] VANINBROUX, R., SPERNOL, A., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. (1965), (in press).
- [15] BOUCHEZ, R., DEPOMMIER, P., Reports on Progress in Physics XXIII (1960) 395.
- [16] GANDY, A., Préparation et étalonnage des sources radioactives de référence, Review Series No.14, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 100.
- [17] ALLEN, R.A., In "Alpha-, Beta- and Gamma-Ray Spectroscopy", (K. Siegbahn, Ed.) North-Holland Publ. Comp., Amsterdam (1965) 425.
- [18] CAMPION, P.J., GEIGER, K.W., ibid., p. 3.
- [19] NAITO, M., INOUYE, Y., YURA, O., ibid., p. 33.
- [20] WEISS, H.M., ibid., p. 53.
- [21] MERRITT, J.S., TAYLOR, J.G.V., CAMPION, P.J., Can. J. Chem. 37 (1959) 1109.
- [22] YAFFE, L., Annual Review of Nucl. Science, 12 (1962) 153.
- [23] CAMPION, P.J., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 4 (1959) 232.
- [24] WILLIAMS, A., CAMPION, P.J., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 14 (1963) 533.
- [25] BAERG, A.P., MEGHIR, S., BOWES, G.C., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 15 (1964) 279.
- [26] CAMPION, P.J., TAYLOR, J.G.V., MERRITT, J.S., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 8 (1960) 8.
- [27] HOUTERMANS, H., MIGUEL, M., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 13 (1962) 37.
- [28] HELLSTROM, S., BRUNE, D., Nukleonik 6 (1964) 174.
- [29] PEELLE, R.W., MAIENSCHEIN, F.C., Neutron Phys. Ann. Report, ORNL 3016 (1960) 96.
- [30] MEYER, K.P., SCHMID, P., HUBER, P., Helvetia Physica Acta 32 (1959) 423.
- [31] KOWALSKI, E., Nucl. Instruments Meth. 33 (1965) 29.
- [32] FROSCH, R., HUBER, P., WIDDER, F., Helvetia Physica Acta 37 (1964) 409.
- [33] ZERBY, C. D., MORAN, H. S., ORNL-3169 (1962).
- [34] MILLER, W.F., SNOW, W.J., Nucleonics 19 11 (Nov. 1961) 174.
- [35] WEITKAMP, C., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. 23 (1963) 13.
- [36] GARFINKEL, S.B., MANN, W.B., MEDLOCK, R.W., YURA, O., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. <u>16</u> (1965) 27.
- [37] BRINKMAN, G.A., Standardization of Radioisotopes Thesis, Institut for Kernfysisch Onderzoek, Amsterdam (1961).
- [38] STEYN, J., ibid., p. 279.
- [39] VANINBROUX, R., SPERNOL, A., "High Precision 4π-Liquid Scintillation Counting", Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. (1965) (in press).
- [40] STEYN, J., HAASBROEK, F.J., A/Conf. 15/P/1104 (1958).
- [41] RYTZ, A., Rapport sur la comparaison de 241 Am, Bureau International des Poids et Mesures, Paris (1964).
- [42] SPERNOL, A., LERCH, O., Nucl. Instr. Meth. (1965), (in press).
- [43] ALLEN, R.A., ibid. p. 343.
- [44] HOUTERMANS, H., PETEL, M., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 16 (1965) 215.
- [45] GARFINKEL, S.B., HUTCHINSON, J.M.R., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. 13 (1962) 629.
- [46] SANIELEVICI, A., HOUTERMANS, H., MESUCORA, Paris, Séance N°, 8 (1963) 4.
- [47] UNITED KINGDOM ATOMIC ENERGY AUTHORITY, AERE, The Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, Bucks, Technical Bulletin No. 63/5 (1963).
- [48] CAMPION, P.J., DALE, J.W.G., WILLIAMS, A., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isot. (1965), (in press).
- [49] VANINBROUX, R., GROSSE, G., EUR 524.n (1964).

7. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

Harmful effects may follow the exposure of the human body to ionizing radiation. These harmful effects may be either of a somatic type and become manifest at an early or late stage in the exposed individual, or of a genetic type and become manifest only in his descendants. It is therefore necessary to take stringent precautions to prevent undue exposure to radiation of those persons who are engaged in work with radioactive substances. More detailed information on the precautions which are outlined in this section is available in the Agency publications listed in the References.

Types of exposure

The organs and tissues of the body differ both in their sensitivity to ionizing radiation and in their importance for the maintenance of bodily health. Those organs which are most sensitive in particular circumstances of irradiation and which are also most necessary for the maintenance of well-being are referred to as the critical organs for that mode of irradiation.

Two clearly distinguished types of exposure can occur. First, exposure of the whole body, or limited parts of it, to the radiation emitted by sources which remain outside the body; this type is referred to as exposure to external radiation. Second, exposure of organs and tissues to the radiation emitted by radioactive substances which enter the body by inhalation, by ingestion, or by absorption through broken or intact skin; this type is referred to as "exposure to internal radiation". When a radionuclide has entered the body it takes part in the metabolic processes and the extent of any accumulation in the critical organs depends on its chemical identity and form, its solubility and the route by which it entered the body.

Maximum permissible doses

Careful experimental work on animals and the study of accumulated experience on the effects of radiation on the human body have made it possible to formulate a set of permissible dose-equivalents, expressed in rems, which are applicable to all types of ionizing radiation. The permissible values are related to exposure of the whole body or limited parts of it, or to exposure of the various critical organs within the body.

The International Commission on Radiological Protection (ICRP) has issued recommendations on maximum permissible dose-equivalents which are now widely accepted throughout the world [1]. The Commission has been careful to point out that the recommended values are <u>maximum values</u> and has also recommended that all radiation doses should be kept at as low a value as practicable and that <u>all unnecessary exposure to radiation should</u> be avoided.

The maximum permissible dose-equivalents listed in the Agency's Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection [9] are based on the recommendations of the ICRP.

On the basis of plausible assumptions regarding the intake of air and water during the period of exposure it is feasible to derive maximum permissible concentrations of specific radionuclides in air inhaled and water consumed which correspond to the maximum permissible dose-equivalents to the whole body and to the critical organs [2]. Such maximum permissible concentrations are listed in Part II for the selected radionuclides. Methods of controlling exposure to radiation from sealed and unsealed sources

(a) Sealed and unsealed sources

Radioactive substances may be handled in the form of sealed or unsealed sources. In a sealed source the substance is enclosed in a hermeticallysealed container or is bonded in a material in such a way that it will not be dispersed in normal use. All other forms of radioactive substance constitute unsealed sources. A sealed source, as long as it remains sealed, can act as a source of external radiation only; an unsealed source can act as a source of both external and internal radiation.

(b) The handling of sealed sources [3-6]

Exposure to external radiation can be minimized by:

- (i) Limiting the time spent near the source to the minimum necessary for efficient performance of the work;
- (ii) Keeping the body, including the hands, as far from the source as is compatible with rapid and safe work;
- (iii) Interposing between the source and the body shielding material of sufficient thickness to reduce the level of the transmitted radiation to an acceptable value.

These three methods are generally used in combination.

Distance provides an inexpensive means of reducing the radiation level. but its use is limited. For a gamma-ray source of small dimensions the exposure rate decreases with distance approximately according to the inverse square law. Increasing the distance between the hands and the source by a factor of ten. for example from one centimetre to ten centimetres, reduces the exposure rate at the hands by a factor of one hundred. For a beta-ray source the level of the radiation also decreases rapidly with distance, though the relationship between the two is complicated by the scattering and absorption of the radiation in the air. The radiation level in the immediate neighbourhood of a beta- or gamma-ray-emitting source of comparatively low activity may be sufficiently high to deliver a large dose in a very short time. Radioactive substances should therefore never be manipulated with the bare hands: some form of protection is always necessary. Forceps which keep the fingers at a distance of ten to fifteen centimetres should be used for the small sources. Tongs which keep the hands at a distance of about one metre may be used for the larger sources.

When remote handling alone is not sufficient to reduce the radiation level to an acceptable value, shielding must be provided.

Beta particles lose their energy within a short distance and have a finite range, even in materials of low density. A layer of transparent plastic 6 mm thick will absorb effectively all beta particles of initial energy less than 1 MeV, and a layer 2.5 cm thick will absorb all those of initial energy less than 4 MeV. Such plastic materials, usually in the form of transparent sheets, are used to provide close shielding around high-activity beta-ray sources, or in the form of barriers behind which the handling procedures are performed. Materials of high atomic number should not be used as primary shielding for beta radiation as a considerable fraction of the absorbed beta ray energy may then be converted into continuous X-radiation, referred to as bremsstrahlung.

Gamma radiation is much more penetrating. The most commonly used shielding materials are lead, steel and concrete. The thickness of any of these materials which will provide the required attenuation for gamma radiation of specified energy may be obtained from published Tables [6]. For shielding purposes the thicknesses used should be those applicable to attenuation under broad beam conditions. Convenient calculators for estimating the thickness of shielding necessary to reduce the radiation levels to the desired values are obtainable commercially¹.

Gamma-ray shields should be placed as close to the source as circumstances permit. The thickness of the shield is not less when it is in that position, but its surface area and hence its weight and cost are less than if it were placed at a greater distance.

Radiation emerges from a source in all directions and sufficient shielding must therefore always be provided below as well as at the sides of the source. When the direct radiation strikes neighbouring objects a fraction of it is scattered in all directions. If the activity of the source is high, the level of the radiation scattered from overhanging structures and from the air may be unacceptable and it will then be necessary to provide top shielding.

When shielding is required it may also be necessary to provide remote handling devices which can be operated through the shield and provision must be made for viewing the work performed without impairing the shielding.

(c) The handling of unsealed sources [4-6]

In the handling of unsealed sources the methods previously outlined for controlling the exposure to external radiation are combined with those necessary for controlling exposure to internal radiation.

Exposure to internal radiation can be minimized by providing adequate containment for the source and any necessary protective devices for preventing the intake or transfer to the skin of dispersed contamination. Containment refers to the measures taken to prevent the spread of contamination to the air, to materials with which it may be ingested, and to the skin or to surfaces from where it may be transferred to the skin.

Radionuclides have been graded in order of their relative radiotoxicity and classified in four categories corresponding to very high, high, moderate and slight relative radiotoxicity [5, 13]. The design of the working place and the nature of containment and protective measures required depend on the radiotoxicity classification and on the activities of the radionuclides which are to be handled [5].

All manipulations of active liquids should be performed within a double container or over a drip-tray lined with absorbent paper in order to confine any spills. Rubber gloves and appropriate protective clothing, such as laboratory coats, overalls, aprons, etc., <u>should always be worn</u> when working with unsealed sources. Overshoes should be worn if it is likely

 $^{^{}i}$ Isotope Handling Calculator (Mk III), Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom.

that the floor may become contaminated. Great care should be taken to prevent the transfer of contamination to the mouth, and mouth-operated pipettes should never be used in work with radioactive materials. Eating, drinking, smoking and the application of cosmetics should also be prohibited and self-adhesive labels only should be used in areas in which such materials are handled. Before it is cleaned, and if necessary decontaminated, all equipment and glassware used with unsealed sources should be laid in trays lined with absorbent material. Such equipment should be kept in the active working area and should not be used for other work.

If it is reasonable to suppose that the operations could lead to a spread of contamination to the atmosphere they should be performed within a fume hood or within an enclosed box and a ventilation system should be provided which will ensure in all circumstances a movement of air from the inactive towards the more active areas prior to discharge from the building, if necessary through filters. Detailed information on these topics is provided in Section 2 of this manual.

Clearly labelled receptacles for the collection of radioactive wastes should be kept in all working areas where such wastes may originate. Arrangements must be made for the periodic removal of active wastes from the working areas and for their storage and eventual disposal in conformity with the applicable regulations [10].

For work in areas in which it is impossible to keep the level of contamination of the air below the acceptable values, for example for maintenance and repairs within the enclosures, individual protective equipment, including respirators fitted with filters, or enclosed breathing sets supplied with clean air, should be provided and used.

If the level of external radiation is sufficiently high, it is necessary to provide shielding and remote handling devices in addition to the appropriate containment and for very active sources a fully-shielded enclosure may be necessary. Access to such an enclosure for maintenance and repairs is permitted only for persons wearing full protective clothing.

If the level of external radiation is not sufficiently high to warrant the use of a fully shielded enclosure, the unsealed sources may be handled within a fume hood or dry box provided with the appropriate shielding.

Physical and medical surveillance

(a) Physical surveillance

Area monitoring and personnel monitoring techniques are used for checking the effectiveness of the measures adopted for controlling the exposure to external and internal radiation.

Area monitoring comprises the systematic measurement of radiation levels and, if appropriate, of air and surface contamination levels in the working areas and in neighbouring areas. The results of such measurements provide a check on the effectiveness of the shielding and containment of the sources.

Personnel monitoring comprises the measurement of the total radiation reaching the surface of the body in a known time and the assessment of body burden, that is to say, the quantity of radioactive material actually present within the body [8, 12].

Appropriate instruments should be available for monitoring external radiation and contamination under normal working and emergency conditions. Such instruments may include fixed types, providing a continuous indication of radiation or contamination levels, installed at selected points within the laboratory, and portable types suitable for the detailed surveying of external radiation fields and possibly contaminated areas. Areas in which radiation sources are stored or used, and neighbouring areas, should be monitored at regular intervals. All working places and equipment which may have been contaminated should be monitored when the work has been completed and, if necessary, during the work. Portable radiation detectors or appropriate smear tests may be used for this type of monitoring.

If significant quantities of radioactive substances are handled as unsealed sources, the hands, clothing and shoes of the worker should be monitored before he leaves the working area and all articles used in the working area should also be monitored before they are removed from that area.

Appropriate personnel monitoring devices for determining the exposure to external radiation, such as film badges or pocket dosimeters, should be worn by all persons while engaged in work with radioactive sources. Exposure to internal radiation can be assessed, where necessary, by estimating the intake or evaluating the body burden of radioactive substances. Such an evaluation may be based on bio-assay measurements or on measurements of the radiation emitted by substances retained in the body. Appropriate counting equipment and sensitive radiation measuring devices, such as scintillation detectors and, if necessary, whole-body monitors, should be available for this purpose.

Careful records should be kept of the results of area and personnel monitoring.

(b) Medical surveillance [7]

Medical supervision is necessary for determining a person's fitness for work with radiation sources and for following trends in a worker's state of health. It should include an initial medical examination to determine a worker's suitability for employment, periodic re-examinations at appropriate intervals and special examinations. It should also include advice on firstaid and personal decontamination and the setting-up of arrangements for the treatment of persons who have received excessive radiation doses.

Working rules [5, 11]

Working rules, in the form of written instructions, setting out clearly the procedures to be followed in all routine work which may involve exposure to radiation, should be drawn up and brought to the attention of all workers. These rules should also cover such topics as the entrance of personnel and visitors into classified areas, monitoring and medical supervision procedures.

Procedures should also be established for obtaining approval for special operations, such as entry into shielded enclosures, which might involve exposures exceeding prescribed levels.

Accidents may involve exposure to excessive levels of external radiation, for example through loss of shielding, or exposure to internal radiation following failure of containment and dispersal of contamination. As a precaution against the occurrence of accidents all work should be carried out according to pre-arranged plans.

Special rules should be drawn up specifying the action to be taken in emergency situations following foreseeable types of accidents and should be brought to the attention of all persons who may be involved.

Emergency action should, in general, be directed towards protecting the persons involved in the accident and preventing any further spread of contamination.

Administrative organization [5, 11]

The authority in charge of a laboratory should carry ultimate responsibility for ensuring adequate protection against the effects of radiation, and in discharge of this responsibility should provide an administrative organization in which the tasks related to radiological protection are clearly defined.

These tasks include the provision of appropriate working conditions and equipment, the appointment of qualified persons to advise on radiological safety and to prescribe protective measures and verify their application, the provision of appropriate medical supervision, the designation of radiation workers, the classification of working areas, the provision of training and instruction, and the keeping of records.

REFERENCES

- INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations on Radiation Protection (as amended 1959 and revised 1962), ICRP Pub. No. 6, Pergamon Press, Oxford (1964).
- [2] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations on Radiation Protection. Report of Committee II on Permissible Dose for Internal Radiation, ICRP Pub. No. 2, Pergamon Press, New York (1959).
- [3] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations on Radiation Protection. Report of Committee III on Protection Against X-Rays up to Energies of 3 MeV and Betaand Gamma-Rays from Sealed Sources, ICRP Pub. No. 3, Pergamon Press, Oxford (1960).
- [4] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations on Radiation Protection. Report of Committee V on Handling and Disposal of Radioactive Materials in Hospitals and Medical Research Establishments, ICRP Pub. No. 5, Pergamon Press, New York (1965).
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, First Edition with Revised Appendix I, Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [6] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes: Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 120 pp.
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes: Medical Addendum, Safety Series No. 3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 80 pp.
- [8] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Use of Film Badges for Personnel Monitoring, Safety Series No. 8, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 87 pp.
- [9] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No. 9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 57 pp.
- [10] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Management of Radioactive Wastes Produced by Radioisotope Users, Safety Series No. 12, IAEA, Vienna (1965) 58 pp.
- [11] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Provision of Radiological Protection Services, Safety Series No. 13, IAEA, Vienna (1965) 77 pp.
- [12] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Basic Requirements for Personnel Monitoring, Safety Series No. 14, IAEA, Vienna (1965) 44 pp.
- [13] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, A Basic Toxicity Classification of Radionuclides, Technical Reports Series No. 15, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 39 pp.

. • • • •

PART II

DESCRIPTION OF SUITABLE REACTORS

NUCLEAR DATA REFERENCES PROCEDURES

. .

.

		Thermal	Maximum (n/ci	neutron flux m ² s)	Operating	• 5	
Reactor	Туре	output	(Thermal)	(Fast)	since	Location	
CANADA							
NRX	Tank. Natural U heavy-water-moderated, light-water-cooled, graphite reflected	40 MW	6.4 × 10 ¹³		1947	Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. , Chalk River	
NRU	Tank. Natural U heavy-water-moderated, cooled and reflected	200 MW	2.5 × 10 ¹⁴		1957	-ditto-	
CHINA (Taiwan)							
THOR	Pool. Enriched (20%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled, light-water or graphite reflected	1 MW ¹	9.9×10 ¹²	3.6×10 ¹³	1961	Institute of Nucl ar Science, National Tsing Hua University, Hsinchu	
CZECHOSLOVAK	SOCIALIST REPUBLIC		(
WWR-C PRAGUE	Tank. Enriched (10%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled	2 MW	2.0×10 ¹³		1957	Institute for Nuclear Energy, Czechoslovak Academy of	
FRANCE						Sciences, Rez-Prague	
EL-2	Tank. Natural U heavy-water-moderated, carbon-dioxide cooled, graphite reflected	2 MW	7.7 × 10 ¹²		1952	Centre d'études nucléaires de Saclay	
EL-3	Tank. Enriched (1.35%) U, heavy-water- cooled and moderated, graphite and heavy-water reflected	15 MW	1.0×10 ¹⁴	-	1957	-ditto-	

DESCRIPTION OF REACTORS SUITABLE FOR THE PRODUCTION OF RADIOISOTOPES*

* Further information on these reactors may be found in the International Directory of Reactors, Vols. I, II and III, published by the International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. ¹ Could be raised to 1.5 MW.

103

	_	Thermal	Maximum n (n/cm	eutron flux 1 ² s)	Operating	Looosion
Reactor	Туре	output	(Thermal)	(Fast)	since	Location
MELUSINE	Pool. Enriched (20%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled	12 MW	1.0×10 ¹³		1958	Centre d'études nucléaires de Grenoble
SILOE	Pool. Fully enriched (90%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled, light-water and beryllium reflected	10 MW (design) 15 MW (actual)	9.5×10 ¹³		1963	Centre d'études nucléaires de Grenoble
TRITON	Pool. Enriched (20%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled (similar to MELUSINE in Grenoble)	12 MW			1959	Centre d'études nucléaires de Fontenay-aux-Roses
HUNGARY						
WWR-C BUDAPEST	Tank. Enriched (10%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled	2 MW	2.0×10 ¹³		1959	Central Institute for Physics, Hungarian Academy of
INDIA						Sciences, Budapest
APSARA	Swimming pool. Enriched (80%) U, light- water-moderated and cooled	1 MW (300 kW operating power)	3×10 ¹²		1956	Atomic Energy Establishment Trombay, Bombay
CIR (CANADA- INDIA)	Tank. Natural U, heavy-water-moderated, light-water cooled, graphite reflected	40 MW	6.12×10 ¹³		1960	-ditto-
1SRA EL						
IRR-1	Pool. Enriched (20%) U light-water-cooled, moderated and reflected	1 MW	1.4×10 ¹³		1959	Soreq Research Establishment, Israel Atomic Energy Commission, Yayne

104

•

-

JAPAN					
JRR-1	Aqueous homogeneous water boiler type, enriched (20%) uranyl sulphate solution, light-water-moderated and cooled, graphite . reflected	50 kW	1.2×10 ¹²	1957	Tokai Research Establishment, Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute, Tokai, Ibaraki
JRR-2	CP-5. Enriched U (20%), heavy-water- moderated, cooled and reflected	10 MW	1.2×10^{14}	1960	-ditto-
JRR-3	Tank. Natural U, heavy-water-moderated and cooled	10 MW	2.1 × 10 ¹³	1962	-ditto-
NORWAY					
JEEP	Tank. Natural U, heavy-water-moderated and cooled, graphite reflector	450 kW	2. 7×10^{12}	1951	Institute for Atomic Energy, Kjeller
JEEP II	Tank. Slightly enriched (3.5%) UO_2 , heavy-water-moderated, reflected and cooled	2 MW	2.7×10 ¹³	1965	-ditto-
POLAND					
WWR-C- WARSAW	Tank. Enriched (10%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled	4 MW	4.8×10 ¹³	1958	Institute of Nuclear Research, Swierk Centre, near Otwock
ROMANIA					
WWR-C- BUCHAREST	Tank. Enriched (10%) UO ₂ , light-water- moderated and cooled	2 MW		1957	Institute of Atomic Physics, Romanian Academy of Science, Magurele near Bucharest
SPAIN					
JEN-1	Pool. Enriched (20%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled, graphite reflected	3 MW	3. 5 × 10 ¹³	1958	Junta de Energía Nuclear, Madrid
			·		

1.

.

106

Reactor	Туре	Thermal	Maximum neu (n/cm ²	utron flux s)	Operating	Location	
•		output	(Thermal)	(Thermal) (Fast)		· ·	
UNITED KINGDO	<u>M</u>					1999	
BEPO	Natural U, graphite-moderated and reflected, air-cooled	6.5 MW	1.5×10 ¹²		1948	Atomic Energy Research Establishment, Harwell, Bucks.	
DIDO	Tank. Fully enriched (93%) U, heavy-water- moderated and cooled, graphite and heavy water reflected	10 MW	1.6×10 ¹⁴		1956	-ditto-	
PLUTO	Tank. Fully enriched (93%) fuel, heavy- water-moderated and cooled, graphite and heavy water reflected	10 MW	0.35×10 ¹⁴ in heavy water moderator		1957	-ditto-	
UNITED STATES	OF AMERICA						
LITR	Tank. Highly enriched (30%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled, beryllium reflected	3 M W	3.5 × 10 ¹³		1950	Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Tenn.	
ORR	Tank. Fully enriched (90%) U, light-water- moderated and cooled, beryllium reflected	30 MW (design) 20 MW (normal operation)	3×10 ¹⁴		1958	-ditto-	
BGRR	Fully enriched (93%) U, graphite- moderated and reflected, air cooled	16 MW (up to 20 MW)	~2 × 10 ¹³		1950	Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, L. I. , N. Y.	
YUGOSLAVIA							
R-A	Tank. Enriched (2%) U, heavy-water- moderated and cooled	6.5 MW	6.0×10 ¹³		1959	Boris Kidrič Institute of Nuclear Sciences, Vinča	

.

•

NUCLEAR DATA, REFERENCES AND PROCEDURES

BROMINE-82

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

36 h

1.2. Type of decay and energy (MeV)

beta (β ⁻) 0.444 (100%)	gamma	0.5541	(80%)
		0.6187	(50%)
		0.6984	(33%)
		0.7769	(100%)
		0.8276	(30%)
		1.0440	(35%)
		1.3171	(32%)
		1.4753	(2.1%)

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Abundance of target nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Acti at 1 h	ivity of el 10 ¹² n/cr (mCi/g) 24 h	ement n ² s sat.	Secondary reactions and half-life of nuclide formed
⁸¹ Br(n, γ) ⁸² Br	49.48	3. 1	7	113	307	⁷⁹ Br(n, γ) ⁸⁸ mBr and ⁸⁰ Br ($T_{\frac{1}{2}}$ = 4.4 h and 18 min) isot. abundance: 50.52 σ = 10.4 barns

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-4].

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Chemistry

Bromine-82 is the most long-lived and consequently the most convenient practical radioisotope of bromine. A brief summary of important published applications is given below.

Radiometric analysis Chemical structure research Study of reaction mechanism and kinetics Study of ion adsorption Hot-atom chemistry studies	[5] [6] [7,8] [9] [10-25]
3.2. Biology and biochemistry	
Haematological studies Gastroenterology Study of the role of bromine in the animal organism Study of desoxyribonucleic acid	[26,27] [28] [29] [30]
3.3. Medicine	
Experiments on thyroid function Diagnosis and therapy	[31] [32]
Oil refining industry	[34]
Measurement of flow in pipes	[35]
Leak detection in pipe-lines	[36]
Food industry	[37]
Study of sewage-treatment processes	[38, 39]

3.5. Preparation of labelled compounds

Labelled compounds commercially available	[40]
Method of labelling triolein	[41]

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

 $^{82}\mathrm{Br}$ is a β^- and γ emitter. The dose-rate of 1 mCi activity at 1 cm is 15.48 R/h [42]. Activities up to 50 mCi at 16 mR per 6-h working day can be safely handled, using a 60-mm-thick lead shield.

4.2. Internal irradiation

Bromine-82 is classified [43] as a Class 3 (moderate toxicity) isotope and has an effective half-life of 1.3 d [44].

The maximum permissible concentration is [45]:

	(µCi/c	m ³)
	In water	In air
Soluble	8×10 ⁻³	10-6
Insoluble	10-3 .	2×10 ⁻⁷

4.3. Decontamination

Contamination from 82 Br activity can be adequately removed by washing in plenty of water; the efficiency of decontamination improves with the addition of carrier.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

The production process is based on the reaction ${}^{81}\text{Br}(n, \gamma){}^{82}\text{Br}$, accompanied by the reaction ${}^{79}\text{Br}(n, \gamma){}^{80}\text{Br}$. Cooling the irradiated target for about one day is sufficient for ${}^{80}\text{Br}$ to decay. ${}^{82}\text{Br}$ may be produced without enrichment if the neutron flux is high enough to obtain a satisfactory specific activity, or by Szilard-Chalmers enrichment.

5.1. Chemical processes without enrichment

For the production of 82 Br an ammonium bromide target is usually chosen since, of the radioactive nuclides, no other than the bromine isotopes are produced during its short-term irradiation. NH⁺₄ can be replaced by other ions (e.g. Na⁺, K⁺, etc.) with the addition of a suitable alkali solution and subsequent boiling off of the ammonia [46]. Irradiation at high dose-rates results in the radiolysis of ammonium bromide causing considerable gas evolution [47]. The latter can be avoided by the use of barium bromide targets. Ba ions can be replaced to about 100% efficiency by other ions using ion exchange resins [48, 49].

5.2. Chemical processes with Szilard-Chalmers enrichment

The use of bromate targets has been investigated by a number of authors [10-14] and [50-54]. The radioactive recoil atoms are separated, on the dissolution of KBrO₃ or Ca(BrO₃)₂, in the form of Br⁻ as the silver salt. An alternative method is the extraction, from the aqueous solution, of irradiated bromate with carbon tetrachloride when all the radiobromine in a lower stable valence than bromate can be separated.

After irradiation of organic compounds of bromine, e.g. alkyl or arylbromides in a reactor, radioactive bromine can be concentrated by extraction in a suitable water solution. p-Dibrombenzene is used frequently as the target material. After irradiation the compound is dissolved in benzene and the radiobromine is extracted from the solution with dilute ammonia. The enrichment factor is about 100 [55]. There is copious literature on the Szilard-Chalmers reactions of the organic compounds of bromine (e.g. [15-25] and [55-58]).

A further method for the concentration of radiobromine is the irradiation of elementary bromine adsorbed on active carbon. The radioactive bromine can be washed out with distilled water by a very simple technique. Enrichment of 82 Br reaches 50-500 times [59].

6. RADIOASSAY

Radiochemical purity is checked by γ -spectrometry. Activity is measured by one of the usual methods (Section 6 of Part I).

REFERENCES

- [1] NUCLEAR DATA SHEETS, Washington NRC59-1-70.
- [2] HULTBERG, S., HEDGRAN, A., Measurements of the gamma radiations from bromine-82 by the method of external conversion, Arkiv Fysik <u>11</u> (1957) 369.
- [3] NUCLEAR DATA SHEETS, Washington NRC 59-1-65.
- [4] BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY, Neutron cross sections BNL-325, 2nd ed., Upton, N.Y.
- [5] TIKHOMIROVA, E.A., KURCHATOVA, L.N., Radiometric analysis of some radioactive preparations, Methody Polucheniya i Izmeren. Radioaktiv Preparatov, Sbornik Statei (1960) 278-89.
- [6] SCHULEK, E., BURGER, K., KÖRÖS, E., The use of isotope bromine-82 to explain the structure of tribromophenol-bromine, Acta. chim. hung. <u>21</u> 1 (1959) 67.
- [7] LICHTIN, Norman, N., RAO, K.N., Effect of ion-pairing on the reactivity of anionic nucleophiles L Exchange reaction of p-nitrobenzyl bromide with bromide ion in liquid sulphur dioxide solution, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>83</u> (1961) 2417.

- [8] RAO, K. N., Kinetics of Bromine Exchange Between p-Nitrobenzyl Bromide and Some Ionic Bromides in Liquid Sulphur Dioxide, Univ. Microfilms. L.C. Card No. Mic 60-3479, 288 pp.
- [9] RICHERT, J., LORENZ, W., Comparative radiochemical and electrochemical study of ion adsorption on platinum, Z. physik. Chem. <u>217</u> (1961) 136-7.
- [10] LIBBY, W. F., Reactions of high energy atoms produced by slow neutron capture, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>62</u> (1940) 1930.
- [11] JACH, J., HARBOTTLE, G., Reactions of Recoil Bromine Atoms in Alkali Bromates, Trans. Far. Soc. 54 (1958) 520.
- [12] CAMPBELL, L.G., Effets des transformations nucléaires sur les bromates. La décomposition de l'ion bromate sous l'effet d'une transition isomérique, J. Chim. phys. <u>56</u> (1959) 480.
- [13] HARBOTTLE, G., Hot-atom chemistry of bromine atoms in crystalline potassium bromate, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>82</u> (1960) 805.
- [14] MADDOCK, A.G., MULLER, H., The chemical effects of radioactive thermal neutron capture, Part 7. Calcium bromate, Trans. Far. Soc. <u>56</u> (1960) 509.
- [15] LEVEY, G., WILLARD, J. E., Some reactions of elemental bromine, hydrogen bromide and Szilard-Chalmers bromine with ethylene bromide, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>73</u> (1951) 1866.
- [16] FOX, M.S., LIBBY, W.F., The hot atom chemistry of the propyl bromides: Effect of phase and recoil energy on retentions, J. chem. Phys. <u>20</u> (1952) 487.
- [17] ROWLAND, F. S., LIBBY. W. F., Hot atom chemistry of the alkyl bromides absence of effects due to high radiation density, Isotope Separation in Solids, J. chem. Phys. <u>21</u> (1953) 1495.
- [18] CHIEN, J.C. W., WILLARD, J.E., The effect of high gamma radiation dosage on the organic yields of bromine-80, bromine-80m and bromine-82 produced by the (n, γ) reaction in n-propyl bromide, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>77</u> (1955) 3441.
- [19] CHIEN, J. C. W., WILLARD, J. E., Effect of bromine scavenger on the yields of individual organic products of the bromine-81 (n, γ) bromine-82 process in propyl bromides, J. Am. chem. Soc. 79 (1957) 4872.
- [20] VELJKOVIC, S. R., Kinetics of the reactions of radiobromine activated by bromine-81 (n, γ) bromine-82 process in aryl bromides, Bull. Inst. Nucl. Sci. Boris Kidrich <u>7</u> (1957) 65.
- [21] MILMAN, M., The Szilard-Chalmers effect in solid ethyl bromide, J. Am. chem. Soc. 80 (1958) 5592.
- [22] HARRIS, W. E., McFADDEN, W. H., McINTOSH, R. G., Chemical effects of (n, y) activation of bromine in the alkyl bromides. A new method for determination of organic retention, J. phys. Chem. <u>63</u> (1959) 1784.
- [23] HERR, W., STÖCKLIN, G., SCHMIDT, F., Über die Wirkung von Amin-Zusätzen auf Grösse und Zusammensetzung der Bromine-82-Retention in neutronbestrahlten n- und iso-Propilbromid, Z. Naturforsch. <u>14b</u> (1959) 693.
- [24] COLLINS, K. E., WILLARD, J. E., Szilard-Chalmers chemistry and radiation chemistry of solid hexabromoethane. Thermal annealing and radiation annealing effects, J. chem. Phys. <u>37</u> (1962) 1908.
- [25] NESMEYANOV. A. N., FILATOV, E. S. et al., "Isotope effect and secondary reactions of bromine recoil atoms accompanying the (n, γ) process", Chemical Effects of Nuclear Transformations. Proc. IAEA Symp. Prague (1960) IAEA, Vienna <u>I</u> (1961) 259.
- [26] MEYNIEL, G., BERGER, J. A., GRAS, H., BLANQUET, P., RENAULT, H., CONDERT, R., Determination of ¹³¹I and ⁸²Br labelled triolein in the blood by the use of anionic resins. J. Med. Bordeaux Sud-Ouest <u>138</u> (1961) 1058.
- [27] MAIZELIS, M. Ya., Permeability of the hemato-encephalic barrier to radioactive phosphorus and bromine, Med. Radiol. <u>5</u> 5 (1960) 52.
- [28] ULLBERG, S., SÖREMARK, R., Autoradiografic localisation of bromine (bromine-82, bromine-80m) in the gastric mucosa, Gastroenterology <u>40</u> (1961) 109.
- [29] VERKHOVSKAYA, J. N., "Role of bromine in the animal organism", Trudy Vsesoyuz. Nauch. Tekh. Konf. Primenen. Radioaktiv. i Stabil. Izotopov i Izluchenii v Narod. Khoz. i Nauke. Izuchenie Zhivotn. Organizma. Rybnoe Khoz. Pishchevaya Prom. (1957) 116-29.
- [30] WACKER, A., KRISCHFELD, S., WEINBLUM, D., Incorporation of 5-bromocytosine and 5-bromouracil into bacterial deoxyribonucleic acid, J. mol. biol. <u>2</u> (1960) 72.
- [31] BURAGGI, G. L., DUTREIX, J., Use of isotopic mixtures for in vivo measurement: Technical improvements in experiments on thyroid function using traces, Minerva Nucleare 5 (1961) 349.
- [32] SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1961) B. I. 566, B. II. 33.

. -

- [33] GILARDONI, A., TOCCANI, A., Industrial applications of radioisotopes, Metallurgia ital. <u>51</u> (1959) 363.
- [34] PEGG, R. E., HOARE, M. F., BETON, J. L., COOK, G. B., DOBBS, H. E., Radioactive tracing of phenol losses in oil refining, Brit. chem. Eng. <u>5</u> 722 (1960) 710-13.
- [35] CLAYTON, C. G., BALL. Anne M., SPENCER, E. A., Measurement of Turbulent Flow in Pipes by Using Radioactive Isotopes, AERE R-3028 Didcot. Berks., UK (1959) 17.
- [36] GUERON, J., Some industrial applications of radioelements made at the Commissariat a l'énergie atomique, Nucleonics <u>9</u> 5 (1951) 53.
- [37] LEE, C. C., TKACHUK, R., Studies with radioactive tracers III. Effects of defatting and of benzoyl peroxide on the decomposition of bromine-82 labelled bromate by water-flour doughs, Cereal Chem. <u>36</u> (1959) 412.
- [38] EDEN, G. E., MELBOURN, K.V., Radioactive tracers for measuring the periods of retention in percolating filter, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes 8 (1960) 172-8.
- [39] BURGESS, S. G., GREEN, A. F., Further Investigations on Sewage Tanks by Using Radioactive Tracers, Inst. Sewage Purif. J. Proc. <u>I</u> (1959) 98-104.
- [40] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, International Directory of Isotopes. 3rd Ed. (Technical Directory) IAEA, Vienna (1964) 55.
- [41] BERGER, J. A., MEINYEL, G., RENAULT, H., BLANQUET, P., CONDERT, R., New method of labelling triolein by ¹³¹I and ⁸²Br, J. Med. Bordeaux Sud-Ouest <u>138</u> (1961) 967.
- [42] GUSZEV, N.G., Leitfaden für Radioaktivität und Strahlenschutz, Berlin, VEB. Verlag Technik (1957) 88.
- [43] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Ser. 1. IAEA, Vienna (1958) p. 35.
- [44] MORGAN, K. Z., SNYDER, W. S., AUXIER, J. A. (Eds), Health Physics 3 (1960) 174.
- [45] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Ser. 9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) p. 35.
- [46] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., ≪Projet d'une installation de traitement chimique de radioéléments à courtes périodes». Production and Use of Short-Lived Radioisotopes from Reactors. Proc. IAEA Sem., Vienna (1962) IAEA, Vienna <u>I</u> (1963) 49.
- [47] HEYDRON, K., "Experiences with the irradiation of ammonium bromide", Ibid. 1 (1963) 123.
- [48] RIABCHIKOV, D. I., YERMAKOV, L. S. et al., Poluchenie Radioactivnih Preparatov ⁸²Br Primenienie Mechenykh Atomov v Anal. Khim., Moszkva 1955 187.
- [49] BOCHKAREV, V. V., KULISH, E. E., TUPITZIN, I. F., "Engineering and Technological Aspects of Radioisotope and Labelled Compound Production in the USSR", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>20</u> (1958) p. 67.
- [50] AMALDI, E., D'AUGUSTINO, O. et al., Radioactivity Produced by Neutron Bornbardment, Proc. Roy. Soc., London <u>A149</u> (1935) 522.
- [51] BERNE, E., Separation of bromine-82 from neutron irradiated cesium bromate, J. chem. Soc., London, Suppl. 2 (1949) 338.
- [52] BOYD, G.E., COBBLE, J. W., WEXLER, S., Recoil reactions with high intensity neutron sources. I. The Szilard-Chalmers enrichment of 35.9 h bromine-82, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>74</u> (1952) 237.
- [53] COBBLE, J. W., BOYD, G.E., Recoil reactions with high intensity neutron sources. II. The retention of radiobromine by crystalline KBrO₃, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>74</u> (1962) 1282.
- [54] HENRY, R., AUBERTIN, C., de la GUEROMIERE, E., Etude de l'effet Szilard-Chalmers sur les dérivés bromés. (I) Nature chimique du brome radioactif obtenu par effet Szilard-Chalmers sur le bromate de potassium, J. Phys. Radium <u>18</u> (1957) 320.
- [55] HENRY, R., AUBERTIN, C., VALADE, J., L'effet Szilard-Chalmers sur les dérivés bromés. (II) Les effets chimiques de l'irradiation du <u>para</u>-dibromobenzène dans un réacteur nucléaire, J. Phys. Radium <u>19</u> (1958) 548.
- [56] LU, C. S., SUGDEN, S., Chemical methods of concentrating radioactive halogens, J. chem. Soc. (1939) 1273.
- [57] NESMEYANOV, A. N., BORISOV, E. A., ZVARA, I., Chemical action of radioactive bromine atoms obtained from the reaction of bromine with neutrons in halogen substituted methane, Radiokhimiya <u>1</u> (1959) 325.
- [58] SHARP, R. A., SCHMIDT, R., Studies of the Szilard-Chalmers Processes, GA-910, Washington (1959).
- [59] KURCHATOVA, L. N., KURCHATOV, B. V., "Method of obtaining concentrated preparations of ³⁶C1 and ⁸²Br by recoil nuclei under exposure to high-density neutron fields", Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, Proc. IAEA/UNESCO Conf. Copenhagen (1960), IAEA, Vienna <u>II</u> (1962) 395.

PROCEDURES

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

GENERAL 1

Bromine-82 is prepared by direct irradiation of ammonium bromide without enrichment by the Szilard-Chalmers effect. The nuclear reactions are as follows:

> 79 Br (n, γ)⁸⁰Br $\xrightarrow{4.4 \text{ h}}$ ⁸⁰Br (18 m) ${}^{81}{
> m Br}(n,\gamma){}^{82}{
> m Br}$

The neutron fluxes are large enough to obtain satisfactory specific activities for medical purposes.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE 2.

Irradiation

Target: 500 mg of ammonium bromide. Irradiation conditions: 1 week at a flux of 2.4×10^{12} n/cm² s in EL 2. 72 h at 10^{13} n/cm² s in EL 3. Between 200 and 600 mCi per operation.

Yield:

The material is not processed until the day after unloading from the reactor to eliminate ⁸⁰Br.

Chemical treatment

Preparation

The 500 mg of irradiated NH_4Br are poured into 24 ml of N/4 soda and heated to boiling point for five minutes to eliminate the NH⁴₄ ions. The solution is neutralized by 1 N hydrochloric acid to pH 6-7, and made up to 40 ml with water.

An isotonic solution of sodium bromide is thus obtained.

Apparatus

The above operations are carried out in an ordinary beaker. A combined electrode is used for neutralization.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of two 1-ml samples is measured. Purity is periodically checked by gamma-ray spectrometry. The sterility and non-toxicity of the product are proved by biological tests.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ⁸²Br S-2 - injectable

A neutral, isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of sodium bromide, meeting the following specifications: Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: up to 10 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: ⁸⁰Br content <1%. Specific activity: 100-500 mCi/g. Sterile. Pyrogen-free.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production is based on the thermal neutron induced (n, γ) reaction of the target barium bromide. After irradiation barium ions are removed by cation exchange resin.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Barium bromide, Merck (analytical grade) - amount
	depending on the request.
Flux:	$10^{13} n/cm^2$ s.
Time of irradiation:	100 h.
Container:	Quartz ampoule with ground stopper.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target is cooled for 48 h in order to eliminate 80m Br activity. Then it is dissolved in distilled water, mixed with Dowex 50 resin in sodium form, and shaken for 30 min; the exchange between Ba²⁺ and Na⁺ ions is quantitative.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The purity of the inactive target is previously checked by activation analysis.

The purity of $Na^{82}Br$ is controlled by adding sulphuric acid to prove the absence of Ba^{2+} ions. Radiochemical purity is checked with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser.

The pH is measured in the usual way by measuring aliquot samples.

٥.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Radioactive purity:	> 90%.			
Specific activity:	1000 mC	i/g.		
Chemical form:	Aqueous	solutio	on.	
Sodium bromide:	11	11	рН 6-7 .	· · · ·
Potassium bromide:	11	11	рН 6-7.	
Ammonium bromide:	11	1	pH 6-7.	
Barium bromide:	"	11	, ¹³¹ Ba content	< 0.1%.

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Bromine-32 is produced by the irradiation of a stable bromide in a nuclear reactor. The target used is potassium bromide. When KBr target is irradiated 42 K is also produced by neutron capture in the potassium. Hence, an initial cation-exchange separation is done to separate all the potassium present. Bromine-82 is supplied as sodium bromide in aqueous solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	50 - 100 mg potassium bromide G.R.
Container:	Can type "C" (cold-welded 2S aluminium can, 44 mm
	high and 22 mm diam.).
Flux:	$1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Irradiation period:	1 week.

Chemical treatment

After opening the can, the irradiated KBr is dissolved in water and is passed down a cation exchange column (Dowex-50, H⁺ form) to remove the potassium. The effluent is passed down a second cation exchange column (Dowex-50, sodium form) to obtain the 82 Br in the form of Na 82 Br, which is adjusted for isotonicity and is sterilized.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity is assayed by measuring a known volume of stock solution in a calibrated ion chamber. The bromide is estimated by Volhard's method.

Radioactive purity is determined by taking a gamma-ray spectrum of the test sample.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:NaBr in aqueous solution.Specific activity:> 1 Ci/g.Radioactive concentration:> 1 mCi/ml.Radioactive purity (exclusive of ^{80m}Br):> 99%.

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE, ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, SOREQ RESEARCH ESTABLISHMENT, YAVNE, ISRAEL

A. PRODUCTION OF ⁸²Br as NH₄Br AQUEOUS SOLUTION

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of NH_4Br produces ⁸²Br by the (n, γ) reaction. The irradiated sample is "cooled" for two days, and dissolved in water.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

The target material is ammonium bromide (AR). For long irradiations calcium bromide (AR) is used.

Irradiations are made in the Israel Research Reactor (IRR-1) at a thermal neutron flux of 10^{13} n/cm² s (rabbit) or 3×10^{13} (pool).

Samples are usually "cooled" for 48 h after irradiation to allow the 4.5-h 80 Br activity to decay.

Typical conditions

Irradiate 100 mg of NH_4Br for 10 min in the "rabbit" system to obtain 0.34 mCi of ⁸²Br after 48 h decay time. The ^{80m}Br activity will then be less than 1.7%.

Irradiate 40 mg CaBr₂ . $2H_2O$ for 1 h in the pool to obtain 5 mCi of ⁸²Br after 48 h decay time. The ^{80m}Br activity will then be less than 1.7%.

For pool irradiation the target is sealed into a 15-ml capacity silica ampoule, which is in turn put into an aluminium irradiation container. For "rabbit" irradiation the sample is sealed into a polyethylene vial.

Chemical treatment

Limited, in this case, to sample dissolution in water.

PRODUCTION OF ⁸²Br AS ELEMENTARY BROMINE B_{\bullet}

1. GENERAL.

The irradiated NH₄Br is dissolved in a sodium bromate solution. Perchloric acid is added. The evolved bromine is condensed in a refrigerator flask.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation: see (A) above.

Chemical treatment

Transfer irradiated ampoule into lead cell. Wash ampoule with acetone. Break ampoule. Dissolve irradiated bromide in water.



FIG.1. Production of ⁸²Br elementary bromine

Add stoichiometric amount of NaBrO3 according to the reaction:

 $NaBrO_3 + 5 NH_4Br + 6 HClO_4 = 3 Br_2 + NaClO_4 + 5 NH_4ClO_4 + 3 H_2O$

Transfer solution to distillation flask (see Fig. 1) Heat distillation flask gently. Add the perchloric acid slowly, drop by drop.

Receive and condense bromine by means of ice-salt bath.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on irradiation of the ammonium bromide target and dissolution in distilled water.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	5.0 g NH_4Br (JISGR ¹) for JRR-1; 1.0 for JRR-2.
Container:	Sealed in the polyethylene sheet, then placed in the poly-
	ethylene capsule (JRR-1).
	Placed in the polyethylene bottle, then in the polyethylene
	capsule (JRR-2).
Flux:	$\sim 3 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (JRR-1)}.$
	$\sim 2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (JRR-2)}.$
Irradiation time:	15 h (5 h \times 3 d) for JRR-1; 20 min for JRR-2.
Side reactions:	Formation of ⁸⁰ Br, ⁸⁰ mBr, which are eliminated by cooling.

Chemical treatment

The apparatus is shown in Fig. 1.



FIG.1. Arrangement of apparatus for ⁸²Br production

- a. Polyethylene capsule cutter
- d. Remote pipetter for dispensing
- e. Bottles of product

b. Dissolving vesselc. Reagent feed pipes

Cut the polyethylene inner capsule by the cutter (a). Place the target in the dissolving vessel (b), then add 5-8 ml/g of NH₄Br distilled water from the reagent feed pipe (c) to dissolve the target. Warm up the solution for about one minute to remove free bromine. The product solution is dispensed in the sample bottles.

¹ Japan Industrial Standard Grade Reagent.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The routine assay is made by the well-type ionization chamber. The calibration is made by a $4\pi\beta$ - γ coincidence counter. The free bromine content is determined by the colorimetric method.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	NH ₄ Br in aqueous solution.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.
Specific activity:	~ 4.5 mCi/g of Br (JRR-1 product).
	$\sim 10 \text{ mCi/g}$ of Br (JRR-2 product).
Concentration:	~ 0.7 $\dot{m}Ci/ml$ (JRR-1 product).
	~ 1.0 mCi/ml (JRR-2 product).

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

 $^{82}{\rm Br}$ is produced by irradiating ammonium bromide: $^{81}{\rm Br}\,(n,\gamma)^{82}{\rm Br}$. The target material is dissolved and converted to sodium bromide.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	200 mg NH ₄ Br, Merck, p.a.
Time of irradiation:	2 d.
Container:	Aluminium can with a sealed polyethylene inner container.
Flux:	Approximately $2 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Side reactions:	79 Br (n, γ) ^{80m} Br/ ⁸⁰ Br (4.4 h/18 min). After irradiation
	the target material is stored for one day to reduce acti-
	vity due to ^{80m} Br and ⁸⁰ Br.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated ammonium bromide is dissolved in water, sodium hydroxide is added, and the solution is evaporated to dryness. After dissolution of the residue in water a small quantity of dilute hydrochloric acid is added for neutralization, and sodium thiosulphate solution is added as a preservative. 3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative ionization chamber measurements. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography. Radiochemical purity control, radiochromatography. Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

BRIS - sodium bromide in neutral isotonic solution, sterilized. Radioactive concentration: 1-1.5 mCi/ml.

than 10 μ g/ml.

Isotopic purity: Radiochemical purity: Specific activity: pH: 7 Chemical purity:

^{80m} Br less than 5%. 99% as bromide. 100 mCi/g Br. Metals, spectrographically determined, less

٢

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH, SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL

Bromine-82 is obtained by the irradiation of ammonium bromide in the neutron flux

$^{81}Br(n, \gamma)^{82}Br$

Irradiated ammonium bromide is dissolved and then transformed into sodium bromide.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: Approximately 500 mg of ammonium bromide, analytical reagent. $2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$ Flux Time of irradiation: 24 h.

Container: Quartz ampoule, hermetically closed, wrapped in aluminium foil and closed in an aluminium capsule by welding.

Chemical treatment

Target material is stored for 24 h after irradiation in order to allow decay of short-lived ^{80}Br .

Irradiated and "cooled" ammonium bromide is dissolved in 0.25 N NaOH and boiled for 5 min in order to remove ammonia. The solution obtained after cooling is brought with 1 N HCl to pH 6-7 and then isotonic solution of sodium bromide is obtained by the addition of an appropriate volume of water.

The product is packed in penicillin-type vials which are stoppered with rubber stoppers and closed with aluminium tops. The vials are sterilized at 2.5 atm for 25 min.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of the product is measured in the ionization chamber calibrated with a standard.

Bromides are determined by silver nitrate titration.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Sodium bromide in aqueous solution, isotonic, sterile.Specific activity:100 - 150 mCi/g Br.Radiochemical activity:Bromine-80m less than 2%.pH:6 - 7.

REFERENCES

- DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., «Projet d'une installation de traitement chimique de radioéléments à courtes périodes», Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors, Proc. Seminar., IAEA, Vienna (Nov. 1962), IAEA, Vienna I (1963) 49.
- [2] HEYDORN, K., "Experiences with the irradiation of ammonium-bromide", ibid, 123.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Ammonium bromide is irradiated in a thermal neutron flux $^{81}\mathrm{Br}(n,\gamma)^{82}\mathrm{Br}.$ The final product is made available in two chemical forms, ammonium and sodium bromide.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	Ammonium bromide A.R.
Amount:	Up to 0.5 g.
Irradiation time:	6 d.
Container:	Primary and secondary screw-top aluminium containers.
Flux:	$10^{12} n/cm^2$ s.
Side reactions:	$^{79}{\rm Br}(n,\gamma)^{80m}{\rm Br}/^{80}{\rm Br}.$
	The half-lives of these isotopes are sufficiently short to
	make the level insignificant after one day's storage.

Chemical treatment

The target material is dissolved in water, free bromine being removed by the passage of an air stream. The remaining solution is adjusted for isotonicity. To convert into the sodium salt, the ammonium bromide solution is passed down a cation exchanger in the sodium form.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Identity is by γ -spectrometry. Assay is by ion chamber against ²²⁶Ra. pH by Capillator and bromide ion by titration against silver nitrate.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Bromine-82 is produced by a (n, γ) reaction in a KBr target ${}^{81}\text{Br}(n, \gamma){}^{82}\text{Br}$. The isotope is separated by ion exchange in columns conditioned with HCl and KOH in succession. Potassium remains on the first column, and bromine elutes from the second as KBr.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:150 mg KBr.Neutron flux: 2×10^{14} n/cm² s.Irradiation time:40 h.Reactor yield:4 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

Two ion exchange columns (Fig. 1) and a hot off-gas scrubber unit (Fig.2) are required for processing.



FIG.1. Double ion exchange column for ⁸²Br purification



FIG.2. Hot off-gas scrubber unit

Processing

Yield: > 90%.

The irradiation can is opened, and the target is dissolved in water in a beaker placed under the hot off-gas assembly.

Two 50-ml ion exchange columns are prepared with Amberlite IR-120 cation resin. One column is conditioned with 6 \underline{M} HCl and washed with distilled H₂O until the effluent is neutral. A second column is conditioned to potassium form with 1 \underline{M} KOH solution and washed with distilled H₂O until neutral.

The dissolved target solution is placed in the head tank of the first column. Effluent from this column is transferred directly to the head tank of the second column. When the solution has passed through both columns, they receive three 25-ml washes of distilled H_2O . Potassium remains on the first column, and ^{82}Br elutes from the second column as KBr. Effluents are combined into a clean beaker and evaporated to 50 ml.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

A sample is analysed for ⁸²Br concentration, radiochemical purity, and total solids according to the ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No.9 0733131.

The precision and accuracy of the ⁸²Br are: Calibration by $4\pi\beta-\gamma$ coincidence counter. Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration – rate concentration of routine shipment, 5%. Precision, 2%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, high specific activity 82 Br is delivered in the form of KBr in water. Other specifications of interest are: Concentration: > 1 mCi/ml. Specific activity: \cong 1000 mCi/g Br. Radiochemical purity: > 98%.

CHROMIUM-51

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

- 1.1. Half-life
 - 27.8 d

1.2. Type of decay and energy (MeV)

EC (100%) gamma 0.005 (characteristic X-ray from vanadium) 0.325 (~8%)

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Isotopic abundance Cross- of the section		Acti at	vity of elem 10 ¹² n/cm ²	Secondary reactions and half-life of	
	nuclide (%)	(barns)	1 week	4 weeks	saturation	nuclide formed
⁵⁰ 24Cr(n,γ) ⁵¹ 24Cr	4.31	15,900 (th)	15.5 mCi/g	31 mCi/g	222 mCi/g	
$^{52}_{24}$ Cr(n, 2n) $^{51}_{24}$ Cr	83.76					
⁵⁴ ₂₆ Fe(n,α) ⁵¹ ₂₄ Cr	5.82	0.00074 (f)	5.5 µCi/g	31 µCi/g	222 µCi/g	$^{54}_{26}$ Fe(n, γ) $^{55}_{26}$ Fe
						(T = 2.6 yr) σ = 2.8 barns
						⁵⁴ Fe(n,p) ⁵⁴ Mn
						(T = 278 d) σ = 56 mbarns
						⁵⁶ Fe(n,p) ⁵⁶ Mn
		-				(T = 2.58 h) isot. abund.: 91.6% σ=0.8 ≥ 0.4 mbarns
	1					⁵⁸ Fe(n,γ) ⁵⁹ Fe
						(T = 45 d) isot. abund.: 0.33% σ = 1.01 barns

(th): for thermal neutrons.

(f): for fast neutrons.

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-6].

For the production of ^{51}Cr use is made of the (n, γ) reaction on ^{50}Cr . There are two ways of proceeding:

- starting with enriched ${}^{50}Cr$ (in the form of CrO_3 or Cr_2O_3)
- starting with potassium chromate and using the Szilard-Chalmers effect.

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Industrial

Chromium-51 has been used for:	
Self-diffusion measurements	
Corrosion research	[7,8]
Studies on wear	[9, 10]
Studies on arc-welding	[11]
It is also used as a tracer in sedimentology	[12].
For general works referring to the uses of 51 Cr see	[13].

3.2. Medical and biological

Chromium-51 is used solely for diagnostic work, in the form of sodium chromate and chromic chloride.

3.2.1. Applications of sodium chromate [14-18]

The main application of sodium chromate is for labelling red blood cells. It permits determination of the blood volume (doses of the order of $5-10 \,\mu$ Ci) [19], the lifetime of the red blood cells and their renewal rate (doses of the order of 50 μ Ci).

Sodium chromate is also used for:

labelling	various	cens:	Teurocytes	
			thrombocytes	
			ascitic cells	
labelling	various	molecules:	haemoglobin	
			endotoxin of Escherichia co	li
			dextran	
			casein	

3.2.2. Applications of chromic chloride [14-18, 20]

It is used for labelling various proteins:

human serum albumin to an activity level of 50 μ Ci (this is the most important application) and bovine serum albumin

human and rabbit plasma protein

human haemoglobin

endotoxin of Escherichia coli.

The medical applications of ${}^{51}Cr$ are dealt with in other works [25].

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

4.1.1. Irradiation doses

The dose delivered by 1 Ci of 51 Cr at a distance of 50 cm is 0.0628 rem/h [22].

4.1.2. Safety measures

In Table I are shown tenth-thicknesses¹ for lead and ordinary concrete which give some idea of the amount of protection needed in handling 51 Cr.

In practice, the following thicknesses of lead are required to reduce the dose to 1 mR/h at 50 cm:

0.15	\mathbf{cm}	for	handling	10	mCi	of	⁵¹ Cr
0.5	cm	11	11	100	mCi	11	11
1.2	\mathbf{cm}	11	11	1 Ci		11	11

 $^1\,$ The tenth-thickness is the thickness of shielding required to reduce the intensity of a γ -radiation of given energy by a factor of ten.

TABLE I

	1/10 thickness (cm)		
	Pb	ordinary concrete d = 2.3	
For a y of 0, 325 MeV	0.65	9.5	

PROTECTION IN HANDLING ⁵¹Cr [22]

4.2. Internal irradiation

Chromium-51 is classified as a weakly toxic (category 4) isotope [23]. Its effective half-life, allowing for both radioactive decay and excretory processes, is 26.6 d [24].

In the case of internal irradiation (ingestion or inhalation), the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water respectively, for a 40-h exposure, are:

 $10^{-5} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ and 0.05 $\ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ (soluble form) 2 × $10^{-6} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ and 0.05 $\ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ (insoluble form) [25]

4.3. Decontamination

Except in one or two particular cases, there is no special decontamination method for any given radioisotope. General texts on this subject [26-30] indicate that the following measures are adequate.

4.3.1. Skin

Rapid and repeated washing with good-quality soap, warm water and a soft brush. If this is not sufficient, use can be made of detergents or 5-10% solutions of complexing agents of the EDTA (ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid) type. It is also possible to apply saturated permanganate solutions followed by rinsing with a 5% bisulphite solution to neutralize and remove stain. Abrasive powders should not be used and the addition of entraining agents has proved disappointing.

If any wounds are contaminated, they must be treated rapidly by bleeding, washing with water, decontamination as for the skin and sometimes by additional surgical cleaning.

4.3.2. Hair

If the hair is contaminated, it is important not to take a shower, but merely to wash the head. A normal, good-quality shampoo is usually sufficient. If contamination is persistent, the following solutions can be used:

paraisopropylorthocresol lavandin oil AC compounded terpene-free lemon glycerin diacetin benzoic acid Contamination is much easier to remove if the hair is not greasy.

4.3.3. Laboratory equipment

Glasswear is usually cleaned by steeping and this is mainly a radiochemical problem. The use of a specific entraining agent or solutions of complexing agents gives good results and so do solutions of chromic acid, concentrated nitric acid, ammonium citrate, pentasodium triphosphate or ammonium bifluoride.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

Two main methods of preparing ⁵¹Cr can be found in the literature.

5.1. By the (n, γ) reaction

9

5.1.1. On metallic chromium, either natural [31] or enriched in chromium-50 [31, 32]

The target is dissolved in the minimum quantity of 12 \underline{M} hydrochloric acid. This is followed by filtering, and finishing in 1 \underline{M} hydrochloric acid.

5.1.2. On the oxide of chromium enriched in ^{50}Cr

Hudswell et al. [33] propose the following method: The irradiated oxide is dissolved in potassium acid sulphate solution. To cool the solid, it is dissolved in water (with a little sulphuric acid if necessary) and the chromium hydroxide is precipitated with a slight excess of dilute ammonia in the presence of ammonium chloride. The precipitate is separated from the hot solution on 541 Whatman paper. The paper is washed several times with 1% ammonium nitrate and the precipitate is then extracted with a current of pyrogen-free hot water. After treating the suspension with caustic soda, the chromium is then all oxidized to chromate with sodium peroxide and the pH adjusted to 8 with hydrochloric acid.

5.2. By the (n, γ) reaction followed by enrichment by Szilard-Chalmers effect

5.2.1. On potassium chromate (this is the target normally used)

There are different processes for separating the "hot atoms".

Separation by precipitation without the addition of entraining agents [34]

This is the simplest method. It consists of dissolving the irradiated potassium chromate in double-deionized water of pH between 6 and 7, and

separating the Cr^{3+} by filtration on a No. 4 fritted disc without the addition of entraining agent. This facilitates washing of the chromium hydroxide precipitate remaining absorbed on the fritted disc and subsequent oxidation of the Cr^{3+} to Cr^{6+} . This oxidation is performed at 100°C by alkaline hydrogen peroxide. When oxidation is finished, the solution is filtered and its pH adjusted to 6.5-7 with 1 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid. The enrichment factor is between 1000 and 3000.

Separation by precipitation using as entraining agents

Chromium [35, 36] Iron [37-39] Aluminium [40-42] Lanthanum [43]

Separation by chromatography

- on an alumina column [44]. The irradiated potassium chromate is dissolved in a dilute solution of ammonia. This solution is passed through an alumina column treated several times in advance with dilute acid and dilute ammonia. The chromate is eluted by washing with dilute ammonia and water. The Cr^{III} retained on the alumina is eluted with 0.1 N hydrochloric acid.

- by ion exchange [45]. There are two stages. First, the irradiated potassium chromate is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid and the Cr³⁺ ions formed during irradiation of the $Cr_2O_7^-$ ions are separated by passing through an anion resin (Dowex 1X8). The $Cr_2O_7^-$ ions are adsorbed whilst the Cr³⁺ ions pass through. These Cr³⁺ ions are then oxidized to CrO₄⁻; one then has a solution of K₂CrO₄-KCl.

The second part of the method consists of eliminating the potassium ions. To do this, the K_2CrO_4 -KCl solution obtained as above is passed through another anion-resin column. The CrO_4^- ions are adsorbed on the resin whilst the K⁺ ions pass through. Finally, the chromium is eluted from the column using a reducing mixture of ascorbic acid, ethyl alcohol and hydrochloric acid.

5.2.2. On chromium oxide with separation by ion exchange [46]

5.2.3. On ammonium bichromate and chromium acetylacetonate [47]

5.2.4. On chromium hexacarbonyl with separation by extraction [48]

5.2.5. On different organic compounds [39, 49-51]

REFERENCES

[1] SEELMANN, E. W., PFENNING, G., (Co-operation of MUNZEL, H., ZUNDEL, G.), Chart of the nuclides, 2nd Ed., Gersbach und Sohn Verlag, Munich 34, Barerstrasse 32. Federal Republic of Germany (reprint 1963).

- [2] HENRY, R., "Préparation de radioéléments à période courte à l'aide d'un réacteur de recherche (Using a research reactor to prepare short-lived radioisotopes)," Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No. 17, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 207-230.
- [3] MOTEFF, J., Neutron flux and spectrum measurement with radio-activants, Nucleonics 20 12 (1962) 56-60.
- [4] PASSEL, T.O., HEATH, R.L., Cross-sections of threshold reactions for fission neutrons: nickel as a fast flux monitor, Nucl. Sci. Engng <u>10</u> (1961) 308-315.
- [5] MELLISH, C. E., PAYNE, J. A., OTLET, R. L., "The production of threshold reactions in a graphite reactor", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. Conf., Paris, Sept. 1957 (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.) Pergamon Press, London I (1958) 35-49.
- [6] MELLISH, C. E., "Threshold reaction cross-sections in reactor: an inter-comparison," AERE R 3251 (1960).
- [7] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., "Corrosion studies", Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N.J., Chap. 16 (1961) 511-512.
- [8] BRASHER, D. M., KINGSBURY, A. H., MERCER, A. D., "The use of radioactive tracers in the study of passive film on metals". Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. Conf. UNESCO, Paris, Sept. 1957 (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London I (1958) 326-42.
- [9] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., "Useful techniques for wear rate measurement", Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N. J., Chap. 16 (1961) 395-407.
- [10] PALATNIK, L. S., LJUBARSKY, I. M., LJUBCHENKO, A. P., "On the structure and wear of case-hardened steel", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. Conf. UNESCO, Paris, Sept. 1957, Pergamon Press, London <u>I</u> (1958) 375-8.
- [11] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., "Metallurgical processing", Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N.J., Chap. 16 (1961) 509.
- [12] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Application of Isotope Techniques in Hydrology, Technical Reports Series No. 11, IAEA, Vienna (1961) 10.
- [13] SHEPPARD, C. W., Basic Principles of the Tracer Method, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1962). LEVÊQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements) Association nationale de la recherche technique, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Paris (1962). HOURS, R., «Les applications industrielles des traceurs radioactifs» (Industrial applications of radioactive tracers), CEA Report, DR/AR/63-I/RH/HLD (Jan, 1963).

LEYMONIE, C., «Les traceurs radioactifs en métallurgie physique» (Radioactive tracers in metallurgy), Dunod, Paris (1960).

BROWNELL, L. E., Radiation Uses in Industry and Science, US Government Printing Ottice, Washington (1961).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotope Applications in Industry (Technical Directory) IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp. (A survey of radioisotope application classified by industry or economic activity with selected references to the international literature.)

UNITED NATIONS, 1st UN Int. Conf. PUAE 12 15 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 19 20 27 (1958).

UNITED NATIONS, 3rd UN Int. Conf. PUAE P/875 (1964).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, Proc. IAEA/UNESCO Conf., Copenhagen (Sept. 1960) IAEA, Vienna (1962) Vol. I, 542 pp; Vol. II, 554 pp; Vol. III, 633 pp.

- [14] PAYNE, B.R., CAMERON, J.F., PECKHAM, A.E., THATCHER, L., "The role of radioisotope techniques in hydrology", Proc. 3rd UN Int. Conf. PUAE XV (1965) 226-238.
 OWEN, C.A., "Hematology", Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Blackwell, Oxford; C.C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. Chap. IV (1959).
- [15] GRAY, S.J., FRANK, HEDDY, Simultaneous determination of red cell mass and plasma volume in man with radioactive sodium chromate and chromic chloride, J. clin. Invest. <u>32</u> (Oct. 1953) 1000-1004.
- [16] BEIERWALTES, W. H., JOHNSON, P. C., SOLARI, A. J., "Radioactive chromium, ⁵¹Cr, cobalt, ⁶⁰Co, and iron, ⁵⁹Fe", Clinical Uses of Radioisotopes, W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, Chap. 9 (1957) pp. 273-283.
- [17] BEHRENS, C. F., Atomic Medicine, The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, Chap. 20-25 (1959) pp. 549-50.

- [18] INGRAND, J., Contribution à l'étude des propriétés biologiques des composés marqués au radiochrome ⁵¹Cr. (Contribution to the study of the biological properties of compounds labelled with ⁵¹Cr), Thesis, CEA, Saclay (1964).
- [19] FIELDS, Th., SEED, L., "Red cell volume and survival studies", Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, The Year Book Publishers Inc., Chicago, 2nd Ed. (1961) 58-66.
- [20] FRANK HEDDY, GRAY, S.J., Determination of plasma volume in man with radioactive chromic chloride, J. clin. Invest. <u>32</u> (Oct. 1953) 991-999.
- [21] VEALL, N., VETTER, H., "Blood volume", Radioisotope techniques in clinical research and diagnosis, Butterworths, London (1958) 223-253.

KAMEN, M. D., Isotopic Tracers in Biology, Academic Press, London, New York, 3rd. Ed. (1961) pp. 259-260.

HAHN, P.E., Therapeutic use of Artificial Radioisotopes, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (1956). IAEA/FAO/WHO, Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. IAEA/FAO/WHO Conf., Mexico City (Nov. 1961) Academic Press Inc., London (1962) Vol. I, 563 pp; Vol. II, 328 pp. UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. Conf., Paris (Sept. 1967) (R.C. EXTERMANN, Ed.), Pergamon Press, London III (1958).

URBAN and SCHWARZENBERG, Radioactive Isotopes in Clinical Practice and Research, Proc. Symp. Bad Gastein (1959), Urban and Schwarzenberg, Publishers, Munich (1960).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 1st UN Int. Conf. PUAE 10 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958).

- [22] JOFFRE, H., «Les problèmes physiques de la radioprotection», (Physical problems of radioprotection), INSTN, Saclay, Génie atomique <u>I</u> (Ed. 1963).
- [23] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st Ed. with Rev. App. I, Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1958) 100 pp.
- [24] MORGAN, K. Z., "Protection against radiation", International Commission on Radiological Protection, Recommendations, Report of Committee II on Permissible dose for Internal Irradiation (1959), Gauthier-Villars (1963).
- [25] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No. 9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 57 pp.
- [26] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS, Control and Removal of Radioactive Contamination in Laboratories, Handbook 48 (1951) 4-17.
- [27] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Series No. 1, 1st Ed. with Rev. App., IAEA, Vienna (1958) 69-76.
- [28] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 79-81 and 82-88.
- [29] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Medical Addendum, Safety Series No.3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 62-74.
- [30] BLATZ, H., Radiation Hygiene Handbook, McGraw Hill Book Co., New York (1959) 15-18 and 18-23.
- [31] GOLUTVINA, M. M., CHITIKOVA, M. G., Preparation of potassium chromate (Na₂ Cr⁵¹O₄) and chromium chloride (Cr⁵¹Cl₃) for labelling erythrocytes and plasma proteins, Médit. Radiol.' USSR <u>3</u> (1953) 61-65.
- [32] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL 3633 (June 1964).
- [33] HUDSWELL, F., MILES, B.J., PAYNE, B.R., PAYNE, J.A., SCARGILL, P. (Mrs.), TAYLOR, K.J., The Preparation for Dispensing of Miscellaneous Radioisotopes, AERE I/R 1386 (1954).
- [34] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Une installation de préparation de radioéléments par effet Szilard-Chalmers. (An installation for preparing radioelements by the Szilard-Chalmers effect), CEA Report No. 2072 (1961) pp. 14-17.
- [35] GREEN, J., MADDOCK, A.G., (n, γ) recoil effects in potassium chromate and dichromate, Nature, London <u>164</u> (1949) 788.
- [36] MURIN, A. N., NEFEDOV, V. D., Enrichment of radioactive elements by the method of recoil nuclei, AERE Lib/trans. 464 Trad. de Usp. Khim. SSSR <u>5</u> 21 (1952) 536-565.
- [37] KAHN, A., FREEDMAN, A.J., BRYANT, E.A., Enrichment of Chromium Activity through the Szilard-Chalmers Separation, Report, AECU 2329 (1953).

- [38] NAGY, G. A., The production of carrier-free radioisotopes. VIII. Production of carrier-free ⁵¹Cr samples by means of the Szilard-Chalmers reaction, Magyar Tudom. Akad. Közp., Fiz. Kutato Int. Kozl., <u>7</u> 3 (1959) 133-146, in Hungarian.
- [39] YOSHIHARA, K., AMAI, M., ISHIMORI, T., "Studies on the production of chromium-51", 3rd Japan Conf. on Radioisotopes, Tokyo, S-18 (1959) 118.
- [40] CONSTANT, R., Irradiation du chromate de potassium pour la production de ⁵¹Cr par recul nucléaire (Irradiation of potassium chromate for production of ⁵¹Cr by nuclear recoil), CEN Report, BLG 121, Industrie chim. belge <u>6</u> (1962) 657.
- [41] HARBOTTLE, G., MADDOCK, A.G., The preparation of chromium 51 of high specific activity, J. chem. Phys. USA <u>21</u> 10 (1953) 1686-1687.
- [42] HARBOTTLE, G., Szilard-Chalmers reaction in crystalline compounds of chromium, J. chem. Phys. USA 22 6 (1954) 1083-1088.
- [43] SHIBATA, N., "Production of radioisotopes in high specific activities. Preparation of ⁵¹Cr in a high specific activity by the use of potassium chromate", 5th Conf. on Radioisotopes, Tokyo, B/p and C-9 (May 1963) NSA 17-18 No. 30 166.
- [44] MANI, R. S., Extraction of high specific activity chromium-51 from pile-irradiated potassium chromate, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>14</u> 6 (Aug. 1963) p. 327-8 NSA 17, 21 No. 35 877.
- [45] BIRKELUND, O. R., KALTENBORN, N., RASSOUL, A., Preparation of Chromium-51 by Szilard-Chalmers Reaction and Separation by Ion-Exchange Techniques, KR-40, Institut for Atomenergi, Kjeller, Norway (1963), NSA 17-16 No. 27 420.
- [46] DRASKOVIC, R., MAKSIMOVIC, Z., KOZOMARA, S., Production of ⁵¹Cr of High Specific Activity, Bull. Boris Kidrič Inst. of Nucl. Scie. (MY) <u>14</u> 9 (1963) 143-153.
- [47] VARGAS, J. L., ALVARENGA, M. G., PIMENTEL, E. A. De, "Production of chromium-51 of high specific activity", 4th Int. Am. Symp. on Peaceful Appl. Nucl. Energy, Pan-American Union, Washington <u>2</u> (1962) in Portuguese.
- [48] NEFEDOV, W. D., TOROPOVA, M. A., Use of carbonyls for separating radioisotopes ⁵¹Cr, ⁹⁹Mo, ¹⁸⁷W, ⁹⁹m⁷Tc and ¹⁸⁸Re, Concentration of ⁵¹Cr, ⁹⁹Mo and ¹⁸⁷W, Zh. neorg, Khim. USSR <u>3</u> I (1958) 175-180, in Russian; NSA 12, 20 No. 13 849.
- [49] SHIBATA, N., YOSHIHARA, K., Preparation of chromium-51 of a high specific activity by the Szilard-Chalmers process, Bull. chem. Soc. Japan, <u>32</u> 4 (1959) 422.
- [50] KAUFMAN, Sheldon. "Effects of nuclear recoil in the chromium (III) thiocyanate system of complexes, J. Amer. chem. Soc. <u>82</u> (1960) pp. 2963-4; NSA <u>14</u> 17 No. 16 672.
- [51] EBIHARA, H., Preparation of ¹⁰⁹Pd. ⁷²Ga and ⁵¹Cr in a high specific activity, Japan Analyst <u>3</u> (1962) pp. 341-346.

PROCEDURES

ATOMIC ENERGY OF CANADA LIMITED, CHALK RIVER, CANADA

1. GENERAL

Chromium-51 is a beta gamma emitter with a half-life of 27.8 d. It is produced in the reactor by the irradiation of enriched chromium-50

${}^{50}\mathrm{Cr}(n,\gamma){}^{51}\mathrm{Cr}$

After irradiation the target is processed to the chloride form. A portion of this is further processed to the chromate form. Both forms are shipped to the pharmaceutical industry for further processing and distribution to the medical profession.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

The irradiation target at Chalk River consists of 5-10 mg of chromium metal enriched to 90% in 50 Cr. This is sealed into a small inner aluminium vial because of the small quantity and then in a standard reactor capsule. The usual yield is from 250 to 800 Ci/g depending on flux and duration of the irradiation. An appropriate number of capsules are held under irradiation to provide normal requirements.

Chemical treatment

The chemical process consists of dissolving the irradiated target in HCl. This produces $CrCl_3$ solution which is one form of our standard product. A portion of this solution is converted with NaOH to Na_2CrO_4 which is another form of our standard product.

The irradiated capsule is transferred with extension tongs from a transfer container to the processing equipment. The capsule is opened mechanically and the contents transferred to a tared weighing vessel on a balance by means of which the weight of Cr metal is determined to the nearest 0.05 mg. A small quantity of 1 N HCl is added. Dissolution is brought about by heating the mixture with an infra-red lamp. The solution is filtered and passed into a volumetric flask. The flask is made up to volume with additional 1 N HCl. The product is now in the form of $CrCl_3$. A small sample is withdrawn at this stage for chemical and radiochemical analysis.

To prepare sodium chromate, an appropriate aliquot of the chloride form is withdrawn. It is converted by the rapid addition of a freshly prepared alkaline peroxide solution. The excess peroxide is destroyed by heating the solution with an infra-red lamp. The final solution is filtered and passed into a volumetric flask and made up to volume with distilled water.

Equipment

The processing equipment consists of a weighing beaker and balance, glass funnel and filter paper, small beakers, volumetric flasks, reagent bottles and an infra-red lamp. These are placed in a glove box having 4 in. (10 cm) of lead shielding on all sides. Fitted through the walls are ball joint manipulators and a lead glass window to permit remote viewing and operation. The box is exhausted through absolute filters.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical

When the preparation is in the chloride form, a small sample is withdrawn for a total solids determination and spectrographic analysis. Another
small sample of the chromate form is withdrawn for analysis and pH adjustment.

Radiochemical.

Specific activity. This is calculated from the weight of the chromium processed and the measured total ⁵¹Cr activity obtained.

Activity concentration

The principal radiation measured is the 0.323-MeV gamma ray. The output from a suitable dilution of the active solution is analysed on a 512-channel analyser. The count-rate in the peaks indicates the activity concentration and the spectrum is used to check the radiochemical purity.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCE, NATIONAL TSING HUA UNIVERSITY, HSINCHU, TAIWAN, REPUBLIC OF CHINA

GENERAL

Chromium-51 is prepared by nuclear reaction ${}^{50}Cr(n, \gamma){}^{51}Cr$ using potassium chromate as a target material. The ruptured chromium (III) is separated from the target by precipitating as hydroxide, which is then oxidized to chromate form.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:50 g potassium chromate (Baker's analysed reagent).Irradiation container:Aluminium can 4.7 cm diam., 9 cm high.Irradiation condition:Neutron flux 2×10^{12} n/cm² s.Irradiation time:60 h.

Chemical treatment

Fifty grams of irradiated potassium chromate is dissolved in 120 ml of re-distilled water. After the pH of the solution is adjusted to $8 \sim 9$, the solution is warmed in a water bath for about 10 min. The precipitate is then filtered with Toyo Filter paper No. 5C. The precipitate on the filter paper is then washed thoroughly until the filtrate is free from chromate ion, and dissolved with a small amount of hydrochloric acid. The chromium (III) is then oxidized with sodium peroxide in an alkaline solution.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The chemical analysis of the product is carried out according to Oak Ridge National Laboratory Master Analytical Manual, 900712110 and 907332111-3. Pharmaceutical control is carried out according to "Minimum Requirements of Radioactive Drugs", Ministry of Health and Welfare, Japan (1962).

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:Na $_2$ CrO $_4$ in NaCl solution.Concentration:2 mCi/ml.Specific activity:20 mCi/mg Cr.Acidity:pH 7~8Radiochemical purity:> 99%.

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

Chromium-51 is prepared by the Szilard-Chalmers effect using a K_2CrO_4 target, ${}^{50}Cr(n, \gamma) {}^{51}Cr$. The method at present utilized [1] consists of separating the "Szilard" Cr by filtering on a fritted glass. The method has been improved by dissolving the K_2CrO_4 target not in water, but in a 10% KCl solution to flocculate the chromium hydroxide.

The chromium hydroxide precipitate remains absorbed on the fritted glass and the Cr^{3+} is oxidized to Cr^{6+} .

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Potassium chromate (Prolabo RP).
Irradiation conditions:	$13 \sim 40$ g per capsule at a mean flux of 10^{12} n/cm ² s
	for five weeks, or to $5 \sim 40$ g per capsule at a flux
	of 1.5×10^{13} n/cm ² s for 10 d.
Yield:	0.8 Ci with a specific activity of 100 to 200mCi/mg
	for one week's irradiation, 2.4 Ci with a specific
	activity of 30-50 mCi/mg for 10 days' irradiation.

Chemical treatment

Preparation

Four hundred grams of irradiated potassium chromate are dissolved in 100 ml of a 10% solution of potassium chloride. The solution is then passed

into a filtration apparatus fitted with a No.4 fritted plate. Filtration is performed at ordinary pressure. Washing is then carried out with doubly distilled water until a colourless filtrate is obtained.

The chromium hydroxide on the plate is then redissolved cold with 75 ml of 6 per mille NaOH plus 50 ml H_2O_2 in a 110-mm vacuum. The solution is collected in a neutralization vessel and heated to boiling point for 30 min. It is left to cool and then neutralized with 0.5 <u>N</u> HCl to pH 7-8. It is made up to 70 ml.

A solution of isotonic sodium chromate in sodium chloride is thus obtained.

The solution is filtered on a small No.4 fritted plate to eliminate any foreign hydroxides that may be present.

Apparatus

The K_2CrO_4 is dissolved in a 1500-ml bottle surmounted by a ground glass joint. Mixing is ensured by a magnetic agitator.

The chromate solution is filtered on a No. 4 fritted glass plate.

Oxidation of the Cr^{III} to Cr^{VI} is carried out in the neutralization apparatus heated by an infra-red heater and fitted with a condenser.

The final solution is passed through a second apparatus of the same design as the first, but smaller.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

After each operation the following tests are carried out: A radiochemical purity test by gamma-ray spectrometry on the 325 keV line. Measurement of the activity of two samples in an ionization chamber. Determination of carrier content.

Paper chromatography to determine the quantity of Cr^{3+} in the solution. Biological tests to determine the yield of labelled erythrocytes and the sterility of the product.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTIONS

Reference: ⁵¹Cr S-1 - injectable

A neutral, isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of sodium chromate, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 1-20 mCi/ml.

Radioactive purity:51Cr content > 99.9% (gamma-ray spectrum characteristic of 51Cr).Radiochemical purity:Chromium content > 95%.

Specific activity: 20-200 mCi/mg.

Affinity for erythrocytes: In vitro labelling yield of rabbit erythrocytes >75%. Sterile

Pyrogen-free

Reference: ⁵¹Cr S-2 - non-injectable

An isotonic solution of chromium chloride, pH 2 - 3, meeting the following specifications: Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 1-20 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: ⁵¹Cr content >99.9% (gamma-ray spectrum characteristic of ⁵¹Cr). Radiochemical purity: Trivalent chromium content >95%.

Specific activity: 20-200 mCi/mg. Affinity for plasma proteins.

Reference: ⁵¹Cr S-3

A chromium chloride solution in an HCl medium free from sodium ions: 10-20 mCi/mg.

REFERENCE

 DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Une installation de préparation de radioéléments par effet Szilard-Chalmers, CEA Rep. No. 2072.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

C

Production is based on the nuclear reaction ${}^{50}Cr(n, \gamma){}^{51}Cr$.

For products for industrial use, processing consists of the dissolution of the irradiated metal in hydrochloric acid and the conversion of the chromic chloride solution into the required chemical form.

For the preparation of sodium chromate for medical use, the Szilard-Chalmers process is used in order to obtain high specific activity.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Chromium metal, Johnson-Matthey (spec pure) for industrial uses.		
	Potassium chromate, Merck (analytical grade) for		
	medical uses. Weight of target variable.		
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$		
Time of irradiation:	600 h for 51 Cr for industrial uses.		
	10 h for 51 Cr for medical uses.		
Container:	Quartz ampoule with ground stopper for ⁵¹ Cr for in- dustrial uses.		
	Aluminium capsule with threaded stopper for ${}^{51}Cr$ for medical uses.		

Chemical treatment

Chromium-51 for industrial use: The irradiated metal is dissolved in hydrochloric acid and thereafter converted to the required compound in conventional chemical ways.

Chromium-51 for medical uses: In preparing sodium chromate for medical use the irradiated potassium chromate is dissolved in sulphuric acid, ferric chloride is added, and "hot" chromic ions are co-precipitated with ammonium hydroxide. After filtration and washing, the precipitate is dissolved in hydrochloric acid and the precipitation is repeated several times. Finally hot sodium hydroxide and hydrogen peroxide are added to the precipitate, and the filtrate, containing the 51 Cr in the form of sodium chromate, is diluted with sodium chloride solution to adjust isotonicity. The solution is sterilized in an autoclave at 120°C for 40 min.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The chromium content of the solution is determined colorimetrically by comparing the absorption with calibrated standard solutions.

pH and sterility are measured and controlled in the usual manner.

Radiochemical purity is checked by γ -spectrometry with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Isotonic solution of sodium chromate diluted with sodium chloride solution.

Radioactive purity: 99.9%Specific activity: $10^4 - 2 \times 10^4$ mCi/g Sterile

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

When crystalline potassium chromate is irradiated with thermal neutrons in a reactor the ⁵¹Cr formed by radiative capture is enriched in the trivalent state in accordance with the Szilard-Chalmers recoil process. The enriched ⁵¹Cr (III) can be separated from the irradiated K_2CrO_4 by selective precipitation on a column of chromatographic grade alumina.

A dilute ammoniacal solution of the irradiated potassium chromate is passed down an alumina column when the enriched trivalent chromium activity is retained on the column, whereas the chromate passes down. After washing the column free of chromate, the 51 Cr (III) activity is leached out with dilute acid and the eluate is evaporated to dryness. The residue is leached out with alkaline peroxide to give ${}^{51}Cr$ in the form of sodium chromate.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	60 g of reagent grade potassium chromate crystals.				
In APSARA:	Container type "A" (screw-capped 1S aluminium can 73 mm				
	high and 26.5 mm in diam.). 20 g \times 3 cans.				
	Flux: 3×10^{12} , n/cm ² s.				
	Irradiation period: 1 week.				
In CIR:	Container type "C" (cold-welded 2S aluminium can, 44 mm high				
	and 22 mm in diam.). 10 g \times 6 cans.				
	Flux: $1 - 1.5 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$				
	Irradiation period: 1 week.				

Chemical treatment

After cutting open the cans the irradiated chromate crystals are tapped on to the top of an alumina column ($1 \text{ cm}^2 \times 6 \text{ cm}$ long, alkali washed). 250 ml of 1 M ammonia solution is added in 50-ml portions on to the column till all the chromate is dissolved. Then the column is washed with 100 ml of doubly distilled water and the washings are rejected.

The adsorbed 51 Cr is then eluted from the column by adding 150 ml of 1 <u>M</u> HCl in 50-ml portions. The combined eluate is then evaporated to dryness in a distillation flask. The activity is leached out with 20 ml of 0.1 <u>M</u> HCl and again concentrated to about 1 ml.

A known amount of standard sodium hydroxide is added to the contents of the flask and the pH is adjusted to 9. A few drops of $30\% H_2O_2$ are added and the solution is boiled to remove excess peroxide. After cooling the pH is again adjusted to 7 and the chromate solution is adjusted for isotonicity and then the solution is centrifuged to separate traces of aluminium hydroxide. The clean supernatant solution is dispensed into different vials, sealed and autoclaved at 15 lb/in² for 45 min.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The radioactive concentration is determined by measuring a known volume of the stock solution in a calibrated ionization chamber.

The pH of the stock solution is determined. This should be 7-8.

The total solid content is determined by evaporating a known volume and weighing the residue.

The radiochemical purity is determined by separating Cr^{3+} and CrO_4^{--} on an alumina column and measuring the activities individually.

The radioactive purity is confirmed by gamma spectrometry.

The chromium content is estimated by reading the absorption of the stock solution in a 1-cm cell at 370 m μ and reading off the concentration from the calibration curve.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity:> 50 Ci/g.Chemical composition:Sodium chromate in isotonic saline solutions, pH 7.Radiochemical purity:> 95%.Concentration:> 1 mCi/ml.

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Chromium-51 is produced by irradiating potassium chromate, ${}^{50}Cr(n, \gamma){}^{51}Cr$. A Szilard-Chalmers reaction in the target material crystals K_2CrO_4 , causes (depending on the conditions during irradiation, temperature, neutron flux, etc.) 25% of the radioactivity produced to be present as trivalent chromium. This part of the total activity is separated from the hexavalent target compound by means of anion exchange. Anion exchange is also used to remove unwanted elements, mainly potassium ions, from the product solution. The process has been patented (see Norwegian Patents Nos. 102 733 and 102 958, and relevant references [1-2]).

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	30 g K_2CrO_4 , dried, Merck, p.a.
Time of irradiation:	20 d.
Container:	Aluminium can.
Flux:	$10^{12} n/cm^2$ s.
Temperature:	The temperature of the target material during irradia- tion should not exceed 60°C.
Side reactions:	41 K(n, γ) 42 K. The target material is stored for a few days before separation to reduce the radioactivity due to 42 K.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated potassium chromate is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid, and the solution is transferred to an anion exchange column. The hexavalent part of the chromium is adsorbed on to the column resin, while the trivalent chromium passes through together with unwanted cations from the target material solution. After oxidation with hydrogen peroxide the radioactive chromium, now in the hexavalent state, is adsorbed to the resin of a second anion exchange column. The potassium, together with cationic impurities, is washed directly to the waste system and by reduction with a mixture of ascorbic acid, ethyl alcohol and hydrochloric acid the radioactive chromium is regenerated from the column resin. Finally the solution is oxidized by means of hydrogen peroxide and neutralized to give the desired product.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative ionization chamber measurements. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis; γ -spectrography.

pН

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography;

dry matter content (evaporation);

peroxide content (spot test, KMnO₄);

potassium content (Na-tetraphenylborate).

Specific activity control, chromium content (spectrophotometry). Radiochemical purity control, radiochromatography. Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

CRIS - sodium chromate in neutral isotonic solution, sterilized.

Radioactive concentration:	1 - 2 mCi/ml.
Isotopic purity:	Greater than 99%.
Radiochemical purity:	At least 95% as Cr^{6+} .
Specific activity:	Greater than 10 mCi/mg Cr.
pH:	7.
Chemical purity:	Metals, spectrographically determined (except Cr), less than 10 μ g/ml.

REFERENCES

- BIRKELUND, O. R., KALTENBORN, N., RASSOUL, A., Preparation of Chromium-51 by Szilard-Chalmers Reaction and Separation by Ion Exchange Techniques, Kjeller Report KR 40 (1963) 21.
- [2] BIRKELUND, O. R., DAHL, J. B., Tagging of Human Red Cells with Chromium-51, Kjeller Report KR 63 (1964).

1. GENERAL

Chromium-51 is obtained in the form of sodium chromate by irradiation in the reactor of enriched 85-90% chromium oxide, subsequent oxidation of the target with perchloric acid and dissolution of CrO_3 in sodium hydroxide solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	15 mg of enriched 85-90% chromium oxide.
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	4-6 weeks (reactor working 86 h per week at full power).
Container:	Aluminium capsule closed by welding.
Activity obtained:	400 - 700 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Fifteen mg of the irradiated chromium oxide is dissolved in 30 ml of perchloric acid. The dissolution is carried out at $180-185^{\circ}$ C. After dissolution of Cr_2O_3 the temperature is maintained at $180-185^{\circ}$ C for 15 min in order to produce complete oxidation of Cr^{3+} to Cr^{6+} (CrO_3). During oxidation the colour of the solution turns from light green to pale yellow. After oxidation the solution is cooled for 30-45 min. After cooling CrO_3 in the form of small red crystals is filtered onto a G-3 sintered glass filter. For transformation of obtained CrO_3 into sodium chromate the crystals obtained are dissolved in a small volume of 1 N NaOH on the filter and then the filter is washed with a few millilitres of pyrogen-free water. Activity of the solution obtained in this way is adjusted to the required pH by neutralization of the excess NaOH with 0.1 HCl to a pH of 6.5 to 7.5. Isotonicity of the solutions is produced by the addition of an appropriate volume of water. The operations are carried out in an enclosure shielded with 5-cm lead plates.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Determination of the activity of the final product: the principal radiation measured is the 0.323-MeV gamma ray.

The chemical purity is determined spectrally.

The radiochemical purity is determined by quantitative determination of Cr^{3+} in chromate or Cr^{6+} in chloride (impurities).

Radiation purity is checked by gamma spectrometry.

Sodium chloride concentration is determined by silver nitrate titration.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Sodium chromate in isotonic saline. Radioactive concentration 0.5-2 mCi/ml. Radiochemical purity not less than 99%. Specific activity 10-70 mCi/mg. Sterile, pyrogen-free, pH 6-8.

REFERENCES

- ATOMIC ENERGY OF CANADA LTD., The Production of ⁵¹Cr at Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd., LDT (1964).
- [2] UNITED KINGDOM ATOMIC ENERGY AUTHORITY, The production of ⁵¹Cr at the Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, United Kingdom (1964).
- [3] BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE, The Production of ⁵¹Cr at the Boris Kidrič Institute, Yugoslavia (1964).
- [4] KAUFMANN, Sheldon, J. Am. chem. Soc. 82 (1960) 2963-64.
- [5] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, ORNL Radioisotopes Manual 3633 VI (1964).
- [6] INGRAND, J., Contribution à l'étude des propriétés biologiques des composés marqués au radiochrome ^{\$1}Cr, Thesis, CEA, Saclay (1964).
- [7] BEHRENS, C.F., Atomic medicine, The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 3rd Ed. 20 10 (1959) 513-21.

JUNTA DE ENERGIA NUCLEAR, MADRID, SPAIN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the irradiation of K_2CrO_4 and the method originally developed by Douis and Valade [1], which employs the adsorption of ^{51}Cr on the porous glass plate.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	40 g, potassium chromate of analytical grade quality.
Container:	Leak-tight, aluminium container, 24×26 mm diam.
Flux:	$5 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (JEN-1)}.$
Irradiation time:	3 weeks, equivalent to 136 h of continuous reactor operation at 1 MW.
	Approximate yield is 70 mCi with the specific activity of $20-30$ mCi/g.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

The $Cr(OH)_3$ precipitate is adsorbed on a porous glass plate. The entire process comprises the following steps [2]:

Dissolve the irradiated K_2CrO_4 in water at the ratio of 25 ml/10 g of chromate. Leave the solution for at least 4 h.

The $Cr(OH)_3$ precipitate is filtered by a No.4 porous glass plate; a slight suction is applied at the beginning. Wash the precipitate with approximately 250 ml of water.

Dissolve the washed precipitate with 5 ml of 10% HCl, and heat gently. The Cr(OH)₃ is re-precipitated, and the solution is neutralized with 10% NH_4OH against the phenolphthalein indicator.

The Cr(OH)₃ is oxidized to CrO_{4}^{-} with 1 ml of 30% H_2O_2 (Perhydrol Merck) and 5 ml of 0.1 M NaOH. Excess oxidant is removed by boiling.

The chromate solution is made isotonic by the addition of 1 ml of H_3PO_4 (1:5) and adjustment of the pH to 7 with 1 M NaOH. The volume of the solution is made to 10 ml.

A possible method to improve the specific activity is currently being investigated [3]. It is established that favourable results can be obtained if:

The flux density is increased, and the irradiation period is decreased.

About 6 d are allowed to pass between the time the irradiated material is removed from the reactor and the time it is placed in solution.

Apparatus

The operation is carried out on a laboratory bench with a shield made of lead bricks.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The determination of chemical purity is made by emission spectrography as for ^{32}P preparations.

The precise chromium content needed for the determination of specific activity is determined as follows [4]:

Take 0.5 ml of the chromate solution, then dilute to 10 ml with distilled water.

Place 2 ml of the resulting solution in a 25-ml flask. Add 4 drops of concentrated $\rm H_2SO_4$ and 5 ml of water.

Heat the solution to the fuming of $SO_{3}^{\frac{1}{2}}$, then allow to cool.

Add 1 ml of 10% ammonium persulphate and 1 ml of 1% $AgNO_3$ solutions. Heat gently until the persulphate is removed. Boil further for 10 min.

The solution is allowed to cool, then transferred to a 25-ml measuring flask. The remainder of the treated sample is entrained with water.

Add 0.5 ml of 1% diphenylcarbazide solution, and bring the solution to 25 ml. Stir. After 5 min measurement is made with a 1 cm optical cell and at 540 m μ in a Beckman Model B spectrophotometer.

Radioactive purity is determined by gamma spectrometry. The apparatus is described in the procedures for 32 P.

Radiochemical purity is determined by measuring the quantity of chromium in the form of chromate present in radioactive solution of this radioelement. This is done by precipitating lead chromate with lead acetate and measuring the activity of the precipitate with a scintillation counter [5].

The Cr³⁺ present in the solution of radioactive sodium chromate is determined by ascending chromatography on No. 2 Whatman paper. The solvent used is the mixture of water, 95% alcohol and ammonium hydroxide (d: 0.925), at the ratio of 5:2:1. The R_f values are: $Cr^{3+} = 0.0$, $CrO_4^{=} = 0.9$. The activity measurement is made with an ionization chamber (see ³²P). An error of less than 10% is allowed.

Biological tests indicate over 75% labelling of red blood cells in vitro with radioactive sodium chromate [5].

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Sodium chromate - ⁵¹Cr injectable

Neutral (pH 5-7), isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of sodium chromate meeting the following specifications:

Chemical purity:	Results of a typical analysis are:		
•	Elements not detected: Cd, La, Mn, Ni, Pb,		
	Si, Sn, As, and Te.		
-	Elements with concentration of less than $3 \mu g/ml$:		
	Al, B, Mg.		
	Ditto at less than 10 μ g/ml: Ca, Fe.		
Radioactive purity:	51 Cr content > 99.5%.		
Radiochemical purity:	Chromate content > 95%.		
Radioactive concentration:	1 - 20 mCi/ml.		
Specific activity:	Above 20 mCi/mg.		
Sterility:	Sterilization is carried out in an autoclave at		
•	120°C for about 1 h.		
Analysis of pyrogens ¹ :			
Isotonicity:	Tested by means of conductimetric measurements.		

 $^{51}\mathrm{Cr}$ - chromium chloride, non injectable

Isotonic solution of chromium chloride, pH 3-4, meeting the following specifications:

Chemical purity:	As for sodium chromate -51 Cr injectable
Radioactive purity:	51 Cr content > 99.5%.
Radiochemical purity:	51 Cr ³⁺ content > 95%.
Radioactive concentration:	1-20 mCi/ml
Specific activity:	over 20 mCi/mg.

¹ See the section on ³²P provided by the Junta de Energía Nuclear, Madrid, Spain.

REFERENCES

- [1] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Report CEA-2072, Commissariat à l'énergie atomique, France (1961).
- [2] BARRACHINA, M., VILLAR, M.A., Preparation of high specific activity of ⁵¹Cr by the Szilard-Chalmers effect on potassium chromate, JEN Report, in process of publication.
- [3] ORTEGA, J., Preparation of high specific activity ⁵¹Cr by Szilard-Chalmers effect, JEN Report, to be published.
- [4] GASCO, L., Determinación espectrofotométrica de cromo en uranio con difenilcarbacida, Report JEN-DQ-Qa 0704/N-1.
- [5] REBOLLO, D. V., Sección de Isótopos, Dirección de Química e Isótopos JEN, private communication.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Chromium, as chromic oxide, electromagnetically enriched to 85-90% in 50 Cr, is irradiated in a high thermal neutron flux, 50 Cr(n, γ) 51 Cr.

The processing is aimed to convert the oxide to the chloride.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	Chromic oxide EM enriched in 50 Cr to 85 - 90%.
Amount:	20 mg.
Irradiation time:	21 d.
Container:	Sealed silica ampoule - primary; aluminium tube secondary.
Flux:	$10^{14} n/cm^2 s.$
Side reactions:	None.

Chemical treatment

The chromic oxide is dissolved in perchloric acid, the excess of which is reduced with SO_2 . The hydroxide is precipitated at pH2-4 with hexammine, and then centrifuged and washed. It is treated with excess sodium hydroxide and hydrogen peroxide. The excess NaOH is neutralized and the solution of sodium chromate made isotonic. Chromic chloride is obtained by reducing the chromate solution with SO_2 .

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Identity by gamma spectrometry; assay by scintillation counting against a ¹³⁷Cs reference. pH by Capillator; Cr element by polarography; cationic impurities by ion exchange; NaCl by silver nitrate titration.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Preparation:	Sodium chromate in isotonic saline.
Concentration of radioelement:	0.5-1 mCi/ml.
Concentration total element:	$10 - 15 \mu g/ml.$
Specific activity:	30-100 mCi/mg Cr.
Radioisotopic purity:	Not less than 99%.
Total solids:	< 10 mg/ml.
Appearance:	Clear, slightly yellow solution.
Acidity, alkalinity or pH:	рН 6-8
Organic matter:	Nil
Total alpha:	Nil
Metallic impurities:	As and Pb <5 ppm.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Chromium-51 is produced by the ${}^{50}Cr(n, \gamma){}^{51}Cr$ reaction in an enriched (to 98% ${}^{50}Cr$) chromium metal target. The metal is converted to chloride form in HCl solution and filtered for the final product.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:15 mg chromium metal enriched to 98% 50 Cr.Neutron flux: $2 \times 10^{14} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$ Irradiation time:26 weeks.Reactor yield:11 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit for target dissolution (see Fig. 2 of section on 82 Br) and a 3-in fine, sintered-glass filter are used.

Processing

Yield: > 90%.

The target material is dissolved in a minimum amount of 12 \underline{M} HCl under low heat. Solids are filtered out and the volume adjusted to 50 ml of 1 \underline{M} HCl. A clear green solution results.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

A sample is analysed for total solids, molarity of HCl, ⁵¹Cr concentration, and radiochemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 90733211.

Precision and accuracy of the ⁵¹Cr assay are:

Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 5%.

Estimated precision, 3%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chromium-51 is supplied as CrCl₃ in HCl in processed enriched form as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are: Acidity: $1 N \pm 50\%$.

Concentration: > 10 mCi/ml. Specific activity: \approx 100 000 mCi/g of Cr. Radiochemical purity: > 99%.

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA, YUGOSLAVIA

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of a K_2CrO_4 target gives rise to ${}^{51}Cr$ by the ${}^{50}Cr(n, \gamma)$ ${}^{51}Cr$ reaction. For the production of ${}^{51}Cr$ the method of Douis and Valade [1] is used. This method has been improved by omitting the addition of NaOH during the oxidation of Cr³⁺ to Cr⁶⁺. The degradation of the glass is thus avoided.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: 15 g of reagent grade K₂CrO₄.

The cross-section of the reaction ${}^{50}\text{Cr}(n,\gamma){}^{51}\text{Cr}$ is $\sigma_{n,\gamma}$: 11.5 barns. Owing to the ${}^{50}\text{Cr}$ content in the natural element (4.4%), the value of 0.58 barns should be taken into account in calculating the activity. The formation of isotope ${}^{42}\text{K}$ by the reaction: ${}^{41}\text{K}(n,\gamma){}^{42}\text{K}$, $\sigma_{n,\gamma}$: 1.1 barns (i.e. 0.076 barns with respect to the ${}^{41}\text{K}$ content in natural mixture) should be noted. Thermal flux: $2-3 \times 10^{13}$ n/cm² s (RA reactor at Vinča).Irradiation time:23 h. After irradiation the target is left to cool
for 7 d for radioactive 42 K decay.

Irradiation containers: Cylindrical, aluminium cans with screwed covers: internal length: \rightarrow 70 mm; internal diameter: \rightarrow 25 mm.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

Irradiated K_2CrO_4 is dissolved in distilled water in vessel A. The pH of the distilled water is made up to pH 7 with NaOH so as to obtain optimal conditions for ${}^{51}Cr(OH)_3$ precipitation. After dissolving the chromate the solution is transferred to vessel B and then to a vessel for waste solutions F when ${}^{51}Cr(OH)_3$ remains on the sintered glass of vessel A. The sintered glass is then rinsed with water to remove the remaining chromate. After rinsing, oxidation is performed by adding $30\% H_2O_2$. Oxidation proceeds with heating and ${}^{51}Cr^{3+}$ oxidizes to red perchromic acid (H_3CrO_8) which, on heating, quantitatively decomposes into H_2CrO_4 . After transferring the acid to vessel B the acid is evaporated to dryness by slow heating to remove the excess of H_2O_2 . The dissolving of chromic acid in a 0.9% NaCl solution produces Na $2^{51}CrO_4$ in an isotonic NaCl solution.

Apparatus

The process is carried out in an apparatus of Pyrex glass. A diagram of the apparatus is shown in Fig. 1.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of ⁵¹Cr Vessel for dissolution and oxidation (A) Vessel for evaporation (B) Vessels for waste solutions (C) (F) Vessel for filtration of the final product (D) Burette (E) Heaters (G I and G II)

Distribution tube for transportable vacuum (H) Vessels for adding chemicals (K and L) Plastic stopcocks (1-6)

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution. Radioactive control. Chemical purity control. Determination of Cr³⁺ content [4-6]. Quantitative determination of Cr content [2,3]. Sterility control [7]

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: YVCr 51/2, Na₂⁵¹CrO₄ in sterile isotonic NaCl solution

A sterile solution of Na $_2^{51}$ CrO₄ in isotonic NaCl solution, meeting the following specifications: Radioactive concentration, measured to within 10%: 0.5 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: 51 Cr content more than 99.9%. Radiochemical purity: Na $_2$ CrO₄ content more than 90%. Specific activity: 20 mCi/mg. Sterile

REFERENCES

[1] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., CEA-2072 (1961).

- [2] SANDELL, B. E., Colorimetric Determination of Traces of Metals, Interscience Publishers, Co., New York (1950) 257 pp.
- [3] RODDEN, C.J., Analytical Chemistry of the Manhattan Project, McGraw Hill Book Co., New York (1950).
- [4] COHEN, Y., INGRAND, J., CEA-1083 (1960).

[5] COHEN, Y., INGRAND, J., Rev. Hématologie 15 (1960) 217.

[6] ČVORIĆ, J., DRAŠKOVIČ, R., NEMODA, D., PROKIĆ, B., Tehnika (Beograd) 19 (1964) 822.

[7] JOVANOVIĆ, V., DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., Tekhnika (Beograd) 19 (1964) 1781.

COBALT-58

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

72 d

1.2. Type of decay and energy (MeV)

EC	(85%)		gamma	2γ -rays of	annihilation	energy 0.51
beta (β^+)	0.485	(14.8%)		0.805 (34%))	
	1.3	(6.3×10 ⁻⁴ %)		0.810 (77%))	
				1.62 (0.5%	%)	

1.3. Decay scheme



Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	A (ctivity of e at 10 ¹² n/c (mCi/g 1 week	element em ² s g) saturation	Secondary reactions and half-life of nuclide formed
⁵⁸ Ni(n, p) ⁵⁸ Co	67.88	0.09 (f)	0.017	1	17	$^{58}_{28}$ Ni(n, γ) $^{59}_{28}$ Ni
						(T = 7.5×104 yr) σ = 4.4 barn
		-				⁵⁸ ₂₈ Ni(n,α) ⁵⁵ ₂₆ Fe
						(T = 2.6 yr) σ = 0.17 mbarn
						⁶⁰ ₂₈ Ni(n, p) ⁶⁰ ₂₇ Co
						(T = 5. 27 yr) isot. abund.: 26. 23% σ = ~ 5 mbarn
						⁶¹ 28 Ni(n,p)27 Co
						(T = 1.65 h) isot. abund.: 1.19%
						⁶² 28 Ni(n, γ) ⁶³ 28 Ni
						(T = 120 yr) isot. abund.: 3.66% σ = 15 barn
						$^{62}_{28}$ Ni(n, $\alpha)^{59}_{26}$ Fe
						(T = 45 d) σ = 0.002 mbarn
						⁶⁴ 28Ni(n,γ) ⁶⁵ 28Ni
						(T = 2.56 h) isot. abund.: 1.08% g = 1.52 barn
⁵⁹ 27Co(n,2n) ⁵⁸ 27Co	100%					

2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

(f): for fast neutrons.

For nuclear data see Refs. [1,2].

The target normally used for the preparation of cobalt-58 is nickel oxide (NiO).

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Industrial

Absolute measurement of the activity of the 58 Co formed by the nuclear reaction 58 Ni(n, p) 58 Co is used for determining fast neutron flux [4].

Cobalt-58 can be used as an internal standard in liquid scintillation or as a tracer in cobalt studies, for example to label the $[Co(Cn_6)]^{3-}$ used in hydrology [5].

General references on applications may be found in [6].

3.2. Medical and biological

Cobalt-58 is used for labelling vitamin B_{12} [7-12] utilized in studies of metabolism, especially for the diagnosis of pernicious anaemia. The dose administered is generally of the order of $0.5 \mu \text{Ci}$ [7]. Other references on this subject are in [13].

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

4.1.1. Irradiation doses

The dose delivered by 1 Ci of 58 Co at a distance of 50 cm is 2.2 rem/h. [14, 15].

4.1.2. Safety measures

In Table I are shown tenth-thicknesses¹ for lead and ordinary concrete which give some idea of the amount of protection needed in handling 5^8 Co.

TABLE I

	1/10 thickness (cm)		
	РЬ	Ordinary concrete d = 2, 3	
For a y of 0.81 MeV	2.4	. 15. 0	
For a γ of 1.6 MeV	4.1	22. 5	

PROTECTION IN HANDLING ⁵⁸Co

In practice, the following thicknesses of lead are required to reduce the dose to 1 mR/h at 50 cm:

3.2	\mathbf{cm}	for	handling	10	mCi	of	⁵⁸ Co
5.6	\mathbf{cm}	11	11	100	mCi	11	11
8	\mathbf{cm}	11	11	1 C	i	11	11

¹ The tenth-thickness is the thickness of shielding required to reduce the intensity of a γ -radiation of given energy by a factor of ten.

4.2. Internal irradiation

Cobalt-58 is classified as a moderately toxic (Category 3) isotope [17]. Its effective half-life, allowing for both radioactive decay and excretory processes, is 8.4 d [18].

In the case of internal irradiation (ingestion or inhalation), the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water, respectively, for a 40-h exposure, are:

 $8 \times 10^{-7} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ and $4 \times 10^{-3} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ (soluble form) $5 \times 10^{-8} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ and $3 \times 10^{-3} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ (insoluble form) [19]

4.3. Decontamination

Except in one or two particular cases, there is no special decontamination method for any given radioisotope. General texts on this subject [20-24] indicate that the following measures are adequate:

4.3.1. Skin

Rapid and repeated washing with good-quality soap, warm water and a soft brush. If this is not sufficient, use can be made of detergents or 5-10% solutions of complexing agents of the EDTA (ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid) type. It is also possible to apply saturated permanganate solutions followed by rinsing with a 5% bisulphite solution to neutralize and remove stain. Abrasive powders should not be used and the addition of entraining agents has proved disappointing.

If any wounds are contaminated they must be treated rapidly by bleeding, washing with water, decontamination as for the skin and sometimes by additional surgical cleaning.

4.3.2. Hair

If the hair is contaminated, it is important not to take a shower, but merely to wash the head. A normal, good-quality shampoo is usually sufficient. If contamination is persistent, the following solutions can be used:

paraisopropylorthocresol

lavandin oil

AC compounded terpene-free lemon

glycerine diacetin

benzoic acid

Contamination is much easier to remove if the hair is not greasy.

4.3.3. Laboratory equipment

Glassware is usually cleaned by steeping and this is mainly a radiochemical problem. The use of a specific entraining agent or solutions of complexing agents gives good results and so do solutions of chromic acid, concentrated nitric acid, ammonium citrate, pentasodium triphosphate or ammonium bifluoride.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

Cobalt-58 is generally prepared by the (n, p) reaction on nickel-58. The nickel target must be perfectly pure in order to avoid secondary nuclear reactions such as ${}^{59}\text{Co}(n, \gamma){}^{60}\text{Co}$. (It can be purified before irradiation by passing it through anion resin to separate any cobalt-59 which may be present.)

The cobalt-58 formed can be separated from the target in two ways:

By ion-exchange on anion resin [25-29]. The irradiated NiO target is dissolved in 12 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid or in aqua regia; in the latter case, the nitric acid is eliminated and one finishes in 12 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid. This solution is passed through a Dowex 1X8 anion resin (previously treated with 12 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid). The cobalt-58 is fixed, but not the nickel. The cobalt-58 is eluted with 4 N hydrochloric acid.

By solvent extraction [30, 31]. Extraction is performed using tributylphosphate starting with a solution of chlorides. To prepare carrier-free cobalt-58, however, it is necessary to purify quantities of nickel several times greater than the quantity of cobalt. In view of this, a single extraction under static conditions is not enough. To increase the separation efficiency, the semi-countercurrent method must be used. Levin, Golutvina, and Tikhominova, [31] show the layout of the extraction apparatus employed.

REFERENCES

- SEELMANN, E. W., PFENNING, G., (co-operation of MÜNZEL, H., ZUNDEL, G.,), Chart of the nuclides, 2nd Ed. (reprint 1963), Gersbach und Sohn Verlag, Barerstrasse 32, Munich 34, Fed. Rep. Germany.
- [2] HENRY, R., « Préparation de radioéléments à période courte à l'aide d'un réacteur de recherche» (Using a research reactor to prepare short-lived radioisotopes), Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No. 17, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 207-230.
- [3] AMAR NAT., NESMEIANOV. A. N., Recoil effect in inner complex cobalt compounds with the reaction ⁵⁹Co (n, 2n) ⁵⁸Co, Radiokhimiya, USSR, <u>4</u> I (1962) 122-124.
- [4] MELLISH, C. E., PAYNE, J. A., OTLET, R. L., "The production of threshold reactions in a graphite reactor", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. Conf. UNESCO, Paris (Sept. 1957) (EXTER-MANN, R. C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London (1958).
- [15] HOURS, R., Les applications industrielles des traceurs radioactifs (Industrial applications of radioisotopes), CEA Report DR/AR/63 - I/RH/ALD (Jan. 1963).
- [6] SHEPPARD, C. W., Basic Principles of the Tracer Method, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York (1962). LEVEQUE, P., Les applications industrielles des radioéléments (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique (ANRT) Collection Eyrolles et Gauthier Villars Ed., Paris (1962).

KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N. J., (1961).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 1st UN Int. Conf. PUAE 12 15 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 27 (1958).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 3rd UN Int. Conf. PUAE P/875 (1964).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, Proc. IAEA/UNESCO Conf. Copenhagen (Sept. 1960), IAEA, Vienna (1962) Vol. I, 542 pp; Vol. II, 554 pp; Vol. III, 633 pp.

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotope Applications in Industry (Technical Directory), A survey of radioisotope applications classified by industry or economic activity, with selected references to the international literature, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp.

- [7] FIELDS, Th., SEED, L., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, The Year Book Publishers, Chicago, 2nd Ed,, (1961) 66-79 and 294.
- [8] HUTCHINSON, J. S., TOWNSEND, S. R., CAMERON, D. G., The advantages of ⁵⁸Co-tagged vitamin B₁₂ in the study of vitamin B₁₂ absorption, Medical Ass. J., Canada (1958) 78-685.
- [9] BRADLEY, J. E., SMITH, E. L., BAKER, S. J., MOLLIN, D. L., The use of the radioactive isotope of cobalt, ⁵⁸Co, for the preparation of labelled vitamin B₁₂, Lancet <u>2</u> (4 Sept. 1954) 476-477.
- [10] SMITH, L. E., Vitamin B₁₂, Methuen & Co. Ltd., London (1960).
- [11] BEIERWALTES, W. H., JOHNSON, P. C., SOLARI, A. J., "Radioactive chromium, ⁵¹Cr, cobalt, ⁶⁰Co, and iron, ⁵⁹Fe", Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, Ch. 9 (1957) 284-288.
- [12] OWEN, C. A., "Hematology", Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill., Ch. IV (1959) 218-27.
- [13] BEHRENS, C. F., Atomic Medicine, 3rd Ed., Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, Ch. 20.3 (1959) pp. 490-96.

VEALL, N., VETTER, H., "Vitamin B_{12} ", Radioisotope Techniques in Clinical Research and Diagnosis, Butterworths, London, Ch. 15 (1958) 272-278.

KAMEN, M. D., "Cobalt", Isotopic Tracers in Biology, Academic Press Inc., New York, Ch. XII (1957) pp. 383-85.

HAHN, P. E., Therapeutic Use of Artificial Radioisotopes, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (1956). INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Use of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. Conf. IAEA/WHO/FAO, Mexico (Nov. 1961), Academic Press Inc. (London) Ltd., (1962) Vol. I, 563 pp; Vol. II, 328 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. Conf., Paris (Sept. 1967) (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London III (1958).

URBAN and SCHWARZENBERG, Radioactive Isotopes in Clinical Practice and Research, Proc. Symp. Bad Gastein (1959), Urban and Schwarzenberg, Publishers, Munich (1960).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 1st UN Int. Conf. PUAE 10 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958).

- [14] ABBATT, J. D., LAKEY, J. R. A., MATHIAS, D. J., Protections contre les radiations (Radiation protection), Masson et Cie, Ed., Paris (1963) 159.
- [15] HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE, Code of Practice for the Protection of Persons Exposed to Ionizing Radiations, H. M. S. O., London (1957) 66.
- [16] JOFFRE, H., «Les problèmes physiques de la radioprotection» (Physical problems in radiation protection), INSTN Saclay, Extrait du Genie atomique, <u>1</u> (1963).
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st Ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [18] MORGAN, K. Z., Radiation protection, Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection, Report of Committee II on Permissible Doses in the Case of Internal Irradiation (1959), Gauthier Villars Ed., Paris (1963).
- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No. 9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 57 pp.
- [20] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, National Bureau of Standards, Control and Removal of Radioactive Contamination in Laboratories, Handbook 48 (1951) 4-17.
- [21] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st Ed. with Rev. App. I, Safety Series No. I, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 69-76.
- [22] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 79-81 and 82-88.
- [23] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Medical Addendum, Safety Series No. 3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 62-74.
- [24] BLATZ, H., Radiation Hygiene Handbook, McGraw Hill Book Co., New York (1959) pp. 15-18 and 18-23.

[25] MELLISH, C. E., PAYNE, S. A., Production of carrier-free cobalt-58 by pile irradiation of nickel (letter), Nature, London <u>178</u> 4527 (1956) 275-276.

- [26] MELLISH, C. E., The separation of ⁵⁴Mn, ⁵⁶Co, ⁵⁸Co, ⁶⁵Zn and ⁹⁵mNb in a carrier-free state by the use of anion-exchange resin, Report, AERE, I/M 39 (1955); NSA 10 17 No. 6590.
- [27] PASSELL, T.V., Production of carrier-free cobalt-58 in the MTR, Report IDO-16274 (1955).

- [28] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL 3633 (June 1964).
- [29] KIMURA, K., SHIBATA, N., SHIKATA, E., "Production of radioisotopes by JRR-I reactor 6. The study of preparation of special radioisotopes (¹⁸F, ²⁴Na, ⁵⁸Co, ⁷⁷As)", The 4th Japan Conference on Radioisotopes, Tokyo JRIA, Pand C-6-1 (1961).
- [30] MUSIL, A., WEIDMANN, G., La séparation du nickel et du cobalt par extraction au moyen du TBP (The separation of nickel and cobalt by extraction using TBP). Microchim. Acta No. 3. (1959) 476-80.
- [31] LEVIN, V. I., GOLUTVINA, M. M., TIKHOMINOVA, E. A., Separation of carrier-free ⁵⁸Co from nickel irradiated by neutrons using the extraction method, Radiokhimiya, USSR 2 5 (1960) 596-602.

PROCEDURES

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

Cobalt-58 is obtained by the reaction 58 Ni(n, p) 58 Co. At the same time radioactive nickel is formed by the reaction 62 Ni(n, γ) 63 Ni.

Carrier-free 58Co is separated from a nickel target by passing chlorides in a hydrochloric solution over an anion resin which retains the cobalt in the form of a complex [1].

The equivalent nickel complex does not form under these conditions. Nickel-63 is recovered free of ⁵⁸Co.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: 25 g of the nickel oxide is purified by passage over an anion resin; this eliminates the cobalt and iron which, under irradiation, would yield unwanted radioisotopes.

Irradiation: In a fast neutron flux of about 2×10^{12} n/cm² s for six months. Yield: 100 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Preparation

The flowsheet for the preparation of 58 Co is shown in Fig. 1 and the apparatus used is shown in Fig. 2. The 25 g of irradiated nickel oxide are dissolved in 250 ml of aqua regia, which is introduced in stages.

The preparation is heated until complete dissolution.

The nitric acid is evaporated off, concentrated hydrochloric acid (50 ml) being added from time to time.

Fifty millilitres of concentrated hydrochloric acid are added at the end of the operation.





FIG.2. Apparatus for the production of ⁵⁸Co

The solution is then passed over Dowex 1 X8 anion resin.

This fixes the 58 Co and any iron which may have been introduced as an impurity in the reagents (hydrochloric acid, nitric acid).

The nickel is not fixed.

One passage over the resin column is usually not enough to retain all the $^{58}\mathrm{Co.}$

By collecting the products passing out of the resin columns in an intermediate vessel and placing it over an ionization chamber, the γ activity present can be measured and the amount of ⁵⁸Co remaining in the nickel solution thus determined.

From the intermediate vessel, the solutions can either be returned to the dissolution apparatus to concentrate the nickel solutions contaminated with 58 Co, or placed in an evaporator to concentrate the pure 63 Ni solutions.

The 58 Co is diluted by 4 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid (200 ml per column). This solution is passed into a 58 Co concentrator.

The resin columns are washed with doubly distilled water.

Apparatus

The nickel oxide is dissolved in a 1-litre flask placed in an electric heating jacket. The flask is surmounted by two male ground-glass ball-joints, one of which is capped with a condenser, and the other with a lead-lined plug for introducing the irradiated substances.

The resin columns are fitted with a siphon to prevent drying out of the resin. They are surmounted by a flask which acts as a reservoir.

The solutions are evaporated in a cylindrical receptacle filled with a condenser.

Lastly, there is an intermediate vessel to recover the nickel solutions after they have passed over the resins. It is placed over an ionization chamber to measure the residual γ -activity of the solution and is protected by a shield of lead bricks.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The 58 Co activity of two 1-ml samples is measured with an ionization chamber.

The percentage of 60 Co is measured by counting the 1.7-1.33 MeV lines in a gamma-spectrometer.

Finally the quantity of carrier cobalt in the solution is determined.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ⁵⁸Co - S

A carrier-free cobalt chloride hydrochloric solution containing less than 5% $\,^{60}\text{Co.}$

Specific activity: > 10000 Ci/g.

REFERENCE

 MELLISH, C. E., PAYNE, J. A., Production of carrier-free cobalt-58 by pile irradiation of nickel, Nature, London 178 4527 (1956) 275, 276.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production is based on the fast neutron-induced reaction on a nickel target; 58 Ni(n, p) 58 Co. To enhance the (n, p) process and decrease the effect of (n, γ) reactions, the target is covered with cadmium shielding. After irradiation separation is carried out with the aid of ion exchange.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Nickel oxide, Merck (analytical grade).
	Amount, depending on the request.
Flux:	2×10^{13} n/cm ² s (th).
Time of irradiation:	80 h.
Container:	Quartz ampoule with ground stopper, wrapped in cadmium foil.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target is dissolved in concentrated hydrochloric acid and the solution is fed onto a column, filled with Dowex resin. The primary eluate contains the nickel activity. The elution of ⁵⁸Co from the resin is made by hydrochloric acid as eluting agent.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radiochemical purity is controlled with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser. The pH is determined in the usual manner.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Radioactive purity: concentration of 60 Co <0.5%. Specific activity: 2.2 mCi/g.

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Carrier-free cobalt-58 is produced by the irradiation of nickel. The activities produced are: ${}^{58}\text{Ni}(n, \gamma){}^{59}\text{Ni}$, ${}^{58}\text{Ni}(n, p){}^{58}\text{Co}$, ${}^{62}\text{Ni}(n, \gamma){}^{63}\text{Ni}$ and ${}^{64}\text{Ni}(n, \gamma){}^{65}\text{Ni}$. Nickel-59 is formed in very small amounts, while the short-lived ${}^{65}\text{Ni}$ decays rapidly.

The irradiated nickel is first converted to chloride and this chloride solution in 9 \underline{M} HCl is passed down an anion exchange column. Cobalt-58 activity is retained while nickel passes down. The ⁵⁸Co is eluted out with 5 M HCl.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: 10 g of spec-pure nickel metal (cobalt content less than 1 ppm).

Irradiation period: 6 months to 1 yr.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated nickel is dissolved in nitric and hydrochloric acids and the chloride is taken up in 9 M HCl. The solution is passed down a 50 cm $\times 1$ cm² column of Dowex-1 (chloride form, washed with 9 M HCl), where the ⁵⁹Co activity is retained and the nickel passes down. The column is washed free of all nickel with 9 M HCl and the ⁵⁸Co is eluted out with 5 M HCl. The eluate is concentrated and is further purified by passing down a second 30 cm $\times 1$ cm² anion exchange column. Finally the ⁵⁸Co in hydrochloric acid solution is concentrated, the organic impurities are destroyed by nitric acid and the ⁵⁸Co activity is taken up in 0.1 M HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The radioactive concentration is determined either by ion current measurement in an ionization chamber or by gamma scintillation counting using a well-type sodium iodide crystal.

The acidity of the stock solution is determined by titration against 0.1 \underline{N} NaOH solution.

The total solid content is determined by evaporating a known volume and weighing the residue.

The radionuclide is identified by the 0.81 MeV photo-peak.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity:Carrier-free.Chemical form:Cobalt chloride in dilute hydrochloric acid.Acidity:0.1 M HCl.Concentration:1-5 mCi/ml.Radiochemical andGreater than 99%.Percentage of 60 Co:<1%.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process of 58 Co is based on the irradiation of nickel oxide target, and the adsorption of 58 Co on the anion exchange resin in the form of chloride complex [1]. The elution of cobalt is carried out with 4 <u>N</u> HCl.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	20 g nickel oxide (NiO) purified from nickel chloride
	(JISGR) by anion exchange resin; practically free
	of cobalt.
Container:	Target is wrapped with aluminium foil and placed
	in the aluminium capsule.
Flux in JRR-I Fast:	$1.5 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Flux in JRR-I Thermal:	$1.3 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$

Chemical treatment

Dissolve the irradiated target in hydrochloric acid at the concentration of 9N. Pass through the anion exchange resin. Wash the column with 9N HCl. Elute ⁵⁸Co with 4N HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The radiochemical analysis and assay are carried out by gamma spectrometry.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:CoCl2 in HCl solution; acidity is $\sim 1 \ \underline{N}$.Radiochemical purity:> 99%.Specific activity:Carrier-free.

REFERENCE

 SHIKATA, C., SHIKATA, E., SHIBATA, N., Research of radioisotope production with fast neutrons; preparation of carrier-free Co⁵⁸, J. Atomic Energy Soc., Japan 4 (1962) 105.

JUNTA DE ENERGIA NUCLEAR, MADRID, SPAIN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the irradiation of nickel oxide target and the adsorption of cobalt chloride complex on an anion exchange resin. The elution of 58 Co from the resin is made with water [1].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material: 10 g nickel oxide (Ni $_2O_3$) of analytical grade quality. Container: Aluminium container, 8×10 mm diam.

Flux: $4 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2$ s, next to the surface of the adjoining fuel elements (JEN-1).

Irradiation time: Five weeks, equivalent to 236 h of continuous operation at 1 MW.

Approximate yield is 12 mCi 58 Co with the specific activity of 1 Ci/mg Co.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

One week after it has been removed from the reactor, the target is put into solution with concentrated HCl. Evaporate the solution almost to dryness, and redissolve the residue in 50 ml of 7 N HCl.

Pass the solution through a Dowex-2-X8 100-200 mesh anion exchange resin column in chloride form equilibrated with 7 \underline{N} HCl (125 g dry resin). Percolate the solution through the column at a rate of 0.5 ml/min.

Pass 250 ml of 7 N HCl and collect the effluent. Nickel is recovered from the effluent, re-oxidized, and again used for the irradiation.

Continue the elution with water. A total of 150 ml of the effluent is collected, then evaporated down to a few millilitres.

Apparatus

Cobalt-58 production is not performed regularly. Therefore no special apparatus has been provided.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL¹

Determination of chemical purity is made by emission spectrometry. Radioactive purity is determined by gamma spectrometry. Activity measurements are made by ionization chamber.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

⁵⁸Co, cobalt chloride solution, non injectable

A carrier-free cobalt chloride solution in HCl.

Chemical purity:Magnesium and iron in concentrations of less than 1 ppm
are the only impurities which are occasionally detected.
The cobalt content lies outside the sensitivity range of
the method (0.5 ppm).Radioactive purity:58 Co content > 99.5%; no 60Co is detected (60 Co < 1%).
> 1 Ci/mg Co.

REFERENCE

[1] ANGOSO, M., Preparación de cobalto-58, Report JEN-DQ-Qr 0404/I-4.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Nickel metal is irradiated in a fast neutron flux, ⁵⁸Ni(n, p)⁵⁸Co. The processing is intended to separate carrier-free cobalt-58 as cobalt chloride.

¹ For details, see the Section on phosphorus-32 provided by the Junta de Energía Nuclear, Madrid, Spain.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Johnson Matthey spec-pure nickel rods.
Amount:	3 g.
Irradiation time:	2-3 months.
Container:	Aluminium tube.
Flux:	$10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Side reactions:	62 Ni(n, γ) 63 Ni
	⁵⁹ Co(impurity) n, γ ⁶⁰ Co.

Chemical treatment

The nickel rod is dissolved in 9 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid. The solution is passed down a column of anion exchange resin in the chloride form and saturated with 9 N HCl. The column is washed repeatedly with 9 N HCl until free of nickel. Carrier-free cobalt is eluted with 4 N HCl. The latter solution may still contain some nickel in which case the separation in 9 N HCl is repeated.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Identification by γ -spectrometry; assay by scintillation counting against a 137 Cs reference.

Cobalt element by emission spectrometry.

Cobalt-60 by coincidence counting (0.1%) at the start of shelf life of new stock).

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Cobalt-58 is produced by (n, p) transmutation in a nickel target, ⁵⁸Ni(n, p)⁵⁸Co. About 5% ⁶⁰Co is also made by an (n, γ) reaction. In processing, the target is converted to chloride form and purified from Ni by ion exchange. After organic residues are removed with HNO₃, ⁵⁸CoCl₂ is prepared as product.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:1 g nickel metal.Neutron flux: 2×10^{14} n/cm² s.

Irradiation time: 1 yr. Reactor yield: 400 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit¹ and 70-ml ion exchange column (Fig.1) are used in the chemical processing of 58 Co.



FIG.1. Ion exchange column with head vessel

Processing

Yield: > 95%.

The irradiated target is washed into an evaporation dish with 12 <u>M</u> HCl, and heated under the hot off-gas scrubber assembly to dissolve NiO. The resulting NiCl₂•6 H₂O crystals are dissolved in 12 <u>M</u> HCl. (Approximately 100 ml of 12 <u>M</u> HCl are used per gram of nickel; heat is used if necessary to produce a clear solution.) The NiCl₂ solution is evaporated to dryness and fumed with 12 M HCl. Care is taken to avoid converting chloride to oxide. A Dowex-1 resin column is prepared for ⁵⁸Co separation with 100-mesh resin, conditioned with 12 <u>M</u> HCl. Resin volume is ~70 ml/g nickel in solution. The solution is passed through the resin column, and the column rinsed with three column volumes to elute the nickel completely. Cobalt-58 remains on the column. The ion exchange column is then eluted with distilled H₂O and the effluent checked for ⁵⁸Co activity to determine the efficiency of removal from the column. The effluent is collected in a beaker and evaporated to near dryness under the hot off-gas scrubber assembly. The residue is formed with 16 M HNO₃ to destroy the organic compound and then with 12 M

¹ See Fig. 2 in the section on ⁸²Br provided by the Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Tenn., United States of America.

HCl to remove nitric acid. The resulting compound is dissolved in 50 ml of 1 M HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

A sample is analysed for molarity of HCl, ⁵⁸Co concentration, radiochemical purity, and total solids according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 90733601.

The precision and accuracy of the 58Co assay are: Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 10%.

Precision, 2%.

·4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, carrier-free ⁵⁸Co is delivered in the form of CoCl₂ in HCl solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are:

Acidity:	$1 N \pm 50\%$.
Concentration:	> 1 mCi/ml.
Total solids:	< 10 mg/mCi.
Radiochemical purity:	$> 98\%$, exclusive of 60 Co.
⁶⁰ Co:	< 5%.

COPPER-64

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

12.8 h

1.2. Type of decay and energy (MeV)

beta (β ⁻)	0.573 (38%)	gamma from β^+ 0.51 (annihilation)
beta (β ⁺)	0.656 (19%)	gamma from EC 1.34 (0.6%)
\mathbf{EC}	(43%)	





2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Activi at 10	ity of ele ¹² n/cm (mCi/g) 24 h	sat.	Secondary reactions and half-life of, nuclide formed
⁶³ Cu(n,γ) ⁶⁴ Cu	69.09	4.3 (th)	40.5	555	764	⁶⁵ Cu(π,γ) ⁶⁶ Cu (T = 5, 1 min) isot. abund.: 30.9% σ = 2.2 barn
⁶⁴ Zn(n,p) ⁶⁴ Cu	48.89	0. 035 (f)	2.3	31.2	43	⁶⁴ Zn(n, γ) ⁶⁵ Zn (T = 245 d) isot. abund.: 48. 9% σ = 0. 44 barn ⁶⁸ Zn(n, γ) ⁶⁹ MZn, ⁶⁹ Zn (T = 13. 9 h, 55 min) σ = 97 millibarn, 1.0 barn

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-5].

(th) = thermal neutrons.

(f) = fission spectrum neutrons.

3. APPLICATIONS

Copper-64 is the most extensively used and is the only practical radioisotope of copper. Its relatively short half-life presents some limitations. The longer-lived ⁶⁷Cu ($T_{\frac{1}{2}}$ = 58 h) is difficult to produce, requiring a cyclotron for the ⁶⁷Zn(d, 2p)⁶⁷Cu reaction.

3.1. Chemistry

Determination of diffusion coefficients [6] Hot atom chemistry studies [7-12]

3.2. Biochemistry and biology

Enzymological studies	[13]
Haematological studies	[14]
Microdetermination of proteins	[15]
Study of blood serum proteins	[16,17]

3.3. Medicine

Study of the Wilson's disease	[18]
Diagnosis and therapy	[19-21]
Experimental tropical medicine	[22]
3.4. Hydro-metallurgy

Study of minerals	[23,24]
Investigation of flotation processes	[25]

3.5. Food industry [26]

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External irradiation

Copper-64 is an emitter of mixed radiation. The dose-rate of 1 mCi activity at 1 cm is 1.19 R/h [27]. Activities up to 50 mCi (maximum permissible dose: 16 mR/6-h working day) can be safely handled, using a 20-mm-thick lead shield.

4.2. Internal radiation

Copper-64 is classified [28] as a class 3 (moderate toxicity) isotope and has an effective half-life of 0.53 d [29]. Critical organs: spleen, gastrointestines. Maximum permissible amount in whole body, 10 μ Ci.

Maximum permissible concentration, $\mu Ci/cm^3$ [30]:

	In water	In air
Soluble	0.01	2×10-6
Insoluble	6×10 ⁻³	10-6

4.3. Decontamination

Contamination from ⁶⁴Cu (II) compounds can be satisfactorily removed by ammonia-water solution in which the copper ions combine to form complexes which are easier to remove from surfaces.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

The production process is generally based on the reaction ${}^{63}Cu(n, \gamma){}^{64}Cu$. After irradiation, Szilard-Chalmers enrichment of ${}^{64}Cu$ may be employed. If a carrier-free preparation is desired, the ${}^{64}Zn(n, p){}^{64}Cu$ reaction must be used. The production processes can be classified according to the nuclear reaction employed.

5.1. Chemical processes using the (n, γ) reaction

5.1.1. Targets for production without enrichment

The target material is usually Cu metal or CuO, and the product is prepared by dissolution of the irradiated target, e.g. in nitric acid.

5.1.2. Concentration of ⁶⁴Cu by the Szilard-Chalmers method

Processes reported to date differ, depending on the chemical form of the target used.

From a solution of irradiated copper-8-hydroxy-quinoline in an organic solvent only about 10% of the 64 Cu can be recovered by aqueous solvent extraction [31].

After irradiating a solution of copper salicyl-aldehyde <u>o</u>-phenylendicinin in pyridine, 80% of the 64 Cu can be separated in the form of copper sulphide with an enrichment factor of about 10^4 [7].

From irradiated dissolved copper phthalocyanine dissolved in concentrated sulphuric acid, phthalocyanine precipitates upon dilution, while 64 Cu is retained by the solution [8]. After irradiating Cu-phthalocyanine powder, the 64 Cu can be extracted in boiling dilute H_2SO_4 [9-11]. The method, combined with ion exchange separation, yields specific activities up to 50 mCi/mg [12]. An electrolytic purification procedure for the concentration of 64 Cu with an enrichment factor of 500-1000 and with elimination of organic radiolytic decomposition products has also been proposed [32].

5.2. Chemical processes using the ${}^{64}Zn(n, p){}^{64}Cu$ reaction

The most commonly used method is to irradiate Zn metal (less frequently $ZnCl_2$) and to dissolve the metal in mineral acid. Copper-64 is then separated from the solution by precipitation, electrochemical, ion exchange or extraction techniques.

5.2.1. Co-precipitation

By the dissolution of irradiated Zn powder, e.g., in hydrochloric acid, and the addition of a small amount of carrier, copper can be precipitated in the form of CuS [33].

Copper-64 can be also co-precipitated from the aqueous solution of $ZnSO_4$ with freshly prepared Bi_2S_3 . The precipitate is then dissolved in HNO₃ and the bismuth carrier can be separated in NH₄(OH) [34].

If the irradiated Zn is not dissolved wholly in concentrated hydrochloric acid solution, the copper isotope is retained almost to 100% and the undissolved filtered residue yields a solution with higher Cu concentration [35].

5.2.2. Electrochemical separation

Cu is deposited on metallic surfaces of zinc or lead plates [33, 36] or hydrogen-saturated Pt foils [35] immersed in the solution containing the copper isotope. The copper isotope can be separated from the dissolved target material by electrolytic deposition on cathodes made of various metals (e.g. Cu, Mo, Pt, W, etc.) [35-38].

The lengthy procedure of the electrolytic separation can be shortened, its efficiency improved and a single step separation of the copper isotope from concentrated zinc salt solution is made possible by the use of a special electrolyser [39]. The essential feature of the device is the large surface cathode consisting of small Pt wire rings introduced into a glass tube similar in design to a chromatographic column. The solution flowing downwards in the column and gradually decreasing in Cu concentration continuously encounters fresh electrode surfaces.

5.2.3. Solvent extraction and ion-exchange

Copper isotope can be extracted from aqueous zinc chloride-hydrochloric acid solution with a carbon tetrachloride solution of dithizone [40]. Copper can be separated from zinc by adsorption on a cation exchange resin from a solution containing chloride ions (e.g. in the form of hydrochloric acid or lithium chloride) [41, 42].

6. RADIOASSAY

The activity of the prepared samples is usually measured in an ionization chamber and radiochemical purity can be checked by γ -spectrometry (Part I, Section 6).

REFERENCES

- [1] NUCLEAR DATA SHEETS, NRC 59-2-16.
- [2] POULARIKAS, A., FINK, R.W., Absolute activation cross sections for reactions of bismuth, copper, titanium, and aluminium with 14.8 MeV neutrons, Phys. Rev. <u>115</u> (1959) 989.
 - [3] NUCLEAR DATA SHEETS, NRC 60-5-62.
 - [4] LEVIN, V. I., BOCHKAREV, V. V., Preparation of radioisotopes in a reactor with the help of threshold, successive, and secondary nuclear reactions, Trudy Tashkent. Konf. po Mirnomu Ispol'sovan. At. Energii, Akad. Nauk Uzbek., SSR. <u>2</u> (1960) 368-72.
 - [5] NEUTRON CROSS SECTIONS, BNL-325, 2nd Ed.
 - [6] HAEFEFINGER, I. P., GRÜN, F., A method for determining diffusion coefficients in high molecularweight membrane, forming diffusion media, Helv. Chim. Acta 43 (1960) 529.
 - [7] DUFFIELD, R., CALVIN, M., Preparation of high specific induced radioactivity by neutron bombardment of metal chelate compounds, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>68</u> (1946) 1129.
 - [8] HERR, W., GÖTTE, H., Production of carrier-free preparation of Cu of high activity from Cu phthalocyanine, Z. Naturforsch. 5a (1950) 629.
 - [9] PAYNE, B. R., SCARGILL, P., COOK, G. B., "The Szilard-Chalmers reaction in metal phthalocyanines irradiated in a nuclear reactor", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research <u>II</u> Proc. 1st UNESCO Int. Cong., Paris (1957) Pergamon Press, London, New York, Paris, Los Angeles (1958) 154.
- [10] SHARP, R., SCHMIDT, R., Studies of the Szilard-Chalmers Processes, GA-910 Washington (1959).
- [11] APERS, D. I., CAPRON, P., "Chemical consequences of nuclear recoil in solids: Isotopic steric and annealing effects in cobalt, copper and zinc phthalocyanines," Chemical Effects of Nuclear Transformations. Proc. IAEA Conf. Prague (1960) IAEA, Vienna I (1961) 429.
- [12] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Une installation de préparation de radioéléments par effet Szilard-Chalmers, Rapport CEA No. 2072 (1961).
- [13] DRESSLER, H., DAWSON, C.R., Nature and mode of action of the copper protein tyrosinase. I, Exchange experiments with radioactive copper and resting enzyme, Biochim. et Biophys. Acta <u>45</u> (1960) 508.
- [14] MOOS, W.S., MASON, H.C., Behavior of copper complex-forming hydroxyphenazine in normal and leukemic mice, Experientia 15 12 (1959) 483.

- [15] GRASBECK, R., KARLSSON, R., Microdetermination of protein with radiocopper and gel filtration, Acta chem. scand, 16 (1962) 782.
- [16] LANG, N. RENSHLER, H.E., Site of the ceruloplasmin binding of radiocopper (⁶⁴Cu), Z. ges. exptl. Med. <u>130</u> (1958) 203.
- [17] GITLIN, D., JANEWAY, C.A., Turnover of the copper and protein moieties of ceruloplasmin, Nature 185 (1960) 693.
- [18] STERNLIEB, I., MORELL, A.G., BAUER, C.D. et. al., Detection of heterozygous carrier of the Wilson's Disease gene, J. chim. Invest. 40 (1961) 707.
- [19] BENASSI, E., Radioisotopes in the diagnostic field, Progr. med. 17 (1961) 1.
- [20] SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F. (Eds), Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Göttingen, Heidelberg Band I, II (1961).
- [21] PORETTI, G.E., Positron Scanning with Short-Lived Radioisotopes, Inselspital, Berne, Switzerland (1962).
- [22] FRAGA de AZEVEDO, J., CARVAO GOMES, F. et. al., Investigation on the molluscicidal action of copper sulfate by means of ⁶⁴Cu, Z. Tropenmed. und Parasitol.<u>8</u> (1957) 458.
- [23] EICHHOLZ, G.G., ROBERTS W. N., "The adsorption of tracers on mineral particles," Proc. 2nd UN Int, Conf. PUAE (1958) 19 (1959) 240.
- [24] PLAKSIN, I. N., TYRNIKOVA, V. I. et. al., "Radiographic analyses of interaction of reagents with minerals," Obogashchen, Polezn. Iskopaemykh, Akad, Nauk. SSSR Inst. Gorn. Dela (1960) 14-31.
- [25] DLUGOSZ, W., Flotation investigated with radiotracers, Nukleonika 5 (1960) 329.
- [26] ARTHUR, J. C., Jr., MCLEMORE, T. A., "The use of copper-64 in the investigation of reaction Mechanisms of enzymes, particularly as related to food processing," Production and Use of Short-Lived Radioisotopes from Reactors, Proc. IAEA Sem., Vienna (Nov. 1962) IAEA, Vienna <u>II</u> (1963) 247-60.
- [27] GUSZEV, N.G., Leitfaden für Radioaktivität und Strahlenschutz, Berlin, VEB. Verlag Technik (1957) 88.
- [28] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes Safety Series, No. 1. IAEA, Vienna (1958) 35.
- [29] MORGAN, K.Z., SNYDER, W.S., AUXIER, J.A. (Eds), Health Physics 3 (1960) 168.
- [30] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No. 9., IAEA, Vienna (1962) 34.
- [31] EBIHARA, H., YOSHIHARA, K., Preparation ⁶⁴Cu, ⁶⁵Ni and ⁵⁶Mn in a high specific activity, Japan Analyst 9 (1960) 815.
- [32] FELIX, F W., PIRRWITZ, D., SZABO de BUCS, E., "Production of short-lived radionuclides at the Hahn-Meitner Institute in West Berlin," Production and Use of Short-Lived Radioisotopes from Reactors, Proc. IAEA Sem., Vienna (1962) IAEA, Vienna I (1963) 105.
- [33] FERMI, E. et al., Artificial Radioactivity, Proc. Royal Soc. A 146 (1934) 492.
- [34] BORN, H. J., DREHMAN, U., Recovery of radioactive Cu in small amounts, Naturwissenschaften <u>32</u> (1945) 159.
- [35] ERBACHER, O., Die Chemie <u>58</u> (1945) 43.
 ERBACHER, O., Z. anorg. Chem. <u>59</u> (1947) 9.
 ERBACHER, O. et al., Z. anorg. Chem. 256 (1948) 41.
- [36] HAISSINSKY, M., Deposition of artificial radio-elements by electrochemical exchange, Nature <u>136</u> (1935) 141.
 HAISSINSKY, M., Electrochimie des substances radioactives et des solutions extrêmement diluées, Paris (1946).
- [37] STEIGMAN, J., Concentration of radioactive copper use of a high speed rotating cathode, Phys. Rev. 53 (1938) 771.
- [38] RATNER, A. P., KANTOR, S., Preparation of Pure Radioactive Cu (Rd-Cu) from Zn, Docl. Acad. Nauk SSSR (1942) 302.
- [39] MOLNÁR, J., Continuous electrochemical method for the separation of carrier-free radioisotopes, Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat 68 (1962) 504.
- [40] HAYMOND, H. R. et al., Carrier-free radioisotopes from cyclotron targets. VIII. Preparation and isolation of ⁶⁷,⁶⁴ Cu from Zinc, J. chem. Phys. 18 (1950) 901.
- [41] KRAUS, K.A., NELSON, F. et al., Anion exchange studies. XVI. Adsorption from lithium chloride solutions, J. Am. chem. Soc. 77 (1955) 1391.

[42] POSDNIAKOV, A.A., LAVRUKHINA, A.K., Utilization of radioactive isotopes in the development of methods of separation of elements by means of anion exchange resin, Trudi Kom. po Anal. Him. Tom. IX XII (1958) 161.

PROCEDURES

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

GENERAL 1

Copper-64 is prepared from a copper phthalocyanine target. ${}^{63}Cu(n,\gamma){}^{64}Cu$. The ⁶⁴Cu, enriched by the Szilard-Chalmers effect, is separated by dissolving the phthalocyanine in concentrated sulphuric acid, reprecipitating with water and then filtering [1, 2].

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE 2.

Irradiation

Target:

Copper phthalocyanine, purified by dissolution in sulphuric acid, reprecipitation with water and then washing with distilled water to eliminate free copper. Irradiation conditions: 5 g at a flux of 2×10^{12} n/cm² s for 1 week in El2. or 1 g for 72 h at a flux of 10^{13} n/cm² s in EL 3. In this way, 50 mCi of ⁶⁴Cu are obtained 30 h after unloading with a specific activity of about 50 mCi/mg.

Chemical treatment

Preparation

The irradiated copper phthalocyanine is poured onto the fritted plate of a filter apparatus. To bring the phthalocyanine into solution 12 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid are then added, pressure being raised slightly above atmospheric by the application of compressed air below the fritted plate. The phthalocyanine is then reprecipitated by the addition of water. The solution is filtered and passed into a dilution vessel, where it is diluted with 1 litre of water before being passed over a Dowex 50 (X8 120 mesh) resin column. The Cu⁺⁺ is fixed on the resin and the sulphuric acid solution is discharged.

The Cu is washed with 100 ml of water and then eluted with a 4 N solution of hydrochloric acid which is collected in an evaporator. It is evaporated down to about 1 ml and made up with 20 ml of water.

Apparatus

Solution, precipitation and filtration of the phthalocyanine are carried out in the same filtration apparatus. The flowsheet is shown in Fig. 1.



This is a cylindrical apparatus closed at the top by a male joint capped by a female joint, weighted with lead.

At each side are two inlets for reagents.

About half way along a fritted glass is welded in. Above the fritted glass, in the sides of the vessel, are two lateral ports for pressurizing or evacuating, i.e. enabling either bubbling or filtration to be carried out.

Dilution is carried out in a cylindrical vessel of 1500 ml capacity placed in a magnetic agitator. The solution is then passed over a column 16 mm in diameter, terminated by a capillary tube siphon to prevent the desiccation of the resin and surmounted by a 500-ml capacity reservoir.

The solution is collected in an evaporator with a heating jacket containing cyclohexanol.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Two 1-ml samples are counted in an ionization chamber, and subjected to a gamma spectrometry test for radiochemical purity and to a test for determination of the carrier copper.

Finally, biological tests are applied to establish the non-toxicity and sterility of the product.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: 64Cu S - Injectable

An aqueous, isotonic, pyrogen-free solution of copper chloride, pH 5, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 0.5-5 mCi/mlRadioactive purity: ⁶⁴Cu content > 99.9% Specific activity: Above 20 mCi/mg Sterile Pyrogen-free Isotonic

REFERENCES

[1] HERR, W., GÖTTE, H., Zeitschrift für Naturforschung, 5a (1950) 629-30.

[2] PAYNE, B.R., SCARGILL, P., COOK, G.B., Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. UNESCO Conf., Paris (1957) Extermann 2 (1958) 154-67.

HUNGARIAN INSTITUTE OF ISOTOPES, NATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production of ⁶⁴Cu is based on fast neutron-induced reaction on a zinc target. To decrease the thermal neutron flux which causes the (n, γ) reaction of the zinc target, the target is wrapped with a cadmium foil. The separation of carrier-free ⁶⁴Cu, which is present in relatively large amounts, is carried out by an electrolytic process.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

'Target:	Zinc oxide, Merck (analytical grade), amount of target
	depending on the request.
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (th)}.$
Time of irradiation:	24 h.
Container:	Quartz ampoule with ground stopper wrapped in a cadmium foil.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated zinc oxide is dissolved in sulphuric acid, the pH of the solution being strictly adjusted afterwards. The device for carrying out electrolytic separation of carrier-free 64 Cu from irradiated zinc consists of a column filled with platinum (Fig. 1). Before electrolysis, hydrochloric acid is fed into the column and polarized for a period of 5 min.

After washing through the column with nitric acid and zinc sulphate solution, the active zinc sulphate is continuously fed, and the electrolytic se-



FIG.1. Apparatus for electrolytical deposition of carrier-free samples a. Pt-packing coupled as cathode b. Pt-anode

paration is begun by adjustment of potential. After having fed the active solution, hydrochloric acid is added, the flow of inlet and outlet is shut down, the poles are interchanged and the current is adjusted to the value needed. Five minutes later the stopcock at the bottom is opened and the solution is allowed to flow out. The solution collected in such a manner contains about 90% of the 64 Cu produced, practically without contamination. The solution is evaporated to dryness, then the desired solution is prepared by adding the corresponding acid.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The pH is determined from aliquot samples; radiochemical purity is checked by a multichannel pulse height analyser. In the case of products for medical use pharmaceutical control is carried out regarding sterility.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Radioactive concentration:Copper chloride, 0.1 mCi/ml.Radioactive purity:> 99.5%.Specific activity:Carrier free.

⁶⁴Cu produced by ${}^{63}Cu(n, \gamma){}^{64}Cu$ reaction

Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.
Specific activity:	~ 390 mCi/g for CuSO ₄ , ~ 470 mCi/g for CuCl ₂ , ~ 1000 mCi/g for CuCl ₂ ,
	~ Tooo mer/g for eu.
Chemical form:	Copper metal.
Copper chloride:	Greenish-blue transparent 0.1 \underline{N} solution.
Copper sulphate:	Greenish-blue transparent 0.1 \overline{N} solution.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

Production is based on the irradiation of copper metal shavings. The irradiated target is dissolved in hydrochloric acid with subsequent treatment for the adjustment of acidity.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	1.0 g copper shaving metal (99.9% purity) for JRR-1.
	0.2 g for JRR-2.
Container:	Placed in a polyethylene bottle, then in a polyethylene capsule.
Flux:	~ 4×10^{11} n/cm ² s (JRR-1 pneumatic tube).
	~ 2×10^{13} n/cm ² s (JRR-2 pneumatic tube).
Irradiation time:	2 h for JRR-1.
	20 min for JRR-2.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target is dissolved in the concentrated hydrochloric acid and hydrogen peroxide, evaporated to dryness, then redissolved in 1 \underline{N} HCl. The apparatus is shown in Fig. 1.



FIG.1. Apparatus for ⁶⁴Cu production

- a. Electric polyethylene capsule cutter
- b. Dissolving vessel
- c. Reagent feed pipes
- d. Receiver

- e. Electric heater
- f. Remote pipetter for dispensing

g. Turret of bottles

Cut the polyethylene inner capsule with electric cutter (a).

Place the target in the dissolving vessel (b) with the glass filter bottom, then add 2-3 ml concentrated HCl and about 3 drops of 30% H₂O₂ from the reagent feed pipe (c) to dissolve the target.

Transfer the dissolved solution to the receiver (d).

Repeat the procedures (b) and (c) until the target is completely dissolved.

Evaporate the solution to dryness by the heater (e).

Dissolve the residue by the following reagent:

~ 8 ml ~ 1 N HCl/g of target (in production with JRR-1).

~ 300 ml ~ 1 N HCl/g of target (in production with JRR-2).

Distribute the product solution into the sample bottles by the remote control burette.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Routine assay of the product is made by the well-type ionization chamber. The amount of carrier is calculated from the weight of the target. Acidity is determined by titration or by potentiometric titration.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	CuCl ₂ in HCl solution, acidity ~ 1 N.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.
Specific activity:	~ 8 mCi/g of Cu (JRR-1 product).
,	~ 130 mCi/g of Cu (JRR-2 product).
Concentration:	\sim 1.0 mCi/ml (JRR-1 product).
	\sim 1.0 mCi/ml (JRR-2 product).

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Copper is irradiated in the form of cupric oxide, CuO, in a thermal neutron flux, 63 Cu(n, γ) 64 Cu. After irradiation the oxide is dissolved in hydrochloric acid to give a cupric chloride solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	100 mg CuO, spec-pure, Johnson, Matthey & Co.
Time of irradiation:	1 d.
Container:	Aluminium can with a sealed polyethylene inner container.
Flux:	Ab. $10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Side reactions:	Effects of side reactions are considered negligible.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target material is treated with concentrated hydrochloric acid. The resulting chloride solution is evaporated to dryness and the residue dissolved in water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, ionization chamber measurements. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

CU-copper chloride in weak HCl solution.Radioactive concentration:1.5 - 2 mCi/ml.Isotopic purity:99%.Specific activity:200 mCi/g Cu.pH:3 - 4.Chemical purity:Metals, spectrographically determined (except
Cu), less than 10 µg/ml.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Copper in the form of copper oxide is irradiated in a thermal neutron flux. The reaction is ${}^{63}Cu(n,\gamma){}^{64}Cu$. The copper oxide is converted into chloride or other chemical forms as required.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	Johnson Matthey spec-pure CuO.				
Amount:	Up to 0.5 g.	,			`.
Irradiation time:	2-3 d.	•	· · ·		
Container:	Screw-top aluminium container				
Flux:	$10^{12} n/cm^2 s.$		1.1		
Side reactions:	Do not interfere.			.1	

· · · ·

2.1.4

Chemical treatment

The target is dissolved in 6 \underline{N} HCl, the solution evaporated to dryness and dissolved in water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Scintillation count against 137 Cs reference. Identity by γ -spectrometry. pH by Capillator.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Copper-64 is produced by the (n, γ) reaction in a copper metal target, 63 Cu $(n, \gamma)^{64}$ Cu, and is prepared as Cu $(NO_3)_2$ in HNO₃ solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:10 mg copper metal.Neutron flux: $2 \times 10^{14} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$ Irradiation time:40 h.Reactor yield:850 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit¹ is used in processing.

Processing

Yield: > 95%.

The irradiated copper target is dissolved in about 3.5 ml of 16 <u>M</u> HNO₃ under a hot off-gas scrubber unit. The volume of the product is adjusted to 50 ml of 1 M HNO₃ to form a clear blue solution.

¹ See Fig. 2 in the section on ⁸²Br provided by the Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Tenn., United States of America.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for molarity of HNO3, total solids, ⁶⁴Cu concentration, and radiochemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7012), procedure No. 90733231.

The precision and accuracy of the ⁶⁴Cu assay are: Calibration by windowless 2π proportional counter.

Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 5%.

Precision. 2%.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION 4.

Processed, high specific activity 64 Cu is delivered in the form of $Cu(NO_3)_2$ in HNO₃ solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are:

Acidity:	$1 N \pm 50\%$.
Concentration:	$> \overline{10} \text{ mCi/ml.}$
Specific activity:	$\approx 25000 \text{ mCi/g of Cu.}$
Radiochemical purity:	> 98%.

FLUORINE-18

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR, PROPERTIES

All nuclear data are taken from Nuclear Data Sheets, except where later values were published, in which case the reference is given.

1.1. Half-life [1, 2, 45]

109.7 min

1.2. Type of decay and particle energy [3-6]

Fluorine-18 decays by positron emission (97%)

 $E_{max}(\beta^+) = 0.635 \pm 0.015 \text{ MeV}$ 0.649 ± 0.009

and by electron capture (3%)

E.C. $/\beta^+ = 0.030 \pm 0.002$

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTIONS

Reaction	Abundance of target nuclide (%)	Cross-section	Spec produ mg/ then 10	ific act aced in g Li ₂ CC mal flu ¹³ n/cm 6 h	ivity target O ₃ at ix of i ² s sat.	Side reactions	Ref.
⁶ Li(n, α)t followed by ¹⁶ O(t,p) ¹⁸ F	7.42 99.76	950 barn 100 mb (2.7 MeV triton)	. 1. 1	3. 3	3. 7	²³ N(n, y) ²⁴ Na T _{1/2} = 15 h	[7,8]
¹⁸ O(p,n) ¹⁸ F	0.20	250 mb					[9,10]
¹⁹ F(n,2n) ¹⁸ F	100						[11]

3. APPLICATIONS

Fluorine-18 is the only convenient radioisotope of fluorine for tracer studies, because of its comparatively long half-life, ~ 110 min. Compounds labelled with ¹⁸F are useful in biological and chemical systems. A survey of applications published in the literature is given below.

3.1. Biochemistry and biology

Chemical exchange reactions of organic fluoroderivatives[12-14]Distribution of ¹⁸F in various biological systems[15, 16]

3.2. Medicine

¹⁸ F for brain tumour localization	[17-19]
¹⁸ F in thyroid physiology studies	[20, 21]
Use of ¹⁸ F in bone survey	[19, 21, 22]
Fluorine in dental studies	[23-25]

3.3. Analytical and physical chemistry

Determination of oxygen in various systems	[26,27]
Quantitative kinetic studies of fluorine exchange reactions	[28-30]
Model for UO ₂ diffusion process	[31]

3.4. Plant metabolism

Metabolic properties of various materials	[32, 33]
---	----------

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

The brief summary given below should be read in conjunction with Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Series No. 1, published by the International Atomic Energy Agency.

4.1. External irradiation

Fluorine-18 is practically a pure positron emitter. The maximum range of its 0.65-MeV positron is 300 mg/cm^2 . On annihilation of the positron two gamma rays of 0.511 MeV are emitted in opposite directions.

One and a half inches of lead for shielding are required as a protection from annihilation radiation and hard gamma rays of 24 Na impurities present at the production stage.

4.2. Internal radiation

Fluorine-18 is classified as a class 4 (slightly toxic) isotope. The maximum permissible concentration (MPC) of 18 F in air and in water for occupational exposure is summarized in Table I.

TABLE I

		Maximum permissible concentration				
Critical body organ	Soluble or Insoluble	40-h	week	168-h week		
		(MPC) _w µCi/cm ³	(MPC) _a µCi/cm ³	(MPC) _w µCi/cm ^s	(MPC) _a µCi/cm³	
Gastrointestinal tract Small intestine	Soluble	0.02	5×10 ⁻⁶	8×10 ⁻³	2×10 ⁻⁶	
Gastrointestinal tract Upper large intestine	Insoluble	0.01	3×10 -6	5×10 ⁻³	9×10-7	

MAXIMUM PERMISSIBLE CONCENTRATION

Precautions should be taken also against tritium contamination accompanying ¹⁸F when produced in Li containing compounds.

5. SURVEY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

Fluorine-18 may be produced by several nuclear reactions. The common method of production is the sequence of reactions $Li(n,t)^4He$ and ${}^{16}O(t,p)^{18}F$,

which may yield carrier-free ¹⁸F. The ¹⁹F(n, 2n)¹⁸F and ¹⁹F(γ , n)¹⁸F reactions can be utilized for ¹⁸F production only when copious fluxes of energetic neutrons are available.

The production processes reported to date can be classified according to the chemical form of the targets and the nature of the processing procedures.

5.1. Targets

5.1.1. Fluorine-containing targets undergo the $^{19}F(\gamma, n)$ and $^{19}F(n, 2n)$ reactions

Targets include:

HF, KHF₂ or any other inorganic fluorine compound [28, 35] Fluoroorganic compounds, such as Teflon [43] [34, 42]

5.1.2. Lithium- and oxygen-containing substances which undergo successively Li(n, t)⁴He and ¹⁶O(t, n)¹⁸F reactions

Due to the short range of the tritons, it is a prerequisite to have the lithium and oxygen intimately mixed as fine powder or in a solution or preferably to have both in one chemical species. The presence of atoms other than 6 Li and 16 O should be kept as low as possible to avoid attenuation of the effective flux of tritons. Targets include:

Inorganic lithium salts, such as $LiNO_3$, Li_2CO_3 , $LiAlO_2$, $LiF + Al_2O_3$, Li_2O , or LiOH. Lithium carbonate is advantageous as a target because of its high thermal stability, high chemical purity and its good yields [35, 36, 41, 44].

Organic materials containing both lithium and oxygen, such as lithium salts of oxygen-containing acids. Organic compounds may be labelled with 18 F by recoil even if they do not include lithium or oxygen in the molecule by dissolving them in hydrogen-free lithium salt, such as LiCNO [34, 39].

The lithium target is either natural $(7.5\% \ ^{6}\text{Li})$ or enriched (>90% $^{6}\text{Li})$ [41,44]. The reaction $^{16}\text{O}(t,n)$ ¹⁸F being a secondary reaction is more susceptible to contamination. The main contaminants are isotopes of Cl, Br and Na, which are present as impurities in the lithium compound. Target purification may be achieved by melting and recrystallization of solids or distillation of liquids, or alternatively, by chromatographic columns, [35, 38,41]. Tritium activity is also present due to triton formation in the primary reaction.

5.2. Chemical processes

The following is a brief description of the separation and purification processes reported in the literature.

5.2.1. Dissolution of target

Lithium nitrate or organo-lithium compounds may be dissolved in water [34, 36, 39]. Lithium carbonate targets are dissolved in nitric [36, 38] acid, or in concentrated hydrochloric acid [37, 38, 40, 41].

5.2.2. Separation of fluorine

The separation of fluorine may be classified according to the chemical process involved. These are coprecipitation, chromatographic adsorption, or distillation.

Fluorine is precipitated by the following methods:

5.2.2.1. Precipitation

A precipitate of PbClF is obtained from a solution of KF and lead acetate on the addition of concentrated HCl [36].

Fluorine may be carried as $Ca(OH)_2$. CaF_2 coprecipitate, formed by the addition of calcium hydroxide to the dissolved target material [36, 38].

A Ca₃(PO₄)₂. CaF₂ coprecipitate may be formed by the addition of H_3PO_4 and calcium carbonate followed by neutralization [18, 37].

5.2.2.2. Chromatographic adsorption

Carrier-free ¹⁸F in acidic solution may be adsorbed on a Woelm alumina column conditioned by washing with 0.1 <u>N</u> NaOH and water. Sodium-24 and chloride or bromide impurities are removed in this high selectivity separation. Adsorption is followed by washing with 30 ml H₂O containing one drop of concentrated hydrochloric acid [41, 40] or by washing with a small volume of NaCl followed by another washing with water.

The fluorine activity is eluted either with a NaF solution, or with NaOH if a carrier-free solution is desired. Elution yields are 80-90% [39-41].

Fluorine-18 may also be adsorbed on a magnesium oxide adsorption column; the 18 F is totally retained in the column by the formation of magnesium fluoride. The major drawback of this procedure is the difficulty in reobtaining the fluorine in solution [39].

5.2.2.3. Distillation

The lithium carbonate target is dissolved in 1:1 sulphuric acid and carrier-free 18 F may be distilled and collected in a slightly alkaline solution. A chemical yield of 70% is reported [44].

5.2.3. Preparation of final product

(a) PbClF precipitate is dissolved in a 25% NaOH solution. Lead is removed as the sulphate by precipitation with 10% sulphuric acid. The supernate after decantation is made alkaline with aqueous KOH to constitute the final product [36].

(b) Fluorine-18, coprecipitated as $Ca(OH)_2CaF_2$, is recovered and purified by two methods.

The calcium hydroxide is dissolved in acetic acid and separated by centrifugation. The calcium fluoride is then dissolved in a strong acid, diluted and passed through a suitable ion exchange column into a potassium hydroxide solution. Overall yields of 80 to 85% are reported [36].

The Ca(OH)₂CaF₂ precipitate is washed and dissolved in concentrated sulphuric acid; ¹⁸F is carried over a preheated, steam-saturated, nitrogen gas flow, and adsorbed in 0.1 <u>N</u> sodium hydroxide. In this procedure 7-8 mCi ¹⁸F/g irradiated target are obtained [38].

(c) Fluorine-18, coprecipitated with calcium phosphate, is purified by the following procedures:

The precipitate is washed with water and dissolved in 6 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid. The solution is diluted, neutralized, and prepared as an isotonic solution, neutralized, to constitute the final product. Radiochemical purity is one part in a hundred thousand [36].

The precipitate is dissolved in 1:1 hydrochloric acid. A 25% solution of potassium bicarbonate is added until precipitation begins. The $Ca(OH)_2CaF_2$ precipitate is centrifuged and washed with water. The final product is prepared by redissolving the precipitate in 1:1 hydrochloric acid [18].

(d) Carrier-free 18 F solutions prepared by alumina adsorption are further purified as follows:

Cations are removed from the solution using a cation exchange column in acid form. In this procedure some 18 F is lost on the column. This may be removed completely by adding small amounts of NaF to the alkaline solution before adsorption. This procedure gives carrier solutions [39].

The alkaline solution is distilled from concentrated sulphuric acid and collected in dilute sodium hydroxide. Carrier-free Na¹⁸F of 99.99% radiochemical purity is obtained [41].

(e) Fluorine-18 adsorbed on magnesium oxide is recovered by dissolving the oxide in an acid. Magnesium ions are removed by adsorption on a cationic resin [38].

5.2.4. Preparation of labelled compounds

Two general procedures for the production of ¹⁸F-labelled compounds are commonly used.

(a) Isotopic exchange between carrier-free 18 F and fluorine-containing substances. For example, labelled potassium fluoroborate is prepared by adding KBF₄ into a 18 F carrier-free solution at pH 1, heating for two minutes to 100°C, cooling and neutralizing with sodium bicarbonate to pH 5 [18, 34].

(b) Direct production of 18 F-labelled organic compounds by the 16 O(t, n) 18 F or 19 F(n, 2n) 18 F reactions as mentioned above. The hot fluorine-18 atoms produced substitute hydrogen on carbon. This method may also be used for

labelling fluoro derivatives. The labelling yield of these reactions is proportioned to the number of hydrogens or substituted fluorine available for the appropriate reactions [34].

6. RADIOASSAY

Fluorine-18 emits a 0.65-MeV positron which is detected by the associated pair of annihilation gamma rays of 0.511 MeV. Counting is performed by any standard method of positron detection. Geiger-Müller tubes or NaI(TI) 3 in. \times 3 in. crystal scintillation counter, connected with a multichannel pulse analyser, may be used [28, 35, 41]. Counting efficiencies of 5-10% were obtained by two 2 in. \times 2 in. sodium iodide scintillation crystals 6 mm apart, in coincidence with two single-channel analysers [34].

Fluorine-18 may be radioassayed as solid PbClF or NaF, as a liquid HF or as a gas - HF, $F_2 ClF_3$, BrF₅, IF₇ [28,35].

Radiochemical purity is tested by gamma-ray spectroscopy and halflife measurements. Tritium contamination is measured, using a liquid scintillation counter [44].

REFERENCES

- BEG, K., BROWN, F., Production of carrier free radiofluorine-18 and determination of its half-life, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes 14 (1963) 137-41.
- [2] EBREY, T.G., GRAY, P.R., Precision half-life measurements of fourteen positron-emitting nuclei, Nucl. Phys. 61 (1965) 479-92.
- [3] JARMIE, N.J., Excitation function of 0¹⁶ (t, n)F¹⁸ reaction, Phys. Rev. 98 (1955) 41.
- [4] RUBY, L., RICHARDSON, J.R., Radiation from F¹⁸, Mo⁹³ and Cl³⁴, Phys. Rev. 83 (1951) 698.
- [5] HOFMAN, I., The positron spectrum of F¹⁸, Acta phys. austriaca 18 (1964) 309.
- [6] BERENYI, D., Problems and results in theoretical and experimental investigations of the E.C./β⁺ ratio, Nucl. Phys. <u>48</u> (1963) 121-28.
- [7] KNIGHT, J.D., et al., Radiochemical Studies: The fission products. N.N.ES IV-9, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York (1951) 1916-23.
- [8] LITHERLAND, A.E., et al., Lifetimes of low-lying levels of 0¹⁸ and F¹⁸, Bull. Am. phys. Soc. <u>6</u> 3 (1961) 248.
- [9] MARK, H., GOODMAN, C., Yields of the 0^{16} (p, α)N¹⁵ and 0^{18} (p, n)F¹⁸ reactions for protons of 800 to 3500 keV, Phys. Rev. 101 (1956) 768.
- [10] RABSON, T.A., et al., Gamma radiation from excited states of F¹⁸, Na²² and Ne²², Nucl. Phys. <u>19</u> (1960) 314.
- [11] BENNET, E.F., (p, d) Pick up reactions in light nuclei, Phys. Rev. 122 (1961) 595.
- [12] WETHINGTON, J.A., Jr., GENS, T.A., CHRISTIE, W.H., BROSI, A.R., "The use of F¹⁸ in predicting catalytic reactions", Proc. 2nd. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 20 (1958) 132-34.
- [13] GENS, T. A., F¹⁸ Exchange between fluorocarbons and some fluorine-containing compounds, ORNL-2363 (1957).
- [14] SCHMIDT-BLEEK, F., et al., Heterogeneous exchange on gas chromatographic columns for radioactive tagging of organic halogen compounds, Angew. Chem. 72 (1960) 778.
- [15] ARMSTRONG, D., SINGER, L., Distribution of F¹⁸ in biological tissues, TID-21335 (1964) 104-05.
- [16] ULLBERG, S., Autoradiographic studies on the distribution of labelled drugs in the body, Proc. 2nd. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 24 (1958) 248-54.
- [17] ASKENASY, H.M. et al., The localisation of intracranial space-occupying lesions by fluoroborate ions labelled with F¹⁸, Am. J. Roentg. 88 (1962) 350.

- [18] ENTZIAN, W., et al., "Evaluation of fluorine-18 as a scanning agent for intracranial tumours," Medical Radioisotope Scanning II IAEA, Vienna (1964) 109-20.
- [19] BEACH GLOS, M., Scintillation scanning in clinical medicine, Nucleonics 22 4 (1964) 72-75.
- [20] ANBAR, M., INBAR, M., The application of F¹⁸-labelled fluoroborate ions to problems in thyroid physiology, IA-754 (1962).
- [21] ANBAR, M., "Applications of fluorine-18 in biological studies with special reference to bone and thyroid physiology", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors <u>II</u> IAEA, Vienna. (1963) 227-45.
- [22] BLAU, M. et al., F¹⁸: a new isotope for bone scanning, J. nucl. Med. <u>3</u> (1962) 332-34.
- [23] DUCKWORTH, R., EMSLIE, R. D., Fluoridates chewing gum and toothpaste studies with F¹⁸, Archs. oral Biol. 6 (spec. Supp.) (1962) 260-65.
- [24] WALLACE DURBIN, P., J. dent. Res. 33 (1954) 785.
- [25] MYERS, H. M., HAMILTON, I.J., BECKS, H., J. dent. Res. 31 (1952) 743.
- [26] WINCHESTER, J.W., et al., Determination of oxygen in oxide films by neutron activation analysis, C.F. 59-7-128 (1959).
- [27] SINN, H., AUMAN, D., Oxygen determination in polymerization systems and in metal organic catalysts, C. A. (58) (1963) 1537.
- [28] ADAMS, R.A., SHEFT, I., KATZ, J.J., "The radioisotope F¹⁸: preparations, properties, uses," Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 20 (1958) 219-23.
- [29] WEBER, J., LAIDLER, K.I., J.Am. chem. Phys. 19 (1951) 1089.
- [30] CALVIN, M. et al., "Photosynthesis", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 24 (1958) 24-27.
- [31] MATZKE, Hj., CaF, as model substance for diffusion processes in UO₂, J. nucl. Mater. 11 (1964) 344.
- [32] HAMILTON, J.G., Metabolic properties of various materials, AEC D3219 (1951) 4-40.
- [33] HAMILTON, J.G., II. The metabolic properties of various materials, Astatine, UCRL-2001 (1952)84-104.
- [34] ANBAR, M., NETA, P., Production and use of F¹⁸-labelled organic compounds, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>14</u> (1963) 119-22.
- [35] BERENSTEIN, R.B., KATZ, J.J., Fluorine 18: preparations, properties, uses, Nucleonics <u>11</u> 10 (1953) 46.
- [36] BANKS, H.O., Production of fluorine-18, Nucleonics 13 12 (1955) 62.
- [37] ANBAR, M., ERNST, N., A distribution study of F¹⁸-labelled cationic fluoro complexes in rats, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes 13 (1962) 47.
- [38] NAGY, G., BEREI, K., New technique for the production of carrier-free F¹⁸, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. <u>26</u> (1964) 659.
- [39] BRESESTI, M., DEL-TURCO, A.D., OSTIDICH, A., Preparation of F¹⁸ in a nuclear reactor, Radiochim. Acta 2 (1963) 49-52.
- [40] KIMURA, K., et al., "Production of radioisotopes by JRR 1 Reactor, IV. The study of preparation of special radioisotopes", Proc. 4th Jap. Conf. Radioisotopes (1961) 502-05.
- [41] STANG, L.J., Jr., Manual of isotope production processes in use at the Brookhaven National Laboratory, BNL 864 (T. 347) (1964) 24.
- [42] ANBAR, M., NETA, P., Formation of F¹⁸-labelled fluororganic compounds by the F¹⁹(n, 2n)F¹⁸ reaction, J. chem. Phys. 37 (1962) 2757-63.
- [43] DEL-BIANCO, W.E., STEPHENS, W.E., Photonuclear activation by 20, 5 MeV gamma rays, Phys. Rev. 126 (1962) 709-17.
- [44] THOMAS, C.C., Jr., SONDEL, J.A., KERNS, R.C., Production of carrier free fluorine-18, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes 10 (1956) 71.
- [45] MAHONEY, J.D., MARKOWITZ, S.S., The half-life of fluorine-18, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. 26 (1964) 907.

PROCEDURES

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE, ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, SOREQ RESEARCH ESTABLISHMENT, YAVNE, ISRAEL

A. PRODUCTION AND SEPARATION OF ¹⁸F AS CaF⁺ ION

1. GENERAL

Nuclear reaction: ⁶ Li(n, α)t followed by ¹⁶O(t, n)¹⁸F. Separation of ¹⁸F: by dissolving the irradiated Li₂CO₃ target and precipitating Ca₂(Po₄)₃. Precipitate carries Ca¹⁸F₂.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Ten grams of Li_2CO_3 (AR) are sealed into four silica vials, 9 cm long by 1 cm diam. (2.5 g per vial). The vials, conditioned into a polyethylene container, are irradiated for 1 h at a thermal neutron flux of $3 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$. After irradiation the samples are quickly transferred for processing by means of a lead transfer-container (2 in. internal diam., 2 in. thick).

Other activities = 24 Na from impurities in Li₂CO₃.

Chemical treatment

This is carried out in an open lead box which has a wall 2 in. thick.

- (a) Transfer irradiated ampoules to lead box.
- (b) Wash ampoules with acetone.
- (c) Crush ampoules. Pour Li_2CO_3 and silica fragments into dissolution flask.
- (d) Dissolve with 40 ml of 1:1 hydrochloric acid.
- (e) Filter. Rinse with water. Receive filtrate and washings into beaker containing 1 ml of 15% phosphoric acid.
- (f) Add 100 mg of calcium carbonate.
- (g) Add 25% potassium bicarbonate solution, dropwise, until precipitation begins. Add 2 more drops.
- (h) Transfer solution and precipitate to centrifuge tubes. Centrifugate for 3 min. (Solution to waste.)
- (i) Dissolve with a few millilitres of 1:1 hydrochloric acid.
- (j) Add 25% potassium bicarbonate solution to the centrifuge tubes as in step (g) above.
- (k) Centrifuge, discard solution.
- (1) Wash with a few millilitres of water. Centrifuge, discard solution.
- (m) Re-dissolve precipitate with 1:1 HCl (total volume 5 to 10 ml).
- (n) Transfer to delivery bottle.
- The absence of ²⁴Na is checked by γ -ray spectrography.

B. PREPARATION OF ¹⁸F-LABELLED KBF₄

1. GENERAL

Fluorine-18 is obtained as in A above. Exchange with KBF_4 proceeds quickly under the appropriate conditions.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE¹

Irradiation: as in A above

Chemical treatment

Prepare 18 F as above, steps (a) to (m). Adjust to pH 1; add 100 mg KBF₄. Heat to 100°C. After 1-2 min, cool quickly. Neutralize with sodium bicarbonate to pH 5.5.

Pass through a column of chromatographic alumina for quantitative removal of fluoride ions.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive purity is tested by $\gamma\text{-ray}$ spectrography and by following the decay curve.

The fluoride ion content is tested as follows: Take an aliquot of final solution; take to 1 ml volume; add 0.5 ml of 0.1 N NaF and 0.5 ml of 0.4 N NaCl. Add $Rb(NO_3)_2$ solution. Filter. Wash the PbClF precipitate with 90% ethanol. Count.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the method developed by Stang[1,2]. The irradiated lithium carbonate target is dissolved in hydrochloric acid, and the separation of 18 F is made by adsorption on alumina.

¹ This procedure is based on current literature, especially: ASKENASY, H.M., ANBAR, M., LAOR, Y., LEWITUS, Z., KOSARY, I.Z., GUTTMANN, S., Radium therapy and nuclear medicine, Am. J. Roentgenology LXXXVIII 2 (Aug. 1962).

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE 2

Irradiation

Target material:	5 g of lithium carbonate (Li_2CO_3) (JISRG ²).
Container:	Sealed in the polyethylene sheet, and placed in the acetyl
	cellulose capsule for the pneumatic tube.
Flux:	$6 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-1 pneumatic tube).
Irradiation time:	1 or 2 h.
Side reactions:	Formation of tritium.

Chemical treatment

Production is based on the adsorption of 18 F on alumina with the subsequent elution by dilute sodium hydroxide.

The irradiated lithium carbonate target is dissolved in concentrated hydrochloric acid.

Neutralize the dissolved solution with sodium hydroxide.

The neutralized solution is passed through the acid alumina column. 0.8 cm diam. and 2.0 cm long.

Wash the column with 30 ml water.

Elute ¹⁸F adsorbed on the column with 0.1 N NaOH.

Chemical forms are determined by paper chromatography.

Filter paper: Tovo filter paper No. 51A.

Butanol - methanol - water (1:3:1). Reagent:

Method: Ascending method.

Time: 2 h

 R_f value: F⁻ ---- 0.58.

The percentage of chemical forms other than F⁻ is determined to be approximately 16% (probably Al-F complexes).

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The following chemical analysis is carried out: Inactive fluorine: colorimetric method by Erichromecyanine R; Lithium:

flame photometry;

Aluminium colorimetric method by 8-hydroxyquinoline.

Radiochemical impurities are determined by gamma-ray spectrometry and half-life measurement.

Assay is made by gamma spectrometry.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Na¹⁸F in NaOH solution. Chemical form: Radiochemical purity: > 99%. Carrier-free; approximately 0.1 mCi ¹⁸F/g of Li₂CO₃. Specific activity:

² Japan Industrial Standard Reagent Grade.

REFERENCES

- STANG, L.G. et al., "Development of methods for the production of certain short-lived radioisotopes", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Pergamon Press <u>1</u> (1958) 50.
- [2] KIMURA, K. et al., "Production of radioisotopes by JRR-1 reactor. IV Study of the preparation of special radioisotopes", Proc. IVth Japan Conference on Radioisotopes, Japan Atomic Industrial Forum P8C-6 (1961).

BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY, LONG ISLAND, N.Y., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA*

1. GENERAL

The production of 18 F is based on the irradiation of lithium carbonate; 6 Li(n, t) 4 He, 16 O(t, n) 18 F. Fluorine-18 produced is separated by the adsorption on alumina column with the subsequent elution with sodium hydroxide.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:10 g of lithium carbonate (unenriched).Irradiation conditions:Irradiation for six hours at a flux of 1.2×10^{13} n/cm² s.
Reactor yield approximately 40 mCi; chemical yield
70 - 80%.

Chemical treatment

Target preparation

Insert an aluminium tube coaxially inside a standard aluminium isotope can and pack the annular space with ~ 10 g Li₂CO₃.

The annular space should be $\sim 1/8$ in. thick. Because of the high σ of ⁶Li, if the annular layer were appreciably thicker than this, the internal neutron flux would be so depressed that the material inside would contribute little or no additional product and would only add undesirable bulk to the process.

Crimp the top of the can.

The top should have a small hole covered with Scotch tape to prevent pressure build-up.

Post-irradiation processing

The following facilities are needed: a glove box or fume hood suitable for handling 3 H contamination; isotope can opening tools and crimping press for closing; 1.5 in. shielding locally.

^{*} Extracted from BNL-864 (T-347).

Remove the top from the isotope can and transfer $\rm Li_2CO_3$ powder to the Erlenmeyer flask containing ~20 ml H₂O and magnetic stirring bar. Use a wide neck funnel and rinse with H₂O.

Add concentrated HCl slowly with stirring to dissolve Li_2CO_3 . Avoid rapid CO_2 evolution.

Adjust the pH to the acid side of the Brom Tymol Blue indicator with NaOH solution.

Pass the solution through the alumina column, using vacuum to attain 1-2 ml/min.

Column preparation: Slurry 10 g Woelm alumina (neutral grade) with 50 ml $0.5 \underline{M}$ HCl, decanting and discarding fines. Wash with two 50-ml portions of H₂O, discarding fines. To a 1-cm diam. glass tube to which is sealed a coarse frit, transfer enough alumina to stand 3 cm above the frit. Wash a few times with H₂O. A pad of glass wool on top of the alumina will prevent it from plugging.

Wash the column with 30 ml H_2O containing 1 drop concentrated HCl. Use vacuum if necessary.

Elute 18 F with 40 ml 0.1 <u>N</u> NaOH containing Brom Thymol Blue indicator. Collect in 3 portions:

(a) until the blue colour starts to come through the frit, 10-12 ml;

(b) the next 15 ml contains most of the 18 F;

(c) remainder of the effluent.

Collect portions in large test tubes inside the side-arm flask on which a slight vacuum is pulled.

Assay portion (b) and transfer to shipping bottle. Count annihilation gammas in calibrated well-type scintillation counter.

Note: The product is an aluminium fluoride complex, which may be converted to NaF by distillation from concentrated H_2SO_4 , collecting distillate in dilute NaOH.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Assay by well-type scintillation counter standardized against 4π counter.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Product composition:	$Na^{18}F$ trace of $NaAlO_2$ in 0.1 M NaOH. The chemical				
	form is an aluminium fluoride complex, which may				
	be converted to NaF by distillation from concentrated				
	H ₂ SO ₄ , collecting distillate in dilute NaOH.				
Radiochemical purity:	Over 99.99%; trace of ³ H.				
Specific activity:	Carrier-free.				

GOLD-198

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life [1-3]

2.7 d

1.2. Type of decay and energy (MeV) [4-8,90]

Gold-198 decays by the emission of beta particles followed by gamma rays. The per cent abundance of each radiation is given.

(a)

Energies and abundances

	E _{max}	Abundance (%)
β_1	0.290	1.0
-	0.290	1. Ì
	0.284	1.24
β_2	0.966	99.0
	0.962	98.9
	0.960	98.73
β ₃	1.378	0.01
	1.374	0.03
	1.372	0.03

$$\overline{E}(\beta^{-}) = 0.317$$

(b) γ (¹⁹⁸Hg)

γ ₁	0.41177 0.411772	99.8
$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_2$	0.6765 0.6765	0.82 0.93
γ ₃	1.088 1.089 1.088	0.16

1.3. Decay scheme [6]



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

The reaction used for the production of ¹⁹⁸Au is: ¹⁹⁷Au(n, γ)¹⁹⁸Au. The abundance of the target nuclide is 100% and the cross-section for the reaction with thermal neutrons is 99b. The specific activities obtained as a function of irradiation time for various neutron fluxes are given in Table I.

TABLE I

Thermal -neutron flux	Specifi irradia	c activity (ation time	(Ci/g of ta (half-life u	rget) for inits) of	Side reaction	
(n/cm² s)	0.01	0.1 1.00 A _{max}				
2×10 ¹⁹	1. 13	10.9	77.5	139	¹⁹⁸ Au(n,γ) ¹⁹⁹ Au (3.15 d)	
2 × 10 ¹⁴	11.2	103	505	586	The cross-section for this "burn-up" reaction is 26 000 b. Gold-199 is therefore always present as a	
2×10 ¹⁵	106	637	847	866	contaminant in reactor-produced ¹⁹⁸ Au. The relative amount of ¹⁹⁹ Au increases with the neutron flux.	

SPECIFIC ACTIVITIES AS A FUNCTION OF IRRADIATION TIME FOR VARIOUS NEUTRON FLUXES [90]

Gold-198 may also be produced with an accelerator using the reaction: $^{197}Au(d, p)^{198}Au$ [9].

Carrier-free ¹⁹⁸Au may be produced using the reaction: ¹⁹⁸Hg(n,p)¹⁹⁸Au [80].

3. APPLICATIONS

Gold-198 is a moderate-energy beta and gamma emitter. It has found applications in many fields, especially in medicine. A brief classified sur-

3.1. Biology

Radiation induced tumours in animals[10, 11]Distribution of radioactive gold in animals[81]

3.2. Medicine

Determination of liver blood flow	[12-14, 84, 86]
Liver scanning and localization of hydatic liver cyst	[15-21]
Bone-marrow scanning	[22, 23]
Treatment of prostatic cancer	[24-26]
Treatment of ovarian cancer	[27, 28, 85]
Tumours of the urinary bladder	[29-31]
Treatment of bronchial carcinoma	[32,79,82]
Leukaemia treatment	[33, 34]
Carcinoma of the pleura and peritoneum	[35-40]
Treatment of pericardial effusions	[41, 42]
Hypophysectomy and pallation of metastatic carcinoma	[43, 44]
Pituitary ablation	[45-47]
Treatment of carcinoma of the cervix	[48-50]
Techniques for interstitial implantations	[51-53]
Knee effusion treatment	[54]

3.3. Metallurgy

[55, 56]
[57, 58]
[59,60]
[61,87]
[66]

3.4. Hydrology and hydrodynamics

[62-65]

Flow measurements Sand movement tracing

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION¹

4.1. External irradiation

The maximum range in aluminium of the 960-keV beta particles of 198 Au is 450 mg/cm². The half thickness in lead for the 412-keV gamma radiation is 0.28 cm. The gamma exposure rate at a distance of 1 cm from a 1-mCi

¹ This brief summary should be read in conjunction with Safe Handling of Radioisotopes. Safety Series No.1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100.

point-source (K factor) is 2.36 R/h. Table II gives exposure rates as a function of distance and shielding for a 1-Ci 198 Au source.

Radioactive gold administered to a patient gives an appreciable exposure rate to the surroundings. Table III lists the maximum permissible times which hospital personnel are allowed at various distances from a patient as a function of the dose [68].

TABLE II

EXPOSURE RATES FROM A 1-Ci ¹⁹⁸Au SOURCE AS A FUNCTION OF DISTANCE AND SHIELDING

Lead thickness (cm)	Exposure rates (mR/h) at			
	30 cm distance	100 cm distance		
2.0	0. 38	3. 5		
2.5	0.17	1.5		
4.0	2.2	0.2		
4.5	1.1	0.1		

Body liquids, removed for tests, from patients treated with radioactive gold, are handled in stainless-steel beakers as protection from the radiation [67]. For radiological protection procedures of hospital personnel see references [67-69].

4.2. Internal irradiation

Gold-198 is classified as a moderately toxic isotope. The minimum significant activity is 10 μ Ci. The maximum permissible concentrations of radionuclides in air and in water are listed in Table IV.

4.3. Decontamination

Care should be taken to avoid direct contact between the radioactive colloid and the skin since this may result in severe burns due to beta rays. In case of spillage the colloid should be immediately washed off with water, since it becomes adherent when dry.

Colloidal gold does not adhere to polished surfaces and may be removed by brushing. Since ¹⁹⁸Au is a relatively short-lived isotope it is worth while in most cases to allow for decay before decontamination is attempted.

TABLE III

Maximum permissible times (h) for doses of						
25 mCi	50 mCi	100 mCi	150 mCi	200 mCi		
2.0	1.0	0.5	0.3	0.25		
8.0	4.0	2.0	1,5	1.0		
18.0	9.0	4.5	3.25	2.5		
24.0	16.0	8.0	6.0	4.0		
	25 mCi 2. 0 8. 0 18. 0 24. 0	Maximum p 25 mCi 50 mCi 2. 0 1. 0 8. 0 4. 0 18. 0 9. 0 24. 0 16. 0	Maximum permissible times 25 mCi 50 mCi 100 mCi 2.0 1.0 0.5 8.0 4.0 2.0 18.0 9.0 4.5 24.0 16.0 8.0	Maximum permissible times (h) for doses of 25 mCi 50 mCi 100 mCi 150 mCi 2.0 1.0 0.5 0.3 8.0 4.0 2.0 1.5 18.0 9.0 4.5 3.25 24.0 16.0 8.0 6.0		

MAXIMUM PERMISSIBLE TIME NEAR A PATIENT AS A FUNCTION OF DISTANCE AND DOSE

TABLE IV

MAXIMUM PERMISSIBLE CONCENTRATIONS OF RADIONUCLIDES

		Maximum permissible concentration				
Critical organ	Soluble or insoluble	For 40-	h week	For 168-week		
		(MPC) _W µCi/cm ³	(MPC) _A µCi/cm ³	(MPC) _W µCi/cm ³	(MPC) <u>A</u> µCi/cm ³	
Gastrointestinal tract Lower large intestine	soluble	2×10 ⁻³	3×10 ⁻⁷	5×10 ⁻⁴	10-7	
Gastrointestinal tract Lower large intestine	insoluble	10 -3	2×10 ⁻⁷	5×10 ⁻⁴	8×10 ⁻⁸	

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

Radioactive gold is used in metallic form (e.g. gold grains for implantations), in solution or as a colloidal suspension. A summary of reported production methods is given below.

5.1. Targets

Metallic gold is invariably used as the target. It is available in the form of thin foils with a purity of 99.99%, or spectroscopically pure. For implantation purposes where radioactive gold needles are used, the target is in its final form, without any further processing [53,70]. Gold grains for irradiation are available commercially in a platinum sheath which absorbs beta radiation. Targets are sealed in quartz tubes or standard aluminium cans and irradiated in a flux of thermal neutrons for periods of up to one week.

5.2. Chemical processing

All processing methods reported include as first stage the preparation of chlorauric acid solution.

5.2.1. Preparation of chlorauric acid solution

The irradiated gold foil is dissolved in hot (90°C) aqua regia. The dissolved target solution contains the gold as $(AuCl_4)^-$ anions. Pure chlorauric acid is obtained by the following procedures:

(a) Crystallization of chlorauric acid and dissolution in purified water

The excess aqua regia is evaporated in a water bath by heating to $90-100^{\circ}$ C at a pressure of 70-100 mm Hg. Evaporation should not be prolonged and the solution should not be overheated, in order to avoid decomposition of chlorauric acid. Air should be bubbled through the solution to enhance evaporation. Pure chlorauric acid crystals are needle-like and light yellow. The presence of dark short crystals indicate partial decomposition. Should this happen, a drop of HCl is added and the evaporation repeated. The chlorauric acid crystals are dissolved in distilled water (Pyrogen-free for medical use) [72, 73].

(b) Liquid-liquid extraction

Ethyl acetate is added to the aurochloric acid solution and the mixture is shaken vigorously. The organic phase containing the aurochloric acid is separated and washed with 0.1 \underline{N} HCl. The ethyl acetate is evaporated by heating in a water bath, and the residue may be taken up in water slightly acidified with HCl [74, 80].

5.2.2. Colloidal preparation

Colloidal suspensions of radioactive gold for medical use must fulfil the following requirements: the colloid should be stable and free of aggregates; there should be uniformity of particle size – the optimum diameter is approximately 250 Å; and radiogold in forms other than colloidal (ionic gold) should not be present.

The chlorauric acid solution can be converted into a colloidal suspension by reduction, or by adsorption on activated carbon. Silver coating and amino-gold salt formation techniques are also in use.

5.2.2.1. Colloid preparation by reduction

Chlorauric acid is always reduced to metallic gold in the presence of gelatine. The gelatine is added as a "protective colloid" for stabilizing the

colloidal gold solution. The reduction of chlorauric acid to metallic gold and the formation of a colloidal suspension involve two simultaneous processes, the formation of new colloidal nuclei and the growth of existing nuclei. If one allows these two competing reactions to take place simultaneously one obtains a multi-dispersed colloid, i.e. a colloid with a broad range of particle sizes. To obtain a colloid with a narrow range of particle sizes and a predetermined mean diameter it is essential that nucleation and growth be successive instead of simultaneous [71].

(a) Formation of colloid without prior seeding

The chlorauric acid solution is neutralized with 1 N sodium hydroxide to form sodium chloraurate. A gelatine solution is added, keeping the temperature at $45-50^{\circ}$ C. The reduction to metallic gold is achieved by the dropwise addition of glucose or 0.5% ascorbic acid. Particle sizes obtained by this procedure range from 25 to 200 Å [72, 73].

(b) Growth of colloid on pre-formed seeds

A non-radioactive gold "seed solution" is prepared in the following manner: Chlorauric acid crystals are dissolved in water and added dropwise into a basic solution of glucose and gelatine preheated to 70°C. A uniform-size inactive gold colloid with mean particle diameter of 50 Å is thus obtained. The seed solution is cooled, sealed in penicillin flasks and sterilized at 120°C for 1 h. The sterilized solution should be kept in a refrigerator and may be used over a period of one month. The radioactive chlorauric acid solution is neutralized with sodium hydroxide as above. Chlorauric crystals may also be dissolved in 0.01% NaCl solution instead of water, to enhance aurate ion formation on the addition of sodium hydroxide. The sodium aurate solution is further purified by filtration on a fritted plate, and added dropwise to a mixture of seed solution, 20% gelatine solution in water, preheated to 70°C. The aurate solution is added slowly for about 20 min, with constant stirring to ensure homogeneity. After the addition of the chloraurate the mixture is heated to 80°C in a water bath for half an hour. Ionic gold reduction is completed by the dropwise addition of 10 ml sodium ascorbate solution [72, 73].

The radioactive gold colloid produced by either method must be sterilized at 120° C for 30 min. Specific activities required for therapeutic purposes are about 25 mCi/ml. For diagnostic uses such a suspension may be diluted by the addition of a gelatine solution.

5.2.2.2. Colloid preparation by adsorption on carbon

The high polarizing effect of activated charcoal enhances the adsorption of gold. This is used for the preparation of colloidal 198 Au [76].

5.2.2.3. Silver coating and salt formation techniques

A suspension of silver-coated colloid of ¹⁹⁸Au may be used for lung tumourtreatment. This may be prepared by the introduction of high-specificactivity colloidal radiogold into a silver nitrate solution. Silver ions are reduced in the presence of stabilizing protective colloid forming silver-coated gold colloids [31, 79].

Radioactive 198 Au for industrial radiotracing is used in the form of stable, oil-soluble gold amino salts [76].

6. QUALITY CONTROL

6.1. Non-radioactive assay

Colloid particle size is determined by electron microscopy [74] or by the Schlesinger Centrifuging method [73]. Quantitative determination of soluble gold in radioactive colloidal gold solution is performed by ascending chromatography. pH determination can be made with any standard meter [73].

6.2. Radioassay

Activity measurement may be made by beta, or gamma, counting methods. Relative activity measurements are made with a gamma scintillation counter [73], a Geiger-Müller counter [69, 74, 80] or a beta proportional counter [74]. The counting apparatus should be periodically checked with absolute standards. The allowed error in the activity measurements is 5-10% [73].

The main radioactive contaminant is ¹⁹⁹Au, produced by the nuclear reaction ¹⁹⁸Au(n, γ)¹⁹⁹Au. The ¹⁹⁸Au cross-section for thermal neutron capture is 2.6×10⁴ barn. Gold-199 decays with a 3.15-d half-life, by the emission of 250-and 300-keV beta particles, followed by 208-and 158-keV gamma rays.

The 199 Au to 198 Au ratio can be determined by gamma spectrometric technique within an accuracy of 5% [78].

Radioactive purity is determined by gamma spectroscopy and half-life measurements.

REFERENCES

- KEENE, J. P., MCKENZIE, L. A., GILBERT, C. W., A central purpose direct current ionisation chamber, Physics Med. Biol. <u>2</u> (1958) 360.
- [2] GRIGURESCU, L., SANDRU, P., "Determination of the isotopic purity by measurement of the half-life of Au¹⁹⁸", Acad. Rep. Popul. Roumaine, Inst. Fiz. Atomica, Si Inst. Fiz. Studii Cercetari Fiz. <u>10</u> (1959) 336.
- [3] ROBERT, J., Calorimetric measurements of the period of Au 198, J. Phys. Radium, Paris 21 (1960) 808.
- [4] WAPSTRA, A.H. et al., Conversion coefficients of gamma transitions in Hg¹⁹⁸, Nucl. Phys. 9 (1958) 538-44.
- [5] LEWIN, W. H G. et al., The K-conversion coefficient of the 412 keV E2 transition in Hg¹⁹⁸, Nucl. Phys. <u>48</u> (1963) 159-67.
- [6] KEELER, J. W., CONNOR, R. D., The decay of Au¹⁹⁸, Nucl. Phys. <u>61</u> (1965) 513-23.
- [7] MURRAY, G., GRAHAM, R.L., GEIGER, J S., Physics Can. 18 3, 20, 48 (1962)
- [8] HAMILTON, J.H. et al., The shape of the intense Au¹⁹⁸ beta spectrum and the K conversion coefficient of the 412 keV transition, Nucl. Phys. <u>36</u> (1962) 567-71.
- [9] HARVEY, J. A., Neutron binding energies from (d, p) reactions, and nuclear shell structure, Phys. Rev. 81 (1961) 353.

- [10] LACASSAGNE, A., Radiation-induced tumors of the liver (in experimental animals), Revue fr. Etudes clin. biol. <u>9</u> 269 (1964) 72.
- [11] ROSSOTLO, P. et al., Local irradiation of the tongue by means of intra-arterial Au¹⁹⁸ injections: experimental study, Panminerva Med. <u>6</u> (1964) 304-08.
- [12] FELLINGER, K., HOFER, R., VETTER, H., "Radiocolloids in the treatment of hepatic circulation in man", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958) 153.
- [13] TAPLIN, G. V. et al., Liver blood flow and cellular functions in hepatobiliary disease. Tracer studies with radiogold and rose bengal, J. nucl. Med <u>2</u> (1962) 204-17.
- [14] VARTENABY, K. M. et al., Hepatic blood flow in patients with tumors of the liver, Gastroenterology 44 (1963) 733.
- [15] FRIEDELL, H. L., MACKINTYRE, W. J., REJALI, A. M., "Visualisation of some internal structures utilizing radioisotopes", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>26</u> (1958) 258.
- [16] ADAMS, R., HINDAWI, A. Y., QASSAB, K. H., Localisation of hydatic liver cyst with colloidal radiogold, J. nucl. Med. <u>3</u> (1962) 315-22.
- [17] CZERNIAK, P., LUBIN, E., DJALDETTI, M., De VRIES, A., Scintillographic follow-up of amoebic abscess and hydatic cyst of the liver, J. nucl. Med. <u>4</u> (1963) 35-44.
- [18] SINNER, W., Radioactive hepatography with Au¹⁹⁸, Medsche Mschr. <u>17</u> (1963) 88-91.
- [19] BENDER, M. A., Scintillation scanning in clinical medicine, W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia (1964) 178-82.
- [20] MARZANO, E., SANTORO, E., TRINCI, M., Experimental study of the RES: evaluation of its radiosensitivity with rádiogold, Prog. Med. 19 (1963) 690-98.
- [21] MARBERY, K., CZERNIAK, P., Observations on isotope hepatoscanning in diagnosis and treatment of the amoebic liver infection, Ann. intern. Med. <u>60</u> (1964) 166-78.
- [22] KRISLEY, R. M., ANDREWS, G. A., HARIS, C.C. (Eds), Progress in Medical Isotope Scanning, USAEC Symp. Series No. 1 (1962) 199.
- [23] LARSSON, I. G., JOHNSSON, J., "Bone-marrow scanning after intravenous injections of colloidal Au¹⁹⁸", Medical Radioisotope Scanning II IAEA, Vienna (1964) 193-205.
- [24] DANBY-KERR, H. et al., Follow-up study of one hundred cases of carcinoma of the prostate, treated with radioactive gold, Radiology <u>64</u> (1955) 637-41.
- [25] FLOCKS, R. H., CULP, D. A., ELKINS, H. B., Present status of radioactive gold therapy in management of prostatic cancer, J. Urol. <u>81</u> (1960) 178-84.
- [26] FLOCKS, R.H., Interstitial irradiation therapy for prostatic carcinoma, J. nucl. Med. 5 (1964) 691-704.
- [27] MUELLER, H., "Intracavity administration of radioactive gold in the treatment of ovarian cancer", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958) 390-94.
- [28] HOLBROOK, M. A., WELCH, J. S., CHILDS, D. S., Jr., Adjuvant use of radioactive colloids in the treatment of carcinoma of the ovary, Radiology 83 (1964) 888.
- [29] ELLIS, F., OLIVER, R., Treatment of papilloma of the bladder with radioactive colloidal gold, Br. med. J. (1955) 136.
- [30] DYCHE, G. M., MacKAY, N.R., The intracavitary treatment of the bladder with radioactive colloidal gold, Br. J. Radiol. 32 (1959) 757-63.
- [31] DICKSON, R. G., LANG, E. K., Treatment of papilloma of bladder with radioactive colloidal gold, Am. J. Roentg. 83 (1960) 116-22.
- [32] HAHN, P. F. et al.. Adjuvant use of Ag-coated radioactive colloidal Au in the treatment of ronchogenic carcinoma by pneumonectomy, J. nucl. Med. <u>1</u> (1960) 273-79.
- [33] HAHN, P.F. et al., Intravenous radioactive gold in the treatment of chronic leukemia, Acta radiol. 50 (1958) 565-72.
- [34] SAAD HASAN, Artificial radioisotopes in the treatment of chronic leukemia, J. Fac. Med. Baghdad Inorg. 2 (1960) 8-15.
- [35] KLIGERMAN, M.M., HABIF, D.V., Use of radioactive gold in the treatment of effusions due to carcinomatosis of the pleura and peritoneum, Am. J. Roentg. <u>74</u> (1955) 651.
- [36] HANSEN, P.B., HAUG, A., Treatment of pleural and peritoneal carcinomatous effusions with radioactive gold (1956-1959), Acta radiol. 53 (1960) 321-28.
- [37] HARPER, P. V., LATHROP, K. A., "Distribution of intraperitoneal radiocolloids", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958) 395.
- [38] VEBERISK, V., A device for intraperitoneal (intrapleural) applications of colloidal Au¹⁹⁸, Atompraxis 9 (1963) 412-14.

- [39] BOTSFORD, T. W., Experiences with radioactive colloidal gold in the treatment of pleural effusions caused by metastatic cancer of the breast, New Engl. J. Med. 270 (1964) 552-55.
- [40] SHAN, R., WARAWDEKAR, M. S., Radioactive colloidal gold in the treatment of malignant pleural effusions, J. Ass. Physns India <u>12</u> (1964) 63-67.
- [41] BACHMAN, K. P. et al., Radioactive gold instilled intrapericardially report of a case, Ann. intern. Med. <u>40</u> (1954) 811-19.
- [42] KING, E. R., "Radioisotope therapy using radiocolloids", Atomic Medicine, 4th ed., Williams and Wilkins Comp., Baltimore (1964) 599-614.
- [43] HEINZEL, F., Klinische Erfahrungen mit der Hypophysektomie, Fortschr. Geb. RöntgStrahl. NuklMed. <u>95</u> (1961) 313-23.
- [44] UDVARHELYI, C. B., Radiation hypophysectomy with Au¹⁹⁸, Sth. med. J. 55 (1962) 377-84.
- [45] ELLIS, F. et al., "Pituitary ablation with radioactive seeds", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>26</u> (1958) 402-07.
- [46] SCHEER, K. E., KLAR, E., Pituitary implantation with Au¹⁹⁸, a report of 500 cases, Nucl. Med. 2 (1961) 143-51.
- [47] FRASER, R., Therapeutic pituitary ablation by implanting radioactive seeds (Y ⁹⁰ or Au¹⁹⁸), Leech 34 4 (1964) 99-102.
- [48] VELDHUIS, A.H., SWINEHART, L.A., PREUSS, L.E., Use of radioactive gold in the treatment of the cervix, Henry Ford Hosp. med. Bull. <u>4</u> (1956) 144.
- [49] SHERMAN, A. I., "Carcinoma of the cervix-treatment with radioactive gold colloids". Therapeutic Use of Radioisotopes (HAHN, P. F., Ed.) John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York (1956) 224.
- [50] PARLEWKO, I. et al., The use of radioactive colloidal gold in the treatment of carcinoma of the cervix, Med. Radiol. <u>5</u> (1960) 15-18, translation.
- [51] DICK, D. A. L., USISKIN, S. R., Experiences with and indications for interstitial radioactive gold grain implants, J. Can. Ass. Radiol. <u>13</u> (1962) 14-18.
- [52] LAUGHLIN, J. S., A dose description system for intrastitial radiation therapy: seed implants, Am. J. Roentg. <u>89</u> (1963) 470-90.
- [53] ILKE, F. A., Radioactive gold seed implants in the treatment of gynaecological cancer, J. Obstet. Gynaec. 71,(1964) 202-13.
- [54] ANSELL, B. M. et al., Evaluation of intra articular colloidal gold Au¹⁹⁸ in the treatment of persistent knee effusions, Ann. rheum. Dis. 22 (1963) 435-39.
- [55] BOZOKI, L., VODROS, D., Radioactive Isotopes for measuring the quantity of aluminum melts, Acta tech. hung. 28 (1960) 133-44.
- [56] VODIOS, D., Radioactive isotopes in the manufacture of aluminum, Kohász. Lap. 92 (1959) 160-63.
- [57] BOGOYAVLEWSKII, A. F., MATYAZH, N. K., Incorporating isotope Au¹⁹⁸ in the anodic oxidation film on Al, Zh. prikl. Khim. <u>34</u> (1961) 1892-93.
- [58] FREUSS, L., "Tracer techniques for thickness of very thin evaporated metal films", Proc. Symp. Applied Radiation and Radioisotope Test Method, ASTM Special Technical Publication No. 268, pp. 81-99.
- [59] ERWALL, E. G., "Studies of reactions at solid liquid interfaces and use of radioactively labelled surface layers", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>19</u> (1958) 108-09.
- [60] PUTMAN, J. L., The use of autoradiography for finding the solidification boundary in continuously cast aluminum, J. Inst. Metals 82 (1954) 414-16.
- [61] SAITO, T., "Process analysis by radioisotopes in the chemical and metallurgical industries", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>19</u> (1958) 209-11.
- [62] GRANDECLEMENT, G., Radioisotopes as tracers in hydrology and hydrodynamics, Eau, L. <u>50</u> (1963) 293-300.
- [63] HULL, D. E., MACOMBER, M., "Flow measurements by the total count method", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>19</u> (1958) 324-32.
- [64] FREDRICK, B. J., RECK, W., CARTER, R. W., Use of radioisotopes to measure water discharge, US Geological Survey paper (1962) 185.
- [65] TIMBLIN, L.O., Jr., PETERKA, A.J., "Use of radioisotopes for open-channel flow measurements", Radioisotopes in Hydrology, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 37-61.
- [66] KOHN, A., «Applications diverses des radioéléments de courte période dans l'étude des métaux », Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors <u>I</u>, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 285-304.
- [67] WITHERELL, D. E., COWING, R. F., Radiation protection problems associated with radioactive gold, TID-20600 (1964).
- [68] PEROTTI, V., POMPILI, G., Protection norms against ionizing radiation in the hospital care of patients into whom non-sealed radionuclides have been introduced, Ig. mod., Parma 55 (1962) 657-71.
- [69] POGOSSIAN, M. T., SHERMAN, A. I., Handling of radioactive gold for therapeutic purposes, Nucleonics 10 3 (1952) 23-27.
- [70] HODT, H.J., SINCLAIR, W.K., SMITHERS, D.W., A gun for interstitial implantation of radioactive gold grains, Br. J. Radiol. <u>25</u> (1952) 419-21.
- [71] TURKEVITCH, J., STENVENSON, C. P., J. phys. Chem. 57 (1953) 670.
- [72] HENRY, R., HERCZEG, C., FISHER, C., Une nouvelle méthode de préparation d'or colloidal radioactif, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>2</u> (1957) 136-39.
- [73] DOMINGUEZ, G., DE LA CRUZ, F., DEL VAL, M., Radioisotope production methods in Spain, Nuclear Energy Board, Chemistry and Isotope Dep., Madrid, Spain, 64-3641 (Apr. 1964).
- [74] EMERY, J.F., LIDDICOTTE, G.W., The radiochemistry of gold, N AS-NS-3036 (1961) 24-30.
- [75] SPODE, E., PROSCH, U., Herstellung und Eigenschaften radioaktiver Gold-Kohle-Suspensionen zur therapeutischen Anwendung, Strahlentherapie <u>114</u> (1961) 113.
- [76] MICHEEV, N.B., FOUAD, H., ABDEL-RASSOUL, A.A., Carbon-coated preparation with mixed Au ¹⁹⁸ and Ag ¹¹¹ isotopes for medical use, Strahlentherapie 124 (1964) 308-10.
- [77] CAMPBELL, B.L., ELLIS, W.R., The development of oil-soluble gold-198 compounds for industrial radiotracing, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>16</u> (1965) 257-59.
- [78] EL-GUEBEILY, M. A., ABDEL-RASSOL, A. A., FOUAD, H., Gamma spectrometric determination of the Au¹⁹⁹ to Au¹⁹⁸ ratio in pile irradiated gold tracer, Radiochim. Acta 2 (1964) 217-18.
- [79] HAHN, P. F., "Silver coated radioactive colloids as adjuvants in the surgical treatment of bronchiogenic tumor", Therapeutic Use of Artifical Radioisotopes, 2nd ed., John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York (1956) 365-74.
- [80] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, ORNL Master Analytical Manual, Suppl. 5, TID-7015, 511330-2, 6-4-62 (1963).
- [81] TONNA, E. A. et al., The auto-radiographic localization and distribution of neutron activated gold (Au¹⁹⁸) in skeletal tissues and synovia of mice, Arthritis Rheum. <u>6</u> (1963) 1-10.
- [82] NOVIKOV, A.N. et al., "Application of Co⁶⁰ gamma therapy and colloidal Au¹⁹⁸ in combined treatment of lung cancer", Proc. 10th Int. Congr. Radiol., Book of Abstracts, Montreal, No. A 156 (1962) 301-02.
- [83] WOLF, F., "Simultaneous determination of two radioisotopes (1¹³¹ Bengal-red, and Au¹⁹⁸ colloid) for the assessment of hepatic blood flow", Proc. Congr. int. Gastroent, <u>6</u> (1960) 133-38.
- [84] MERDITH, O. M., Jr., COFFMAN, W., POST, J., HOLMES, J., Measurements of liver blood flow with radioactive colloidal gold, Am. J. Physiol. 202 (1962) 1-6.
- [85] ROSE, R. G., Intracavitary radioactive colloidal gold in the management of ovarian carcinoma, Obstet. Gynaecol. 18 (1961) 557-63.
- [86] PETERSON, B.R., "Radioactive surface labelling of powdered materials by means of gold-198", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 269-74.
- [87] KOHN, A., « Etude de la descente des charges au haut-fourneau », Proc. 1st Int. Conf. Radioisotopes scient. Res. <u>1</u> (1958) 302.
- [88] WATT, J.S., "Some recent applications of short half-life radioisotopes in Australia", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 343-55.
- [89] SHIMANSKAIA, N.S., Soviet Phys. JETP H, 366 (1957).
- [90] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, ORNL Radioisotopes Procedures Manual ORNL-3633, TID-4500 (1964).

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCE, NATIONAL TSING HUA UNIVERSITY, HSINCHU, TAIWAN, REPUBLIC OF CHINA

GENERAL

A nuclear reaction $^{197}Au(n, \gamma)^{198}Au$ is used to obtain ^{198}Au . The preparation of colloidal ^{198}Au solution consists of three steps, i.e. preparation of a glucose solution containing gold nucleus, dissolution of the irradiated pure gold target and the reduction of gold ion by glucose solution. Gelatine is used to stabilize the colloidal gold solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:0.3 g pure gold wire.Irradiation container:Polyethylene capsule.Irradiation condition:Neutron flux 4×10^{12} .Irradiation time:5 h.

Chemical treatment

Solution 1. The nucleus solution is prepared by dissolving 0.3 g of pure gold wire with 3 ml aqua regia. After the gold wire is completely dissolved the excess aqua regia is removed by evaporation. To this residue 30 ml of redistilled water is added to make a gold solution.

<u>Solution 2</u>. Separately, 16.8 g of glucose is dissolved with 30 ml of redistilled water to which 12 ml of 20% gelatine solution is added gradually at 90°C. The solution is kept at 55°C and 3 ml of 5 N sodium hydroxide solution is added.

Solution 1 is then added to this mixture drop by drop with constant stirring; this takes about 30 min. The container of Solution 1 is rinsed with 10 ml of re-distilled water which is also added to the resulting solution; the mixture is then placed in the water bath for half an hour for sterilization.

The colloidal ¹⁹⁸Au solution is prepared by dissolving 0.3 g of irradiated gold wire with 3 ml of aqua regia. The gold solution is prepared as for Solution 1; the resulting gold ion solution is then reduced by adding the reducing agent solution. This is made of 12 ml 20%-gelatine solution, 0.5 ml nucleus solution and 26 ml re-distilled water, according to the following procedure: add 1 N sodium hydroxide solution to gold ion solution to adjust its pH to ~9. The reducing agent solution is placed in a reduction vessel and kept at 80°C. The gold solution is also kept at 80°C and added to the reducing agent solution drop by drop through a G-4 porosity sintered glass filter with constant stirring. About half an hour is needed to complete the reduction process. The product of about 250 mCi is obtained, which is a stable colloidal ¹⁹⁸Au solution of a deep purple colour.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The content of free gold ion is determined by paper chromatography and the size of the gold particle with an electron microscope. Radiochemical analysis of the product is performed according to the Oak Ridge National Laboratory Master Analytical Manual No. 90733331-3. Pharmaceutical control is carried out according to the "Minimum Requirements of Radioactive Drugs" published by the Japanese Ministry of Health and Welfare (1962).

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	Au-colloid.
Concentration:	2.7 mCi/ml.
Specific activity:	0.8 mCi/mg Au.
Acidity:	pH 7~8.
Free gold ion content:	$\sim 1\%$.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

The therapeutic use of radioactive gold colloid requires a final product having: high chemical stability; high radioactive concentration; no harmful admixtures; pH not less than 5; and particle size approximately 300 Å.

The method used, which was developed by Henry, Herczeg and Fisher [1], is based on the observations of Turkevitch [2] on the formation of gold sols, in which he distinguished two phases: nucleation, during which 40-50 Å particles are formed; and growth, during which the size of the particles increases.

To obtain a regular colloid it is essential that the two phases should be successive, so as to avoid the beginning of growth by some particles whilst others are only being formed.

In the method described the radioactive colloid is prepared by making use of the reducing properties of gelatine itself (amino groups, guanidines), which is seeded with a small quantity of previously formed colloid whose particles become centres of crystallization.

The seed used is prepared by glucose reduction utilizing a method which results in the formation of small (50 Å) regular particles. Checking of particle size by electron microscopy enables defective preprations to be eliminated and thus guarantees the regularity of colloids formed from these seeds.

The production of ¹⁹⁸Au is based on the nuclear reaction ¹⁹⁷Au(n, γ)¹⁹⁸Au.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:A 500-mg gold leaf of 99.999% purity.Irradiation conditions:Irradiation at a flux of 2.4×10^{12} n/cm² s for 144 hin the EL 2 reactor which represents an activity of7.45 Ci on unloading.

Irradiation container:

Threaded aluminium irradiation capsule with an internal diameter of 22.5 mm and an internal length of 70 mm.

Activity produced:

The activity per gram of element at $10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ is 6.2 Ci after one week's irradiation, and 7.9 Ci at saturation.

Chemical treatment

Preparation

After irradiation, the gold leaf (500 mg) is washed in chloroform and dried.

The treatment breaks down into two successive phases:

(a) Preparation of the reducing medium for production of the radioactive colloid

A solution containing 20 ml of 20% gelatine previously liquefied and 1.5 ml of seed extracted with a sterilized hypodermic syringe is prepared in a 50-ml beaker. The mixture is placed in the reduction bottle which is filled up with 48 ml of doubly distilled water. The heating system of the reduction chamber is set to maintain the temperature of the solution at 70°C throughout the operation, the solution being stirred to ensure homogeneity.

(b) Dissolution of the gold leaf and formation of the colloid

After placing the leaf in the evaporator, 4 ml of aqua regia are introduced together with two portions of doubly distilled water of 1 ml each. The leaf is dissolved by heating to boiling point.

Excess aqua regia is eliminated by hot evaporation in a vacuum of 110 mmHg. Red-brown crystals are formed on the walls of the evaporator.

These crystals are dissolved in 40 ml of doubly distilled water. The solution is then neutralized with 12.5 ml of 1 \underline{N} NaOH; finally the vessel is rinsed with 10 ml of doubly distilled water.

The sodium chloraurate thus formed is purified by filtration on a fritted plate. It is then ready to be passed into the reducing mixture.

After the temperature of the reducing mixture has been checked (70° C), the tap admitting the chloraurate solution into the reducer is adjusted to a rate of one drop per second. The whole solution should take about 20 min to pass. The evaporating flask is rinsed with

8 ml of doubly distilled water,

1 ml of 1 N NaOH, and again

7 ml of doubly distilled water.

The rinsing water is passed into the reducing bottle in the same way. Reduction is completed by introducing drop by drop a solution of 10 ml of 10% sodium ascorbate to reduce the last traces of free gold.

Reagents required

Aqua regia as solvent: 20 ml HCl RP (d: 1.19)+10 ml HNO₃ RP (d: 1.33). It should be prepared 15 min before use in a 125-ml stoppered bottle.

14.

20% gelatine solution: 40 g of solid gelatine are dissolved in 200 ml of doubly distilled water, heated to 65° C in a water bath, and then hot-filtered on a No. 3 fritted glass in a vacuum; the gelatine solution is divided out in the proportion of 20 ml per 30-ml penicillin bottle; the bottles are sterilized for 30 min at 2 mg/cm².

1 N NaOH solution.

10% ascorbate solution: 10 g of ascorbic acid are dissolved in about 50 ml of doubly distilled water; after being brought to pH 6 the solution is made up to 100 ml in a calibrated phial.

Gold seed:

- Preparation of the reducing fluid: 16.8 g of glucose are dissolved in 30 ml of doubly distilled water and the luke-warm solution filtered on a No.3 fritted glass; it is then introduced into the reduction bottle of the apparatus with 12 ml of 20% gelatine; the bottle is heated to 70° C and 3 ml of 5 N soda are introduced.

- Dissolution of the gold and formation of the seed: a 300-mg gold leaf, which has been previously cleaned, is hot dissolved in 3 ml of aqua regia together with two portions of doubly distilled water of 1 ml each; after hot evaporation in a vacuum and re-dissolution with 30 ml of doubly distilled water by the same procedure, the solution is passed drop by drop into the reducing fluid, taking about 20 min; the evaporator is rinsed with 10 ml of doubly distilled water which are passed drop by drop into the reducing fluid.

The seed is allowed to cool to 40° C and then the 85 ml of seed are distributed amongst the five 30-ml penicillin bottles. The bottles are sterilized for 30 min at 2 kg/cm².

Apparatus

The apparatus for preparing colloidal gold-198 (Fig.1) consists essentially of: an irradiation tube unloading area; a colloid preparation area; and a colloid distribution area.

Irradiation tube unloading area

This area is fitted with a door, through which the lead castle containing the irradiation tube can be passed. The tube is unscrewed with special tongs. A mechanical extractor is also provided in case a cold soldered tube is used.

A belt conveyor carries materials from one area to another.

Colloid preparation area

The area is shown on the flowsheet for the colloidal gold-198 production process (Fig. 2). It consists mainly of: an evaporating vessel for dissolving the gold leaf; two siphon bulbs, one of which is fitted with a fritted glass filtering plate; and a reducing bottle in which the colloid is prepared.

The evaporator is heated by an infra-red heater. It is also connected to a turbine pump producing a 110-mm vacuum for evaporation.

The reducing bottle is also infra-red heated and the temperature of 70° C is obtained by regulation with a contact thermometer. The colloidal solution is stirred by imparting a to-and-fro movement to the liquid.

The vessels are interconnected by welded glass tubes.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of colloidal ¹⁹⁸Au (back guard raised). Dissolving and evaporation area



Colloid distribution area

This area contains the distributor burette into which the colloid is fed through a glass tube immersed in the reducing bottle. It is filled by suction by means of a high-capacity syringe.

A pH meter has also been installed for systematic checking of the pH of each solution prepared.

Before each operation the apparatus is carefully washed with dilute aqua regia (600 ml HCl+300 ml conc. $HNO_3 + 300$ ml H₂O) and again with boiling water.

Afterwards, the whole apparatus is rinsed with doubly distilled water until pH 7 is obtained in the glassware.

It is recommended that after each operation the reducing bottle and the burette is filled with doubly distilled water to avoid the tubes being blocked by coagulation of the gelatine.

Determination of chemical forms

The colloidal solution is chemically tested to check its freedom from soluble radioactive substances [3]. The test consists of paper chromatography. A drop of the gold colloid is placed on a paper strip which is allowed to dip into a tank containing a chromatographic mixture which causes migration of the soluble phase. The soluble derivatives of gold are colourless. A G-M counter connected to a recorder permits determination of the radioactivity of the soluble phase, i.e. the content.

3. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ¹⁹⁸Au S-2 - Injectable

A sterile and pyrogen-free solution of colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au, pH 5-7, particle size $20-40 \text{ m}\mu$, meeting the following specifications: Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 30 mCi/ml average, with

manufacture up to E0 m Ot /m1

· · · ·	maximum up to 50 mC	1/111.		
Radioactive purity:	¹⁹⁸ Au content > 99.9)% (ga	amma-ray	spectrum
	characteristic of ¹⁹⁸	Au).		
Radiochemical purity:	Soluble gold content	<2%.		
Composition of solution:	As indicated in the	Fren	ich Pharn	nacopoeia:
	Colloidal gold	3.	5 mg	
	Glucose	2	mg	
	Ascorbic acid	7	mg	
	NaCl	5	mg	
	Medicinal gelatine	30	\mathbf{mg}	
	Distilled water	1	ml	

Reference: ¹⁹⁸Au S-3 (for diagnosis)

A solution of colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au S-2 diluted in the following solution: Gelatine 30 mg Distilled water 1 ml Radioactive concentration 1 mCi/ml

Reference: ¹⁹⁸Au S-6 (small particles)

A sterile and pyrogen-free solution of colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au, pH 5-7, particle size $3-5 \text{ m}\mu$, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration:	20 mCi/ml average		
Radioactive purity:	198Au > 99. 9%.		
Radiochemical purity:	Soluble gold content	t <2%.	
Composition of solution:	Colloidal gold	3.5	mg
	Glucose	200	mg
	NaCl	5	mg
	Medicinal gelatine	30	mg
	Distilled water	1	ml

REFERENCES

[1] HENRY, R., HERCZEG, C., FISHER, C., International J. of Appl. Radiat. and Isot. 2 (1957) 136-39.

[2] TURKEVITCH, J., STEVENSON, P.C., HILLIER, J., J. Phys. Chim. 57 (1953) 670.

[3] COHEN, Y., Produits Pharmaceutiques 4 (April 1961) 16.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production is based on the irradiation of gold metal. When producing 198 Au metal or 198 AuCl₃ no special problems arise. In the case of colloidal gold for medical use special care is taken regarding sterility and radiochemical purity.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Gold metal, Joh	nson Matthey.	The amount	of target	depends on
	the request.	,			
Flux:	$10^{13} n/cm^2$ s.				
Time:	200 h.				
Container:	Quartz ampoule	with ground st	opper.		

Chemical treatment

In the production of 198 Au metal, no processing is necessary. To obtain 198 AuCl₃ the irradiated metal is dissolved in hot aqua regia, the nitrate ions being removed by addition of hydrochloric acid.

When colloidal gold is to be produced the $^{198}AuCl_3$ solution obtained as described above is neutralized with sodium carbonate and gelatine is added at a temperature of 40-50°C; finally the solution is reduced with a calculated amount of 0.5% ascorbic acid. The colloidal solution is sterilized in an autoclave at 120°C for 40 min.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The gold content of the solution is determined as follows: The colloid is decomposed with excess aqua regia. After evaporating to dryness, the solid residue is dissolved in distilled water. Glucose and potassium carbonate are added and the relative absorption is photometrically measured by comparison with the standardized reference solutions. The chloride content is determined titrimetrically with standard silver nitrate solutions, using potassium chromate as indicator. The pH is measured by the usual method. For radiochemical purity the gamma spectrum is determined with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser. Sterility is controlled in the usual manner on aliquot samples.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Gold metal

Radiochemical purity: > 90%. Specific activity: 3 - 30 mCi/mg Au.

Chlorauric acid (HAuCl₄)

Radiochemical purity:	> 90%.
Specific activity:	12-30 mCi/mg Au.
Solution:	Pale yellow transparent solution; $1 - 2 \text{ mg of Au/ml}$.

Colloidal solution

pH:	6 - 8	
Radiochemical purity:	> 90% (possible in	mpurity: ¹⁹⁹ Au (T ₁ : 3.15 d))
Specific activity:	12 - 30 mCi/mg Au	u,
Solution:	Colloidal gold	1 - 2 mg/ml.
•	Gelatine	0.5 mg/mg Au.
	Ascorbic acid	2 mg/mg Au.
Isotonic		

Sterile

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Gold-198 is produced by the neutron irradiation of spectroscopically pure gold metal in the form of thin foils.

The method adopted for the processing of colloidal gold-198 consists of two stages:

- (a) The initial preparation of a seed, or nucleating agent, which is a colloid prepared by reducing chlorauric acid with a mixture of glucose, gelatine and sodium hydroxide.
- (b) The preparation of the final colloid by the growth of the seed colloid. At this stage, sodium aurate is added to a mixture of gelatine and seed colloid; the gelatine acts as a reducing agent as well as a stabilizer. By this two-stage method it is possible to obtain a colloid of fairly uni-

form particle size (300 Å) and practically free from toxic products.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:Spec-pure thin gold foil, 150 mg in a type "A" (screw-capped 1 S aluminium can, 73 mm high and 26.5 mm diam.) or type "C" can (cold-welded 2 S aluminium can, 44 mm high and 22 mm diam.).Irradiation period:One week.Flux in APSARA:(2 to 3)×10¹² n/cm² s." " CIR:(5 to 10)×10¹² n/cm² s.

Chemical treatment

Preparation of seed colloid

This is a non-radioactive gold colloid and is prepared in the assembly shown in Fig. 1. Before commencing the operation, the whole assembly is washed well, rinsed with distilled water and finally with pyrogen-free water and then dried.

One hundred milligrams of (99.99% pure) gold foil is dropped in the evaporator (E) and 1 ml of aqua regia is added. The evaporator is heated in a bath of isopropanol. The dissolution of the gold foil is completed in about 15 min.

The excess acid is evaporated under controlled conditions of temperature and pressure till orange yellow crystals of chlorauric acid appear. The crystals are dissolved in 10 ml pyrogen-free water and the solution is transferred to vessel T.

In the meantime, 4 ml gelatine solution (20% wt./vol.) and 10 ml of glucose solution (56%) are transferred into reaction vessel (R) and heated to about 80°C with continuous stirring, using a magnetic stirrer. One millilitre of 5 N NaOH is then added, the temperature is brought to 90°C and the chlorauric acid solution is added dropwise. The evaporator vessel is washed with 3 ml of pyrogen-free water and the washings are also added to this mixture. The solution is kept at this temperature with stirring for 15 min more and then allowed to cool. The pH of this seed colloid is measured and is usually between 5 and 7. The colloid is dispensed in small volumes into different vials, sealed and autoclaved at 15 lb/in² for 45 min.

A vial once opened for the preparation of colloidal gold-198 is not used again. The seed colloid can be preserved for about a month, after which the colloid particles may aggregate.



FIG.1. Plant assembly for gold-198

Preparation of radiogold colloid

The entire glass assembly is washed well and rinsed with pyrogen-free water, and dried; 1.5 ml of aqua regia is added to the evaporator vessel. The reducing mixture, consisting of 3.5 ml of 20% gelatine, 0.25 ml of seed colloid, and 10 ml of pyrogen-free water is placed in the reaction vessel.

The irradiated gold foil (150 mg) is washed with water and then dropped into the evaporator vessel. The dissolution of gold and crystallization of chlorauric acid are carried out by careful heating under suction.

The crystals are dissolved in 6 ml pyrogen-free water and 3.5 ml of 1 \underline{N} NaOH is added and kept ready for addition.

During the above operation the mixture in the reaction vessel is brought to 70°C. The sodium aurate solution is added dropwise to the solution; 4-ml rinsings of the evaporator vessel are also added into the reaction vessel. The temperature is then raised to 80°C and kept constant for about an hour with continuous stirring. Finally the solution is cooled. The colloid is then transferred to various vials, sealed, autoclaved and stored in lead pots.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity assay is done by measuring the ion current of a known volume of stock solution in a calibrated ion chamber.

The radioactive purity is determined by gamma-ray spectrometry.

The radiochemical purity is determined by dialyzing the auric ion out or by paper chromatography.

Pyrogen testing is done by injecting an aliquot of a dummy colloidal gold preparation (run carried out prior to active run) into each of three rabbits and observing the temperature rise, if any.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Non-medical form

Specific activity:> 5 Ci/g.Chemical form:HAuCl4 in solution.

Medical form

Specific activity:1-5 Ci/g.Chemical form:Colloid, stabilized with gelatine pH 5-7 sterilized.Radiochemical purity:> 95%.Particle size of colloid:300 Å.Gold content:3.5 mg/ml.Gelatine concentration:About 3%.

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE, ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, SOREQ RESEARCH ESTABLISHMENT, YAVNE, ISRAEL

1. GENERAL

The irradiation of metallic gold in the reactor produces gold-198 by the (n, γ) reaction. The activated sample is dissolved in aqua regia and the resulting solution is evaporated. Aurochloric acid is neutralized and added to a seed solution, which contains colloidal gold nuclei and reducing and stabilizing agents.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

The target is 100 mg of metallic gold (spec-pure); 1 mil¹-thick foil is used. The gold is washed with 1:2 nitric acid, water and ether, and

¹ 1 mil is 0.001 in.

sealed into a silica vial. Irradiation is made at a thermal neutron flux of 3×10^{13} n/cm² s.

Chemical treatment

The apparatus is shown in Fig. 1.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of colloidal gold

Preparation of seed solution²

Dissolve 300 mg of gold in aqua regia and evaporate (see above). Dissolve crystals with 30 ml H_2O .

Dissolve 16.8 mg glucose into 30 ml H₂O. Add 12 ml of 20% gelatine solution. Heat to 90°C. Stop heating. Add 3 ml of 5 N NaOH while stirring. Keep stirring for 10 min. Add the previous solution, always stirring.

Rinse the evaporator with 10 ml distilled water and add to colloid.

² This procedure is based on current literature. Modifications were made by the Commission's staff and Dr. E. Edguer.

Sterilize for 1 h at 120°C. The solution thus obtained may be used for one month after preparation.

For the colloidal gold production, put into a conical flask 12 ml of water and dissolve 0.8 g of gelatine. Add 0.2 ml of seed solution and 50 mg ascorbic acid.

After preparation of the seed solution the following steps are then taken: Transfer the irradiated sample into a shielded cell.

Wash the ampoule with acetone and then crush the ampoule.

Put gold into dissolving flask "A" and add 1 ml aqua regia.

Heat the water bath to 90°C. Raise the water bath.

When the gold is dissolved, start heating the solution marked G in Fig.1. Apply a 100-mm Hg vacuum through B. Open C, so that an air stream bubbles through the solution. When the solution is almost completely evaporated, open C completely and lower the water bath, to obtain pale yellow needle-like aurochloric acid crystals.

Dissolve with 10 ml of 0.01% NaCl solution. Add 2.4 ml of 1 \underline{N} NaOH solution. Transfer by vacuum to E.

The seed solution should be at 80° C. Add the solution from E slowly, dropwise, with continuous stirring. The addition should take 15 to 20 min; the temperature should be kept at 80° C.

Rinse the apparatus with $3 \text{ ml } H_2O + 0.3 \text{ ml } 1 \text{ N } \text{NaOH}$. Add to the colloid.

Transfer to the dispensing burette. Deliver sample for calibration.

Deliver the required amounts into penicillin-type bottles and close the bottles.

Sterilize for 1 h at 120°C.

Use pyrogen-free distilled water throughout the whole procedure.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The colloidal/ionic ratio is determined by ascending chromatography on Whatman No. 1 paper. The solvent is 30 wt./vol. HCl+70 wt./vol. acetone.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process of ¹⁹⁸Au is based on the irradiation of gold wire and dissolution in aqua regia with the subsequent adjustment of acidity.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material: 0.2 g of gold wire (99.99% purity) for JRR-1. 0.05 g of gold wire (99.99% purity) for JRR-2.

Container:	Polyethylene bottle, then a polyethylene capsule.
Flux:	$\sim 3 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (JRR-1)}.$
	$\sim 2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (JRR-2)}.$
Irradiation time:	15 h (5 h \times 3 d) for JRR-1.
	20 min for JRR-2.
Side reactions:	Formation of ¹⁹⁹ Au; approximately 5% in the final product.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target is dissolved in aqua regia, evaporated to dryness, then redissolved in 1 N HCl. The apparatus is shown in Fig. 1.



FIG.1. Arrangement of apparatus for ¹⁹⁸Au production

Cut the inner capsule by the cutter (a).

Place the target in the dissolving vessel (b), add aqua regia of 6 ml/0.2 g of target, then evaporate to near dryness under the slight vacuum by indirect heating.

Add the following amount of 1 N HCl from the reagent feed pipe (c):

100 ml/g of target for the irradiation with JRR-1.

400 ml/g of target for the irradiation with JRR-2.

The product solution is dispensed into the sample bottles.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The routine assay is carried out with a well-type ionization chamber. The calibration is made with a $4\pi\beta$ -coincidence counter. A routine acidity check is also made.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:AuCl3 in HCl and HNO3 solution; acidity ~ 1 N.Radiochemical purity:> 99% (exclusive of 199 Au).

Specific activity: \sim 130 mCi/g of Au (JRR-1 product).Concentration: \sim 12 Ci/g of Au (JRR-2 product).Concentration: \sim 1 mCi/ml (JRR-1 product). \sim 10 mCi/ml (JRR-2 product).

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Gold-198 is prepared as a colloidal suspension of metallic gold, stabilized with gelatine. Gold foils, cut in narrow bands and rolled together, are irradiated in a thermal neutron flux: 197 Au(n, γ)¹⁹⁸ Au. The product particle size is approximately 200 Å.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	200 mg gold foils, spectral pure ¹
Time of irradiation:	7 d.
Container:	Aluminium can.
Flux:	Approximately 2×10^{12} n/cm ² s.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated gold foils are converted to gold chloride by reaction with aqua regia at 100°C. The excess of aqua regia is evaporated, and the residual gold chloride is dissolved in water.

The colloidal suspension is prepared by adding this solution of radioactive gold chloride dropwise to an alkaline solution of gelatine and water, previously mixed with gold colloid seeding solution and heated to approximately 70°C.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative ionization chamber measurements.

Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Radiochemical purity control, radiochromatography.

Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

The colloid particle size is checked occasionally by electron microscopy. All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

¹ Johnson. Matthey & Co.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

 $\rm GK$ - colloidal suspension of metallic gold stabilized with gelatine, sterilized.

Radioactive concentration:	Approximately 4	0 mCi	i/ml.
Isotopic purity:	At least 99% as	¹⁹⁸ Au.	
Radiochemical purity:	Ionic gold conten	t less	s than 2%.
Specific activity:	Approximately 1	0 mCi	/mg Au.
pH:	Around 6.		
Composition of suspension:	Gold content	3.5	mg/ml;
	Gelatine content	30	mg/ml;
	Glucose content	1	mg/ml.

JUNTA DE ENERGIA NUCLEAR, MADRID, SPAIN

1. GENERAL

The preparation of colloidal gold is based on the method originally developed by Henry et al. [1,2]. A small volume of non-radioactive colloid (the seed solution) is grown from a solution of radioactive chlorauric acid prepared from neutron irradiated gold strips.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCELURE

Irradiation

Target material:	0.4 g gold strips, 0.05 mm thick, purity $99.999\%^1$.
Container:	Leak-tight aluminium container, 8×10 mm diam.
Flux:	4×10^{12} n/cm ² s; next to the surface of adjoining fuel
	elements (JEN-1).
Irradiation period:	1 week. approximate vield is 25-30 mCi/ml.

Chemical treatment

Method of preparation

The process involves the following steps:

<u>Preparation of the seed solution</u>: 0.3 g of gold is dissolved in 3 ml of aqua regia (HCl and HNO_3 , analytical grade).

Evaporate the solution to dryness in a water bath under a vacuum of 70 mm Hg. Evaporation should not last longer than necessary and care is taken not to make the vacuum excessively high in order to avoid decomposition of the chlorauric acid.

¹ Supplied by Williams Gold Refining Co., United States of America.

In another recipient vessel the following mixture is heated to 90° C: 16.8 g of glucose (Merck product for microscopy and bacteriology) in 30 ml of distilled water, 12 ml of a 20% gelatine solution, (Schuchardt, analytical grade) and 5 ml of 5 <u>N</u> NaOH. Chlorauric acid crystals are dissolved in 30 ml of water; the solution is immediately poured dropwise into the glucose solution at a temperature of 90° C, with continuous stirring. After completion of the addition of chlorauric acid solution, a further 10 ml of water are introduced. The seed solution is allowed to cool and is distributed in penicillin flasks; seal, encapsulate and sterilize at 120°C for 30 min. The flasks are kept in a refrigerator and the seed solution can be used over a period of several months. A syringe fitted with a sterilized hypodermic needle is used to extract necessary volumes.

<u>Growth of colloid</u>: 400 mg of irradiated gold are dissolved in 4 ml of aqua regia, then evaporated to dryness under vacuum (70-80 mm Hg); this is done in the water-bath evaporator. The residue is dissolved in 40 ml of distilled water, then 9.3 ml of 1 N NaOH are added. The solution thus obtained is slowly dropped into a reducing mixture consisting of 16 ml of 20% gelatine, 1 ml of the seed colloid and 40 ml of distilled water. The resulting solution is heated to 100°C in a water bath while continuously stirring, Fig. 1(R).



FIG.1. Production of colloidal gold-198

After the addition of the chlorauric acid solution, heating is continued for 30 min. Then, 0.4 g of ascorbic acid dissolved in 2 ml of water and 1 ml of 1 \underline{N} NaOH are added. The product is distributed in penicillin bottles and sterilized at 120°C for 1 h.

Apparatus

The production is carried out in an enclosure of the same design and size as those used for the production of ^{32}P and ^{132}I ; it is shielded with 5-cm

lead bricks. The preparation assembly embodies the ancillary pieces needed (funnels, syphoning balls, etc.). The parts D, R and B (burette) are linked together by glass tubing.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

General assay

Radiochemical purity is determined by ascending paper chromatography. No. 1 Whatman paper is used [6]. The eluent is a mixture of acetone, water, hydrochloric acid (d = 1.19) at the ratio of 70:20:10 [5,6]. The following Rf are observed: colloidal gold, Rf = 0.0; soluble gold compounds, Rf = 0.9-1.0.

Activity measurements are made with an ionization chamber (see 32 P). An error of 5-10% is allowed. In special cases the error may be less than 5%. Biological tests include the determination of time duration for the stay of colloidal particles in the injected zone and the activity distributions in blood and urine. Rats are used and the solution is injected into the pleura or peritoneum. Acceptable values are 0.05% activity in blood and 0.5-0.7% in urine within a few hours from the administration [5,6].

Determination of particle size

The determination of particle size is made by the Shlesinger centrifuge method [3,4], a Wifug X-2 centrifuge is employed.

The following formula gives the particle size:

$$2\rho = \frac{A}{\omega} \sqrt{\frac{h}{T} \log \frac{C_0}{C}}$$
$$A = 6.15 \times 10^8 \sqrt{\frac{\eta}{(\sigma - \sigma')R}}$$

where:

 ρ = radius in m μ (1 m μ = 10 Å)

 ω = speed of rotation (rpm)

 C_0/C = ratio of colloid concentration before the centrifugation to final colloid concentration

- h = height of liquid in centrifuging tube (flat-bottomed cylinder)
- T = duration of centrifugation
- η = viscosity (poises)
- σ = density of the gold
- σ' = density of the colloid solution

R = distance between the absorbent (filter paper at the bottom of centrifuge tube) and the axis of rotation of the centrifuge.

Variations in the concentration of the colloid are followed by spectrophotometry at the absorption peak of 527 m μ ; a Beckman model B apparatus with 10-mm optical cells is employed.

The speed of the centrifuge is of the order of 4500 rpm. Four discs of No. 40 Whatman paper are used as the absorbent. The values for σ and

 σ^{1} are 19.2 and 1 respectively. The sizes for the seeds vary between 45 and 70 Å, and for the final colloid between 240 and 340 Å.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au, injectable

A sterile, pyrogen-fre	ee, and isotonic solution of colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸ Au,
pH 6-7, particle size 300	Å, meeting the following specifications:
Radioactive purity:	¹⁹⁸ Au content > 99.5%.
Radiochemical purity:	Soluble gold content $< 2\%$.
Radioactive concentration:	Maximum 30 mCi/ml.
Chemical concentration:	3-5 mg Au/ml; gelatine, $3%$.
Sterility:	Sterilization is carried out in autoclave at $120^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
	for about 1 h.
Analysis of pyrogens:	See ³² P.
Isotonicity:	Adjusted by means of cryoscopic measurements
	[7].

Colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au, injectable

A sterile, pyrogen-free and isotonic solution obtained from the above solution by diluting with 3% gelatine.

	-
Radioactive purity:	As above.
Radiochemical purity:	As above.
Radioactive concentration:	About 1 mCi/ml.
Chemical concentration:	0.25 - 5 mg Au/ml
Sterility:	As above.
Analysis of pyrogens:	As above.
Isotonicity:	As above.

¹⁹⁸Au gold chloride, non-injectable

A solution of gold chloride in hydrochloric acid meeting the following specifications: Provide structure 198 Automater > 00.5%

Radioactive purity:	198 Au content > 99.5%.
Radiochemical purity:	198 Au ³⁺ content > 99%.
Specific activity:	Up to 3 Ci/g.

REFERENCES

- HENRY, R., HERCZEG, C., FISHER, C., Report CEA-733, Commissariat à l'énergie atomique, France (1957).
- [2] ANGOSO, M., DOMÍNGUEZ, G., Selección y puesta a punto de un método de producción de oro-198 coloidal para usos clínicos, Report JEN-DQ-Qr 0305/I-1.
- [3] SCHLESINGER, M., Koll. Z. 67 (1934) 135.
- [4] ANGOSO, M., Fosfatos coloidales de cromo con fósforo-32, Anales Real Soc. Españ. Fís. Quím. Ser. <u>B</u>, (in press).

[5] CONSTANT, R., MAISIN, J., J. Belge de Rad. 43 (1960) 393.

- [6] REBOLLO, D.V., Sección de Isótopos, Dirección de Química e Isótopos de la JEN, private communication.
- [7] GARCÍA del AMO, C., Sección de Isótopos, Dirección de Química e Isótopos de la JEN, private communication.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Gold-198 is prepared as a sterilized colloidal suspension of metallic gold, stabilized with gelatine. The normal product has a wide spectrum of particle sizes ranging from 25 to 250 Å. A second colloid, produced by a seeding technique, in which the particle size is restricted to the range 200 – 300 Å, is also prepared.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE [1]

Irradiation

Target material:	2.4 g ash cohesive gold foil, dental grade.
Irradiation container:	Screw-topped aluminium can.
Irradiation conditions:	Flux $\sim 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2$ s for 7 to 10 d.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated gold foil is converted to chlorauric acid by dissolving in aqua regia and then pumping off the excess acid. The $HAuCl_4$ is dissolved in water and converted to gold in a colloidal form with glucose, gelatine and sodium hydroxide.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Colloids are assayed for particle size (by electron microscopy) and ionic gold (by paper chromatography and dialysis).

Irradiation conditions are selected such that <1% ¹⁹⁹Au is formed by the burn-up of ¹⁹⁸Au.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:

Colloidal suspension of metallic gold stabilized with gelatine.

Radioactive concentration: ~100 mCi ¹⁹⁸Au/ml. Concentrationtotal element: 10 mg Au/ml. Radioisotopic purity: Radiochemical purity:

Composition:

Particle size:

< 1% ¹⁹⁹Au.

Prolonged dialysis tests and paper chromatographic examinations have detected no traces of ionic gold (< 0.01%).

The colloidal solution has the following constituents:

(%)	(wt.	/vol.)
1 / / /	1	, ,

1.0 3.5

Gold	
Gelatine	
Glucose (including	

decomposition products) ~ 28.0 Sodium chloride ~ 0.7 Not routinely determined. Electron microscope measurements of particle size distribution show that the number of particles decreases with increasing particle size. No particles greater than 225 Å. Particles of diameter 100 - 125 Å account for the greatest proportion of the activity.

REFERENCE

[1] AERE Report No. I/R. 1341.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Gold-198 is produced by the (n, γ) reaction in a gold metal target, ¹⁹⁷Au (n, γ) ¹⁹⁸Au, and is prepared as AuCl₃ in mixed HCl and HNO₃ solution. About 5% ¹⁹⁹Au is also produced.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:50 mg gold metal.Neutron flux: $0.7 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$ Irradiation time:61 h.Reactor yield:2.9 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit (Fig. 1) is used in processing.

228



FIG.1. Unit for the production of colloidal gold-198

Processing

Yield: >95%.

The irradiated gold target is heated in 3.5 ml of aqua regia under the hot off-gas scrubber unit. After the target is dissolved, the solution is diluted to 50 ml with distilled water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for molarity of HCl, total solids, ¹⁹⁸Au and ¹⁹⁹Au concentrations, and radiochemical purity, according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7012), procedure No.90733381.

Precision and accuracy of the 198 Au assay are:

Calibration by $4\pi\beta-\gamma$ coincidence counter. Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 3%.

Precision, 2%.

229

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, high specific activity 198 Au is delivered as AuCl3 in HCland HNO3 solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are:Acidity:1 N total acids $\pm 50\%$.Concentration:> 10 mCi/ml.Specific activity: $\approx 25\,000$ mCi/g Au.Radiochemical purity:> 98% (exclusive of 199 Au). 199 Au:~ 5%.

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA. YUGOSLAVIA

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of gold foils in a reactor produces the radioactive gold isotope ¹⁹⁸Au by the (n, γ) reaction. Chemical treatment of these irradiated foils produces radioactive colloidal ¹⁹⁸Au used for medical purposes. Radioactive colloidal gold is produced by the method of Constant and co-workers [1, 2] in a modified French apparatus built in a shielded cell. The method provides radioactive colloidal ¹⁹⁸Au of high radiochemical purity, colloid particles of fixed dispersity and a pH-value corresponding to medical requirements.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	2×200 mg of gold foils, 99.999% purity.
Irradiation containers:	Cylindrical Al-cans with screwed covers, 70 mm
	internal length, 25 mm internal diameter.
Thermal neutron flux:	$2-5 \times 10^{12}$ n/cm ² s (RA reactor at Vinča);
Irradiation time:	7 d.

The gold isotope ¹⁹⁹Au is produced by the reaction: ¹⁹⁸Au(n, γ) ¹⁹⁹Au. The cross-section of this reaction is $\sigma_{n,\gamma}$: 26 000 barn. This gold isotope is produced at fluxes considerably higher than 10¹³ n/cm² s.

Chemical treatment

Production method

After degreasing in chloroform, radioactive gold foils are put in a flask A where they are dissolved in 3-4 ml of aqua regia by heating over a waterbath.

The HAuCl₄ solution is evaporated to dryness, in vacuo, by heating, obtaining $AuCl_{4} \cdot 4H_2O$.

After cooling, $AuCl_{4} \cdot 4H_2O$ is dissolved in $H_2O + 1$ <u>N</u> NaOH. NaAuCl₄ is obtained and through a G-5 sintered glass it is filtered into vessel B (filtration vessel).

The filtrate is added dropwise to a reducing solution containing an aqueous solution of the "germ" (inactive gold colloid) of low dispersion in a solution of glucose and sodium hydroxide [3, 4] and 20% of gelatine. ¹⁹⁸Au³⁺ + ¹⁹⁷Au³⁺ is reduced to the metal colloidal state by heating, and mixed by pulsation.

Non-reduced NaAuCl₄ is reduced by a dropwise addition of sodium ascorbate.

Apparatus

A vessel for dissolving irradiated gold and evaporating $NaAuCl_4$ to dryness, in vacuo, thus producing $AuCl_4 \cdot 4H_2O$ (Fig. 1, A).

Vessel for filtering and the dropwise addition of $NaAuCl_4$ with built-in G-5 sintered glass (Fig. 1, B).

Reducer in which radioactive colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au is produced by reducing the Na ¹⁹⁸AuCl₄ solution (Fig. 1, C).

Burette for distributing radioactive colloidal gold in penicillin bottles (Fig. 1, D).

Distribution system for constant, transportable and high vacuum (Fig. 1, E).



FIG.1. Apparatus for the preparation of colloidal gold

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Qualitative and quantitative analysis of gold foils. Pyrogenic test of the solutions used. Radioactive measurement of the colloidal solution. Radioactive control. Determination of particle size on an electron-microscope. pH of the colloidal solution.

Radiochemical purity control (% ¹⁹⁸Au colloidal+% ¹⁹⁸Au³⁺). Carried out by ascending paper chromatography [5]. Filter paper: Whatman No. 1. Chromatogram: 25×2 cm; start 2.5 cm from the bottom. Developing agent: ethyl acetate (9 volumes) + conc. HNO₃ (1 volume). Development time: about 3 h.

Sterility test of the colloidal solution [6].

Distribution and fixation of radioactive colloidal gold in organs of experimental animals (white mice).

Elimination of radioactive colloidal gold ¹⁹⁸Au from experimental animals by urine excretion.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: YVAu 198/1, gold-198 sterile colloidal gold solution

Sterile colloidal gold 198 Au solution, pH 5-7, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration:	Measured to within 10%;	25-50 mCi/ml.
Radioactive purity:	¹⁹⁸ Au content higher than 99%.	
Radiochemical purity:	Colloidal ¹⁹⁸ Au content hi	gher than 99%.
Particle size:	250±50Å.	
Composition of the solution:	Au concentration:	3.5 mg/ml
	Gelatine concentration:	3%
	Glucose concentration:	0.1%
	NaCl concentration:	5 mg/ml
Sterile.		-,

Pyrogen-free.

Reference: YVAu 198/4, gold-198 sterile dilute colloidal gold solution

Sterile colloidal gold solution, diluted with 20% gelatine, for diagnosticpurposes.Radioactive concentration:Measured to within 10%; one to a few mCi/ml.Radioactive purity:198 Au content higher than 99%.Radiochemical purity:Colloidal 198 Au content higher than 99%.Particle size:250 ± 50 Å.Sterile.Pyrogen-free.

REFERENCES

- [1] CONSTANT, R., MAISIN, J., VANDERLINDEN, P., WAMBERSIE, A., J. Belge Radiol. 43 (1960) 393.
- [2] DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., ČVORIĆ, J., VUKIĆEVIĆ, S., ILIĆ, R., Tehnika, Belgrade, (in press).
- [3] HENRY, R., HERCZEG, C., FISHER, Ch., J. appl. Rad. 2 (1957) 136.
- [4] DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., VUKIĆEVIĆ, S., Tehnika, Belgrade 17 (1962) 1449.
- [5] ČVORIĆ, J., DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., NEMODA, D., PROKIĆ, B., Tehnika, Belgrade 19 (1964) 822.
- [6] JOVANOVIĆ, V., DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., Tehnika, Belgrade 19 (1964) 1781.

IODINE-131

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

8.06 d

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

beta (β ⁻)	0.250 (2.8%)	gamma 0.080 (2.2%)	(C (4%)
	0.33 (9.1%)	0.284 (5.5%)	(0.3%)
	0.606 (87.5%)	0.364 (81%)	(1%)
	0.812 (0.7%)	0.639 (9.1%)	
		0.724 (2.8%)	
		0.163 (0%)	(0.7%)
		(via 12 d ^{131m} Xe)	

, 1.3. Decay scheme





2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Abundance of target nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Activity of clement at LO ¹² n/cm ² s (mCi/g) 24 h 7 d sat.	Side reactions
$(n, \gamma)^{131} {}^{m}Te$	34. 59	< 0. 008	0.8 4.4 9.6	¹²⁰ Te(n, γ) ¹²¹ Te (T = 154 d) isot. abund.: 0.089% 1 ²² Te(n, γ) ¹²³ mTe (T = 104 d) isot. abund.: 2.46% σ = 2.8 barn 1 ²⁴ Te(n, γ) ¹²⁵ mTe (T = 58 d) isot. abund.: 4.61% σ = 6.8 barn 1 ²⁶ Te(n, γ) ²⁷ Te (T - 9.4 h) isot. abund.: 18.71% σ - 0.8 barn 1 ²⁶ Te(n, γ) ¹²⁷ mTe (T - 105 d) σ - 0.09 barn 1 ²⁸ Te(n, γ) ¹²⁹ mTe (T = 33 d) isot. abund.: 31.79% σ = 0.015 barn 1 ²⁸ Te(n, γ) ¹²⁹ Te (T = 72 min) σ = 0.13 barn

For nuclear data see Ref. [1].

Iodine-131 may also be extracted from fission products: $U(n, f) \rightarrow {}^{131}I.$ $U(n, f) \rightarrow {}^{131}Te \xrightarrow{\beta} {}^{131}I.$ Fission yield: 2.9%.

3. APPLICATIONS

Iodine-131 is the radionuclide most widely used in medical therapy and diagnosis. Besides this it has found application as a tracer. A brief survey of published applications is given below.

3.1. Medicine

3.1.1. Applications of ¹³¹I as primary isotope

Treatment of hyperthyroidism, thyroid cancer	
and heart diseases	[2-16,28]
Diagnostic use, thyroid function test	[25-28]
Preparation of labelled compounds	[17]

3.1.2. Applications of organic ¹³¹I-labelled molecules

lodinated human serum albumin	[2, 18-21]
Iodofluorescein	[24]
¹³¹ I-Rose Bengal	[2,21,22]
Sodium ortho-iodohippurate	[23]

3.2. Technical applications

Hydrology	[29-32]
Pulp and paper research	[33]

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External radiation

The unshielded exposure rate per curie 131 I at a distance of 1 m is about 300 mR/h [57]. The necessary lead shielding thickness for reduction of this exposure rate by a factor of 100 is about 3 cm [57]. Thus a practical shield for the handling of amounts of 131 I up to around 1 Ci is a lead wall 5 cm thick.

4.2. Internal radiation

Iodine-131 is classified as a class 2, high-toxicity nuclide [34]. The biological half-life of iodine is 138 d [56], giving an effective half-life of 7.6 d, referred to the total body. The excretion of iodine from kidneys, liver and bone is more rapid as is shown in Table I.

TABLE I

EXCRETION OF IODINE

Organ of reference	Biological half-life of iodine (d)	Effective half-life of ¹³¹ I (d)
Thyroid gland	138	7.6
Kidneys, liver, spleen	7	3.7
Bone	14	5.1

Because of the volatility of iodine this nuclide usually represents the main health physics problem in a laboratory for the production of radioisotopes for medical and scientific applications. Production facilities need careful ventilation with special filtering of exhaust air.

4.3. Decontamination

Decontamination of glassware and equipment is most effectively achieved by means of strong mineral acid solutions, e.g. a mixture of nitric acid (2-5%) and hydrofluoric acid (2%). Decontamination processes of this kind should always be performed within a ventilated containment because of the volatility of the iodine in acid media.

Removal of ¹³¹I from clothing and skin is facilitated by the presence of iodide - iodate carrier. General instructions for decontamination of personnel, equipment and working surfaces are given in Ref. [34].

5. SURVEY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

5.1. Neutron irradiation of tellurium or tellurium compounds

Metallic tellurium, tellurium dioxide, orthotelluric acid, H_6TeO_6 , and metatelluric acid, H_2TeO_4 , are the target materials in general use for ¹³¹I production. Tellurium is usually processed by dissolving it in a strong mineral acid, preferably H_2SO_4 . After the addition of an oxidant (H_2O_2 , $KMnO_4$, etc.) the iodine is distilled off and collected in a sodium sulphite or thiosulphate solution [35, 36]. Other methods for separation are ion exchange techniques and precipitation [37]. Telluric acid, H_6TeO_6 , is also usually used together with a separation process based on dissolution and distillation [38, 39] or column chromatography [40].

Another method for the separation of 131 I from dissolved tellurium targets is by adsorption on specially prepared platinum electrode surfaces, followed by an electrochemical desorption [41, 42].

Gleason [43, 44] proposes metatelluric acid instead of orthotelluric acid, on account of the higher decomposition temperature and also higher tellurium content.

A number of isotope production centres are using tellurium dioxide as target material for 131 I production. Two different methods are in use for separation. The wet method, which comprises the suspension of TeO₂ in water and sulphuric acid, oxidation with hydrogen peroxide and distillation [45, 46] or dissolution in 10% sodium hydroxide, oxidation with hydrogen peroxide, acidification and distillation in the presence of Na₂MoO₄ [47]. The dry method makes use of direct distillation of the iodine by heating the irradiated target material to around 700°C [48-50].

5.2. Preparation from fission products

Fission product ¹³¹I is formed in uranium in a reactor during irradiation, and the general method for separation is to release the iodine by means of heating or dissolution in nitric acid, trap it in a suitable medium, reduce the volume and finally apply a chemical purification method [52-54].

6. RADIOASSAY

See Part I, Section 6 of this Manual.

REFERENCES

- [1] BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY, Neutron cross sections, BNL-325 2nd ed.
- [2] SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F. (Eds), Künstliche Radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Göttingen, Heidelberg (1961).
- [3] CLODE, W. et al., "Importance of thyroid weight determination and clinical biological factors involved in the treatment of hyperthyroidism with iodine-131", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>26</u> (1958) 427.
- [4] ALENINA, L.G., Clinical observations in radioiodine therapy of thyrotoxicosis, Med. Radiol., Moskva <u>6</u> 6 (1960) 17.
- [5] BEIRWALTES, W.H., JOHNSON, P.C., Hyperthyroidism treated with radioiodine, Am. med. Ass. Archs intern. Med. <u>97</u> (1956) 393.
- [6] BERMAN, M., BECKER, D. V., BENUA, R. S., The use of iodine-131 in the treatment of Graves' Disease, J. clin. Endocr. Metab. 17 (Oct. 1957) 1222.
- [7] JAFFE, M. L. et al., Radioiodine in treatment of advanced heart disease, J. Am. med. Ass. <u>151</u> (1953) 717.
- [8] ERISTAVI, K.D. et al., Radioactive iodine in the therapy of thyrotoxicosis, JPRS-2688 (1960).
- [9] PACK, G.T., ARIEL, I.M. (Eds), Treatment of Cancer and Allied Diseases, 2nd ed. Paul B. Hoeber, Inc., New York <u>1</u> (1958).
- [10] CHAPMAN, E. M., EVANS, R. D., Treatment of hyperthyroidism with radioactive iodine, J. Am. med. Ass. <u>131</u> (1946) 86.
- [11] SHELINE, G. E., MILLER, E.R., Studies with Radioiodine. Evaluation of Radioiodine Treatment of Carcinoma of the Thyroid based on Experience at the University of California 1938-54 (1955).
- [12] SCOTT, W.G. et al., Observations and results in treatment of hyperthyroidism with radioactive iodine-131, Am. J. Roentg. <u>66</u> (1951) 171.
- [13] CZERNIAK, P., HARELL-STEINBERG, A., "Radiation thyroiditis after treatment with radioactive iodineclinical and laboratory investigations", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958) 433.
- [14] ABOU SINNA, I.A. et al., "Clinical experience with radioactive iodine in the treatment of thyrotoxicosis", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>26</u> (1958) 440.
- [15] HERTZ, S., ROBERTS, A., Application of radioactive iodine in therapy of Graves' Disease, J. clin. Invest. <u>21</u> (1942) 624.
- [16] CLARK, D.E. et al., Five years' experience with radioactive iodine in the treatment of hyperthyroidism, J. Am. med. Ass. 150 (1952) 1269.
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Technical Directory International Directory of Radioisotopes, Compounds of carbon-14, hydrogen 3, iodine-131, phosphorus-32 and sulphur-35, 2nd ed. Part II. IAEA, Vienna (1962) 700.
- [18] STIRRETT, L.A., YUHL, E.T., LIBBY, R.J., The hepatic radioactivity survey, Radiology <u>61</u> (1953) 930.
- [19] LEWIS, M.L. et al., Quantitative radiocardiography I, II, III, Circulation 26 (Aug. 1962) 174.
- [20] SMOLIK, E. A. et al., Radioisotopes in a simplified technique for accurate determination of blood volumes, Am. J. clin. Path. <u>26</u> (Oct. 1956) 1127.
- [21] ANTIC, M., Clinical uses of radioisotopes, Med. Glasnik 17 (Mar. Apr. 1963) 98.
- [22] BROWN, C. H., GLASSER, O., Radioactive (I¹³¹-tagged) Rose-Bengal liver function test, J. Lab. clin. Med. <u>48</u> (Sept. 1956) 454.
- [23] TUBIS, M., POSNICK, E., NORDYKE, R. A., "Preparation and use of 1¹³¹ labeled sodium iodohippurate in kidney function tests", Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med. 103 (1960) 497.
- [24] MOORE, G. E. et al., The clinical use of sodium fluorescein and radioactive diiodofluorescein in the localization of tumors of the central nervous system, J. Am. med. Ass. 137 (1948) 1228.
- [25] TURNER, C. W., PIPES, G. W., PREMACHANDRA, B. N., A critique of indices of thyroid gland function, TID-7578 (1959).
- [26] WOOD, R. G., Radioactive isotopes in medicine. 2. Iodine, Atomics 4 (1953) 105.

- [27] PAREDES, J. B., Radioactive iodine in the diagnosis of thyroid disorders, Bol. Jta Control Energía atómica (Peru) 7 (1962) 76.
- [28] SKILLERN, P.G. et al. Radioiodine in diagnosis and therapy of hyperthyroidism caused by hyperfunctioning thyroid adenoma, Archs intern. Med. <u>110</u> (1962) 888.
- [29] MOSER, H., RAUERT, W., The application of radioisotopes in hydrology. Measurement and detection of the radioactive tracer I¹³¹, Atomkernenergie <u>5</u> (1960) 419-25 and 462-71.
- [30] MOSER, H., NEUMAIER, F., Use of radioisotopes in hydrology. I. Method for the determination of flow and discharge of water streams, Atomkernenergie <u>2</u> (Jan. 1957) 26.
- [31] MOSER, H., NEUMAIER, F., RAUERT, W., The use of radioisotopes in hydrology. II. A method for determining the abundance in ground water streams, Atomkernenergie 2 (June 1957) 225.
- [32] HOURS, R., Use of radioelements in hydrology, in the localization of leaks and in the measurement of flow, CEA-2096 (1960).
- [33] CLAYTON, D. W., "The use of radioactive tracers in pulp and paper research", CNA Int. Conf. on the Operating Experience and Future Development of Power Reactors and Radioisotopes, Montreal (1963), Conf. 9-10.
- [34] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App. 1, Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [35] GLEASON, G.I., Radioactive iodine process, US Patent 3 107 155 (1963),
- [36] KENNY, A.W., SPRAGG, W.T., Production of iodine-131 from tellurium in GLEEP, AERE-C/R-349 (1949).
- [37] INADA, M., Method of separation of I¹³¹ from the products of neutron bombardment of tellurium, CEA-trx-233 (1959).
- [38] CONSTANT, R., Production of carrier-free I¹³¹ beginning with telluric acid, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. 7 (1958) 133.
- [39] CONSTANT, R., Manufacture of radioactive iodine-131, Br. Patent 877 333 (1961).
- [40] GETOFF, N., PARKER, W., Separation of radioiodine from tellurium by means of column chromatography, Nature 197 (1963) 278.
- [41] TOTH, G., Production of carrier-free I¹³¹ from telluric acid by an adsorption method, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. 19 (1961) 186.
- [42] CHIEN-CHANG LIN et al., Preparation of carrier-free ¹³¹I with adsorption method, Nippon Gensh.Gakkaishi 5 (1963) 187.
- [43] GLEASON, G.I., Process for making radioactive iodine, US Patent 3 033 652 (1962).
- [44] GLEASON, G.I., Method for preparing and producing radioactive iodine, German Patent 1 145-146 (1963).
- [45] BELGIAN PATENT 571 045 Preparation of Radioactive Iodine-131 (1959).
- [46] BRITISH PATENT 877 535 Improvements in or relating to processes for isolating radioactive iodine-131 (Sep. 1961).
- [47] FRENCH PATENT 1 262 615 Production of iodine-131 (1961).
- [48] BURGESS, J.S., PARMENTER, L.R., PARTINGTON, E.J., Experiments on the release of iodine-131 from irradiated tellurium dioxide, RCC-R-111 (1961).
- [49] TAUGBØL, K., SAMSAHL, K., A new method for production of radioactive iodine-131, JENER-34 (1954).
- [50] TAUGBØL, K., DAHL, J. B., A simple apparatus for production of radioactive iodine-131 by dry distillation from pile-irradiated tellurium dioxide, JENER-52 (1957).
- [51] KOZYREVA-ALEXANDROVA, L.S., TEMMIKOVA, N.I., The radioisotope I¹³¹, Atomizdat, Moskva (1960).
- [52] RUPP, A. F., BEAUCHAMP, E.E., FARMAKES, J.R., Production of fission product iodine-131, ORNL-1047 (1951).
- [53] SELIGMAN, H., The recovery of radioactive isotopes in the pile, Angew, Chem. 66 (1954) 95.
- [54] BRUCE, F.R., FLETCHER, J.M., HYMAN, H.H., KATZ, J.J. (Eds), Progress in Nuclear Energy, Series III, Process Chemistry, McGraw-Hill, New York; Pergamon Press, London (1956).
- [55] ZELENAY, T., PLEJEWSKI, R., The Preparation of carrier-free I¹³¹ from tellurium dioxide irradiated in the Polish Reactor EWA, Kernenergie 3 (Dec. 1960) 1198.
- [56] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations, ICRP Publication 2, Pergamon Press, London (1959).
- [57] STEIGELMANN, W.H., Radioisotope shielding design manual, NYO-10721 (July 1963).

PROCEDURES

ATOMIC ENERGY OF CANADA LTD., CHALK RIVER, ONT., CANADA

1. GENERAL

Iodine-131 is a beta-gamma emitter with a half-life of eight days. It is produced in the reactor by the irradiation of tellurium, ¹³⁰Te(n, gamma)¹³¹Te (beta decay)¹³¹I.

After irradiation, the ¹³¹I is chemically separated from the tellurium target and shipped as required to the pharmaceutical industry for further processing and distribution to the medical profession.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

The irradiation target consists of 35-40 g of tellurium metal shot sealed in a standard reactor capsule. The normal irradiation time is one month. The usual yield is from 8 to 15 Ci from each capsule, depending on the flux. An appropriate number of capsules are held under irradiation to provide normal local and standby requirements.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated tellurium is dissolved in an oxidizing medium wherein the elemental iodine is released from the tellurium crystalline lattice and converted to iodic acid (HIO_3). This is reduced with oxalic acid releasing elemental iodine vapour, which is collected in alkaline scrubbers as sodium iodide in sodium sulphate solution – which is the standard product of the Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. (AECL).

Irradiated capsules are pneumatically entered to the process equipment from a transfer flask. The capsules are mechanically opened and irradiated tellurium poured into a 5-litre glass reaction flask where it is dissolved in chromic and sulphuric acids. The solution is refluxed for about two hours to ensure full oxidation of the tellurium to telluric acid and iodine to iodic acid. Continuous temperature and conductivity control of the solution is necessary to ensure complete oxidation, and a safe reaction rate.

Upon completion of the oxidation, the HIO_3 is reduced by the addition of oxalic acid in a sulphuric acid medium to convert the iodine to the elemental form. The addition is made slowly and at a reduced temperature to permit controlled release of the large quantities of CO_2 formed in the breakdown of the oxalic acid. When the addition is complete, the temperature is raised and the iodine vapour is released. The vapour is passed through a series of scrubbers initially containing 1 molar sodium bisulphite (NaHSO₃) in 0.5 <u>N</u> NaOH solution. The resulting product forms as NaI in Na_2SO_4 , the bisulphite being oxidized to the sulphate form. The radiation from each scrubber is monitored to observe build-up of activity. Filters in the equipment exhaust system are also monitored to observe any release of ¹³¹I during the process.

Equipment

The processing equipment is a sealed chemical glassware system with valves, stopcocks and reagent entry lines mounted at appropriate points. The system is contained in a chemical fumehood provided with 4 in. (10 cm) of lead shielding. Fitted through the walls are stopcock turners, ball joint manipulators, valve controls and lead glass windows to permit remote viewing and operation. The fumehood exhaust leads into a series of absolute filters and activated charcoal filters which remove all particulate material and iodine vapour. All electronic instrumentation is brought out through the shielding walls to a remote control panel. Solid waste (such as empty irradiation capsules) is dropped through a shielded pipe in the floor of the hood to a shielded waste container. Liquid waste is drawn off and piped to plastic lined and shielded drums stored in a remote location.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Chemical

Samples of the final product are assayed for total solids, total nonvolatile solids, chromium content, oxidizing materials and pH. Archive samples are retained to check for composition changes in ageing of the product.

Radiochemical

Samples of the product are routinely measured for 131 I content using a calibrated quartz fibre gamma electroscope to measure the 0.364 MeV gamma ray. The radiochemical purity is periodically checked using a 512-channel analyser.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCE, NATIONAL TSING HUA UNIVERSITY, HSINCHU, TAIWAN, REPUBLIC OF CHINA

1. GENERAL

Iodine-131 is separated from irradiated telluric acid dissolved in sulphuric acid by adsorbing 131 I on to a platinum plate. It is then desorbed into dilute reducing agent solution by electrolysis. This process is simple,

neat and easy to perform. It is particularly suitable for small- and medium-scale production of ^{131}I .

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	150 g telluric acid (Extra Pure Grade ¹).
Irradiation container:	Aluminium can 4.7 cm diam.×9 cm.
Irradiation condition:	Neutron flux 4×10^{12} n/cm ² s.
Irradiation time:	30 h.

Chemical treatment

One hundred and fifty grams of irradiated telluric acid is dissolved in 400 ml of I <u>N</u> sulphuric acid. The platinum plate is immersed in the telluric acid solution to adsorb ¹³¹I. After 24 h,the platinum is taken out from the solution and washed very thoroughly with distilled water.

In a small electrolytic cell, 0. 1% sodium sulphite solution is placed. The platinum plate on which the 131 I is adsorbed is inserted into the cell and is made the cathode. Another small platinum plate is used as anode. By applying 2.6~2.8 V DC, 131 I is desorbed into the solution of reducing agent within a few minutes. About 250 mCi of 131 I is obtained.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The chemical analysis of the product is carried out according to Oak Ridge National Laboratory Master Analytical Manual $9073391-1 \sim 4$. The radiochemical purity assay is made according to $9073392-1 \sim 6$. The chemical form of ¹³¹I is determined by ascending paper chromatography. Pharmaceutical control is carried out according to Minimum Requirements of Radioactive Drugs, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Japan (1962).

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	Nal in 0.1% Na_2SO_3 solution.
Concentration:	5 mCi/ml.
Specific activity:	Carrier-free.
Acidity:	$pH = 7 \sim 8.$
Iodate:	<1%.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.

¹ Product of Kanto Chemical Co. Inc. Japan.
1. GENERAL

The method of preparation, reported by Douis and Rosa [1,2], consists of wet-treatment of a tellurous anhydride target to bring the iodine produced by irradiation to valencies corresponding to a volatile – and therefore, by distillation, easily recoverable – product. The production is based on the nuclear reaction ${}^{130}\text{Te}(n,\gamma){}^{131}\text{Te}{}^{\beta^*}$, ${}^{131}\text{I}$.

Tellurous anhydride dissolved in a soda solution gives sodium tellurite which is converted into tellurate by oxidation. The iodine, which is assumed to be mainly at valency I^{5+} and I^- , must, if sufficient H^+ ions are present, transform to valency I^0 , which is capable of distillation.

To avoid the conversion of sodium tellurite into TeO_2 , which precipitates after direct acidification, prior oxidation with H_2O_2 in the presence of a catalyst was necessary; sodium molybdate was selected for the catalyst because it was not liable to distil with iodine under the working conditions used.

After the addition of a sufficient amount of sulphuric acid to obtain a 6-8 <u>N</u> solution, i.e. the optimum concentration for the purpose of iodine distillation, distillation is then carried out. In this way a solution with a specific activity of 50-100 mCi/ml is obtained directly.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:

Tellurous anhydride TeO_2 B.D. H., more than 99% purity. Maximum quantity: 160-180 g per operation.

Irradiation capsule and conditions (Fig. 1):

EL 2	Aluminium "central channel" capsule - internal length
	110 mm; internal diam. 50 mm. Closed by crimping.
	Maximum capacity: 180 g of target. Use of central hole:
	flux 7×10^{12} n/cm ² s.
EL 3 and TRITON	Aluminium tube - internal length 65 mm; internal diam.
	22.5 mm. Closed by crimping. Maximum capacity: 53 g
	of target. Use of "heavy water" channel at EL-3: flux
	$1 \sim 2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2$ s. TRITON: flux $\sim 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2$ s.
SILOE	Aluminium tube - internal length 55 mm; internal diam.
	19.9 mm. Closed by crimping. Maximum capacity: 40 g
	of target. SILOE: flux $\sim 7 \times 10^{13}$ n/cm ² s.

Activity produced:

Iodine-131 activity, produced by irradiation at 10^{12} n/cm^2 s, is summarized below:

Activity (mCi/g of target)	8 d	15 d	Saturation
Te metal	4.85	7.25	9.70
${\rm TeO}_2$	4.37	6.65	8.75



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of ¹³¹I (front view)

Chemical treatment

Separation method

After uncrimping the irradiation tubes, the powder is poured into the dissolving bottle; 500 ml of 15% NaOH are introduced and the stirring system is set in motion until dissolution is complete. The sodium tellurite solution thus obtained in the dissolving bottle is then passed through a siphon connection. The dissolving bottle is rinsed with 100 ml of 15% NaOH and two portions of doubly-distilled water (5 ml each), which then accompany the tellurite solution. The rinsing is completed with two more portions of doubly-distilled water (20 ml each), which are passed into the distillation flask with the remainder of the solution.

A 5-ml buffer solution of M/40 sodium carbonate and M/5 sodium bicarbonate is placed in the distillation receiver bottle, after which oxidization of the tellurite solution is carried out. For this purpose 40 ml of 15% sodium molybdate, then 70 ml of 110-volume hydrogen peroxide are placed in the distillation bottle. Acidification is then carried out by means of 240 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid which must be carefully poured in very small portions to avoid excessive bubbling.

Reflux boiling is then carried out in a stream of nitrogen for one hour, followed by distillation; 50 ml of the final solution is collected, after which distillation is stopped. An 131 I solution of pH 8-10 is thus obtained carrier-free and also free of reducing agent.

Preparation of ¹³¹ in isotonic solution

After normal preparation the sulphuric tellurate solution is kept for 24 h to allow a certain quantity of 131 I to reform. After placing 3 ml of 0.025 <u>M</u> NaOH+0.3 ml of <u>M</u> thiosulphate in the receiver and adding 70 ml of hydrogen peroxide the solution is reflux-boiled for one hour. Distillation (Fig. 2) is then carried out in the same manner and 30 ml is recovered. This solution is recuperated in a bottle containing 3 ml of an isotonic phosphate buffer.



FIG.2. Apparatus for the production of ¹³¹I (distillation area)

 $\begin{array}{c} \underline{\text{Reagents necessary for the preparation:}} \\ \text{NaOH at 15\%.} \\ \text{Sodium molybdate at 15\%.} \\ \text{Carbonate-bircarbonate buffer} & \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{Na}_2\text{CO}_3 & \underline{M}/40 \\ \text{NaHCO}_3 & \underline{M}/5. \end{array} \right. \\ \text{Isotonic phosphate buffer at 9000 } \gamma/\text{ml of P} & \text{NaH}_2\text{PO}_4 & 21 \text{ g} \\ \text{NaCl} & 45 \text{ g.} \end{array} \right.$

245

Bring up to 500 ml with doubly-distilled water. Adjust the pH to 6.3 with 4 N NaOH. Filter. Sterilize for half an hour at 1 kg/cm^2 .

Equipment

Composed essentially of:

1 dissolving bottle to which is fitted a glass rotary stirrer.

1 glass distillation flask with several plunger tubes surmounted by Vigreux pins and a reflux condenser.

1 receiver flask, with a plunger tube.

Several siphon connections for transferring the solution.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

After one complete process the following operations are performed: Radioactivity measurement.

Spark spectrography, to determine the metallic impurity content. This is generally lower than $5\mu g/ml$.

Chemical control [3], to verify that the 131 I is indeed present in the form of NaI and not in an oxidized form. Chromatography is carried out on Whatman No. 1 paper dipped in a chromatographic mixture of three volumes of methanol to one volume of water. The Rf of sodium iodine is 1, of sodium iodate 0.46. The respective positions of the two iodized compounds are shown by the brown colour formed by the iodide-iodate reaction in an acidic medium. If we compare the results with an autoradiogram or record the radioactivity along the chromatogram we can confirm that there is no iodate in the sodium iodide (131 I) solution.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: $^{131}IS-1$ - Solution of sodium iodide (^{131}I), carrier-free, non-injectable

A sterile, aqueous solution of sodium iodide $Na^{131}I$, pH 7-10, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 20-30 mCi/ml average; 100 mCi/ml maximum.

Radioactive purity:	131 I content > 99.9%.	
Radiochemical purity:	Iodides content > 95%.	
Specific activity:	Above 1 Ci/mg.	
Composition of the solution:	As indicated in the F	rench Pharmacopoeia:
	Sodium radioiodide	unweighable quantity
	Anhydrous Na ₂ CO ₃	0.26 mg
	Anhydrous NaHCO ₃	1.68 mg
	Anhydrous Na ₂ S ₂ O ₃	1.50 mg
	Distilled water	1 ml

No undesirable chemical impurities

246

Reference: $^{131}IS-2$ - Solution of sodium iodide (^{131}I) at 2 mCi/ml, injectable

An aqueous, sterile, isotonic and pyrogen-free solution of sodium iodide Na¹³¹I in a phosphate buffer, pH 7, meeting the following specifications: Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 2 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: ¹³¹I content > 99. 9% (gamma spectrum charac-

teristic of ¹³¹I). Radiochemical purity: Iodide content > 95%. Specific activity: Above 1 Ci/mg. Composition of the solution: Sodium radioiodide unweighable quantity NaH₂PO₄, H₂O 4.2 mg NaC1 9 mg NaOH pH quantity sufficient to give a pH of 7 $Na_2S_2O_3$, $5H_2O$ 2.48 mg Distilled water 1 ml

Sterile. Pyrogen-free.

Reference: ¹³¹I D - Capsules of sodium radioiodide (¹³¹I)

Coloured capsules of assimilable gelatine containing, after evaporation of a carrier-free sodium iodide $Na^{131}I$ solution, a diagnostic dose of ^{131}I and meeting the following specifications:

Radioactivity per capsule, measured to within 5% and indicated by means of a colour code: up to 50 mCi.

Radioactive purity:	¹³¹ I content > 99.9% (gamma spectrum charac-
	teristic of iodine).
Radiochemical purity:	Iodides content $> 95\%$.
Specific activity:	Above 1 Ci/mg.

REFERENCES

- DOUIS, M., ROSA, U., Perfectionnements apportés aux procédés pour la production de l'iode 131 à partir des composés du tellure, P. V. No. 824 525 - French Patent BF No. 1262615, Paris du 15 Avril 1960.
- [2] DOUIS, M., ROSA, U., A new method for iodine-131 production from pile irradiated tellurium dioxide, Energia nucleare <u>8</u> 10 (Oct. 1961)
- [3] COHEN, Y., A new class of medicament radioactive isotopes, Produits Pharmaceutiques, Rapport CEA No. 2150 (1962).

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production of ¹³¹I is based on the nuclear reaction ¹³⁰Te(n, γ)¹³¹m Te . ^{IT}, ¹³¹Te β , ¹³¹I. The irradiated tellurium dioxide target is dissolved in sodium hydroxide solution; sulphuric acid and ferric sulphate are added and the carrier-free iodine is distilled into a receiver containing dilute sodium hydroxide solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Tellurium dioxide, (BDH/purity 99%).
Flux:	$4 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	200 h.
Container:	Quartz ampoule.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target is forwarded through an air lock into a box hermetically closed and fitted with special shielding, where it is opened. Tellurium dioxide is poured into the distillation bottle placed into a separate box. Distillation is carried out after adding concentrated sulphuric acid. Iodine is collected in a receiver containing sodium hydroxide. The product is sealed in ampoules and sterilized in an autoclave at 120°C for 40 min.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The purity of the target is previously checked with the aid of spectrometric methods and activation analysis. Aliquot samples from the product are taken and the purity is controlled spectrometrically and, with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser, by comparing the spectrum with that of a "mock iodine" standard. Samples from each charge are checked for half-life. pH and sterility are controlled in the usual way.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Radiochemical purity: 99%.

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Iodine-131 is produced by the fission of uranium, as well as by the thermal neutron irradiation of tellurium, tellurium dioxide or telluric acid. At Trombay, 131 I is produced on a routine basis by the neutron irradiation of tellurium metal.

248

The 131 I is recovered from the irradiated tellurium by dissolving the target in a mixture of chromic and sulphuric acid, followed by reduction of the iodate with oxalic acid. The iodine is distilled into sodium sulphite solution. The product is purified by one more oxidation reduction cycle followed by distillation. The distillate is concentrated after adjusting the pH to ~8 to bring 131 I into sodium iodide.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Pure tellurium metal powder.
50 g in 1 capsule, type A (screw-capped 1S aluminium can,
73 mm high and 26.5 mm diam.)
Flux: 2 to 3×10^{12} n/cm ² s.
Irradiation period: 4 weeks.
25 g in 1 capsule, type C (cold-welded 2S aluminium can, 44 mm
high and 22 mm diam.)
Flux: 4 to $6 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Irradiation period: 4 weeks.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated can containing 50 g Te powder is opened, and the contents are transferred into flask F_1 (see Fig. 1). The oxidation mixture consisting of 300 ml of 15 N chromic acid solution, and 700 ml of 50% H_2SO_4 is loaded into flask F_1 . The mixture is then refluxed for two hours using infra-red lamps for heating the flask. The stopper of the reflux condenser (C_1) is kept open while the stopcock S_2 is kept closed. After dissolution, the mixture is cooled for two hours by passing water through the cooling coil. After cooling, 165 g of oxalic acid dihydrate are added to reduce the excess of chromic acid. After about 1 h the water circulation in the cooling coil is stopped and the heating is started by switching on the infra-red lamps. Ten millilitres of 0.1 N NaOH is kept in flask F_2 . The stopcock S_2 is opened now and the distillation is carried out till no more iodine distils into flask F_2 . (As shown by the reading of the ion-chamber kept near F_1 .) More than 90% of iodine distils into flask F_2 .

The contents of flask F_2 are then made about 16 N with respect to sulphuric acid and the solution is heated to boiling point. Potassium-permanganate solution is added dropwise until a permanent pink colour is obtained. Boiling is continued for 15 min more. At this stage 5.0 ml of a solution of 1 mg/ml sodium sulphite is kept in flask F_3 . Oxalic acid is then added to flask F_2 dropwise till the pink colour disappears. Iodine will start distilling and the distillation will be over in about 30 min.

The pH of the distillate is adjusted to about 8 by adding hydroxide, and the solution is concentrated to a small volume to obtain a radioactive concentration of not less than 10 mCi/ml. Finally the solution is transferred into a storage bottle.



F₁ F₂ F₃ C₁, C₂, C₃ C Dissolution flask Purification flask Concentration flask Condensers Cooling coil IR₁ - IR₃ Infra-red lamps $IM_1 - IM_2$ Isomantles IC₁, IC₂ Ion chambers S₁, S₂ Stopcocks Traps T₁, T₂ ST Safety trap

J, K, L Receptacles for ends of reagents lines DF Dropping funnel FC Fractionating column Capillary tube (used for adjusting pH) Y MN, PR Waste lines Intermediate waste bottle IB SB Storage bottle Socket for N and R U х Stopcock connecting U to IB SS See-saw

FIG.1. Iodine-131 production plant

250

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity is assayed by taking the ion current measurement of a known volume of stock solution in a calibrated ion chamber.

Radionuclide identification is performed by checking the 0.36 MeV (80%) gamma peak. The gamma-ray spectrum is examined for any other gamma-emitting impurities.

Radiochemical purity

This is determined by running a paper chromatogram, using iodide and iodate carrier, and a solvent mixture of 75% methanol and 25% water adjusted to pH 7-8 with potassium carbonate.

Rf value for $I^- = 0.75$

Rf value for $IO_3 = 0.50$

Rf value for $IO_4 = 0.00$

The iodide content must be more than 95% in a typical batch.

The total solid content is determined by evaporating a known volume of the stock solution and weighing the residue.

Any heavy metal impurities are estimated colorimetrically.

Total reducing agents

A known amount of stock solution is treated with a known excess of permanganate solution and the excess of permanganate is back-titrated against standard oxalic acid solution. The reducing agent content is expressed in millilitres of N/10 KMnO₄ per ml Na¹³¹I solution.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Code IOM-1 (Medical)

Iodine-131 as carrier-free sodium iodide in dilute sodium sulphite solution. pH 8. Solution autoclaved. Radioactive concentration = 10-50 mCi/ml.

Code IOM-2 (Medical)

Carrier-free sodium iodide absorbed on anhydrous sodium phosphate in gelatine capsules.

Activity per capsule = $50 \ \mu Ci$.

Code 101

Carrier-free sodium iodide in dilute sodium sulphite solution pH 8. Radioactive concentration 10-50 mCi/ml.

1. GENERAL

Both wet and dry distillation methods are employed. In the wet distillation method, iodine is released from the irradiated telluric acid target dissolved in concentrated sulphuric acid and ammonium persulphate. The dry method employs tellurium dioxide target, and iodine is distilled from the irradiated target under a stream of nitrogen.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

A. Wet distillation method (Figs. 1, 2)



FIG.1. Apparatus for the wet distillation method

Irradiation

Target material: 10 g of telluric acid (H_2TeO_4); purity > 99%.Container:Cold weld-type aluminium capsule (Fig. 3).Flux: $\sim 3 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-2).Irradiation time:130 h.



FIG.2. Arrangement of the apparatus for ¹³¹I production in the wet distillation method

Electro-magnetic valve

- a. Suction bottle
- b. Distillation vessel
- c. Collector bottle of product
- d. Trap bottle
- e. Mantle heater



FIG.3. Aluminium capsule cutter

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target is dissolved in 18 $\rm N\,H_2SO_4$, and the iodine is distilled with the addition of ammonium persulphate. The distilled iodine is collected in 0.1% NaOH and 0.05% sodium hydrogen sulphite.

Ten grams of irradiated target are dissolved in 200 g of 18 \underline{N} $H_2SO_4.$ Add one gram of ammonium persulphate.

Iodine is distilled under the nitrogen stream by heating.

Distilled iodine is collected in the collector solution (10 ml, mixed solution of 0.1% NaOH and 0.05% sodium hydrogen sulphite). Uncollected iodine is then collected in the second collector solution.

Transfer the collector solutions into the flask, then adjust the acidity to pH 7-9 by the addition of 0.1% NaOH.

Chemical forms are determined by paper chromatography: Filter paper: Toyo filter paper No. 51A

riner paper:	Toyo Inter paper No. 51A
Reagent:	75% methanol solution
Time:	3 h (20 cm)
R _f :	$IO_3^ 0.4 - 0.5; I^ 0.7 - 0.8; I_2^- > 0.9$

B. Dry distillation method (Fig. 4)



FIG.4. Arrangement of the apparatus for ¹³¹I production in the dry distillation method

- a. Quartz column
- b. Ceramic boat

c. Glass cap

- e. Electric furnace
- f. Carrier gas inlet
- g. Carrier gas outlet

d. Collector bottle of product

Irradiation

Target material: 10-50 g of tellurium dioxide (TeO₂) (JISGR¹), 100-200 mesh powder.

Container: Placed in the polyethylene sheet, then in the polyethylene capsule.

Flux: $2-3 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-1).

Irradiation time: $15 h (5 h \times 3 d)$.

Chemical treatment

By the direct distillation of the irradiated target, iodine is collected in the collector solution (0.05% NaOH and 0.1% NaHSO $_3$).

Place the irradiated target in the porcelain vessel, then in the quartz heating tube (50 mm diam. and 500 mm long).

Heat for 5 h at 750° C under the nitrogen or air stream. The distilled iodine is collected in the collector solution (50 ml of 0.05% NaOH and 0.1% NaHSO₃) with bubbling by carrier gas.

¹ Japan Industrial Standard Reagent Grade.

Determination of chemical forms is made by paper chromatography. The form, I , was the only one detected by chromatography with 75% methanol solution.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The contents of total solids, non-volatile materials, and heavy metals are determined by the following methods:

Total solids: Evaporation and drying at 110° C of one millilitre sample solution. Non-volatile materials: Evaporation and drying at 600°C of one millilitre sample solution.

Heavy metals: Comparison of colour development with the standard lead solution by the addition of hydrogen sulphide.

The tellurium content is determined by the polarographic method.

The routine assay of the product is made by a well-type ionization chamber; for calibration, a $4\pi \beta - \gamma$ coincidence counter is employed.

The amount of carrier is determined by the spectrophotometric method, utilizing iodine-starch reaction.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	Iodine in dilute thiosulphate solution.
pH:	7 - 9.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.
Specific activity:	Carrier-free.

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

In a thermal neutron flux ¹³¹I is produced from tellurium dioxide according to the reaction: ${}^{130}\text{Te}(n, \gamma){}^{131}\text{Te} \xrightarrow{\beta^{-}}{25 \text{ min}}{}^{131}\text{I}$. The iodine produced is separated from the target material by means of dry distillation at 700°C and is absorbed in dilute sodium hydroxide solution, giving a slightly alkaline solution of Na ${}^{131}\text{I}$.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material: TeO₂, 99.6% pure, Johnson, Matthey& Co., pretreated by sintering at 650°C and re-ground.

Amount:	300 g.
Time of irradiation:	2 weeks.
Container:	Aluminium can with quartz inner container.
Flux:	About 2×10^{12} n/cm ² s.
Side reactions:	Effects of side reactions are considered negligible.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated tellurium dioxide is heated to 700° C in a stream of air. The air is circulated through a small absorption column, where the released iodine vapour is absorbed in a dilute sodium hydroxide solution. The processing time is around 3 h. Sodium thiosulphate is added to the solution for protection against oxidation of the 131 I ion.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative scintillation counting or Geiger-Müller counting. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography,

dry matter content (evaporation). Radiochemical purity control, radiochromatography. Specific activity control, iodine content (spectrophotometry). Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

IO - sodium iodide in dilute sodium thiosulphate solution.

Radioactive concentration:	20-100 mCi/ml.
Isotopic purity:	Greater than 99.9%.
Radiochemical purity:	100% as iodide+iodate, at least $95%$ as iodide.
Specific activity:	10 000 mCi/mg I.
pH:	8-10.
Total solids:	Less than 4 mg/ml.
Chemical purity:	As, Se, Te, Pb less than $5\mu g/ml$. Other metals spectrographically determined, less than $10\mu g/ml$.

ISI - sodium iodide in isotonic solution, sterilized. pH: 7-8. Total solids: Approx. 15 mg/ml. Other specifications as for IO.

IOR - sodium iodide in sodium hydroxide solution, without reducing agents. Radioactive concentration: 150-200 mCi/ml. Total solids: Less than 2 mg/ml. Other specifications as for IO.

REFERENCES

- TAUGBØL, K., SAMSAHL, R., A New Method for Separation of Radioactive Iodine-131, JENER Report No. 34 (1954).
- [2] TAUGBØL, K., DAHL, J.B., A Simple Apparatus for Production of Radioactive Iodine-131 by dry Distillation from Pile-Irradiated Tellurium Dioxide, JENER Report No. 52 (1957).

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH, SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL

Iodine-131 is obtained by steam distillation of irradiated tellurium dioxide target. Distillate, containing elementary iodine, is absorbed in various solutions depending on the final product required. The yield is 85-95%.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Tellurium dioxide, analytical grade, 160 g.
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	4 to 6 weeks (reactor working 86 hper week at full power).
Container:	Aluminium capsule closed by welding.
Activity obtained:	5 Ci of ¹³¹ I.

Chemical treatment

One hundred and sixty grams of irradiated tellurium dioxide target are dissolved in 20% NaOH in the presence of sodium molybdate at room temperature under pulse stirring. The resulting solution is placed in a distillation flask and 30% H_2O_2 and H_2SO_4 are added to produce 3.0 M concentration of sulphuric acid, then H_2O_2 is added again. The distillation flask is connected with a source of nitrogen which passes through the apparatus at a rate of 2-3 bubbles per second during the whole operation and with a system of condensers. The flask is fitted with a reflux condenser, whose upper end is connected to a yielding condenser. The distillate receiver is filled with an iodine-absorbing solution.

The solution in the distillation flask is refluxed for one hour, then the reflux condenser is turned off and the distillation begins. After collecting an appropriate volume of the distillate the distillation can be interrupted by turning on the reflux condenser. Thus the product can be collected and the receiver can be refilled with the absorbing solution.

TeO ₂ (g)	NaOH (20%) (ml)	Na ₂ MoO ₄ (50%) (ml)	H ₂ O ₂ (30%) (ml)	H ₂ SO ₄ (98%) (ml)	H ₂ O ₂ (39%) (ml)
105	315	25	46	137	17
160	480	48	70	208	25
210	630	50	92	274	33
265	795	73	116	345	41.5

The amounts of reagents required for the processing of typical amounts of ${\rm TeO}_2$ are:

The distillation is carried out so that the absorbing solution is diluted ten times with the distillate (e.g. volume of absorbing solution, 5 ml; final volume after distillation, 50 ml).

The operations are carried out from behind a lead shield 5-10 cm thick.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of the final product is measured with an ionization chamber calibrated with a standard.

The chemical purity is determined spectrally.

The radiochemical purity is determined by paper chromatography.

The radiation purity is determined by gamma spectrometry.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Note: All the final product compositions below show the amount of sodium salts in 1 ml of distilled water.

Sodium iodide	For labelling		Medical (oral and for injection ^a)		
Carrier-free Final product composition	NaOH	2 mg	NaH2PO4. H2O NaCl Na2S2O3	4. 14 mg 6. 43 mg 1. 58 mg	
	Na2CO3 NaHCO3	0.26 mg 1.68 mg	NaOH	рН 7-9	

^a For injections: sterile, pyrogen-free

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION (cont.)

Radiation purity:99.9%Radiochemical purity:95%Specific activity:10 Ci/mgImpurities As, Pb, Tc:5 ppmpH:7-9Radioactive concentration:Technical 30-150 mCi/ml
Medical (oral) 20-30 mCi/ml ^{b,c}
Medical (for injection) 2 mCi/ml ^c

^b On request up to 100 mCi/ml

^c Accuracy of determinations ± 7%

REFERENCES

[1] Radioaktywni izotop I-131, Atomizdat (1960).

- [2] DOUIS, M., ROSA, U., Energia Nucleare (1961) 8623.
 - [3] COUSTANT, R., J. inorg. nucl. Chem. 7 (1958) 133.
 - [4] RUPP, A.F., ORNL 1047 (1951).
 - [5] TAUGBØL, K., SAMSAHL, R., Jener Report No. 34 (1954).
 - [6] TAUGBØL, K., DAHL, J.B., Jener Report No. 92 (1957).
 - [7] ARROL, W.J., AERE I/R-777 (1951).
 - [8] KENNY, A.W., SPRAGG, W.T., AERE C/R-349.
 - [9] COUSTANT, R., "An investigation of the valency state of ¹³¹I produced by irradiation of telluric acid", 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 28 (1958) 177.
 - [10] ZELENAY, T., PLEJEWSKI, R., Kernenergie 3 (1960) 1198-201.

INSTITUTE FOR ATOMIC PHYSICS, BUCHAREST, ROMANIA

1. GENERAL

The nuclear reactions employed are: 130 Te(n, γ) 131 Te, followed by 131 Te $\stackrel{\beta}{\longrightarrow}$, 131 I. The separation of 131 I was made by distillation, after target dissolution, acidification and oxidation.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE [1-3]

Irradiation

Target:	TeO_2 purum, the amount depending on the request.
Flux:	$1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	160 h.
Container:	Aluminium cans.
Side reactions:	124 Te(n, γ) 125 Te and 126 Te(n, γ) 127 Te.

Chemical treatment

This is carried out in a lead box having a wall thickness of 100 mm. Transfer irradiated target to lead box.

Dissolve with NaOH 10% solution in a beaker.

Filter in the distillation vessel.

Add concentrated H_2SO_4 and 2-3 ml H_2O_2 .

Distil under reduced pressure. Receive distillate in NaOH and some milligrams of $Na_2S_2O_3$

Concentrate the solution to the desired specific activity.

Neutralize the excess NaOH with HCl.

Isotonization (for medical use).

Transfer to delivery bottle.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The radiochemical purity is controlled by paper chromatography; the chemical purity, pH, and sterility are controlled in the usual way.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

The total activity delivered weekly amounts to 2000-3000 mCi. Deliveries of radioiodine are usually made twice a week.

REFERENCES

- RIABCIKOV, D. I., ERMAKOV, A. N., KOZIREVA, L. S., ORESKO, V. F., "Primenenie mecenih atomov v analiticeskoi himii, A. N. SSSR. M. (1955) 179.
- [2] CHIOTAN, C., DEMA, I., FRANGOPOL, P., GIRD, E., VOICU, V., Revista de Chimie 12 (1962).
- [3] CHIOTAN, C., NASCUTIU, T., ZAMFIR, I., Studii si cercetări de fizică Acad. Republ. Pop. Rom. 1 (1962).

JUNTA DE ENERGIA NUCLEAR, MADRID, SPAIN

1. GENERAL

The irradiated telluric acid target is dissolved in phosphoric acid in the presence of hydrogen peroxide, and iodine is distilled under a nitrogen stream [1].

260

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	300 g telluric acid of analytical grade quality.
Container:	Leaktight aluminium container, 24×26 mm diam.
Flux:	$4 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s}$ (JEN-1).
Irradiation time:	Two weeks, equivalent to 80 h of continuous operation at 1 MW.
	Approximate yield is 1000 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

The irradiated target is distilled in the presence of phosphoric acid in an oxidizing medium and a stream of nitrogen. The apparatus used is shown in Fig. 1 and the entire process comprises the following steps:



FIG.1. Iodine-131 production process

The irradiated telluric acid target is placed in the flask (A) which contains 1 litre of concentrated H_3PO_4 . Add 100 ml of 30% H_2O_2 (analytical grade), and heat the flask gently to decompose hydrogen peroxide while passing a gentle stream of nitrogen.

Raise the temperature to initiate the distillation of water. The water entrains all the iodine which is collected in the receiver (C). The trapping solution for the iodine is a mixture of 1 ml of 0.1 <u>M</u> NaOH and 2 ml of 0.1 <u>M</u> Na₂S₂O₃, introduced in the receiver (C) at the beginning of the operation.

Distillation with less than 18 ml of water will ensure the complete iodine collection.

Transfer the solution containing iodine to a penicillin bottle which contains 2 ml of phosphate buffer solution; phosphate buffer is prepared by the neutralization of saturated NaH_2PO_4 solution with NaOH with subsequent filtration. A conductometric determination is then made to establish what volume of the solution will be necessary, when made up to 20 ml, to yield the same conductivity as a solution of 9 g NaCl/l.

If the iodine is to be collected in an alkaline medium without a reducing agent, 2 ml of 1 M NaOH are introduced into the receiver (C).

Apparatus

The production is carried out in an enclosure having the same dimensions and overall design as that used for ^{32}P production. The differences are the following:

thick (see Fig. 2).

The air-tight box is surrounded by a shield made of lead bricks 5 cm



FIG.2. Unit for the production of iodine-131

The ventilation system necessary to clean the inner atmosphere of the box or to keep it at a negative pressure is connected to a trap loaded with silver-impregnated active carbon to fix the iodine that may escape eventually.

Besides the equipment described above, the apparatus includes some ancillary parts, such as funnels (E-1 to E-6), siphoning vacuum balls (M-1), a burette (B), a sampling pipette P, by-pass stopcocks (8, 13), liquid wastes receivers, etc. (Fig. 1).

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

No chemical purity determination is made, except the periodical check of tellurium by emission spectroscopy.

Radioactive purity is determined by gamma spectrometry¹.

Half-life measurements are made from time to time.

Radiochemical purity controls are carried out in accordance with British Pharmacopoeia[2]. This involves study of the presence of iodate by means of ascending chromatography in methyl alcohol and water (3:1).

Autoradiography is used to localize radioactivity on the chromatograms [2,3]. The Rf values given in reference [3] for iodide and iodate are adopted.

Activity measurements are made with an ionization chamber¹. The apparatus is periodically checked with solutions of absolute standards

measured by $4\pi\beta - \gamma$ coincidence. In general, an error of 5-10% is allowed. In special cases the error may be less than 5%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Sodium iodide, ¹³¹I, carrier-free, non-injectable²

Sodium iodide solution in OHNa, without reducing agents meeting thefollowing specifications:Radioactive purity:131 I content > 99.5%.Radiochemical purity:Iodide content > 95%.Radioactive concentration:Maximum 20 mCi/ml.Specific activity:> 1 Ci/mg.

Sodium iodide, ¹³¹I, carrier-free, injectable²

Neutral (pH 6-8), sterile, isotonic and pyrogen-free solution of sodium iodide in phosphate buffer meeting the following specifications: Radioactive purity: 1³¹I content > 99.5%. Radioactive concentration: 1-10 mCi/ml. Specific activity: > 1 Ci/mg.

¹ See the Section on ³²P provided by the Junta de Energía Nuclear, Madrid, Spain.

² ORTEGA, J., Technique for the preparation of carrier-free radioiodine (¹³¹I) from neutron-irradiated telluric acid, Iodine-131. Spanish patent No. 287.350.

Sterility:

Analysis of pyrogens: Isotonicity: Sterilization is carried out in an autoclave at 120°C for about 1 h. See footnote¹. Adjusted by means of conductimetric measurements.

REFERENCES

- ORTEGA, J., Preparación de yodo-131 libre de portador a partir de ácido telúrico irradiado con neutrones, Anales Real Soc. Españ. Fís. Quím. 60 B (1964) 535.
- [2] BRITISH PHARMACOPOEIA 1958, The Pharmaceutical Press, London (1958) 608.
- [3] COHEN, Y., Produits Pharmaceutiques 17 1 (1962) 1-16.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Iodine-131 is produced by the neutron irradiation of tellurium according to the nuclear reaction 130 Te(n, γ) 131 Te $\stackrel{\beta}{\longrightarrow}$ 131 I. The iodine is separated from the target material by dry distillation at 800°C and trapped in dilute sodium hydroxide solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:2 kg natural TeO2, Johnson Matthey Co. Ltd., purified by sintering at 700°C and then re-ground.Irradiation container:Cluster of aluminium cans each sealed by argon arc
welding.Irradiation conditions:Flux 5 ×10¹² n/cm² s for 7 to 17 d.

Chemical treatment

The target material is purified by heating to 700° C for 8 h to remove volatile impurities (mainly SeO₂). After irradiation the TeO₂ is heated to 800° C in a stream of nitrogen. Under these conditions the iodine is released from the matrix of the target, as vapour which is then trapped out in sodium hydroxide scrubbers. The product is stabilized against radiolytic oxidation by the addition of sodium thiosulphate.

¹ See the Section on ³²P provided by the Junta de Energía Nuclear, Madrid, Spain.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

IBS.1

Chemical purity, As, Pb, Te and Se content determined. Radioisotopic purity, determined by γ -spectrometry. Radiochemical purity, ¹³¹I in the form of IODIDE determined by electrophoresis. Specific activity - determined periodically.¹

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form: Sodium iodide in dilute sodium hydroxide solution stabilized with sodium thiosulphate. Specific activity: Carrier-free; 10-30 Ci/mg iodine. Radioactive concentration: Up to 200 mCi/ml. Radioisotopic purity: No other radioisotopes detectable by γ -spectrography. 99% as iodide; not more than 1% as iodate³. Radiochemical purity: As and Pb < 5 ppm. Chemical purity: Te and Se < 10 ppm. Total solids: Sodium hydroxide and sodium thiosulphate (10 to 15 mg/ml). 8 - 11. pH:

Iodine-131²

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Iodine-131 is produced by fission of 235 U in an aluminium-clad fuel cylinder (fission yield 2.9%). Fixed process equipment at the ORNL lodine Facility is used to dissolve the aluminium, and to distil and redistil iodine.

¹ Accompanying the main nuclear reaction:

 $^{130}\text{Te}(n,\gamma)^{131}\text{Te} \xrightarrow{\beta} ^{131}\text{I}$

are two concurrent reactions

 126 Te(n, γ) 127 Te $\xrightarrow{\beta}$ 127 I (stable)

¹²⁸ Te(n, γ)¹²⁹ Te $\xrightarrow{\beta}$ ¹²⁹ I (very long-lived)

which tend to lower the specific activity of the 131I. The specific activity of each batch produced is calculated and checked experimentally from time to time.

²British Patent No. 763865.

³ Carrier free sodium iodide - ¹³¹I in aqueous solution is oxidized by its own radiation to form iodine and iodate. Sodium thiosulphate is added to prevent this and to preserve the iodine-131 as iodide. Sodium thiosulphate is itself oxidized at a rate proportional to the radioactive concentration. An amount of sodium thiosulphate is added equal to 5×10^{-4} mM/mCi iodine-131. This concentration ensures that some reducing agent is present in the solution throughout the life of the iodine-131. In further purification, iodine is oxidized to iodate with $KMnO_4$ and H_2SO_4 , then reduced to elemental iodine with concentrated H_3PO_3 and H_2O_2 and distilled. The product solution is neutralized with NaHCO₃ and adjusted to pH 8.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

An Al-clad fuel cylinder composed of 5 g of 93% ^{235}U alloyed with 31 g of aluminium (9 in. long by 1.74 in. outside diam.; weight 109 g) is irradiated. The irradiated fuel cylinder is transferred from the ORR to the Iodine Facility in a shielded transfer container.

Production method: Fission.

Target:	5 g U-Al alloy.
Neutron flux:	$\sim 2 \times 10^{14} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s}.$
Irradiation time:	21 d.
Reactor yield:	∼200 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

Fixed process equipment (Fig. 1) is used. The shielded cell has remote controls on the process vessels, 6-8 in. lead equivalent. Hot off-gas lines



FIG.1. Flow diagram for ¹³¹I purification

and cell ventilation are equipped with caustic scrubber, CWS filters, and charcoal filters.

Processing

Yield: 50-75%.

For clarity, processing is given in steps and explained (Fig. 1).

Procedure

Notes

- (1) Prepare equipment.
- (2) Charge scrubbers with ~ 10% NaOH and bubble cap column with ~0.05% NaOH.
- (3) Check scrubber caustic circulation pump and circulate caustic through off-gas scrubber.
- (4) Introduce irradiated uranium cylinder into dissolver tank.
- (5) Introduce chilled H₂O (10°C) to dissolver reflux condenser, catch-tank cooling coil, catchtank condenser, and bubble-cap column.
- (6) Add caustic solution (250 g NaOH in 1 litre of H_2O) to dissolver.
- (7) Heat the dissolver to $\sim 105^{\circ}$ C for ~ 1 h.
- (8) Stop chilled H_2O flow to dissolver reflux condenser and introduce steam.

Procedure

- (9) Add 8 <u>M</u> HNO₃ slowly to dissolver until iodine is liberated, as noted on the ionization chamber at catch tank.
- (10) Continue distillation until no additional iodine is distilled into the catch tank, as indicated by the ionization chamber at the catch tank.
- (11) Cool the dissolver and reflux condenser.
- (12) Transfer the condensate containing ¹³¹I from the catch tank to the second distillation system.

This dissolves the aluminium on the cylinder and exposes the uranium. This prevents reflux of iodine obtained in the next step.

Notes

Nitric acid is added to neutralize excess caustic and to acidify the solution from which the elemental iodine is distilled into the catchtank. The addition of H_2O_2 increases the rate of distillation of iodine. The volume is maintained at 2 litres as noted on the liquid-level gauge.

- (13) Charge the distillate receiver with 200 ml of H_2O containing 30 g of NaOH.
- (14) Add 2.5 litres of $\sim 30\%$ H₂O₂ and 130 ml of 70% HNO₃ to the still.
- (15) With cooling H₂O on the still condenser, distil iodine into the distillate receiver.
- (16) Transfer the iodine solution to the evaporator and evaporate to 1 litre.
- (17) Transfer the evaporated solution to the glass still for final purification.
- (18) Prepare the distillate receiver by adding 6 ml of 6% H₂SO₃.
- (19) To the distillation flask, add saturated $KMnO_4$ solution until an excess is noted by a pink colour, and then add 140 ml of 21 <u>M</u> H₂SO₄.
- (20) Distil ~ 400 ml and discard.
- (21) Recharge the distillate receiver with 6 ml of 6% H_2SO_3 . Slowly add concentrated H_3PO_3 to the flask until the KMnO₄ colour is cleared; then add 30% H_2O_2 dropwise during the distillation.
- (22) Neutralize solution with NaHCO₃ and adjust to a pH of ~8 in the distillate receiver. Transfer to the product bottle.

Nitric acid neutralizes caustic and acidifies the solution from which iodine is distilled; H_2O_2 oxidizes the iodide to iodine and provides sweep gas for the removal of iodine. Note the completion of ¹³¹I removal by ion chamber readings at the distillate receiver. The iodine remains in the caustic solution in the evaporator.

Add H_2SO_4 slowly to prevent local heating. The iodide is oxidized to iodate. The KMnO₄ colour should persist after the H_2SO_4 addition.

This removes traces of HNO_3 . The iodate is reduced to elemental iodine and is distilled into the H_2SO_3 in the distillate receiver. Collect approximately 100 ml of distillate.

This neutralizes excess H_2SO_3 and the H_2SO_4 produced by oxidation of H_2SO_3 . The purpose of this is to provide a basic solution to protect against later accidental acidification and release of I_2 by air or radiation decomposition (of H_2O) oxidation. Higher pH's shift iodine equilibrium toward IO_3^- formation.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for ¹³¹I and ¹³³I concentration, heavy metals, iodide/iodate ratio, total reducing agents, pH and radiochemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure Nos. 90733391, 90733392, 90733393 and 90733394.

The precision and accuracy of the ¹³¹I assay are: Calibration by $4\pi \beta - \gamma$ coincidence counter. Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 3%. Precision, 2%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, carrier-free ¹³¹I is delivered as NaI in basic sodium sulphite solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are:

pH:	7 - 8.5.
Concentration:	\geq 50 mCi/ml.
Total solids:	< 0.2 mg/mCi.
Heavy metals (as Pb):	$< 2 \ \mu g/mCi.$
Purity:	> 99.9% (exclusive of ¹³³ I).
¹³³ I:	< 2%.
Elemental iodine with	carrier added is quoted separately.

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA, YUGOSLAVIA

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of tellurium in the form of a telluric acid target gives rise to ¹³¹I by the reaction ¹³⁰Te(n, γ)¹³¹Te $\underline{\beta}$, ¹³¹I. Carrier-free ¹³¹I is produced by Constant's method [1] modified as follows:

The dissolution vessel is separated from the distillation vessel [2], the latter thus becoming a closed system not in contact with the atmosphere;

Since there is no possibility of cooling the target, the temperature of the telluric acid rises during irradiation, exceeding 100°C. Since it barely dissolves in this condition, the acid to be irradiated is first dehydrated. After irradiation it then dissolves easily in KOH [3].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Telluric acid (60 g) dried at 160°C for 24 h.
Containers:	Cylindrical aluminium cans with screwed covers, internal
	length - 70 mm, internal diam 25 mm.
Thermal flux:	3.3×10^{13} n/cm ² s (RA reactor at Vinča).
Irradiation time:	8-10 d.

269

Chemical treatment Separation method

Sixty grams of dehydrated and irradiated telluric acid are dissolved in 450 ml 10% KOH slightly heated. After transferring it to the vessel for distillation, 334 ml of water and 416 ml of sulphuric acid (1:1) are added to this solution and the radioactive iodine distilled into a reducing solution containing $Na_2S_2O_3$ (0.0025 M), Na_2CO_3 (0.005 M) and $NaHCO_3$ (0.005 M).

Apparatus

The apparatus (Fig. 1) is made of Pyrex glass placed in a box of 10-mm plexiglass shielded by a 5-cm-thick lead wall.



A Dissolution vessel

- B Distillation flask
- D Vessel for receiving distillates
- $E_1 E_6$ Vessels for adding chemicals
- FEvaporator: double jacket reservoir with xylene as the heat transfererGBurette
- g₁ g₆ Heaters

w

L Mercury manometer

 $N_1 - N_3$ and $O_1 - O_5$ Carbon filters

- P Connection to pulsator
- R₁ R₂ Waste water flasks

V Vacuum pump

Disc for distribution of ¹³¹I solution



3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution.

Radioactive purity control.

pH control.

Qualitative and quantitative spectrographic control of the target.

Chemical purity control [4-7] of the solution. Spectrography and ascending paper chromatography are used.

Radiochemical purity control. Ascending paper chromatography is used [7]. Sterility control [8].

Pyrogenity control of the solutions is used.

The fixation of ¹³¹I in the thyroid gland of rats.

Routine control of each charge includes the first, third, fifth and seventh measurement and control.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: YVI131/1x, Na¹³¹I in dilute Na₂S₂O₃, Na₂CO₃ and NaHCO₃

Radioactive concentration:	Measured to within 10%,	10 mCi/ml	average,
	50 mCi/ml maximum.		
Radioactive purity:	¹³¹ I content 99.9%.		
Radiochemical purity:	Iodide content more than	95%.	
Specific activity:	10 Ci/mg.		
No troublesome chemical in	npurities.		

Reference: YVI131/2x, Na¹³¹I in sterile isotonic solution, phosphate buffer

Radioactive concentration:Measured to within 10%, 0.5 - 2 mCi/ml.Radioactive purity:131I content 99.9%.Radiochemical purity:Iodide content more than 95%.Specific activity:10 Ci/mg.Sterile.10 Ci/mg.

Pyrogen-free.

Reference: YVI131/3x, Na¹³¹I in sterile 0.01 N NaOH solution

Radioactive concentration:	Measured to within 10%, 10	0 mCi/ml average,
	50 mCi/ml maximum.	. , _
Radioactive purity:	¹³¹ I content 99.9%.	
Radiochemical purity:	Iodide content more than 95	5%.
Specific activity:	10 Ci/mg.	
Sterile.	• –	

REFERENCES

[1] CONSTANT, R., Inorg. J. nucl. Chem. 7 (1958) 133.

- [2] STEVOVIĆ, J., JAĆIMOVIĆ, Lj., Tekhnika, Belgrade 17 (1962) 1449.
- [3] TEOFILOVSKI, Č., Chimie et Industrie, Paris 92 (1964) 377.

[4] ČVORIĆ, J., DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., NEMODA, D., PROKIĆ, B., Tekhnika, Belgrade 19 (1964) 822.

[5] CVJETIČANIN, N., JOVANOVIĆ, N., Bull. Boris Kidric Inst. Nucl. Scie. 13 1 (1962) 43.

[6] PALIGORIĆ, I., ĆVORIĆ, J., Bull. Boris Kidrič Inst. Nucl. Scie. 14 2 (1963) 95.

[7] DOCTOR, V. M., TRUNNELL, J. B., Endocrinology 64 (1959) 455.

[8] JOVANOVIĆ, V., VUJEVIĆ, M., Tekhnika, Belgrade 18 (1963) 2005.

IRON-59

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

45.6 d

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

beta (β ⁻)	0.13 (1%)	gamma	0.145 (0.8%)
	0.275 (44.6%)		0.19 (2.4%)
	0.455 (55.4%)		0.337 (0.3%)
	1.56 (≈ 0.3%)		1.10 (56%)
			1.29 (44%)

1.3. Decay scheme



273

2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross-section (barn)	Activ at 24 h	vity of ele 10 ¹² n/cm (µCi/g) 1 week	ment 1 ² s sat.	Secondary reactions and half-life of the radionuclide formed
58 Fe(n,γ)59 Fe	0.33	1.01 (th)	14	96	960	${}^{54}_{26}$ Fe(n, γ) ${}^{55}_{26}$ Fe (T = 2.6 yr) isot. abund. : 5.82% σ = 2.8 barn
						54 Fe(n, p)55 (T = 278 d) σ - 56 mbarn)
						$ \begin{cases} 54 \\ 26 \\ 76 \\ (T = 27.8 d) \\ \sigma = 0.74 mbarn \end{cases} $
						⁵⁶ Fe(n,p) ⁵⁶ Mn (T = 2.58 h) σ = 0.8? 0.4 mbarn?
⁵⁹ Co(n, p) ⁵⁹ Fe	100	0.00037 0.0057 (f)				⁵⁹ Co(n,γ) ⁶⁰ ₂₇ Co (T = 5.27 yr) σ = 36 barn
						⁵⁹ ₂₇ Co(n,α) ⁵⁶ ₂₅ Mn (T - 2.58 h)
⁶² 28Ni(π,α) ⁵⁹ Fe	3.66	~0.0000125 (f)	~0. 09	~0.6	~6	62 Ni(n.γ) <mark>53</mark> Ni (T - 120 yr) σ = 15 barn
	•					${}^{58}_{28}Ni(n,p){}^{58}_{27}Co$ (T = 71 d) σ = 0.09 barn
		- -				${}^{58}_{28}$ Ni(n, α) ${}^{55}_{26}$ Fe (T = 2.6 yr) σ = 0.17 mbarn
						⁵⁰ ₂₈ Ni(n, p) ⁵⁰ ₂₇ Co (T = 5. 27 yr) isot. abund.: 26. 23% σ = ~5 mbarn
						⁶¹ Ni(n,p) ⁶¹ ₂₇ Co (T = 1.65 h) isot. abund.: 1.19%
						⁶⁴ / ₂₈ Ni(n,γ) ⁵⁵ ₂₇ Ni (T = 2.56 h) isot. abund. 1. 1.08% σ = 1.52 barn

,

(th): for thermal neutrons

(f): for fast neutrons

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-6].

The nuclear reaction normally used for the production of 59 Fe is the (n, γ) on 58 Fe.

For most applications it is necessary to obtain 59 Fe preparations with a high specific activity and this can be done (a) from enriched 58 Fe irradiated in the form of 58 Fe₂O₃; or (b) using the Szilard-Chalmers effect on potassium ferrocyanide, but this results in a mixture of 59 Fe and 55 Fe (T = 2.7 yr).

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Industrial

⁵⁹Fe has been used for:

Autodiffusion and migration studies	[7-9]
Wear and corrosion studies	[10-14]
The kinetic study of reactions in the Martin furnace	
and converters	[15]
Hydrological studies	[16]

In addition to the references given for industrial uses of 59 Fe reference may be made to general works [17].

3.2. Medical and biological

Used for diagnosis in the form of chloride or citrate (uses being the same in both forms). ⁵⁹Fe is used to study: iron metabolism [18-21]; absorption; the role of iron in haematopoiesis; excretion; and particularly plasma iron turnover and the measurement of plasma fixing power.

The activity is of the order of $10-25 \ \mu Ci$ [20].

In addition to the references already given there are others dealing with the medical uses of 59 Fe [22].

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

4.1.1. Irradiation doses

The dose delivered by 1 Ci of ⁵⁹Fe at a distance of 50 cm is:

- for 0.19 MeV γ quanta 0.008 rem/h

- for 1.10 MeV γ quanta 1.344 rem/h

- for 1.29 MeV γ quanta <u>1.240 rem/h</u>

2.592 rem/h

4.1.2. Safety measures

Below are shown the tenth-thicknesses¹ for lead and ordinary concrete, which give some idea of the amount of protection needed in handling 59 Fe:

	Tenth-thickness (cm)		
	Pb	Ordinary concrete d = 2, 3	
For a y of 1.1 MeV	3.2	17	
For a y of 1.29 MeV	3.6	19 Ref.[23]	

In practice, the following lead thicknesses are needed to reduce the dose to 1 mrem/h at 50 cm:

(cm)	⁵⁹ Fe	
4.8	to handle	10 mCi
8.2	to handle	100 mCi
11.7	to handle	1 Ci

4.2. Internal irradiation

Iron-59 is classified as a highly toxic class 2 isotope [24]. Its effective half-life, allowing for both radioactive decay and excretory processes, is:

Organ	(d)	
Whole body	42.7	
Spleen	41.9	
Lungs	44.5	
Liver	41.7	
Bones	43. 9	[25]

In the case of internal irradiation (ingestion or inhalation) the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water respectively, for a 40-h exposure, are:

 $10^{-7} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ and $2 \times 10^{-3} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ (soluble form) $5 \times 10^{-8} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ and $2 \times 10^{-3} \ \mu \text{Ci/cm}^3$ (insoluble form) [26]

4.3. Decontamination

Except in one or two particular cases, there is no special decontamination method for any given radioisotope. General texts on this subject [27-31] indicate that the following measures are adequate.

¹ The tenth-thickness is the thickness of shielding required to reduce the intensity of a γ -radiation of given energy by a factor of ten.

4.3.1. Skin

Rapid and repeated washing with good-quality soap, warm water and a soft brush. If this is not sufficient, use can be made of detergents or 5-10% solutions of complexing agents of the EDTA (ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid) type. It is also possible to apply saturated permanganate solutions followed by rinsing with a 5% bisulphite solution to neutralize and remove stain. Abrasive powders should not be used and the addition of entraining agents has proved disappointing.

If any wounds are contaminated, they must be treated rapidly by bleeding, washing with water, decontamination as for the skin and sometimes by additional surgical cleaning.

4.3.2. Hair

If the hair is contaminated, it is important not to take a shower, but merely to wash the head. A normal, good-quality shampoo is usually sufficient. If contamination is persistent, the following solutions can be used:

paraisopropylorthocresol;

lavandin oil;

AC compounded terpene-free lemon;

glycerine diacetin; and

benzoic acid.

Contamination is much easier to remove if the hair is not greasy.

4.3.3. Laboratory equipment

Glasswear is usually cleaned by steeping and this is mainly a radiochemical problem. The use of a specific entraining agent or solutions of complexing agents give good results as also do solutions of chromic acid, concentrated nitric acid, ammonium citrate, pentasodium triphosphate or ammonium bifluoride.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

The problem is to obtain ⁵⁹Fe solutions of high specific activity. The various methods of doing so are reviewed by Swartout and Rice [32].

5.1. Direct irradiation of iron oxide enriched with ⁵⁸Fe [33, 34]

 58 Fe(n, γ) 59 Fe

The method consists simply of dissolving the target in hydrochloric acid so as to obtain a 1 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid solution of iron chloride. For medical use, this chloride is transformed into an iron citrate solution in a 12% sodium citrate solution at pH = 5. This is achieved by precipitating the iron hydroxide with concentrated ammonia, after which it is dissolved in citric acid and the pH is adjusted to 4.5-5.0 with soda.

⁵⁹Co(n, p)⁵⁹Fe

Kenny, Maton and Spragg [35] dissolve the cobalt target in 3 N nitric acid and then obtain a pH between 4 and 7 with ammonia and ammonium acetate. After adding acetyl acetone, they extract the iron without entraining agent as acetyl acetonate, with xylene. The xylene is then separated out and removed by evaporation (the small amount of residual organic matter is destroyed with perchloric acid). Wahl [36] starts with the oxide Co_3O_4 which he dissolves, after irradiation, in concentrated, hot hydrochloric acid. He adds 10 mg of entraining iron and uses isopropyl ether to extract the iron, which is then re-extracted in water. Molnar [38] has studied Fe III - Co II separation on anion resins in a hydrochloric medium.

5.3. A method often used consists of applying the Szilard-Chalmers effect [39]

5.3.1. On ferrocyanic acid [40]

After irradiation, the 59 Fe formed is isolated by extraction in a Soxhlet apparatus with ether containing a small amount of hydrochloric acid, but 50% of the total activity appears to remain in the initial substance.

5.3.2. On magnesium ferrocyanide [41]

This method consists of dissolving in water so as to obtain a 0.1 <u>M</u> magnesium ferrocyanide solution and then separating the water-soluble fraction from the insoluble fraction. The precipitate contains about 80% of the total radioactivity. (The magnesium ferrocyanide of the supernatant solution can be re-crystallized for further irradiation.)

5.3.3. On potassium ferrocyanide (the salt most often used as target) [42-46]

In all cases, the irradiated potassium ferrocyanide is dissolved in water.

Williams [42] and Dewhurst and Miller [43] then co-precipitate the hydroxides by adding an entraining agent, which is generally aluminium.

Henry, Aubertin and Valade [44] have studied a method of separation on ion exchange resins (Dowex 50). They pass the potassium ferrocyanide solution through a K⁺-saturated resin column where the Fe³⁺ fixes preferentially on the K⁺, after which they elute the K⁺ with 1 <u>N</u> HCl and the Fe³⁺ with 6 <u>N</u> HCl.

Hudswell and Taylor [45] and Douis and Valade [46] separate the recoil atoms directly by using ammonia to precipitate the iron hydroxide in the potassium ferrocyanide solution, then they isolate the precipitate by centrifuging or filtering through Grade 4 fritted glass.

Douis and Valade thus obtained an enrichment factor of 400. All these methods of preparing 59 Fe by using the Szilard-Chalmers effect give a mixture of 59 Fe and 55 Fe. If pure 59 Fe is wanted, the target must consist of 58 Fe with a very low 54 Fe content.
REFERENCES

- [1] SEELMANN, E. W., PFENNING, G. (co-operation of MÜNZEL, H. and ZUNDEL, G.), Chart of the Nuclides, 2nd ed., Gersbach & Sohn Verlag, Munich (reprint 1963).
- [2] HENRY, R., «Préparation de radioéléments à période courte à l'aide d'un réacteur de recherche», Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No.17, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 207-30.
- [3] MOTEFF, J., Neutron flux and spectrum measurement with radioactivants. Nucleonics 20 12 (1962) 56-60.
- [4] PASSELL, T.O., HEATH, R.L., Cross-sections of threshold reactions for fission neutrons nickel as a fast flux monitor, Nucl. Sci. Engng 10 (1961) 308-15.
- [5] MELLISH, C.E., PAYNE, J.A., OTLET, R.L., "The production of threshold reactions in a graphite reactor", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1957) (EXTER-MANN, R. C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London (1958).
- [6] MELLISH, C.E., Threshold reaction cross-sections in reactor an intercomparison, AERE R 3251 (1960).
- [7] LEYMONIE, C., Les Traceurs Radioactifs en Métallurgie, Dunod, Ed., Paris, Chap. 3. 3. 4. (1960) 153.
- [8] LEVEQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 10.3. (1962) 177-78.
- [9] LAZARUS, D., "Mass dependence of intermetallic diffusion", Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 159-68.
- [10] LEVEQUE, P., ≪Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 12.6. (1962) 230.
- [11] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., "The use of radioisotopes in friction and wear studies", Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N. J., Chap. 13 (1961) 393-410.
- [12] PALATNIK, L.S., LJUBARSKY, I.M., LJUBCHENKO, "On the structure and wear resistance of casehardened steel", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris, (Sept. 1957) I (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London (1958) 375-87.
- [13] LEYMONIE, C., Les Traceurs Radioactifs en Métallurgie, Dunod, Ed., Paris, Chap. 4.2.1. (1960) 167.
- [14] BOJARSKI, Z., ORZESZKO, W., PAWLOWSKI, S., WUSATOWSKI, R., ZIOLOWSKI, Z., "An assessment trial of the quality of refractory materials used in a casting pit and the distribution of non-metallic inclusions in steel by means of radioactive tracers", Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (1957) I, (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.) Pergamon Press, London (1958) 388-410.
- [15] LEVEQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments», (Industrial application of radioelements) Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 9.3. (1962) 153.
- [16] LEVEQUE, P., Chap. 16 (1962) 331-43. «Les applications industrielles des radioelements », (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 9.3. (1962) 153.
- [17] SHEPPARD, C. W., Basic Principles of the Tracer Methods, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1962). HOURS, R., Les applications industrielles des traceurs radioactifs (Industrial applications of radioactive tracers), Rapport CEA, DR/AR/63-I/RH/HLD (Jan. 1963).
 BROWNELL, L. E., Radiation Uses in Industry and Science, US Govt Printing Office, Washington (1961). UNITED NATIONS, Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>12</u>, <u>15</u> (1956). UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>19</u>, <u>20</u> (1958).
 - INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Technical Directory, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp. A survey of radioisotope applications classified by industry or economic activity, with selected references to the international literature.
- [18] TUBIANA, M., Les Isotopes Radioactifs en Médecine et en Biologie, Masson et Cie., Ed., Paris, Chap. IX, 135-37; Chap. XIII, 241-45 and 258-62 (1950).
- [19] BEHRENS, C.F., "Iron", Atomic Medicine, The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 3rd ed., Chap. 20.2 (1959) 487-90.
- [20] BEIERWALTES, W. H., JOHNSON, P. C., SOLARI, A. J., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia (1957) 288-93.

- [21] OWEN, C. A., "Hematology", Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. (1959) 195-215.
- [22] VEALL, N., VETTER, H., Radioisotope Techniques in Clinical Research and Diagnosis, Butterworths, London (1958) 254-55.
 OWEN, C. A., Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, III. (1959) 213.
 KAMEN, M. D., Isotopic Tracers in Biology, Academic Press Inc., New York (1957) 256-57, 380, 399.
 HAHN, P.E., Therapeutic Use of Artificial Radioisotopes, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (1956).
 FIELDS, Th., SEED, L., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, The Year Book Publishers, Chicago, 2nd ed. (1961).
 - INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Use of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. IAEA/WHO/FAO Conf., Mexico City, Nov. 1961, Academic Press, London (1962) Vol. I, 563 pp, Vol. II, 328 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1957) (EXTERMANN, R. C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London III (1958).

URBAN AND SCHWARZENBERG, Radioactive Isotopes in Clinical Practice and Research, Proc. Symp. Bad Gastein (1959), Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich (1960).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 10 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958).

- [23] JOFFRE, H., Les problèmes physiques de la radioprotection, (Physical problems of radioprotection), Génie atomique I INSTN, Saclay (1963).
- [24] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [25] MORGAN, K. Z., Protection contre les rayonnements, Recommandations de la commission internationale des protection radiologique, Rapport du Comité II sur la dose admissible en cas d'irradiation interne (1959), Gauthier-Villars, Ed. (1963).
- [26] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Baisc Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No. 9, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 57 pp.
- [27] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, National Bureau of Standards, Control and Removal of Radioactive Contamination in Laboratories, Handbook 48 (1951) 4-17.
- [28] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1958) 69-76.
- [29] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 79-81 and 82-88.
- [30] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Medical Addendum, Safety Series No.3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 62-74.
- [31] BLATZ, H., Radiation Hygiene Handbook, McGraw Hill Co., New York (1959) 18-15 to 18-23.
- [32] SWARTOUT, J.A., RICE, H.M., Preparation of radioiron of high specific activity, AECD 3983 (1955).
- [33] HUDSWELL, F., MILES, B.J., PAYNE, B., PAYNE, J.A., SCARGIL, P., TAYLOR, K.J., The preparation for dispensing of miscellaneous radioisotopes, AERE, I/R 1386 (1954).
- [34] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL 36.33 (June 1964).
- [35] KENNY, A.W., MATON, W.R.E., SPRAGG, W.T., Preparation of carrier free iron 59, Nature, London 165 4195 (1950) 483.
- [36] WAHL, A.C., Production of ⁵⁹Fe by the ⁵⁹Co (n, p) reaction in the Brookhaven reactor, BNL 1274; Nucl. Abstr. 7. 2, 81; J. chem. Phys. 21 I (1953) 182, letter.
- [37] WAGNER, K., POSER, H., Quelques études de la formation de ⁵⁹Fe par le bombardement de ⁵⁹Co avec des neutrons de fission, Kemenergie 6 4 (1963) 177-78.
- [38] MOLNAR, F., The production of carrier free radioisotopes.III. Model experiments for producing carrierfree high specific activity ⁵⁹Fe, NSA, 16, 18 A No.24.081. Magy. tudom. Akad. Kozp. fiz. kut. Int. Kozl. 7 (1959) 22-28. (résumé in English).
- [39] MURIN, R. N., NEFEDOV, V. D., Enrichment of radioactive elements by the method of recoil nuclei, AERE Lib/Trans. 464, Trad. de Usp. Khim. SSSR <u>5</u> 21 (1952) 536-65.
- [40] KENNY, A.W., MARTIN, W.R.E., Preparation of pure iron-59 of high specific activity, Nature <u>162</u> 4119 (1948) 567-68.
- [41] SWARTOUT, J.A., Process for production of radioactive iron, USP 2.571.965 (16 Oct. 1951) 3 pp.

- [42] WILLIAMS, R.R., The Szilard-Chalmers reaction in the chain-reacting pile, J. phys. Colloid. Chem. 52 (1948) 603.
- [43] DEWHURST, H., MILLER, N., Concentration of ⁵⁹Fe activity by Szilard-Chalmers separation, Nat. Res. Council, Canada, Chalk River, Report CRC-351 NRC No. 1616 (1947).
- [44] HENRY, R., AUBERTIN, C., VALADE, J., Etude de l'effet Szilard-Chalmers sur le ferrocyanure de potassium, Service des Radioéléments CEN Saclay, Rapport CEA No. 1360 (1959).
- [45] HUDSWELL, F., TAYLOR, K.J., Radioisotopes of iron preparation of solutions of high specific activity, AERE I/M 18 (1952) 3 pp.
- [46] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Une installation de préparation de radioéléments par effet Szilard-Chalmers, CEN Saclay, Rapport CEA No. 2072 (1961).

PROCEDURES

ATOMIC ENERGY OF CANADA LTD., CHALK RIVER, CANADA

1. GENERAL

Iron-59 is produced by the irradiation of ferric oxide target Fe_2O_3 enriched to 80% in ${}^{58}Fe$. The irradiated target is processed to $FeCl_3$ and shipped to the pharmaceutical industry for further processing and distribution to the medical profession.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:5-10 g ferric oxide Fe2O3 enriched to 80% in 58 Fe.Container:The target is sealed into a small inner aluminium
vial, then in a standard reactor capsule.Irradiation conditions:Usual yield is from 10 to 15 Ci, depending on the
fine and the distribution of the standard reactor capsule.

flux and duration of irradiation. An appropriate number of capsules are held under irradiation to provide normal requirements.

Chemical treatment

The chemical process consists of dissolving the irradiated target in HCl. This produces $FeCl_3$ solution which is our standard product.

The irradiated capsule is transferred with extension tongs from a transfer container to the processing equipment. The capsule is opened mechanically and the contents transferred to a tared weighing vessel on a balance by means of which the weight of Fe_2O_3 is determined to the nearest 0.05 mg. A small quantity of concentrated HCl is added. Dissolution is brought about by heating the mixture with an infra-red lamp. Heating is continued until a dried residue is obtained. This residue is redissolved in 1 N HCl, filtered and

1 m 1

made up to a suitable volume with distilled water to yield FeCl_3 in approximately 0.5 N HCl.

Equipment

The processing equipment consists of a weighing beaker, glass funnel, volumetric flask, reagent bottles, filter paper, small weighing balance and an infra-red lamp. These are placed in a glove box having 4 in. (10 cm) of lead shielding on all sides. Fitted through the walls are ball joint manipulators and a lead glass window to permit remote viewing and operation. The box is exhausted through absolute filters.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Chemical

A small sample is analysed by emission spectroscopy to provide an estimate of metallic impurities. The acidity is checked and the stock accordingly adjusted.

Radiochemical ·

Specific activity. This is calculated from the weight of the target processed and the measured yield of 59 Fe activity.

Activity concentration

The principal radiations measured are the 1.089 and 1.289 MeV gamma rays. The output from a suitable dilution of the active solution is analysed on a 512-channel analyser.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production is based on the (n,p) reaction of the cobalt target ${}^{59}Co(n,p){}^{59}$ Fe. To enhance the (n, p) reaction and decrease the ${}^{60}Co$ activity due to the (n, γ) reaction, the cobalt target is covered with cadmium shielding. After the irradiation, separation is carried out by ion exchange.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:

Cobalt metal, Johnson Matthey spectrochemically pure. The amount depends on request on order.

282

Flux:	2×10^{13} n/cm ² s (th).
Time of irradiation:	120 h.
Container:	Quartz ampoule with ground stopper, wrapped in cadmium foil.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target is dissolved in concentrated hydrochloric acid, adding a few drops of hydrogen peroxide, and the solution is fed onto a column of Dowex resin.

Using hydrochloric acid cobalt ions are completely eluted, and after removal of this first fraction, hydrochloric acid of another concentration is applied as eluting agent which quantitatively desorbs carrier-free ⁵⁹Fe. Finally the solution is diluted to make it isotonic and sterilized.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radiochemical purity is controlled with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser for each charge.

pH is determined and sterility is controlled in the usual way.

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Iron-59 is usually produced by the pile irradiation of enriched iron-58. Enriched iron is expensive and is not readily available in a pure form free from 54 Fe. For this reason at Trombay 59 Fe is produced by the 59 Co(n, p) 59 Fe reaction.

The irradiated cobalt is dissolved in nitric and hydrochloric acids and then converted to the chloride. This chloride solution in 5 <u>M</u> HCl is passed down an anion exchange column. Iron is held up on the resin while the cobalt goes into the effluent. After washing the column free of cobalt, the 59 Fe is eluted out with 0.05 M HCl and concentrated.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	$100-250$ g of cobalt metal (rods $40 \text{ mm} \times 5 \text{ mm}$, iron content
	less than 2 ppm) enclosed in cadmium foil, then loaded into
	the irradiation container.

In APSARA: Container type A (screw-capped 1 S aluminium can, 73 mm high, 26.5 mm diam.). 60 g \times 1 can. Flux: $2-3 \times 10^{12}$ n/cm²s.

Irradiation period: 2 months.

Side reactions: When cobalt metal is irradiated in a reactor, the major activity produced is 60 Co, resulting from the reaction 59 Co(n, γ) 60 Co. Small amounts of 59 Fe are also produced by the threshold reaction 59 Co(n, p) 59 Fe. By selective neutron shielding using cadmium, the amount of 60 Co produced could be considerably reduced.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated cobalt rods are washed with distilled water and then they are dissolved in a mixture of hydrochloric and nitric acids, and the nitrate is converted to chloride by treatment with strong HCl. The chloride is leached out with 6 <u>M</u> HCl and the solution is passed down a 50 cm×1 cm² column of Dowex-1 (chloride form, conditioned with 5-6 <u>M</u> HCl). The column is washed with 6 <u>M</u> HCl till the effluent is free from cobalt. Finally, the ⁵⁹ Fe is eluted out with 0.05 <u>N</u> HCl, the eluate evaporated to near dryness and the ⁵⁹ Fe is leached out with 100 ml of 5 M HCl.

This solution is again passed down a second 20 cm \times 1 cm² column of Dowex-1, as before, to remove traces of ⁶⁰Co, and the ⁵⁹Fe is eluted out with 0.05 <u>M</u> HC1. The eluate is evaporated to dryness, any organic matter is destroyed with concentrated HNO₃ and H₂O₂ followed by strong HCl, and the ⁵⁹Fe finally leached out with 0.1 M HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity is assayed by measuring the ion current using an ionization chamber or by gamma scintillation counting using a well-type Nal(Tl) crystal.

The total solids are determined by evaporating a known volume of the stock solution and weighing the residue.

The absence of heavy metal impurities is tested by hydroxide and sulphide precipitation tests.

Radioactive and radiochemical purity: Iron-59 is identified by its 1.1 MeV (56%) 1.29 MeV (49%) photopeaks.

Since the gamma-ray spectrometer cannot differentiate between the gamma emissions of 60 Co and 59 Fe, a preliminary chemical separation is necessary for detection and identification of any 60 Co impurity in the 59 Fe. The separation is effected by paper chromatography as follows:

Solvent: 22.5 ml acetone, 2.5 ml 9 <u>M</u> HCl. The solvent will be 0.8 <u>N</u> with respect to HCl.

Spotting: Co	obalt chl	oride carr	ier for	⁵⁹ Fe.
--------------	-----------	------------	---------	-------------------

Development: Solvent front up to 15 cm.

Zones: Cobalt 2-3 cm from point of spotting.

Iron 10.5-14.5 cm from the point of spotting.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity:	> 5 Ci/g.
Chemical form:	FeCl ₃ in dilute HCl.

284

Acidity:0.1 M HCl.Radiochemical purity:> 99%.Radioactive concentration:> 1 mCi/ml.

INSTITUTE OF ATOMIC PHYSICS, BUCHAREST, ROMANIA

1. GENERAL

Production of 59 Fe is based on the (n, p) reaction of the cobalt target. Separation of 59 Fe is carried out with the aid of concentration by absorption on alumina.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE [1]

Irradiation

Target:Cobalt metal, chemically pure. The amount depends
on the request.Flux: 1×10^{13} n/cm² s.Time of irradiation:200 h.Container:Quartz ampoule.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target is dissolved in diluted hydrochloric acid (1:3) and then evaporated.

After evaporation add distilled water till the concentration in $CoCl_2$ is 1-1.5 M.

The solution is heated for 15 min at 80-90 °C and is then passed through an alumina column.

The radioactive iron in colloid form is absorbed on the alumina, the cobalt ions being completely eluted.

Hydrochloric acid 1 N is used for the desorption of 59 Fe,

Finally the solution is evaporated, diluted with distilled water to make it isotonic, and sterilized for medical use.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radiochemical purity is controlled with the aid of a multichannel pulse height analyser for each charge.

The pH is determined and sterility is controlled in the usual way.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Prepared to order.

[1] BEBESEL, P., St. Cerc. Chim. 13 7 (1965).

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Iron, as ferric oxide, electromagnetically enriched in ⁵⁸Fe (70-80%) is irradiated in a high thermal neutron flux ⁵⁸Fe(n, γ)⁵⁹Fe. The oxide is converted to the chloride.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	Ferric oxide, EM enriched to 80% in ⁵⁸ Fe.
Amount:	10-15 mg.
Irradiation time:	21 d.
Container:	Sealed silica ampoule, primary; Al container, secondary.
Flux:	$10^{14} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Side reactions:	54 Fe(n, γ) ⁵⁵ Fe. (The ⁵⁵ Fe content of the product is always
	less than 1% for the shelf life of the stock).

Chemical treatment

The silica ampoule is crushed in concentrated HCl and the solution filtered and evaporated to dryness. The residue is taken up in 0.1 \underline{N} HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

İdentification is by γ spectrometry; assay is by scintillation counting against ¹³⁷Cs reference.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Radioisotope:	Iron-59
Catalogue Code Reference:	IFS. 2.
Preparation:	Ferric ion in sodium citrate solution (1% wt./vol.) made isotonic with sodium chloride. Solution sterilized.
Concentration of radioelement:	Approximately 20 μ Ci/ml.

286

Specific activity: Radiochemical purity: pH: > 500 µCi ⁵⁹Fe/mg Fe.
 > 99% excluding ⁵⁵Fe. ⁵⁵Fe content < 5%.
 6 - 7.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Iron-59 is produced by the (n, γ) reaction in a Fe₂O₃ target, ⁵⁴Fe (n, γ) ⁵⁵Fe, ⁵⁸Fe (n, γ) ⁵⁹Fe. During processing of the ^{55,59}Fe activity, HNO₃ is added to assure that all of the iron is in the Fe³⁺ state, and the iron extracted after agitation with dichlorodiethyl ether and 9 <u>M</u> HCl. Successive extractions remove the ^{55,59}Fe. In final steps, organic compounds are destroyed and the volume is adjusted to provide FeCl₃ in HCl solution. To produce enriched ⁵⁹Fe, an oxide target enriched to about 60% ⁵⁸Fe is irradiated.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Fe_2O_3 or Fe_2O_3 enriched to 60% ⁵⁸ Fe.
Target weight:	Unenriched: 300 mg.
	Enriched: 15 mg.
Neutron flux:	$2 \times 10^{14} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Irradiation time:	Unenriched: 7 weeks.
	Enriched: 4 months.
Reactor yield:	Unenriched: ⁵⁵ Fe 250 mCi
	^{.59} Fe 55 mCi.
	Enriched: ⁵⁹ Fe 300 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit¹ and an agitation vessel are used in processing. Processing facility and shielding required: manipulator cell, 3-in. lead equivalent.

Processing of ^{55,59}Fe

Yield: > 95%.

The irradiated target material is placed in a beaker under the hot offgas assembly, dissolved in a minimum amount of 12 M HCl, and the acid

¹ See Fig. 2 in the section on ⁸²Br provided by ORNL, United States of America.

concentration adjusted to ~ 9 M HCl. A few drops of 16 M HNO₃ is added to assure that all the iron is in Fe^{3+} state. The HCl solution is transferred to an agitator vessel and an equal amount of dichlorodiethyl ether (which has been equilibrated with 9 M HCl) is added. After agitation for 15 min the system is transferred to a separatory funnel. About 5 min are allowed for layers to separate ether and HCl layers. The HCl layer is on top and ether on the bottom. A second extraction is necessary to remove the ^{55,59}Fe. The ether layers are then transferred to the agitator vessel and 50 ml of distilled water added. Iron goes into the water phase. The mixture is agitated for 15 min, transferred to a separatory funnel, and 5 min allowed for layers to separate. A second water extraction is made if necessary. The water layer is transferred to a clean 150-ml Vycor beaker and the ether layer discarded. The solution in the Vycor beaker is evaporated to near dryness under the hot off-gas assembly, fumed with 16 M HNO₃ to destroy organic compounds, and fumed twice with 12 M HCl to remove nitric acid. The volume is adjusted to 50 ml of 1 M HCl to form a clear yellow product.

Processing of enriched ⁵⁹Fe

From 10 to 20 ml of 12 M HCl is added to the irradiated target, and the solution heated on hot plate under a hot off-gas scrubber assembly. The solution is adjusted to ~ 100 ml of 9 M HCl solution to prepare for extraction of ⁵⁹Fe and separation from ⁵⁴Mn. About 500 ml of dichlorodiethyl ether is equilibrated with 9 M HCl by shaking in a 1-litre separatory funnel for 10 min. The HCl solution is separated and the ether is held for extraction of iron. The 9 M HCl containing iron is transferred into a 250-ml separatory funnel and an equal volume of HCl-washed dichlorodiethyl ether is added. The mixture is agitated and the two phases separated. The extraction is repeated twice to remove the iron from the aqueous solution. Ether fractions are collected and extracted with 50 ml of distilled H_2O . Iron is extracted into the aqueous phase. Water wash is repeated with 10-min agitation periods until the iron is removed from the organic phase. Three extractions are usually sufficient. The wash is collected in a 50-ml Vycor beaker and evaporated to dryness under the hot off-gas assembly. The residue is fumed with 16 M HNO₃ to remove the organic compounds and twice with 12 M HCl to remove HNO3. The residue is dissolved in 50 ml of 1 M HCl to form a clear yellow product.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for molarity of HCl, total solids, radiochemical purity, and ⁵⁵Fe and ⁵⁹Fe concentration according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure Nos. 90733411 and 90733222.

Precision and accuracy of the ⁵⁹Fe assay are:

Calibration by $4\pi \beta - \gamma$ coincidence counter.

Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 5%.

Precision, 2%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

۱9

Processed, enriched 59 Fe is delivered as $FeCl_3$ in HCl solution as astock item. Other specifications of interest are:Acidity: $1 \ N \pm 50\%$.Concentration:> $\overline{1} \ mCi \ 59$ Fe per ml.Specific activity: $\cong 10 \ 000 \ mCi \ 59$ Fe per gram Fe.Radiochemical purity:> 99% (exclusive of 55Fe). 55 Fe:< 10%.</td>

MAGNESIUM-28

NUCLEAR DATA AND REFERENCES

- 1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES
- 1.1. Half-life [1-5]

20.9 h

1.2. Type of decay and particle energy (MeV) [4-6]

Magnesium-28 decays by beta emission followed by gamma-ray deexcitation to ground state aluminium-28 (half-life 2.3 min).

(a) $E_{\max}\beta^{-} = 0.459 \pm 0.002$

(b)	Gamma rays		(%)
	γ_1	0.319	96
	$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_2$	0.40	30
	γ_3	0.949	30
	γ_4	1.346	70

1.3. Decay scheme

 28 Mg (2.7 d)



stable ²⁸Si

19*

2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

⁶Li(n, t)⁴He followed by ²⁶Mg(t, p)²⁸Mg [1, 28, 29] ²⁷Al(α , 3p)²⁸Mg 56 MeV α [4]

 28 Mg has also been produced in a variety of other nuclear reactions [4,6, 8-10, 12, 13].

3. APPLICATIONS

Magnesium-28, with a half-life of about 21 h, is the only practical isotope of magnesium for tracer studies. A brief survey of published applications is given below.

3.1. Biochemistry and biology

Distribution of magnesium in various body organs of mammals [14-17, 32, 33, 35-37]

3.2. Plant metabolism

Biosynthesis of plant pigment	[18, 19]
Chlorophyll studies	[20,21]

3.3. Medicine

Determination of body water and electrolytes	[22]
Haematological research	[23]
Determination of magnesium distribution	
and exchangeable magnesium in man	[17, 24-26, 31, 34]

3.4. Radioisotope generation

²⁸Mg as ²⁸Al-generator

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

The brief summary given below should be read in conjunction with Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Series No. 1, published by the International Atomic Energy Agency.

[5, 27]

4.1. External irradiation

Because of the short half-life of 28 Al (2.3 min) a secular equilibrium is quickly established between the parent 28 Mg and the daughter 28 Al, so that the radiation of both isotopes should be considered.

The maximum range of beta particles from ^{28}Mg is 200 mg/cm² Al. For the $^{28}Mg^{-28}Al$ system the maximum beta range is 1350 mg/cm² Al. For a 100 μ Ci batch half-an-inch lead shielding is required during production as protection from the gamma radiation of the ²⁸Mg-²⁸Al mixture and from ²⁴Na impurities. Precautions should be taken against tritium contamination.

For transport purposes ²⁸Mg is a group III radioisotope¹. The radiation from a sample of 100 μ Ci activity is low enough, so that shipment can be made in a non-returnable unshielded container [29].

5. SURVEY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

The production of magnesium-28 in a reactor is based on the sequence of reactions ${}^{6}\text{Li}(n,t){}^{4}\text{He}$ and ${}^{26}\text{Mg}(t,p){}^{28}\text{Mg}$. The 2.73 MeV tritons produced in the primary reaction are utilized to bombard the ${}^{26}\text{Mg}$ atoms. Carrierfree ${}^{28}\text{Mg}$ may be obtained in the ${}^{27}\text{Al}(\alpha, 3p){}^{28}\text{Mg}$ reaction [7].

Spallation reactions of medium-to-heavy nuclides with high energy protons or neutrons carried out in an accelerator also produce ²⁸Mg. The high cost of acceleration and the complex processing procedures necessary for obtaining a high degree of purity make this method uneconomical.

5.1. Targets

Targets reported in the literature for reactor production of ²⁸Mg are Mg-Li alloys. Specific activities obtained with alloys were several times higher than those obtained with mixtures of magnesium and lithium compounds [29].

Lithium enriched to 96% by wt. ⁶Li (the abundance of ⁶Li in natural lithium is 7.5% by wt.) is usually used for the target. Removal of ⁷Li from the target prevents triton energy dissipation in collisions with ⁷Li atoms, before they can react with ²⁶Mg nuclides. The magnesium component of the alloy is either natural magnesium (11.3% ²⁶Mg) or enriched to ~99% ²⁶Mg [27]. The use of the latter increases the product specific activity thirtyfold [30]; however, the production cost is also increased due to the high price of enriched magnesium. The optimum weight per cent of lithium in the alloy for thin targets is 75% [29].

Thin targets are necessary in order to avoid self-shielding effects which would reduce the yield of ²⁸Mg. Highly purified alloy is required to minimize contamination. The main contaminants are traces of sodium which cannot be completely removed from lithium, and oxygen-16 present as a result of air oxidation. On irradiation in a reactor the oxygen leads to the formation of the undesirable ¹⁸F activity through the ¹⁶O(t, p)¹⁸F reaction. Methods for controlling oxidation are mentioned below.

Metallic ⁶Li and ²⁶Mg in the weight ratio of 3:1 are melted together at 650°F in a dry box in an argon atmosphere. The molten alloy is poured into moulds, rapidly cooled to ensure homogeneity and immersed in mineral oil to prevent direct contact between the alloy and the air oxygen. The alloy is rolled to 0.010-in.-thick strips. The prepared foils are placed in alu-

¹ IAEA Safety Series No. 6.

minium cans, in a neon or a helium atmosphere to prevent oxidation. The cans are tightly sealed so as to prevent replacement of helium by air during irradiation [27].

5.2. Chemical processes

Upon removal from the reactor, the target material is dissolved in water or in dilute HCl. Magnesium hydroxide precipitates and the supernate is discarded. Radiochemical impurities present include:

- (a) 18 F produced by triton reaction with oxygen.
- (b) ³H activity of unreacted tritons.
- (c) ²⁴Na produced by the reactions: ²³Na(n, γ)²⁴Na, ²⁵Mg(t, α)²⁴Na and ²⁷Al(n, α)²⁴Na.

Steps should be taken, prior to irradiation, to avoid the introduction of aluminium impurities.

The high temperatures developed during irradiation may bring about a reaction between the Li-Mg alloy and the aluminium target can. In order to prevent this reaction an 0.001-in. iron foil is placed between the alloy and the aluminium can.

5.2.1. Removal of impurities

5.2.1.1. Removal of ³H

The tritium present in the target after irradiation is removed in two stages:

- (a) The magnesium hydroxide precipitate is washed with ice water, slightly alkaline.
- (b) The precipitate is dissolved in 0.001 N hydrochloric acid solution and evaporated to dryness. This procedure is repeated twice [27].

5.2.1.2. Removal of ¹⁸F impurities

Two methods may be used for the elimination of 18 F contamination: (a) Magnesium hydroxide is dissolved in concentrated hydrochloric acid

containing F⁻ carrier and the solution evaporated [29].
(b) A solution of the Mg(OH)₂ in 3 <u>N</u> HCl containing KF carrier is passed through a Dowex 1(X8) ion exchange column (in the Cl⁻ form). Three quarters of an inch of WOELM natural grade Al₂O₃, preconditioned with 0.5 <u>N</u> NH₄Cl and washed with water, is added to the column. The ¹⁸ F remains adsorbed on the column.

The relatively short half-life of 18 F (110 min) simplifies the problem since complete decay may be allowed before use.

5.2.1.3. Removal of ²⁴Na impurities

Sodium-24 impurities are removed by an exchange between the radioactive ²⁴Na and an added sodium solution, followed by a NaCl precipitation.

The magnesium hydroxide precipitate is dissolved in concentrated hydrochloric acid. Sodium chloride is then added and the solution is evaporated. Equal volumes of concentrated hydrochloric acid and ethyl alcohol are added. The solution is chilled in an ice bath and the NaCl precipitate which contains the 24 Na is discarded [29].

5.2.1.4. Removal of ⁵⁹Fe impurities

Iron-59 activity is removed by precipitation as ferric hydroxide. Magnesium hydroxide is dissolved in dilute HCl and 2-3 mg Fe³⁺ carrier are added. The solution is made basic to bromcresol green with NaOH. The precipitated Fe(OH)₃ is centrifuged and discarded. Small amounts of 45-d ⁵⁹Fe activity may still be present in the final product [29].

5.2.1.5. Removal of ⁵⁶Mn, ⁶⁴Cu, ⁶⁵Zn and ¹¹⁵Cd impurities

The purification is performed by a sulphide precipitation in the presence of the appropriate carriers. The lithium-magnesium alloy is dissolved in dilute HCl. Carriers of Mn, Cu, Zn and Cd are added. The solution is made basic with ammonium hydroxide. The sulphides are precipitated on the addition of hydrogen sulphide. The precipitate is centrifuged and discarded. This procedure should be repeated three times. The residual liquid is filtered through a fine porosity filter paper [5, 27, 28].

5.2.2. Final purification

After purification from the radiochemical impurities as mentioned above the product 28 Mg is further refined by NaOH precipitations. The aqueous phase is discarded and the precipitate washed with ice water. The magnesium hydroxide is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid and the procedure is repeated two or three times. The final Mg(OH)₂ precipitate may be dissolved in any acid for further use [28, 29].

Unidentified impurities may be removed by adsorption on a Dowex-50 column in the Na⁺ form and washing with 1 <u>N</u> sodium hydroxide [27]. This column may be used directly as an ²⁸Al generator yielding ultra-pure ²⁸Al (> 99.999%).

The chemical yields of the reported processes are 90 to 95%. Specific activities of approximately 40 mCi of the equilibrium mixture of $^{28}Mg^{-28}Al/g$ of stable magnesium are obtained [27].

Residual non-active impurities in the final product include Fe, Al, Cu and Si in less than 0.01% each and 1 to 5% Na [29].

5.3. Carrier-free ²⁸Mg production

Carrier-free ²⁸Mg is produced in the ²⁷Al(α , 3p)²⁸ Mg reaction. Aluminium targets are bombarded with 41 MeV alpha particles. The target material is dissolved in concentrated sodium hydroxide, and filtered through a fine glass frit. The procedure is based on the fact that carrier-free Mg will form a radiocolloid in basic solution and will be held up on a glass frit. The magnesium hydroxide is washed several times with NaOH and water to remove aluminium and sodium-24 impurities and then dissolved in dilute HCl or HNO₃. The chemical yield of this process is 80% [7].

6. RADIOASSAY

Because of the short half-life of 28 Al, transient equilibrium is rapidly established after any separation of magnesium. The comparatively energetic radiation of 28 Al permits its detection even in the presence of 28 Mg.

Any standard method for beta or gamma counting might be applied to the ${}^{28}Mg-{}^{28}Al$ detection. Beta counting of solid samples is performed with an end-window beta proportional counter or with a plastic beta scintillation counter [5].

Gamma counting of ²⁸Mg is preferred because the sample can be counted both as a liquid or as a solid, and the counting procedure is less dependent on the weight of material in the sample. NaI(Tl) scintillation counters [5, 27] or GM counters [4] are used. Radiochemical purity is determined by gamma spectroscopy and half-life measurements.

REFERENCES

- IWERSON, E., KOSKI, W.S., RASETTI, F., Triton induced activities in magnesium and aluminium, Phys. Rev. 91 (1953) 1229.
- [2] MARQUEZ, L., The beta spectrum of magnesium-28, Phys. Rev. 90 (1953) 330.
- [3] WAPSTRA, A.H., VEENENDAAL, A.L., The decay of Mg 28, Phys. Rev. 91 (1953) 426.
- [4] SHELINE, R.K., JOHNSON, N.R., BELL, P.R., DAVIS, R.C., McGOWAN, F.K., Study of the Isobaric Triplet Mg²⁸, Al²⁸, Si²⁸, Phys. Rev. 94 (1954) 1642.
- WEISS, A.J., HILLMAN, M., Magnesium-28 Aluminum-28 system: an aluminum-28 generator, Int.J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes 14 (1963) 628.
- [6] OLSEN, J.L., O'KELLEY, G.D., Beta-ray spectrum of Mg²⁸, Phys. Rev. 93 (1954) 1125.
- [7] HUDIS, J., Production of carrier free Mg²⁸ from aluminum, J. nucl. inorg. Chem. <u>4 (1957)</u> 237.
- [8] WEISS, A.J., HILLMAN, M., Nuclear Engineering Department Progress Report, 1 May-31 Aug. BNL-646 (1960).
- [9] LINDNER, M., New nuclides produced in chlorine spallation, Phys. Rev. 91 (1953) 642.
- [10] WOLFGANG, R.L. et al., Radiochemical studies of the interaction of lead with protons in the energy range of 0.6 to 3.0 BeV, Phys. Rev. 103 (1956) 394-403.
- [11] NERVIK, W.E., Tantalum spallation and fission induced by 340 MeV protons, UCRL-2542 (1954).
- [12] CRESPO, V. P., ALEXANDER, J., HYDE, E., Ejection of large fragments in high energy nuclear reactions, Phys. Rev. <u>131</u> (1963) 1765-81.
- [13] HEININGER, C., WING, E.O., Spallation of vanadium with 60, 100, 175, 240 MeV protons, Phys. Rev. <u>101</u> (1958) 1074.
- [14] WORKER, N. A., MIGICOVSKY, B.B., "Effect of vitamin D on the movement of elements of group II A¹ and II B in chickens", Use of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences II, Academic Press, New York (1962) 41-50.
- [15] FIELD, A. C., SMITH, B. S. W., Effects of magnesium deficiency on the uptake of Mg²⁸ by the tissues in mature rats, Br. J. Nutr. 18 (1964) 103-13.
- [16] RAHILL, W.J., WALSER, M., A simple method for soft tissue magnesium and calcium, Anal. Biochem. 9 (1964) 119-22.
- [17] AIKAWA, J.K., "Tracer studies of magnesium metabolism in animals and human beings", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 24 (1958) 148-51.
- [18] BECKER, R. Jr., Chlorophylls Electronic Spectroscopy of Porphyrinlike molecules. Exchange and Biosynthesis of plant pigment using Mg²⁸ and C¹⁴, Diss. Abstr. 15 (1955) 1319.
- [19] BECKER, R., Jr., SHELINE, R., Biosynthesis and exchange experiments on some plant pigments by the use of Mg²⁸ and C¹⁴, Archs. Biochem. Biophys. 54 (1955) 259.
- [20] BECKER, R., Jr., SHELINE, R., Preliminary experiments using Mg²⁸ as a tracer with chlorophylls, plants and their extracts, J. chem. Phys. 21 (1953) 946-47.

- [21] ARONOFF, S., Non-exchangeability of Mg 28 with chlorophyll, Biochim. biophys. Acta 60 (1962) 193-95.
- [22] THREEFOOT, S., "Some factors influencing interpretation of studies of body water and electrolytes with isotopic tracers," Prog. cardiovasc. Dis. 5 (1962) 32-54.
- [23] DICSON, R., Isotopes in haematological and related studies, London Clin.med. J. 4 (1963) 37-46.
- [24] BARNES, B.A., BROWNELL, G.L., "A comparison of the distribution of Mg²⁸ with that of K⁴² and Ca⁴⁵," Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>26</u> (1958) 204-07.
- [25] AVIOLI, L., LYNCH, T., BASTOMSKY, C., Tracer kinetics analysis of Mg⁴⁰ in man, Clin. Res. <u>11</u> (1963) 40.
- [26] DESSY, R.E., HANDER, G., Constitution of the Grignard reagent, J. Am. chem. Soc. 80 (1958) 5824-26
- [27] STANG, L.J., Jr. (Co-ordinator), Manual of Isotope Production Process in Use at Brookhaven National Laboratory, BNL-864 (T-347) (1964).
- [28] MELLISH, C.E., COCKFORD, G.W., Production of Mg^{2b} in the pile and cyclotrons at Harwell, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>1</u> (1957) 299-304.
- [29] STANG, L.J., Jr. et al., Production and Availability of Mg²⁸, American Nuclear Society Winter Meeting, Washington, D.C. (1956).
- [30] STANG, L.J., Jr. et al., A review of the production of "special" radioisotopes, BNL-6407.
- [31] PETERSON, V.P., Potassium and magnesium turnover in magnesium deficiency, Acta med.scand. <u>174</u> (1963) 595-604.
- [32] LAZZARA, R. et al., Tissue distribution, kinetics, and biological half-life of Mg²⁸ in the dog, Am.J. Physiol. <u>204</u> (1963) 1086-94.
- [33] EDWARDS, H.M., Jr., NUGARA, D., DRIGGERS, J.C., Fate of endogenous Mg²⁸ in the laying hen, Poult. Sci. 416 (1962) 1975-76.
- [34] GLASER, W., WECHSLER, B. M., "Movement of Mg²⁸ in and out of heart muscle", American Heart Association, 35th Scientific Session (1962).
- [35] CHUTKOW, I.G., "Studies on the metabolism of magnesium in the rat, with the use of Mg²⁸", 35th Ann. Mting Central Soc. for Clinical Research (1962).
- [36] FIELD, A.C., Studies of magnesium in ruminant nutrition: 3. Distribution of magnesium-28 in the gastro-intestinal tract and tissues of sheep, Br.J. Nutr. <u>13</u> (1961) 349-59.
- [37] AIKAWA, J.K., REARDON, J.Z., HARMS, D.R., Effects of a magnesium-deficient diet on magnesium metabolism in rabbits: a study with Mg²⁸, J. Nutr. 76 (1962) 90-93.

PROCEDURES

BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY, LONG ISLAND, N.Y., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA*

1. GENERAL

` The production of ${}^{28}Mg$ is based on the irradiation of ${}^{6}Li^{-26}Mg$ alloy; ${}^{6}Li(n,t) {}^{4}He$, ${}^{26}Mg(t,p) {}^{28}Mg$. Magnesium-28 is separated by the processes of precipitation of magnesium hydroxide, followed by the dissolution and ionexchange method.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE Irradiation

Target:

Approximately 12 mg of ${}^{6}Li^{26}Mg$ alloy. Use ${}^{6}Li^{26}Mg$ approximately 3:1 by weight. Use ${}^{6}Li$ enriched to 96% and ${}^{26}Mg$ enriched to 99%. Prevent air oxidation.

^{*} Extracted from BNL 864 (T-347).

Irradiation conditions:	Irradiation of 3 d at the flux of $1.2 - 1.3 \times 10^{13}$ n	$/\mathrm{cm}^2\mathrm{s}$.
Reactor yield:	100 Ci ${}^{28}Mg^{28}Al$.	
Chemical yield:	90%.	

Chemical treatment

A. Target preparation

Weigh out correct amounts of ^{6}Li and ^{26}Mg metals separately and rapidly on an analytical balance.

Rapidly transfer metal samples into dry box air lock and flush with dry argon; ordinary tank argon is sufficiently dry for this purpose.

Transfer metal samples from air lock into dry box proper. The dry box should already have been filled with argon. The argon flow-rate need only be sufficient to prevent back diffusion of air into box.

Melt samples together in graphite crucible at $\sim 650^{\circ}$ F in furnace, stirring with a graphite rod. As soon as all is molten, proceed to next step.

Pour molten alloy into shallow graphite mould; rapid cooling will ensure homogeneity of alloy.

Place ingot under oil for transfer out of box; prevent air oxidation. Mineral oil is satisfactory for this purpose.

Using a suitable small rolling mill, roll to 0.25 mm thickness. If target is too thick, the high σ of ⁶Li will seriously depress the internal neutron flux, reducing the specific activity of ²⁸Mg.

Cut into suitable strips for irradiation. This cuts easily with ordinary scissors.

Store under oil; prevent air oxidation.

B. Target irradiation

Clean alloy foil with ethyl acetate, weigh and insert in slits in 3/4-in. diam. graphite rod. Solvent removes oil. Rod acts as spacer, holder, and heat sink and has two longitudinal slits, cut about 3/4 of the way through. Dry box not needed if handling is fairly rapid.

Place loaded rod in suitable aluminium can and weld shut. Cap of can should have short length of 1/8-in. diam. tube attached to it.

Evacuate can via tube on cap and fill with helium. Ordinary oil-pump helium is satisfactory. Helium prevents air oxidation and is a good heat transfer agent.

Crimp tube closed. End need not be welded if crimp seal is a good one. Irradiate in reactor ~ 3 d. Use cooled hole to prevent sample from melting. Note: If sample melts, thickness will increase and specific activity of ²⁸Mg will decrease; see above.

Open can with remotely-operated opener. Enclosure must be capable of dealing with considerable tritium contamination from ${}^{6}\text{Li}(n, \alpha){}^{3}\text{H}$.

The following special equipment is needed: low moisture, inert atmosphere glove box ("dry box") with air lock. Remotely-operated can opener. Processing glove box with 1/2-in. lead shielding suitable for handling gross tritium contamination.

C. Post-irradiation processing

Transfer graphite rod and alloy foils to processing glove box. Dry <u>inert</u> atmosphere not required.

Remove foils from rod and dissolve, one at a time, in a minimum of H_2O in a 50-ml plastic centrifuge tube in an ice bath. Reaction is rapid. If foils are added too rapidly, they may ignite. Plastic centrifuge tubes insure against accidental breakage.

Add 3 drops 3 \underline{N} NaOH and centrifuge. This assures minimum loss of Mg. Centrifuge for 5 min.

Discard supernate. Contains ¹⁸F, ³H and ²⁴Na. Fluorine-18 comes from (t, n) reaction on oxide impurities; ³H comes from unreacted tritons; ²⁴Na comes from (n, γ) reaction on sodium impurities, from (t, α) reaction on residual ²⁵Mg, and from (n, α) reaction on Al impurities.

Wash twice with ice water containing 3 drops of 3 \underline{N} NaOH, discarding supernate. This reduces 3H and ^{24}Na contamination.

Dissolve Mg(OH)₂ with concentrated HCl. Use ~ 0.5 ml HCl/10 mg alloy.

Pour into 50-ml beaker containing stirring bar and place on magnetic mixer. This and the following two steps are necessary only if the original ²⁶Mg becomes contaminated with Al during the reduction to metal.

Add three drops of 0.1% methyl red indicator while stirring. Add 0.1 <u>N</u> NaOH until just yellow. This precipitates $Al(OH)_3$. The end point is critical. Mg(OH)₂ will precipitate if the pH goes too high.

Centrifuge and wash precipitate with H_2O . Combine supernate and washes and save. Discard precipitate.

To supernate add 3 mg F⁻ carrier and 1 drop of 3 <u>N</u> HCl. Use KF for carrier, 30 mg F⁻ per ml.

Pour supernate onto prepared ion exchange column.

Column preparation: In a 1-in. fritted Büchner funnel settle 3/4 in. of Dowex 1X8 (Cl⁻ form). Cover with cloth disc and add 3/4 in. of Woelm Al_2O_3 (neutral grade) which has been previously conditioned with 0.5 N HCl and washed twice with H₂O. The column removes the remainder of ¹⁸F. This is necessary for subsequent ²⁸Mg assay.

Wash the column with 75 ml of 0.001 N HCl.

Combine the effluent and transfer to the distillation flask. Distil to near dryness. Use glass beads in flask to prevent bumping. Discard the distillate. This step and the following two reduce the volume of the product (residual solution) and ${}^{3}\text{H}$ contamination in it.

Add ~ 50 ml 0.001 N HCl and distil to near dryness.

Repeat._

Transfer residual solution from distillation flask to beaker.

Wash the distillation flask at least twice with 0.001 \underline{N} HCl and combine with the residual solution (the previous step). The final volume should be ~5 ml. The solution should be water clear.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Assay by well-type scintillation counter standardized against $4\pi\beta$ counter.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Product composition: 28 MgCl2 in dilute HCl containing 1% NaCl.Radiochemical purity:95% 28 Mg28Al, 5% 3 H, traces of 65 Cu, 115 Cd as of 24 h following processing.Specific activity:40 mCi 28 Mg28 Al/g Mg at the time of shipment.

PHOSPHORUS-32

NUCLEAR DATA

- 1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES
- 1.1. Half-life

14.45 d

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

Pure beta emitter

beta (β ⁻) 1.71 (100%)

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Act a 1 h	ivity of e t 10 ¹³ n/o (mCi/g 24 h	lement cm ² s s) saturation	Secondary reactions ^a and half-life of nuclide formed
³¹ P(n,γ) ³² P	100	0.19 (th)	2.1	48	1020	$^{31}P(n,p)^{31}Si$ (T = 2.62 h)
³² S(n,p) ³² P	95. 0	0. 065 (f)	0.63 ^b	14.8 ^b	318 b	${}^{34}S(n,\gamma)^{35}S$ (T = 86.7 d) isot. abund. i 4. 22% σ = 0.26 ${}^{33}S(n,p)^{33}P$ (T = 24.6 d) isot. abund. : 0. 75% $\sigma(f) = 0.16, \sigma(th) = 0.0023$

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-5].

 ^a Only side-reactions producing nuclides with half-lives exceeding 1 h are taken into consideration.
 ^b The obtainable ³²P activity per gram of elementary sulphur depends markedly on the sulphururanium-moderator geometry, i.e. on the reactor type.

3. APPLICATIONS

Phosphorus-32 is the only practical radioisotope of phosphorus. Watersoluble phosphates or the free acid are predominant forms in these applications, but many organic labelled compounds have been prepared [6] and some of them are commercially available [7]. A brief classified survey of published applications is given below.

3.1. Biochemistry and biology

Study of ribonucleic [8] and desoxyribonucleic acids [9] Enzymological studies [10] Studies of microorganisms [11], viruses and bacteriophages [12, 13] Muscle physiology studies [14] Studies of mitochondria metabolism [15]

3.2. Plant metabolism [16, 17]

Investigation of photosynthesis [18]

3.3. Entomology [19]

3.4. Medicine

Diagnosis and therapy of neoplastic diseases [20, 21] Colloidal chromic phosphate for therapy of tumours [20]

3.5. Analytical chemistry [22]

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External irradiation

The maximum range of phosphorus-32 beta-particles is 800 mg/cm^2 . The formation of bremsstrahlung becomes important as the amount of activity increases. It results from the retardation of the beta-particles in the shielding material. The following equation, based on an empirical relation [23], may be used for estimating S, the number of photons/s so arising.

$$S = 4.07 \times 10^7 \times AZE$$

when

A = activity of the beta source (Ci)

E = maximum beta energy (MeV)

Z = mean atomic number of the shielding material.

It can be seen that low atomic number shielding materials (such as water, plastics, aluminium) give rise to less bremsstrahlung [24].

Only the maximum energy value of photons, 1.7 MeV, is used for shielding calculations [23]. Experimentally the bremsstrahlung spectrum has been shown to have a maximum at 100-300 keV, depending on the atomic number [25].

A practical system of shielding for 1 Ci of 32 P would consist of 1 cm of Perspex (to absorb the beta particles), followed by 1 cm of lead (to absorb the bremsstrahlung).

Activities up to 50 mCi can be safely handled behind 1 cm of Perspex only.

Even when handling small activities, say of 1 mCi, some measure of remote handling is necessary, such as short tongs or forceps, because of the high local beta dose on the surface of containers.

4.2. Internal contamination

Phosphorus-32 is classified [26] as a class 3 (moderate toxicity) isotope and has an effective half-life of 14 d [27].

4.3. Decontamination

Phosphorus-32 is more effectively removed from surfaces [28] and from clothing [29] with dilute inorganic acids (at least 0.002 \underline{N} solutions) than with alkaline or soap solutions. The presence of phosphate carrier increases the efficacy of decontamination. General methods for the treatment of active waste are applicable [30, 31].

5. SURVEY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

The production process is based on the reaction ${}^{32}S(n,p){}^{32}P$. The application of the reaction ${}^{31}P(n,\gamma){}^{32}P$ is limited.

302

The production processes reported to date can be classified according to the chemical form of the targets and the nature of chemical separation methods.

5.1. Targets

The targets reported in the literature include the following:

- (a) Elementary sulphur;
- (b) Sulphur compounds, such as sulphates, polysulphides, etc.;
- (c) Red phosphorus and phosphorus compounds.

<u>Sulphur</u>: Highly purified sulphur must be used. Purification methods include extraction with acid, treatment with magnesium oxide (removing the organic matter), and distillation [32-34]. Among the impurities arsenic must be strictly controlled, as arsenic follows $3^{2}P$ during processing. Sulphur offers the best exploitation of the reactor space capacity; on the other hand, the separation of $3^{2}P$ is not simple.

<u>Sulphur compounds</u>: The advantage of using a water-soluble sulphur compound as a target lies in the easy conversion of the ³²P nuclide to the phosphate form. Most sulphur compounds used possess high thermal stability. The dried Analar grade compounds are used either directly or for the preparation of the target compound (i.e. polysulphides). The sulphur content (22. 57, 24. 95, 57.7 and 67. 9% for sodium sulphate, magnesium sulphate, potassium polysulphide and sodium polysulphide, respectively) is important for neutron economy.

5.2. Chemical processes

Chemical processes can be classified according to the target material used. In each process there are the following steps:

- (a) Separation of the ³²P from the target;
- (b) Purification, if necessary;
- (c) Final adjustment of the product.

The following is a brief description of the processes reported in the literature:

5.2.1. For elementary sulphur target

Phosphorus-32 atoms formed exist probably in the form of phosphorus sulphides [35], or are converted to this form during the heating of the irradiated target [36]. Reactions of ${}^{32}P$ recoils with impurities have also been reported [37]. On extracting ${}^{32}P$ into the aqueous phase, these phosphorus sulphides hydrolyse and produce $PO_4^{3^-}$ ions. The chemical processes reported may be classified as follows:

Extraction with concentrated nitric acid

Molten sulphur is poured into boiling concentrated nitric acid (azeotropic mixture, b.p. 121°C). ^{32}P is extracted into the acid phase in 90-95% yield. Sulphuric acid is also formed [38-40].

Extraction with dilute nitric acid under pressure

The use of dilute nitric acid reduces the amount of sulphuric acid formed during the extraction process. The extraction is carried out with 0.1 N nitric acid at a temperature of $135-138^{\circ}$ C in a stationary autoclave overnight [32], or with 0.2 N nitric acid at a temperature of 130° C in a rocking autoclave for 3 h [36, 41-43]. Propeller-type agitation during extraction [44] has been abandoned [32].

These two extraction processes have the disadvantage of simultaneous extraction of corrosion products (Fe³⁺, Cr³⁺, Ni²⁺, etc.) and impurities in the sulphur (Mg²⁺, Al³⁺, trace elements, and in some cases arsenic). The following methods have been proposed for further purification and separation from sulphuric acid (containing ³⁵S).

- Co-precipitation of ³²P with ferric hydroxide [38-40, 44] or lanthanum hydroxide [32, 36, 43], with subsequent cation exchange treatment to remove the introduced cation; in the former case, solvent extraction by iso-propyl ether is also used;
- Adsorption of ³²P on dialysed iron (in acid solution, pH 1-4) [45, 46] or on a specially prepared ferric hydroxide bed [47].

Arsenic can be removed from the ${}^{32}\mathrm{P}$ as the volatile arsenic tribromide [43]. Organic matter from the exchange resin column can be destroyed by hydrogen peroxide [36]. To avoid the formation of polyphosphates of ${}^{32}\mathrm{P}$ on local hot areas of the glass surface during the evaporation to dryness of ${}^{32}\mathrm{P}$ solutions, a special evaporator heated by xylene vapour at 140°C has been used [36,43]. A total yield of 60-80% is reached using the above processes [43,48].

Extraction with acetic acid and acetic anhydride mixture (3:1).

This process was proposed to minimize the formation of sulphates during the extraction. The extraction conditions are: temperature $120-130^{\circ}$ C, extraction for 15 min using air mixing. A yield of 70-85% is reported. Subsequent purification of the 32 P is necessary [49, 50].

(b) Extraction of ³²P from solid, fine-grained sulphur

Because of the diffusion of ^{32}P in the solid phase, it can be extracted with boiling water in the presence of a small quantity of 2-octanol as a wetting agent [51-54]. The efficiency of the extraction depends greatly on the particle size; for example, 1-2 h extraction yields 90% for a finely ground target and 76% for sublimed sulphur. No chemical or radioactive impurities are present. Poor stability of the powdered target at higher neutron fluxes (formation of aggregates [55] or melting of the target [56]) sets the limit to this method.

(c) Separation of ³²P from sulphur dissolved in an organic solvent

Extraction into an aqueous phase

The irradiated target is dissolved in the organic solvent, and ^{32}P is extracted into the aqueous phase (hydrochloric acid in most cases). The following solvents for the dissolution of sulphur have been proposed: trichloroethylene [33,57], carbon disulphide [33,57,58], tetrabromoethane [57], chloroform [33], benzene [33,59], toluene [59], aniline [33], decaline [60, 61] and tetrachloroethylene [55].

The following solvents have been used for routine production:

Trichloroethylene:	500 ml of the solvent for 50 g sulphur, extraction with
	0.1 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid for 0.5 h, yield of 84-93% [33];
Toluene:	7.6 1. of the solvent for 660 g sulphur, extraction with
	300 ml of 0.01 N hydrochloric acid, twice for 25 min,
	total yield of 90% [59];
Tetrachloroethylene:	extraction with 0.1 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid for several
	hours [55];
Decaline:	extraction with 0.3 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid for one hour
	[61].

In some cases subsequent purification processes have been employed including cation exchange treatment [55] and heating with active charcoal [61].

Adsorption on silica gel or alumina

The separation of ${}^{32}\mathrm{P}$ is done by adsorption on silica gel [62] or on an alumina [63] column from the irradiated sulphur dissolved in carbon disulphide [62] or toluene [63].

(d) Separation of ³²P from sulphur by distillation of sulphur

The irradiated sulphur is distilled off in a stream of inert gas (500°C) [64] or under vacuum (5 mmHg, approximately 400°C) [65], when the ^{32}P remains in the residue and is taken up with boiling 0.01 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid. The yield is nearly 100% and no purification is needed [56, 64, 65].

5.2.2. Sulphur compound as targets

The bulk of ${}^{32}P$ atoms is easily changed to phosphate for the majority of soluble sulphates, when dissolved in water; the yield is up to 100% for long irradiation [66-70]. More than 94% of the ${}^{32}P$ activity is present in the phosphate form after dissolution of the polysulphides in water [70, 71]. The separation of ${}^{32}P$ from the sulphate or polysulphide solution has been achieved by adsorption or co-precipitation. The following gives the processes for individual targets, except for carbon disulphide [72-77] which, being insoluble in water and inconvenient as a reactor target, is mentioned here only for completeness.

(a) Sodium sulphate

A ferric-hydroxide bed prepared from a cation exchange resin in the ferric ion form, is used to adsorb ^{32}P from the dissolved target. The elution of ^{32}P is done with sodium hydroxide. Up to 80% yields were obtained [47].

(b) Magnesium sulphate

Adsorption of ³²P on alumina

Adsorption on an alumina column from acid solution with subsequent elution with 2.5 N [78] or 0.5 N sodium hydroxide [79] and removal of cations on a cation exchanger gave a total yield of 70% [78].

Adsorption of ³²P on magnesia

Adsorption on magnesia from a solution of pH 7.5 under mixing (50 mg of 100-200 mesh powdered magnesia, temperature 60° C, operation time 2 h) with subsequent dissolution of the separated magnesia in acid and the removal of the magnesium by ion exchanger showed a yield of 85-90% [61, 80].

Adsorption of ³²P on magnesium metal

Adsorption on magnesium metal from a neutral solution is completed in 2-3 h with mixing at room temperature; 1 mg of magnesium powder of 100-200 mesh per 1 ml of 1 <u>M</u> magnesium sulphate is used. A total yield of 80% is obtained, after magnesium removal on a cation exchanger [81].

Coprecipitation of ³²P with magnesium hydroxide

Coprecipitation of ${}^{32}P$ with magnesium hydroxide with subsequent cation exchange treatment for the removal of magnesium resulted in a yield of 80% [82]. The precipitation is best carried out in a boiling solution [71].

(c) Sodium or potassium polysulphide

Phosphorus-32 has been coprecipitated with magnesium hydroxide from a boiling water solution of the target. Magnesium ions were then removed on a cation exchange resin. The total yield was reported to be 70-76% [71, 83].

5.2.3. Phosphorus compounds as targets

Elementary phosphorus and some of its compounds can be used as targets if a product of relatively low specific activity is acceptable. The behaviour and stabilization of recoiled ^{32}P in the target depends on irra-

diation conditions and post-irradiation treatment. For example, the ^{32}P activity in irradiated phosphates has been found in the form of nine different compounds after a short irradiation [84], and in two or three compounds after a long irradiation [85-87]. Thermal treatment of the irradiated compound usually increases the activity of ^{32}P in the parent molecule. Chemical processing is therefore necessary in order to obtain a radiochemically pure product.

Phosphorus pentoxide has been used for the production of ³²P-labelled phosphoric acid [88]; boiling the dissolved compound with charcoal is necessary to hydrolyse pyrophosphoric acid and to remove insoluble polymeric phosphorus compounds. Various phosphorus halides, such as phosphorus trihalides [88-90], as well as phosphorus pentasulphide [88], phosphorus sulphobromide [89], etc., can be prepared from irradiated red phosphorus. These phosphorus halides and sulphides have been used for syntheses of ³²Plabelled compounds.

6. RADIOASSAY

A relative measurement is recommended for routine work. The counting equipment can be calibrated with standardized solutions of 32 P. Phosphorus-32 standard solutions are commercially available, their activity usually being determined by 4π absolute counting.

Counting of the product can be carried out using either a liquid-counter or a normal counter under which an aliquot of the solution is placed in a small beaker or planchet. Scintillation counters as well as GM counters can be used for this purpose. Measurement of aliquots of undiluted product can be conveniently carried out using a well-type ionization chamber.

REFERENCES

- ENDT, P. M., Van der LEUN, C., Energy levels of light nuclei, Nucl. Phys. <u>34</u> 1 (1962) 324.
- [2] HOVI, V., NIEMELA, L., Measurements of the Mean Beta-disintegration Energies of P³² and Pu¹⁴⁷ at Low Temperatures, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae Ser. A VI <u>103</u> (1962) 10.
- [3] HUGHES, D.J., SCHWARTZ, R.B., Neutron cross sections, Brookhaven National Laboratory BNL - 325 (1958).
- [4] DEPUYDT, H., De MEVERGNIES, M.N., Average cross sections of the $S^{32}(n, p)P^{32}$ and $Al^{27}(n, \alpha)Na^{24}$ reactions for efficient neutrons, J. nucl. Energy (Paris) Pt. A B <u>16</u> (1962) 447.
- [5] WESTERMARK, T., Production of P³³ with thermal neutrons, Phys. Rev. 88 (1952) 573.
- [6] MURRAY, A., WILLIAMS, D. L., Organic Syntheses with Isotopes. Part II. Compounds of Isotopic Halogens, Nitrogen, Oxygen, Phosphorus, and Sulphur, Interscience Pub., New York (1958).
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, International Directory of Isotopes, 3rd ed., Technical Directory, Part <u>IV</u>. IAEA, Vienna (1964) 488 pp.
- [8] OCHOA, S., "Enzymatic synthesis of ribonucleic acid", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 1 (1961) 960.

- [9] KORNBERG, A., "Use of radioactive isotopes in the enzymatic synthesis of DNA, Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>1</u> (1961) 974.
- [10] WALLENFELS, K., SUND, H., "Anwendung von radioaktiven Isotopen in der Enzymforschung" Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 1 (1961) 1142.
- [11] JAENICKE, L., "Stoffwechsel der Mikroorganismen", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 268.
- [12] KOCH, G., "Isotope studies on viruses and bacteriophages", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 349.
- [13] KAUDEWITZ, F., Isotope bei genetischen Untersuchungen", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>2</u> (1961) 367.
- [14] FLECKENSTEIN, A., "Aktuelle Probleme der Muskelphysiologie und ihre Analyse mit Isotopen", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>2</u> (1961) 179.
- [15] SIEKEVITZ, P., "Use of radioactive isotopes in studying the matabolism of mitochondria", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 259.
- [16] UNITED NATIONS, "Isotopes in agriculture", Proc.2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>27</u> (1958) 37, 48, 63, 93, 142, 149, 170, 186, 190, 193.
- [17] СОКОЛОВ А.В., ТУРЧИН Ф.В., Применение изотопов Р³² и N¹⁵ в агрономической химии. Ж. всес. хим. общества им. Д.И. Менделеева <u>7</u> (1962) 489.
- [18] BASSHAM, J.A., "Photosynthesis", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 449.
- [19] HUQUE, H., "Studies on the persistence, decay and distribution of radiophosphorus in grasshoppers and the Madeira cockroach", Radioisotopes and Radiation in Entomology, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 155-62.
- [20] MÜLLER, J.H., "Interne Tumortherapie mit künstlich radioaktiven Isotopen", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 785.
- [21] HEILMEYER, L., KEIDERLING, W., Blutkrankheiten, Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>2</u> (1961) 833.
- [22] REYNOLDS, S. A., LEDDICOTTE, G. W., Radioactive tracers in analytical chemistry, Nucleonics <u>21</u> 8 (1963) 128.
- [23] STEPHENSON, R., Introduction to Nuclear Engineering, Ch. 5 New York (1954).
- [24] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes: Health Physics Addendum. Safety Series No. 2, IAEA Vienna (1960) 100 pp.
- [25] LIDEN, K., STARFELT, N., Internal and external bremsstrahlung accompanying the beta rays of P³², Phys. Rev. 97 (1955) 419.
- [26] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Series No. 1, IAEA Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [27] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations, Br. J. Radiol. Suppl. No. 6 28 (1955).
- [28] MIAZEK-KULA, M., Removal of radioactive contamination from surfaces, Nukleonika 5 (1960) 373.
- [29] SZWACKA, C., Removal of radioactive contamination from material used for protective clothing, Nukleonika 5 (1960) 376.
- [30] AMPHLETT, C.B., Treatment and Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, Pergamon Press, Oxford (1961).
- [31] ГУРФЕИН Л.Н., Эффективность биофильтров при очистке радиоактивных сточных вод, загрязненных фосфором-32. Докл. науч. конф. инст. радиац. гигиены по итогам работы за 1957. Ленинград 1960, 6.
- [32] RUPP, A., "Large-scale production of radioisotopes", Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 14 (1956) 68.

- [33] POCZYNAJLO, A., CAMPBELL, I.G., The preparation of carrier-free phosphorus-32 from pile irradiated sulphur, Polish Academy of Sciences, Inst. nucl. Research, Warsaw Report No. 69/V (1958).
- [34] SUAREZ, C., DOMINGUEZ, C.F., CELLINI, R.F., Preparation of sulphur of high purity, An. R. Soc. esp. Fís. Quím., Ser. B. 581(1962) 19; Chem. Abstr. 57 13 (1962) 3941.
- [35] NILSSON, G., On the chemical state of P^{32} and P^{33} in a sulphur target, Acta chem. scand. 10 (1956) 94.
- [36] ARROL, W.J., The extraction of phosphorus-32 from pile-irradiated sulphur at the curie level of activity, AERE I/R-748 (1951).
- [37] CIFKA, J., Chemical states of ³²P and ³⁵S atoms in neutron-irradiated sulphur. Radiochim. Acta (in press).
- [38] COHN, W.E., Separation of carrier-free ³²P from sulfur, USAEC Rep. MDDC-518 (1946).
- [39] COHN, W.E., Preparation of carrier-free radioactive phosphorus, USAEC Isotopic Branch Circular No. C-1 (1947).
- [40] COHN, W.E., Preparation of carrier-free radioactive phosphorus, US Patent 2, 653, 076 (22 Sept. 1953).
- [41] ARROL, W.J., Rocking autoclave for the extraction of phosphorus-32 from pile-irradiated sulphur at the curie level of activity, AERE I/R-822 (1951).
- [42] ARROLL, W.J., HUDSWELL, F., The production of phosphorus-32 from pile-irradiated sulphur, AERE I/R-1033 (1952).
- [43] ARROL, W.J., Apparatus for large-scale production of P³², Nucleonics 11 5 (1953) 26.
- [44] BUTLER, J.N., GISSEL, W.Y., Separation of phosphorus-32 from sulfur-32, USAEC Rep. AECD-2850 (1947).
- [45] KENNY, A.W., SPRAGG, W.T., Production of P³² from pile-irradiated sulphur, AERE C/R-485 (1950).
- [46] KENNY, A. W., SPRAGG, W. T., Preparation of carrier-free P³² from pile irradiated sulphur. I. Adsorption of P32 on ferric hydroxide and dialysed iron, J. chem. Soc., Suppl. No. 2 (1949) 326.
- [47] McISAAC, L.D., VOIGT, A., A new technique for the separation of radiophosphorus from sulfur, USAEC Rep. ISC-271 (1952).
- [48] JOLCHINE, Y., «Les caractéristiques et la préparation des radioisotopes à usage medical», Proc. VII. Rassegna Internazionale elettronica nucleare e teleradiocinematografica, Milan (1960).
- [49] BOOTH, A.H., Separation of P³² from neutron-irradiated sulfur, Can. J. Res. 27 B (1949) 933.
- [50] BOOTH, A.H., Separation of phosphorus-32, US Patent 2 552 032 (8 May 1951).
- [51] SAMSAHL, K., TAUGBOL, K., A new method for the extraction of radioactive phosphorus-32, JENER (Norway) Rep. -35 (1955); Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 14 (1956) 89.
- [52] SAMSAHL, K., Production of radioactive phosphorus-32 from pile-irradiated sulphur, JENER (Norway) Rep. -41 (1956).
- [53] SAMSAHL, K., Das JENER-Verfahren zur Herstellung von trägerfreiem Phosphor-32 aus neutronen-bestrahltem Schwefel, Atompraxis 4 (1958) 14.
- [54] SAMSAHL, K., TAUGBOL, K., Verfahren zur Herstellung von radioaktivem Phosphor, Deutsches Bundespatent Nr. 1 041 482 (1956); Br. Patent 671 359.
- [55] MÜNZE, R., BARANIAK, L., REINHARD, G., LEUSCHKE, W., Herstellung von trägerfreiem ³²P im Produktionsmaßstab, Kernenergie 6 (1963) 489.
- [56] GEITHOFF, D., Die Entwicklung der Abtrennungsverfahren für die Gewinnung der Radionuklide ³²P und ¹³¹J aus bestrahlten Materialien, Kerntechnik 4 (1962) 45.
- [57] HUTCHIN, J.G., WATSON, C.V., Recovery of radioactive phosphorus from neutron irradiated sulfur, US Patent 2 621 110 (9 Dec. 1952).
- [58] KIMURA, K., ISHIMORI, T., YOSHIHARA, K., NAKAMURA, H., Studies of preparation of phosphorus-32, Japan At. Energy Res. Inst. Rep. No. 1013 (1960).
- [59] CONSTANT, R., Préparation du phosphore-32 sans entraîneur isotopique par extraction liquide-liquide, Rapport CEN-Blg 67 - R. 2058, Bruxelles (1961).
- [60] КОЗЫРЕВА Л.С., Получение Р³² без носителя. В кн. "Методы получения и измерения радиоактивных препаратов". Под ред. БОЧКАРЕВА В.В. Атомиздат. Москва, 1960. 100.
- [61] JOVANOVIĆ-KOVAČEVIĆ, O.Ž., JANIĆIJEVIĆ, P.M., Some new developments in the production of carrier-free ³²P. Atompraxis <u>10</u> (1964) 265. [62] JOVANOVIC-KOVAČEVIĆ, O.Z., Separation of carrier-free ³²P from elementary sulphur
- on a silica gel column, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidrich 10 (1960) 51.

- [63] BRESESTI, M., Del TURCO, A.M., LANZ, R., Separazione mediante adsorbimento su allumina di P-32senza portatore da zolfo irraggiato in un reattore, Annali Chim. <u>51</u> (1961) 351.
- [64] EVANS, C.C., STEVENSON, J., Production of radioactive phosphorus, Br. Patent 765 489.
- [65] GEITHOFF, D., SCHNEIDER, V., Die Isolierung der Radionuklide ³²P, ³⁵S und ¹³¹J aus bestrahlten Materialien und die Herstellung von kolloidalem Radiogold, Atompraxis <u>7</u> (1961) 423.
- [66] ATEN, A.H.W., Note on the chemical behaviour of free ions in crystal lattices, Recl. Trav. chim. Pays-Bas Belg. <u>61</u> (1942) 467.
- [67] ATEN, A. H. W., High energy ions in crystal lattices, Phys. Rev. 71 (1947) 641.
- [68] LINDNER, L., Hot atom chemistry of phosphorus, Thesis, University of Amsterdam (1958).
- [69] ADAMS, A., CAMPBELL, I.G., The effects of the ³²S(n, p)³²P reaction in sulphur-containing compounds, Trans. Faraday Soc. <u>59</u> (1963) 2001.
- [70] CIFKA, J., Chemical states of ³²P after some nuclear reactions, Thesis, Nucl. Res. Inst., Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences (1963).
- [71] CÍFKA, J., Preparation of carrier-free ³²P, Nucl. Res. Inst., Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences, Rep. No. 628 (1964), in Czech.
- [72] MEIER-LEIBNITZ, H., Herstellung und Messung künstlich radioaktiver Phosphorpräparate für chemische Untersuchungen, Angew. Chem. <u>51</u> (1938) 545.
- [73] ERBACHER, O., Gewinnung des künstlichen radioaktiven Phosphors 15P³² in unwägbarer Menge aus Schwefelkohlenstoff, Z. phys. Chem. B 42 (1939) 173.
- [74] HULL, D.E., Attempted exchange of radiophosphorus between ortho-, pyro- and metaphosphoric acids, J. Am. chem. Soc. 63 (1941) 1269.
- [75] DAS GUPTA, N.N., PURAKAYASTHA, B.C., GHOSHAL, S.N., SEN, B.B., Concentration of radioactive phosphorus P³² from carbon disulphide, Sci. Cult. 11 (1945) 271.
- [76] KOVAČEVIĆ, O. Ž., STANKOVIĆ, S. M., Preparation of carrier free radioactive phosphorus-32, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidrich 6 (1956) 159.
- [77] KAR, K.R., BHUTANI, M.M., Concentration of radioactive phosphorus P³² in the carrierfree state by adsorption on ignited barium sulphate, J. Scient. ind. Res. <u>20</u> <u>B</u> (1961) 53.
- [78] VELJKOVIĆ, S. R., MILENKOVIĆ, S. M., Concentration of carrier-free P-32 by adsorption on alumina, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidrich <u>10</u> (1960) 61.
- [79] BRESESTI, M., LANZ, R., Del TURCO, A.M., Separation of phosphorus-32 from sulphates irradiated in a reactor, Annali Chim. 53 (1963) 1411.
- [80] VELJKOVIĆ, S.R., MILENKOVIĆ, S.M., Separation of P-32 from S-35 and from some other anions on MgO, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidrich <u>10</u> (1960) 71.
- [81] JOVANOVIĆ-KOVAČEVIĆ, O. Ž., MILENKOVIĆ, S. M., TEOFILOVSKI, Č. M., Concentration of P³² from irradiated MgSO⁴ by adsorption on magnesium metal, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidrich <u>13</u> 4 (1962) 1.
- [82] ABRAO, A., LIMA, F. W., TONGOLI, L., "Production of carrier-free phosphorus-32 by using soluble sulfates as material for irradiation", Proc. 3rd Inter-Am. Symp. peacef. Applic. nucl. Energy, Rio de Janeiro (1960) 77.
- [83] CÍFKA, J., Production of Radioactive Phosphorus ³²P, Czechoslovak Patent 107 306 (15 May 1963).
- [84] LINDNER, L., HARBOTTLE, G., "On the chemical behaviour of P³² recoils in inorganic crystalline phosphorus compounds", Chemical Effects of Nuclear Transformations I IAEA, Vienna (1961) 485.
- [85] BORLAND, J. W., MacKENZIE, A.J., HILL, W. L., Characterization of non orthophosphate phosphorus-32 in neutron irradiated potassium dihydrogen phosphate, Ind. Engng Chem. 44 (1952) 2726.
- [86] SELLERS, P.A., SATO, T.R., STRAIN, H.H., Neutron irradiation of some crystalline salts of phosphoric, phosphorous and hypophosphorous acids in vacuum, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. <u>5</u> (1957) 31.
- [87] SATO, T. R., SELLERS, P.A., STRAIN, H.H., Neutron irradiation of various phosphates in vacuum, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. 11 (1959) 84.
- [88] СЕРЕБРЯКОВ Н.Г., ТРОНОВА И.Н., Получение некоторых препаратов с Р³². В кн. Методы получения и измерения радиоактивных препаратов. Под ред. БОЧКА-РЕВА В.В. Атомиздат. Москва, 1960, стр. 89.

[89] DEDEK, W., Preparation of P³² labelled phosphorus bromides as starting materials for the synthesis of P³² labelled phosphorus-organic insecticides, Isotopen-Tech. 1 (1961) 195.

[90] DEDEK, W., Radioactive labelled esters of phosphoric acid. II., Isotopen-Tech. 2 (1962) 182.

PROCEDURES

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCE, NATIONAL TSING HUA UNIVERSITY, HSINCHU, TAIWAN, REPUBLIC OF CHINA

1. GENERAL

Phosphorus-32 is prepared by the nuclear reaction ${}^{32}S(n, p){}^{32}P$. Phosphorus is separated from sulphur by dry distillation of sulphur in a nitrogen stream. Finally, phosphorus is extracted from the residue with dilute hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	100 g of elementary sulphur purified by sublimation
	four times is melted and cast into rods.
Irradiation container:	The target is wrapped with aluminium foil and sealed
	into the aluminium can 4.7 cm diam. \times 9 cm.
Flux:	$1.6 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Irradiation time:	30 h.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated sulphur is placed in a distillation flask made of quartz. The flask is fitted to a receiver with a ground joint. Pass nitrogen gas through the distillation unit. Switch on the heating system. The internal temperature of the flask reaches ~ 400 °C after $30 \sim 40$ min. Distillation of sulphur takes place and the sulphur is collected in the receiver for re-use. Sulphur which escapes in the form of vapour is collected in the condenser fitted to the receiver. After the distillation of sulphur is completed, the flask is allowed to cool and the nitrogen stream is cut off. Add 50 ml of 0.1 N hydrogen chloride to the flask, which is then fitted with a condenser and refluxed for two hours to leach out the phosphorus. After cooling the solution is passed into a column of cationic exchanger (Amberite IR-120 conditioned in H⁺ form). The effluent is collected and transferred into a concentration vessel to adjust the concentration.

About 95 mCi of phosphorus-32 is obtained.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The chemical analysis of the product is carried out according to Oak Ridge National Laboratory Master Analytical Manual 90733601-4. The chemical form of phosphorus-32 is determined by ascending paper chromatography. Pharmaceutical control is carried out according to Minimum Requirements of Radioactive Drugs, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Japan (1962).

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	$H_3 PO_4$ in HCl solution.
Concentration:	2.3 mCi/ml.
Specific activity:	Carrier-free.
Acidity:	0.1 - 0.15 <u>N</u> HC1.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.

THE NUCLEAR RESEARCH INSTITUTE, ŘEŽ, CZECHOSLOVAK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

1. GENERAL

Phosphorus-32 is separated from an irradiated sodium pentasulphide target by co-precipitation with magnesium hydroxide. The subsequent separation of magnesium ions is carried out on a Dowex-50 cation exchange resin. Phosphorus-32 remains in the eluate. The total yield is in the range of 70-76%. Phosphorus-32 is present in the form of phosphate ions. The method is patented [1].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:

Sodium pentasulphide prepared by melting sodium carbonate (pro analysi) and elementary sulphur (p.a.) in a graphite crucible at 450° C for four hours. The composition of the meltis $3Na_2S_5 + Na_2SO_4$ and the total sulphur content 67.9%. The melt is cast into graphite moulds.

Aluminium container.

lrradiation conditions: lrradiation for 160 h (20 h/d, 4 d a week) at a flux of 1×10^{13} n/cm² s. Each cylinder of polysulphide is wrapped in aluminium foil of 0.1 mm thickness. Two hundred and seventy grams of target material is sufficient to produce 1.5 Ci.

Container: lrradiation conditions:

312

Chemical treatment

The ninety grams of target material are stored for five days, to allow the ²⁴Na to decay, and then dissolved in 1 litre of hot distilled water. The insoluble residue, if present, is removed by paper filtration and 750 mg of Mg^{2+} are added to the clear solution. The solution is then heated to boiling temperature and the precipitated magnesium hydroxide is separated by decantation and filtration, and washed with water. The precipitate is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid, and elementary sulphur, if present, is filtered off. The clear solution is neutralized with 1 <u>N</u> sodium hydroxide (thymol blue; red-yellow) and the resulting precipitate is boiled for 3 min.

After a short cooling period the precipitated magnesium hydroxide is removed with a small paper filter and washed with water. The filter with the precipitate is then transferred into the same flask in which the precipitation was carried out, 30 ml of water and 5 drops of thymol blue are added and the precipitate is dissolved in a 0.3 N solution of hydrochloric acid while being gently heated. The excess of acid is carefully neutralized with a solution of sodium hydroxide to pH 2 (the transition point of the indicator) and the solution is transferred to a cation exchanger column (15 g Dowex-50 in the hydrogen form).

The column is washed with 30 ml of water and the eluate containing the phosphorus-32 and hydrochloric acid is evaporated to dryness. Organic materials are destroyed by heating with 10 ml of 30% hydrogen peroxide and evaporating to dryness. This operation is repeated. The phosphorus-32 is then dissolved in hot 0.01 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid and the solution is filtered through a glass filter to remove insoluble particles. This solution is used for the production of all ³²P phosphate compounds.

The process is carried out in a lead-shielded box. The evaporator is heated with xylene (b.p. 140-143°C) to prevent the polymerization of phosphate ions.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The ${}^{32}P$ content is estimated by liquid counting in a counter which has been calibrated with a standard ${}^{32}P$ solution. Phosphorus-32 standards are prepared by 4π counting. The radioactive purity is checked for each batch of the target. A first test for heavy metals is carried out immediately with the sodium sulphide solution (Pharmacopoeia method). If this is negative, the product is dispensed before a complete spectrographic analysis is done.

The amount of ^{32}P as orthophosphate is determined by ascending paper chromatography (isopropanol 75 ml, water 25 ml; trichloroacetic acid 5 g, ammonium hydroxide 0.3 ml) in the presence of carriers of phosphate and pyrophosphates.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

A solution of 32 P phosphoric acid in 0.01 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid. Radioactive concentration: 10-20 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: Radiochemical purity: Chemical purity: ³²P content 99.5%, the rest mainly ³³P.
Orthophosphates at least 95%.
Heavy metals content below the sensitivity of sulphide test.
> 300 mCi/mg P.

Specific activity:

$\mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{N} \to \mathbf{C} \to \mathbf{C}$

[1] CIFKA, J., Czechoslovak patent 107306 (Dec. 1961).

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of a natural sulphur target results in the production of ${}^{32}P$ by the (n, p) nuclear reaction ${}^{33}S(n, p) {}^{32}P$. The most probable chemical state of this phosphorus is the oxide. The conclusion is therefore that the separation sulphur- ${}^{32}P$ can be effected by fractional distillation.

A method practised in the United Kingdom [1], which has been patented, recommends distillation of sulphur at atmospheric pressure and at a temperature of about 500°C under a stream of gaseous nitrogen. The reported separation yield is 99.9%. Making up the distillation residue with an oxidizing solution gives ^{32}P in the form of orthophosphoric acid.

This method has two appreciable drawbacks: use of a fairly high temperature and, above all, danger of fire during the operation. It is therefore desirable to carry out distillation under 1 mm of mercury at a temperature of about 180°C. Furthermore, final purification of the $H_3^{32}PO_4$ solution by passage over an ion exchange resin ensures a very small content of troublesome metallic ions.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:

Prolabo technical sulphur purified by double distillation; purity over 99%.

Irradiation of 10 or 20 capsules, each containing 40 g of sulphur.

Irradiation conditions: Swimming pool reactors are used because of their

high fast neutron flux available. Irradiation in MELUSINE for one month. Fast flux $2-4 \times 10^{12}$ n/cm²s.

Irradiation in SILOE for three weeks. Fast flux about 7×10^{12} n/cm² s.

Irradiation in TRITON for one month. Fast flux $2-4 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$

314
Irradiation container:	EL-3 type container:	aluminium capsule, cylin-	
		drical, internal diam. 22.5 mm	
		and internal length 65 mm.	
	SILOE-type container:	aluminium capsule, internal	
		diam. 19.9 mm and internal	
		length 55 mm.	
Side reactions:	The formation of $^{33}\mathrm{P}$	and ³⁴ P by the following re-	
	actions: ³³ S(n, p) ³³ P and ³⁴ S(n, p) ³⁴ P. The presence		
	of ³³ P is of slight imp	ortance because of its small	

cross-section, and ³⁴P soon becomes insignificant because of its very short half-life.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

After uncrimping the irradiation tubes, the sulphur is poured into a quartz distillation flask. The flask is fitted to a receiver and the vacuum pump and heating system are switched on. Distillation takes place at 180°C and 1 mm of mercury, and at this temperature the sulphur is light orange in colour, becoming dark red if a big rise in temperature occurs.

When distillation is completed the flask is first left to cool, then the vacuum is cut off; 100 ml of N/10 hydrochloric acid, 5 ml of 110 vol. hydrogen peroxide and 30 ml of N/10 hydrochloric acid are added in succession. The flask is fixed under a condenser and heated to boiling with refluxing for two hours. After cooling, the solution is passed over a Dowex-50 resin column. The flask is then rinsed with 20 ml of N/10 hydrochloric acid.

The operation is completed by collecting the purified solution in an evaporator bottle. The solution is evaporated almost to dryness and four portions of N/10 hydrochloric acid from the resin washing are collected. They are evaporated almost to dryness, and then two portions of 2 ml of 110 vol. hydrogen peroxide, followed by two portions of 4 ml of doubly distilled water are added, which are evaporated separately almost to dryness.

Lastly, two portions of 30 ml doubly distilled water are used to make up the final solution of orthophosphoric acid $\rm H_3^{32}PO_4$ with a specific activity of 50 to 150 mCi/ml.

Apparatus (Figs. 1, 2, 3)

(a) Sulphur distillation unit: this consists of a mobile quartz flask, which moves on a mechanical trolley and tilts for introduction of the target, and a fixed receiver which collects the distilled sulphur. After one operation the distilled sulphur is run off into a cardboard container by heating and discarded. The flask and the receiver are fitted together by an absolutely flush-ground joint. The movements of the flask are controlled by a manual system which can be locked at will.

(b) Reflux condenser: fitted to the flask by a flush-ground joint.

(c) Dowex 50 resin column: laboratory glassware.

(d) Evaporator vessel: double-jacket reservoir, one containing xylene which, brought to the boil, heats the second containing the solution.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of ³²P (front-face)



FIG.2. Apparatus for the production of ³²P (rear panel removed) From left to right: Distillation phase Purification phase

Arrangements for removal



- 1. Irradiated sulphur load
- 2. Distillation
- 3. Dissolution
- 4. Passage over Dowex-50 resin
- 5. Evaporation
- 6. Recovery of H₃³² PO₄ solution for storage

FIG.3. ³²P flowsheet

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution.

Radioactive control: checks the absence of impurities and γ - and β -emitters.

Chemical purity control: the metallic impurities content must not exceed 10 μ g/ml on an average.

Radiochemical purity control: consists of determination of the polyphosphates present in the solution [2]. Paper chromatography is carried out with acid (isopropanol 75 ml, water 25 ml, trichloroacetic acid 5 g, ammonia 0.3 ml) and alkaline (n-propanol 30 ml, ethanol 30 ml, water 30 ml, ammonia 1 ml) baths; it is possible to separate the phosphoric acid from the condensation products: pyrophosphoric, tripolyphosphoric and metaphosphoric acids.

The proportion of polyphosphates is generally lower than 1%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ${}^{32}P$ S-1 - ${}^{32}P$ phosphoric acid solution, carrier-free, non-injectable

A sterile solution of phosphoric acid H_3 ³²PO₄ in about 0.01 <u>N</u> HCl, pH about 2, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 40-50 mCi/ml average; 100 mCi/ml maximum.

Radioactive purity:

100 mCi/ml maximum. ³²P content > 99. 9% (half-life and coefficient of

Radiochemical purity:T content > 50. 5% (null life and coeffic
mass absorption characteristic of 3^2 P).Radiochemical purity:Orthophosphoric acid content > 95%.Specific activity:Above 1 Ci/mg.

No troublesome chemical impurities.

Reference: ³²P S-2 - Solution of sodium phosphate ³²P, injectable

Aqueous, neutral, isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of sodium phosphate Na₂H³²PO₄, meeting the following specifications: Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 2 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: ^{32}P content > 99.9% (half-life and coefficient of mass absorption characteristic of ³²P). Radiochemical purity: Orthophosphate content > 95%. Composition of the solution: As indicated in the French Pharmacopoeia: Sodium radiophosphate unweighable quantity Anhydrous Na₂HPO₄ 450 µg NaC1 9 mg Distilled water 1 ml

Sterile. Pyrogen-free.

REFERENCES

[1] EVANS, C.C., STEVENSON, J., Improvements in or relating to production of radioactive phosphorus, British Patent No. 765489.

[2] COHEN, M.Y., Produits pharmaceutiques 17 (Jan. 1962).

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Neutron irradiation of natural sulphur yields carrier-free 3^{2} P by the (n, p) reaction. The 32 P produced is stabilized in the non-volatile form of phosphate and so, can be separated from sulphur by distilling off the latter. The distillation is carried out under reduced pressure (1-5 mm of Hg) at a temperature of $150-200^{\circ}$ C and the ³²P is leached out with dilute HCl.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:

Sulphur, purified by boiling with sulphuric acid and nitric acid, then with repeated washing with distilled water, and finally by the distillation under reduced pressure [1]. Cast into blocks approximately 50 g in weight. The purity is less than 1 ppm of heavy metal impurities and less than 2 ppm of carbon.

Irradiation conditions: Covered with thin aluminium foil, enclosed in cans (Type A, screwed capped 1S aluminium can of 73 mm height and 26.5 mm diam.), and irradiated in APSARA for 4 weeks at a fast flux of 1×10^{12} n/cm² s.

Chemical treatment

After decapping the cans, the contents are transferred into a funnel. The funnel is gradually heated to about 130°C when all the sulphur melts down into the distillation flask. The distillation assembly is then connected to the vacuum pump and the heating furnaces are switched on. The distillation of sulphur takes place at a temperature between 150-200°C at a pressure of 1-5 mmHg. After completion of distillation, the system is allowed to cool and the vacuum is released. Fifty millilitres of 0.5 N pure hydrochloric acid is added to the distillation flask and then it is heated to 70°C for an hour to leach out the H_3 ³²PO₄. The ³²P solution is allowed to cool and is then siphoned out into a graduated glass storage bottle.

Recovery of sulphur

It is observed that only traces of the ^{32}P activity are carried over by the distilled sulphur. This sulphur has been formed suitable for re-irradiation. The collected sulphur is melted down, cast into blocks and is sent for irradiation again.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The stock solution is assayed for radioactivity by beta counting, using a GM counter.

The total solid content is determined by evaporating a known volume of the stock solution and then weighing the residue.

The absence of heavy metals is confirmed by the hydroxide and sulphide precipitation tests.

The radiochemical purity is determined by paper chromatography using a solvent mixture consisting of isopropanol, ammonia and trichloroacetic acid.

 R_f of orthophosphate 0.76

 R_f of metaphosphate 0.00

 R_f of pyrophosphate 0.40.

The radioactive purity is determined by finding out the range of beta particles in aluminium using a GM counter.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Code P-1

Specific activity:	Carrier-free.
Chemical form:	H ₃ PO ₄ in dilute HCl.
Acidity:	Approx. 0.1 N HCl.
Radiochemical purity:	Orthophosphate content is greater than 95%.
Concentration:	1-20 mCi/ml.

Code pHM-2: for medical use

Phosphorus-32 as sodium orthophosphate in isotonic saline solution containing phosphate buffer, pH 7. Solution sterilized. Phosphate content: 1 mg/ml. Concentration: 1-2 mCi/ml.

REFERENCE

[1] MURPHY, T.J. et al., J. Res. Nati. Bureau of Stds., 64A (1960) 355.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the irradiation of a sulphur target, and the separation of phosphorus by the sublimation of sulphur under a nitrogen stream. The phosphorus is extracted from the residue by 0.1 N hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:120 g (60 g \times 2 capsules) elementary sulphur purified by
sublimation of crystalline sulphur four times (JISGR)1.Container:The target is wrapped with aluminium foil, then placed
in an aluminium capsule.Flux:Fast: 1.5×10^{12} n/cm² s; thermal: 1.3×10^{12} n/cm² s (JRR-1).Irradiation time:15 h (5 h \times 3 d).

Side reactions: Formations of ³³P and ³⁵S.

Chemical treatment

Production is based on the sublimation of a sulphur target. The apparatus is shown in Fig. 1.

Remove aluminium foil from the target by the tong-manipulator, then place the target in the sublimation vessel (a).

• Fix the cap on the sublimation vessel, then introduce a nitrogen stream at the speed of 2-5 bubbles per second.

¹ Japan Industrial Standard Grade Reagent.



- (b) Receiver
- (c) Condenser

(f) Evaporator

(g) Bottles of product

(d) Position of sublimation vessel for extraction

FIG.1. Arrangement of apparatus for ³²P production

Heat the sublimation vessel gently; the sublimed sulphur is collected in the receiver (b). Part of the sulphur which escapes in the form of vapour is collected in the condenser (c).

After the sublimation of sulphur, the vessel (a) is rotated to position (d); then fix the cap with the condenser and reagent feed pipe.

Add 60 ml 0.1 N HCl, then boil for four hours to extract ³²P.

Pass the solution to the ion exchange resin (e) to remove cations.

Transfer the solution into the concentration vessel; concentrate the solution to 0.3 ml under the infra-red lamp, then dilute with 20 ml distilled water.

Distribute the product solution into the bottle with the rubber and aluminium caps.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Total solids, non-volatile materials and heavy metal contents are determined by the following methods:

Total solids: Évaporate 1 ml to dryness under the infra-red lamp, then heat at 110°C and weigh.

Non-volatile material: Evaporate 1 ml to dryness, heat at 600°C, then weigh. Heavy metals: Compare the colour with the lead standard solution by the addition of hydrogen sulphide.

The aluminium and arsenic contents are determined by a spectrophotometric method by oxine, and by the Gutzeit method respectively.

Routine assay is carried out with a $2\pi\beta$ -proportional counter. Calibration is made by a $4\pi\beta$ -counter.

The amount of carrier in the product is determined by a spectrophotometric method by molybdenum blue.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Phosphorus-32 is produced by irradiating finely-ground sulphur [1, 2], ³²S(n, p)³²P. The radioactive phosphorus produced, being present mainly as orthophosphate [3, 4], is separated from the target material by extraction with boiling water, with subsequent evaporation to a suitable volume. The process has been patented (Norwegian Patent No. 86832).

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	Sulphur, Merck, D. A. B. 6., specially purified and
	dried, finely ground.
Amount:	400 g.
Time of irradiation:	3 weeks.
Container:	2 aluminium cans.
Flux:	About 2×10^{11} n/cm ² s (fast neutrons).
Side reactions:	33 S(n, p) 33 P (25 d).
	34 S(n, p) 34 P (14.2 s).

The yield of ^{33}P is only about 0.03% of the yield of ^{32}P , and ^{34}P has a very short half-life. These side reactions have no practical significance.

Chemical treatment

Before irradiation the target material is pretreated by heating it with 2 N hydrochloric acid to 70° C for 1-2 h with continuous agitation. It is carefully washed several times with distilled water, and finally dried in vacuum.

The irradiated sulphur powder is extracted with boiling water for one hour; 2-octanol is added as a wetting agent. After extraction the solid and liquid phase are separated by means of filtration, and the ³²P solution is concentrated by evaporation and finally re-filtered.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative Geiger-Müller counting. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography. Radiochemical purity control, radiochromatography. Specific activity control, phosphorus content (spectrophotometry). Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

FO – orthophosphate i	n dilute hydrochloric acid solution.
Radioactive concentration:	15-25 mCi/ml.
Isotopic purity:	Greater than 99%.
Radiochemical purity:	100% as orthophosphate.
Specific activity:	1000 mCi/mg P.
pH:	2-3.
Total solids:	Less than 0.5 mg/ml.
Chemical purity:	Metals, spectrographically determined less than
	$10 \mu g/ml.$

FSI - orthophosphate in isotonic solution containing phosphate buffer, sterilized. pH: 7. Total solids: 15 mg/ml.

Phosphorus carrier content: 1 mg/ml. Other specifications as for FO.

REFERENCES

- SAMSAHL, K., TAUGBØL, H., A New Method for Extraction of Radioactive Phosphorus-32, JENER Report No. 35 (1955)
- [2] SAMSAHL, K., Production of Radioactive Phosphorus-32 from Pile-Irradiated Sulphur, JENER Report No. 41 (1956).
- [3] DAHL, J.B., On the Chemical State of Radioactive Phosphorus-32 Extracted into Water from Pile-Irradiated Sulphur, JENER Report No. 40 (1956).
- [4] DAHL, J.B., BIRKELUND, O.R., "Investigations of the chemical states of carrier-free phosphorus-32 as extracted into water from pile-irradiated sulphur", Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, Proc. IAEA/UNESCO, Conf. Copenhagen (Sept. 1960), IAEA, Vienna (1962) 471.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH, SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL [1-8]

Phosphorus-32 is obtained from an irradiated elementary sulphur target by distillation. To prevent the ignition of sulphur during distillation the process is carried out at 5 mmHg and 200-240°C. Yield of the process 90-95%.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation	
Target:	High purity elementary sulphur - 30 g.
Flux:	Thermal neutrons 2×10^{13} n/cm ² s.
	Fast neutrons $1 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	Two weeks in the reactor working 86 h per week at
	full power.
Container:	Aluminium capsule treated with hot concentrated nitric acid in order to clean it and reduce sulphur corrosion during irradiation. Closed by welding.
Activity obtained:	800 mCi of ³² P.

Chemical treatment

The container is opened with a hand-operated rotary cutter and transferred to a heating device which allows the melting of sulphur; 60 g of liquid sulphur are placed into a quartz distillation flask. The flask is connected by a flat ground joint with a receiver. A vacuum pump is used for lowering the pressure in the apparatus down to 5 mmHg and then the heating system is turned on. The distillation is carried out for approximately 2 h and when sulphur is distilled off, the temperature is raised and maintained at the higher level for another 20 min.

After completing the distillation the apparatus is cooled and the distillation flask is connected by a flat ground joint with a reflux condenser; 15 ml of 0.1 <u>N</u> HCl and 2 ml of 30% H₂O₂ are added. The flask content is then refluxed for 1-2 h. This operation is repeated after the addition of 4 ml 0.1 <u>N</u> HCl and 1 ml of 30% H₂O₂. The resulting mixture is cooled and placed in an evaporator; 1 ml of 30% H₂O₂ is added. After evaporation to dryness the ³²P is desorbed by 0.1 <u>N</u> HCl. The evaporator is heated with boiling xylene (b.p. 140-143°C) to prevent polymerization of the final product. The product is filtered through sintered glass and transferred to a receiving vessel. To separate impurities the product is passed through a cation exchanger column.

The orthophosphoric acid solution is used for the preparation of other $^{32}\mathrm{P}$ compounds.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of ${}^{32}P$ is determined by a comparative method.

The standards are checked by 4π counting.

The chemical purity is determined spectrally.

The radiation purity is analysed by beta and gamma spectrometry.

The radiochemical purity is controlled by paper chromatography.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Solution of phosphoric acid (ortho) in HCl (approx. 0.1 N), pH approx. 1. Radioactive concentration: Approx. 50 mCi/ml.

Radiation purity: Radiochemical purity: Specific activity: Impurities: 99.0%. 99%. 5-50 mCi/ml. As, Pb <5 μg/ml.

REFERENCES

[1] ARROL, W.J., HUDSWELL, F., Atomic Energy Research Establ., I/R No. 1033 (1953).

[2] SAMSAHL, K., Atompraxis 4 I (1958) 14-17.

[3] PAULY, J., SUE, A.P., J. phys. et radium 18 1 (1957) 22.

[4] HEVESY, G., Radioactive Indicators, Interscience Pub., Inc., New York (1948).

[5] KORSHUNOV, J.A., SHAFIEV, A.J., Zh. Neorgan. Khim 3 (1958) 95.

[6] EVANS, C.C., STEVENSON, Brit. Patent Spec. 765, 489.

[7] ZELENAY, R., FIJALKOWSKI, J., Rep. No. 392/XIII, INR, Warsaw.

[8] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Isotopes Division, Annual Report for 1957, ORNL 2492 (1963).

INSTITUTE OF ATOMIC PHYSICS, BUCHAREST, ROMANIA

1. GENERAL

The production of $^{32}\mathrm{P}$ is based on the (n, p) reaction of sulphur targets. The separation of $^{32}\mathrm{P}$ is carried out by the method of solvent extraction.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Sulphur crystalline p.a., amount $25-30$ g.
Flux:	$1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s.}$
Time of irradiation:	200 h.
Container:	Aluminium cans.
Activation:	1 Ci.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target is introduced in a distillation flask with a refluxing condenser. 100 ml of HCl 0.1 N is then added and is refluxed for one hour. After cooling 150 ml of trichloroethylene is added and is refluxed for one hour. The aqueous layer is separated, heated for 15-20 min and then filtered. 2 ml H_2O_2 30% are added and evaporated. The residue is treated with an isotonic solution of HNa_2PO_4 . After measurement of activity the product is sterilized.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radiochemical purity is controlled by paper radiochromatography. The total phosphorus is determined by the spectrophotometrical method. Arsenic, the other metals and pH are controlled in the usual way.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Prepared normally from stock and the packaging is in penicillin type bottle.

REFERENCE

[1] POCZYNAJLO, H., CAMPBELL, A., Kernenergie 431 (May, 1959).

JUNTA DE ENERGIA NUCLEAR, MADRID, SPAIN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the irradiation of elementary sulphur. Phosphorus is separated from the target by distillation of the sulphur. Phosphorus is extracted from the residue with dilute hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material: 120 g of sulphur which has been purified as follows. Boil for three hours with 1% MgO; separate the liquid phase by decantation and boil for 100 h adding 2% MgO every 25 h; distil the sulphur in a slow stream of nitrogen [1]. Analysis of the target material shows the following impurities: Al 0.04 - 0.004 ppm, As < 0.12 ppm, B < 0.08 ppm, Ca 0.4-0.02 ppm, Cd < 0.01 ppm, Fe 0.15-0.02 ppm, Cr < 0.01 ppm, La < 0.06 ppm, Mg 0.14 - 0.01 ppm, Mn <0.01 ppm, Ni <0.04 ppm, Sn <0.04 ppm, Te <0.4 ppm, Pb < 0.04 ppm, K 0.02 ppm, Na 0.09 ppm. Container: Aluminium leak-tight container, 24×26 mm diam. Flux: $1.9 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JEN-1). Irradiation time: 4 weeks, equivalent to 138 h of continuous operation at 1 MW. Approximate yield is 200 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

Sulphur is distilled from the irradiated target under a stream of nitrogen [2]. The diagram of the equipment used is shown in Fig. 1. The process comprises the following steps:



FIG.1. Phosphorus-32 production process

Cut the irradiation container transversally, then the sulphur, gently heated to melting point, is transferred to a glass flask with a ground conical neck (No. 2).

Place the flask in the furnace (No.3) which is equipped with an automatically controlled heating system keeping the internal temperature at $480 \pm 10^{\circ}$ C.

Seal the furnace with the glass plug, and introduce the nitrogen. The furnace is heated until the sulphur is completely distilled into the receiver (No. 4). The distilled sulphur is re-used.

Remove the flask (No. 2) from the furnace and place on the heater. A reflux condenser (No. 6) is fitted into the ground neck of the flask, and 18 ml of 0.1 N HCl is added. Boil for 30 min.

Remove the solution from the flask with a pipette and add 3 ml of a solution, containing 200 g Na_2HPO_4 . 12H₂O, 14 g NaCl and 24 g NaOH per litre. This brings the product to pH 7 and makes it isotonic [3]. If the solution is turbid, filtration is necessary.





FIG.2. Cell for ³² P samples sealing

FIG.3. Cell for ³²P separation

Apparatus

Production is carried out in an enclosure 1.90 m high, with side walls of 1.80 and 0.80 m (Figs. 2 and 3), kept at a negative pressure of 20 mm w.c. It comprises a steel frame with 5-mm-thick plexiglass panels as external biological shielding. Besides the equipment pieces already described, the apparatus consists of:

A set-up (No. 1) to prevent nitrogen overpressure and to dry the gas before entering the furnace.

A set of traps (No. 5) to prevent sulphur powder or vapour from entering in the negative pressure line (No. 14).

A distiller (No. 7) to concentrate the product or to carry out the destruction of organic matter, if necessary (never used so far).

Flasks to receive liquid wastes (Nos. 11, 12).

Ancillary elements, such as funnels for the addition of reagents (Nos. E-1, E-2, E-3), vacuum balls to transfer the product (Nos. M-1, M-2, M-3), manual pumps for sampling (Nos. J-1, J-2, J-3, J-4), etc.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Determination of chemical purity is made with a Hilger quartz spectrograph (Littrow type, high dispersion) and a JACO "Varisource" generator [4]. The following elements are determined: Al, As, B, Ca, Cd, Cr, Fe, La, Mg, Mn, Ni, Pb, Si, Sn and Te at concentrations of less than $10 \,\mu g/ml$ and with a sensitivity of the order of $0.1 \,\mu g/ml$. The radioisotopic purity is determined by gamma spectrometry, using a scintillation detector with a 3×3 -in. crystal and an RCL 256 channel analyser [5]. Because beta emission is involved, beta-absorption and half-life measurement are also carried out. These determinations show that the ^{32}P content is > 99.5%. The determination of chemical form is carried out by electrophoresis and chromatography in conjunction with autoradiography, to localize the distribution of radioactivity on the strips of paper. Lederer electrophoresis technique as modified by Dürrum with paper suspended in the middle is employed [6,7].

Electrophoresis is performed with 1 N HCl at 10 mA for 18 h. Polyphosphate impurities and ^{35}S can be determined in amounts of less than 1% using autoradiography exposure times of the order of 48 h.

Routine assay is made by comparison with a standard in a well-type ionization chamber (General Radiological Ltd., UK, model NEO14-01) and a micro-microammeter (AVO Ltd., UK, model 1388B). Reasonably accurate ³²P determinations can be carried out by the measurement of beta particles (for low activities) or bremsstrahlung. Occasionally absolute measurements are carried out by means of the solid angle technique (defined by diaphragmed Geiger detector). An error of 5-10% in the activity measurements is allowed; in special cases, the error can be less than 5% [8].

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

³²P - Phosphoric acid solution, carrier-free, non-injectable

Phosphoric acid solution in 0.1 \underline{N} HCl, sterile, meeting the following specifications:

Chemical purity:	Impurities in ³² P preparations are (typical
	analysis) ($\mu g/ml$):
	Al <0.2-0.7, As <1, B <0.1-0.7, Ca 1-5,
	Cd < 0.1-0.7, Cr < 0.3-1.6, Fe < 0.1-5,
	La < 0.3, $Mg < 0.1 - 3$, $Mn < 0.1 - 3$, $Ni < 0.3$,
	Pb < 0.3, Si < 0.3, Sn < 0.3 - 0.5, Te < 0.3.
Radioactive purity:	$^{32}P \text{ content} > 99.5\%.$
Radiochemical purity:	Orthophosphoric acid content $> 99\%$.
Radioactive concentration:	Maximum 30 mCi/mi.

Sodium phosphate-³²P solution, injectable

Neutral (pH 6-7), isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of sodium phosphate meeting the following specifications:

Chemical purity:	See above.
Radioactive purity:	^{32}P content > 99.5%.
Radiochemical purity:	Orthophosphate content $> 99\%$.
Radioactive concentration:	1-20 mCi/ml.
Sterility:	Sterilization is carried out in an autoclave at 120°C for about 1 h.
Analysis of pyrogens:	The analysis is carried out occasionally by the General Pharmaceutical Inspectorate, Depart- ment of Public Health, Ministry of Interior.
Isotonicity:	Adjusted by means of conductimetric measurements.

PATENT

Spanish patent No.251.242: Cellini, R.F., de la Cruz, F., Dominguez, G., Suárez, C., Technique for the separation and preparation of radioactive phosphorus (32 P) by means of distillation of irradiated sulphur.

REFERENCES

- [1] SUAREZ, C., DOMINGUEZ, G., DE LA CRUZ, F., CELLINI, R.F., Anales Real Soc., Españ. Fís. y Quím. <u>58 B</u> (1962) 19.
- [2] DE LA CRUZ, F., SUAREZ, C., DOMINGUEZ, G., Energía Nuclear 6 22 (1962) 4.
- [3] BARRACHINA, M., Informe de las actividades de la Dirección de Química e Isótopos durante 1962. IV. Sección de Radioquímica, Report DQ 0.314/I-4.
- [4] ROCA, M., BECERRO, E., Determinación espectrográfica de impurezas en radioisótopos, Report JEN-DQ-Qa 0102/I-1.
- [5] TRAVESI, A., DOMINGUEZ, G., Energía Nuclear 7 28 (1963) 61.
- [6] LEDERER, M., Chem. and Ind. 1481 (1954).

- [7] DEL VAL COB., M., CARNICERO, I., ORTIN, N., GAMBOA, J.M., Anal. Real. Soc. Españ. Fís. Quím. 59 B (1963) 755.
- [8] SUAREZ, C., Medida absoluta de actividades beta con geometría definida, Report JEN-DQ-Qr 0951/I-1.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Phosphorus-32 is produced by the fast neutron irradiation of sulphur, ${}^{32}S(n, p){}^{32}P$.

The radio-phosphorus is separated from the bulk of the sulphur target by high temperature distillation where it is left as a residue in the distillation flask. The 32 P is obtained in solution by refluxing the residue with dilute hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE (Fig. 1)



FIG.1. Plant for the production of ³²P.

Irradiation

Target material: Irradiation container: 90 g sulphur, redistilled three times. Annular aluminium can into which molten sulphur is poured. Sealing is accomplished by argon arc welding.

Irradiation conditions: Flux ~ 1.5×10^{14} n/cm²s for 24 d. A cluster of cans is inserted into the heavy water moderator which flows around and up the annular cavity and prevents nuclear overheating.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated sulphur is melted out of the can and allowed to run directly into the distillation apparatus. The temperature of the still is raised to 550°C and the sulphur is distilled over in an atmosphere of nitrogen. The active residue is then extracted by refluxing with dilute hydrochloric acid. The solution is finally filtered through a very fine sintered glass frit. Carrier orthophosphate is added to prevent irreversible adsorption of ³²P onto the walls of its container (10 atoms ³¹P atom ³²P).

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The target material is redistilled until no non-volatile residue remains in it. The product is analysed for chemical impurities, As, Pb, Al and SO₄; and for radiochemical impurities (>99% of the ^{32}P is in the form of orthophosphate). The total dissolved solids are also determined.

British Patent No. 765, 489.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Purified sulphur is irradiated to produce ^{32}P by the (n,p) reaction. ³²S(n, p)³²P. Sulphur is distilled away, the remaining solid is dissolved in acid, and leach and rinse solutions heated. As final steps, the product orthophosphoric acid is filtered and samples are analysed.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: 35 g sulphur. 2×10^{14} n/cm²s (thermal) and $\sim 1 \times 10^{13}$ n/cm²s (fast). Neutron flux: Irradiation time: 8 weeks. Reactor yield: 30 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Preparing target

Sulphur purification is a difficult and tedious procedure; however, the purity of the final ³²P is dependent upon the preparation of very pure sulphur. Repeated distillation from platinum equipment removes traces of magnesium and other impurities.

About 35 g of purified sulphur is melted into an aluminium irradiation capsule, which is closed by welding. The aluminium capsule is treated with hot concentrated nitric acid to clean it and to reduce the possibility of sulphur corrosion during irradiation.

Apparatus

Sulphur distillation equipment (Fig. 1) and melting furnaces (Fig. 2) are used in processing the irradiated target. Processing facility and shielding required: manipulator cell, 6 in. lead equivalent (Fig. 3).





FIG.1. Sulphur distillation equipment



Processing

Yield: > 95%.

The aluminium capsule is opened with a tubing cutter; then the capsule is positioned between two resistance heaters over a quartz cup. The sulphur is allowed to melt and flow out of the irradiation capsule into the cup. The quartz cup is transferred into the distillation unit, and sulphur distilled from the cup at a temperature of 450 to 475° C for 2-3 h. The distillation equipment is allowed to cool and the quartz cup transferred to a beaker. About 80 ml



FIG.3. Unit for the production of ³²P

of $\sim 1 \text{ M}$ HCl is added to the cup to dissolve ${}^{32}P_2O_5$, and the cup is leached for 8 to 16 h at 80 to 90°C. Leach solution is poured into a beaker and the cup rinsed with 20 to 30 ml of H₂O. Leach and rinse solutions are heated for 4 h at 90°C. Orthophosphoric acid is formed. The solution is filtered through a fine sintered-glass funnel and adjusted to 100 to 125 ml of 1 MHCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

A sample is analysed for molarity of HCl, heavy metals, ³²P concentration, total solids, and radiochemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 90733601.

Precision and accuracy of the ³²P assay are:

Calibration by $4\pi \beta - \gamma$ coincidence counter.

Routine assay by windowless 2π proportional counter.

Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 3%.

Precision, 2%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA, YUGOSLAVIA

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of sulphur in the form of a magnesium sulphate target gives rise to ^{32}P by the (n, p) reaction.

The method of production is based on the separation of phosphorus-32 from irradiated $MgSO_4$ by adsorption on MgO. It has advantages over some, other methods because it requires fewer chemical operations and does not employ high temperatures [1, 2].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Dehydrated $MgSO_4$ (90 g) prepared by heating reagent
	grade MgSO ₄ . 7H ₂ O at 400°C for 6 h; 15 g portions
	are irradiated.
Fast flux:	About 10^{12} n/cm ² s in the RA reactor at Vinča.
Irradiation time:	20-40 d.
Irradiation containers:	Cylindrical, aluminium cans with screwed covers,
	internal length - 70 mm; internal diameter - 25 mm.

After irradiation the target is left to cool for four days to allow for the decay of 24 Na produced by the 24 Mg(n, p) 24 Na reaction.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

Irradiated MgSO₄ is dissolved in water at a concentration of about 0.5 <u>M</u>. To this solution 50 mg of powdered magnesia (100-200 mesh) are added. The mixture is maintained at 60°C and mixed by bubbling air through it. The oxide powder, together with the adsorbed ³²P, is separated from the solution by filtration and washed with 25 ml of water to remove the SO²₄ anions. It

is then dissolved in 10 ml 0.3 N HCl and the solution is passed through a cation-exchange column (1 g Dowex-50 X8, H⁺ form, 100-200 mesh; flow rate 1.9 ml/cm² min) to remove quantitatively the MG²⁺ ions. The column is washed with two 15 ml portions of 0.3 N HCl. The effluent is usually collected in three fractions (10, 15, 15 ml), the first containing about 30%, the second 60% and the third 10% of the ³²P present. The yield of ³²P is 85 - 90%. Up to 10% is adsorbed by the glassware.

Apparatus

The apparatus (Fig. 1) is made of Pyrex glass and placed in a box (Fig. 2) of 10-mm-thick Plexiglass shielded by 20-mm-thick lead plates.



- A Vessel for dissolution
- B Auxiliary vessel for solution transport
- C Ion-exchange column
- D Vessel for transporting liquids from C to F
- E Auxiliary vessel for addition of chemicals G
- F Bottle for waste storage

- I_T and I_S Vessels with soda-lime and active charcoal
- J_T and J_S Mercury manometers
- KT and KS Vacuum distributors
- H Vacuum pump
- G Rinser
- L Mercury manostat
- FIG.1. Apparatus

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution. Radioactive control.



FIG.2. Glove box for ³²P production

pH control of the solution.

Radiochemical purity control. Ascending paper chromatography used [3]. Sterility control [4].

Determination of the total content of solid substance in the solution.

Routine control of each charge includes the first and the third measurements. The other analyses are exceptional, depending on the use of ^{32}P .

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: YVP 32/IX, H₃³²PO₄ in dilute HCl

Radioactive concentration measured to within 10%: 0.5-5 mCi/ml.Radioactive purity:32P content more than 99%.Radiochemical purity:Orthophosphate content more than 99%.Total content of solid substance in the solution less than 0.5 mg/ml.

Reference: YVP 32/2X, Sodium phosphate in 0.9% NaCl solution (isotonic)

Radioactive concentration measured to within 10%: 0.5-5 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: ³²P content more than 99%.

Radiochemical purity: Orthophosphate content more than 99%. Total content of solid substance in the solution less than 10 mg/ml. Sterile. pH 6-8. Isotonic.

Reference: YVP 32/3X, Potassium phosphate in 1.2% KCI solution (isotonic)

Radioactive concentration measured to within 10%: 0.5-5 mCi/ml.Radioactive purity:32P content more than 99%.Radiochemical purity:Orthophosphate content more than 99%.Total content of solid substance in the solution less than 10 mg/ml.Sterile.pH 6-8.

Isotonic.

REFERENCES

[1] VELJKOVIĆ, S.R., MILENKOVIĆ, S.N., Bull. Boris Kidrić Inst. Nucl. Sci. 10 (1960) 71.

[2] JOVANOVIĆ-KOVAČEVIĆ, O. Ž., JANIĆIJEVIĆ, P. M., Atompraxis 10 (1964) 265.

[3] CVJETIČANIN, N., OBRENOVIĆ, I., Bull. Boris Kidrić Inst. Nucl. Sci. 11 (1963) 173.

[4] ČVORIĆ, J., DRAŠKOVIĆ, R., NEMODA, D., PROKIĆ, B., Tekhnika (Beograd) 19 (1964) 822.

POTASSIUM-42

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

12.5 h

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

beta (β~)	1.985 (18%)	gamma	0.32	(0.2%)
	3.545 (82%)		1.52	(18%)

1.3. Decay scheme



Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Act a 1 h	ivity of e t 10 ¹² n/ (mCi/ 24 h	lement cm ² s g) saturation	Secondary reactions and half-life of radionuclide formed
$^{41}_{19}$ K(n, γ) $^{42}_{19}$ K	6.88	1.3 (th)	2	27	36	$^{41}_{19}$ K(n, α) $^{38}_{17}$ Cl (T = 37, 3 min)
⁴² 20Ca(n, p) ⁴² 19K	0.64	unknown (f)				$\frac{43}{20}$ Ca(n, p) $\frac{43}{19}$ K (T = 22 h) σ unknown
						$^{44}_{20}$ Ca(n, γ) $^{45}_{20}$ Ca (T = 165 d) isot. abund. : 2.06% α = 0.72 barn
						$\frac{44}{20}Ca(n,p)\frac{44}{19}K$ (T = 22 min)
						$ \begin{array}{l} {}^{46}_{20} Ca(n,\gamma) {}^{47}_{20} Ca \\ (T = 4.7 \text{ d}) \\ \text{isot. abund.: } 0.033\% \\ \sigma = 0.25 \text{ barn} \end{array} $
						 48 Ca(n, γ)⁴⁹₂₀Ca (T = 8.8 min) isot. abund.: 0.185% σ = 1.1 barn
⁴⁵ ₂₁ Sc(n,α) ⁴² K	100	< 0. 005 (f)	< 0. 1	< 1. 3	< 1.8	$ \begin{array}{l} \frac{45}{21} \operatorname{Sc}(n, \gamma)_{21}^{46} \operatorname{Sc} \\ (T = 85 d) \\ \sigma = 22.3 \text{ barn} \\ \frac{45}{21} \operatorname{Sc}(n, p)_{20}^{45} \operatorname{Ca} \end{array} $
						(T = 165 d) σ unknown

2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

(th): thermal neutrons.

(f): fast neutrons.

For nuclear data see Refs. [1,2].

The nuclear reaction normally used for the production of $^{42}{\rm K}$ is the (n, $\gamma)$ on $^{41}{\rm K}.$

The target is potassium carbonate ($K_2 CO_3$) or potassium chloride (KCl). In the second case, 36 Cl, 38 Cl, 35 S and 32 P occur also from the irradiation of chlorine.

 $^{35}_{17}Cl(n,p)^{35}_{16}S$ (87.1 d)

$^{35}_{17}\text{Cl}(n,\gamma)^{36}_{17}\text{Cl}$	(2.5 $ imes$ 10 ⁵ yr)
$^{35}_{17}$ Cl(n, α) $^{32}_{15}$ P	(14.45 d)
$^{37}_{17}Cl(n,\gamma)^{38}_{17}Cl$	(37,8 min)

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Industrial

Potassium-42 has hardly any applications, but it has been used in the glass and cement industries [3].

3.2. Medical and biological

It is used in the activation analysis of biological samples.

3.2.1. Diagnostic

It is used in studying potassium exchanges [4,5] such as: permeability of the cellular membrane and permeability of the chloroid plexus and spinal fluid. The activity used is of the order of $100 \ \mu$ Ci.

3.2.2. Therapeutic

It is used in the treatment of malignant tumours [6-9], the dose being of the order of 500 μ Ci [5]. The medical uses of 42 K are also mentioned in other works [10].

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

4.1.1. Irradiation doses

The dose delivered by 1 Ci of 42 K at a distance of 50 cm is 0.52 rem/h [11].

4.1.2. Safety measures

The tenth-thickness¹ for lead and ordinary concrete gives some idea of the amount of protection needed in handling 42 K, namely,

	Tenth-thickness (cm)		
	Pb	Ordinary concrete d = 2.3	
For a γ of 1.52 MeV	4	22	Ref. [11]

¹ The tenth-thickness is the thickness of shielding required to reduce the intensity of a γ -radiation of given energy by a factor of ten.

In practice the following lead thicknesses are needed to reduce the dose to 1 mR/h at 50 cm: 3.5 cm to handle 10 mCi of 42 K; 7.5 cm to handle 100 mCi of 42 K; and 12 cm to handle 1 Ci of 42 K.

4.2. Internal irradiation

Potassium-42 is classified as a moderately toxic, class 3 isotope [12]. Its effective half-life, allowing for both radioactive decay and excretory processes, is 0.52 d [13].

For internal irradiation (ingestion or inhalation) the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water, respectively, for a 40-h exposure, are:

 $2 \times 10^{-6} \ \mu \overline{Ci}/cm^3$ and $9 \times 10^{-3} \ \mu Ci/cm^3$ (soluble form) $10^{-7} \ \mu Ci/cm^3$ and $6 \times 10^{-4} \ \mu Ci/cm^3$ (insoluble form) [14]

4.3. Decontamination

Except in one or two particular cases, there is no special decontamination method for any given radioisotope. Some general texts on this subject [15-19] report that the following measures are adequate.

4.3.1. Skin

Rapid and repeated washing with good-quality soap, warm water and a soft brush. If this is not sufficient, use can be made of detergents or 5-10% solutions of complexing agents of the EDTA (ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid) type. It is also possible to apply saturated permanganate solutions followed by rinsing with a 5% bisulphite solution to neutralize and remove stain. Abrasive powders should not be used and the addition of entraining agents has proved disappointing.

If any wounds are contaminated they must be treated rapidly by allowing them to bleed, washing with water, followed by decontamination, as for the skin, and sometimes by additional surgical cleaning.

4.3.2. Hair

If the hair is contaminated it is important not to take a shower but merely to wash the head. A normal, good-quality shampoo is usually sufficient. If contamination is persistent the following solutions can be used:

paraisopropylorthocresol,

lavandin oil,

AC-compounded terpene-free lemon,

glycerine diacetin, or

benzoic acid.

Contamination is much easier to remove if the hair is not greasy.

4.3.3. Laboratory equipment

Glassware is usually cleaned by steeping, and this is mainly a radiochemical problem. The use of a specific entraining agent or solutions of complexing agents gives good results, as do solutions of chromic acid, concentrated nitric acid, ammonium citrate, pentasodium triphosphate or ammonium bifluoride.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

Potassium-42 is generally prepared by irradiating a potassium salt (KCl, or more usually $K_2 CO_3$) with thermal neutrons, followed by solution in hydrochloric acid [20-22]. This process gives 42 K with a low specific activity.

It can also be prepared carrier-free by using the (n, p) reaction on ⁴²Ca [23, 24].

In this case the target is calcium carbonate. Irradiated $CaCO_3$ is suspended in boiling water containing traces of KC1. After filtration, the 42 K is present in the water as KOH or K_2CO_3 .

REFERENCES

- [1] SEELMANN, E.W., PFENNING, G. (co-operation of MÜNZEL, H., ZÜNDEL, G.) Chart of the Nuclides, 2nd ed., Gersbach & Sohn Verlag, Munich (reprint 1963).
- [2] HENRY, R., «Préparation de radioéléments à période courte à l'aide d'un réacteur de recherche», Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No.17, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 207-30.
- [3] LEVEQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements) Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed. Paris, Chap. 10 et 13 (1962) 167-205 and 244-68. UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st. Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1967) (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London III (1958). INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotope Applications in Industry, Technical Directory,

IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp. A survey of radioisotope applications classified by industry or economic activity with selected references to the international literature.

- [4] TUBIANA, M., Les Isotopes Radioactifs en Medicine et Biologie, Masson et Cie., Ed., Paris (1950) 124, 153.
- [5] BEIERWALTES, W.H., JOHNSON, P.C., SOLARI, A.J., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, W.B.Saunders Co., Philadelphia (1957) 312-14.
- [6] BEHRENS, C.F., "Potassium", Atomic Medicine, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 3rd ed., Chap. 20-II (1959) 520.
- [7] SELVERSTONE, B., SWEET, W.H., IRETON, R.J., "Radioactive potassium, a new isotope for brain tumor localisation", Surgical Forum, 36th Clinical Congress of American College Surgeons, Boston (Oct. 1950), W.B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia (1951) 371-75.
- [8] NATHANSON, I.T., BAKER, W.H., SELVERSTONE, B., "Radioactive potassium (42K) in the study of benign and malignant breast tumors" (Abstr.) Proc. Am. Ass. Cancer Res. 1 (1953) 40.
- [9] SUSEN, A.F., SMALL, W.T., MOORE, F.D., "Studies on the external diagnostic localization of brain lesions using radioactive potassium", Proc. Forum Sessions, 36th Clinical Congr. American College of Surgeons, Boston, Oct. (1950) W.B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia (1951) 362-68.
- [10] VEALL, N., VETTER, H., Radioisotope Techniques in Clinical Research and Diagnosis, Butterworths, London (1958) 202. OWEN, C.A., Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. (1959) 291, 306.

KAMEN, M.D., Isotopic Tracers in Biology, Academic Press Inc., New York (1957) 234, 236, 401.

HAHN, P.E., Therapeutic Use of Artificial Radioisotopes, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York (1956). INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Use of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. IAEA/WHO/FAO Conf., Mexico City, Nov. 1961, Academic Press, London (1962) Vol. I, 563 pp; Vol. II, 328 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1967) (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London III (1958).

URBAN and SCHWARZENBERG, Radioactive Isotopes in Clinical Practice and Research, Proc. Symp. Bad Gastein (1959), Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich (1960).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 10 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958).

- [11] JOFFRE, H., Les problèmes physiques de la radioprotection (Physical problems of radioprotection), INSTN, Saclay, Génie atomique <u>I</u> (1963).
- [12] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No.1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [13] MORGAN, K.Z., Protection contre les rayonnements, Recommandations de la commission internationale de protection radiologique, Rapport du Comité II sur la dose admissible en cas d'irradiation interne (1959) Gauthier-Villars, Ed.(1963).
- [14] INTERNATIONAL A TOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No.9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 57.
- [15] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, National Bureau of Standards, Control and Removal of Radioactive Contamination in Laboratories, Handbook 48 (1951) 4-17.
- [16] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 69-76.
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No.2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 79-81 and 82-88.
- [18] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Medical Addendum, Safety Series No.3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 62-74.
- [19] BLATZ, H., Radiation Hygiene Handbook, McGraw Hill Book Co., New York (1959) 18-15 to 18-23.
- [20] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., «Projet d'une installation de traitement chimique de radioéléments à courtes périodes», Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 49-65.
- [21] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL-3633 (June 1964).
- [22] KIMURA, K., MOCHIZUKI, T., "Production of Radioisotopes by JRR-I reactor. IV. Test production of Na²⁴, K⁴², Au¹⁹⁸ and others", Proc. 4th Conf. on R.E. Tokyo (1961) 496-99, NSA 17, 18 No.29.943.
- [23] MURIN, A.N., MEFEDOV, V.D., YUTLANDOV, I.A., The production and the separation of carrier-free radioactive isotopes, Usp. Khim. 24 (1955) 527-74. AERE Lib/Trans 722.
- [24] GOVAERTS, J., Nouvelle méthode de séparation des radioéléments artificiels. Obtention par neutrons du sodium 24 par irradiation de carbonate de magnésium et alumine, et du potassium 42 à partir de carbonate de calcium, Bull.Soc.R.Sci. Liège 9 (1940) 38-40, Transl. ORNL-TR-230.

PROCEDURES

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

The method consists of the irradiation of potassium carbonate, 41 K(n, γ)⁴²K, and simple dissolution of the irradiated target in order to obtain an isotonic final solution (12 mg KCl/ml).

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:Potassium carbonate (Johnson Matthey).Irradiation conditions and yield:500 mg of potassium carbonate irradiated
for 3 d at a flux of 1.9×10^{13} n/cm² s;
yield of about 120 mCi with a specific ac-
tivity of 0.3 mCi/mg potassium chloride.
Two capsules each containing 2 inner cap-
sules of 500 mg are generally irradiated.
100 to 400 mCi can thus be obtained.

Chemical treatment

500 mg irradiated potassium carbonate is dissolved in 44 ml of $\underline{N}/7$ hydrochloric acid.

If no loss has occurred, this quantity should exactly neutralize the potassium carbonate. A solution of pH 7 containing 12 mg of potassium chloride is thus obtained.

If loss has occurred, the pH is adjusted with soda or 0.1 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid.

No special equipment is needed for this treatment; all that is necessary are beakers, pipettes and a pH meter.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of two 1-ml samples is measured with an ionization chamber and an analysis for radiochemical purity is carried out (presence of 1.51 MeV γ line).

Biological tests are applied to check the sterility and absence of toxicity of the product.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ⁴²K S-1 - injectable

A neutral, isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of potassium chloride, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 0.5-5 mCi/ml.

Radioactive purity: 42 K content > 99.9% (gamma spectrum characteristic of 42 K).

Specific activity:	40-400 mCi/g of KCl.
KC1 content:	12 mg/ml.

1. GENERAL

The production of 42 K is based on the nuclear reaction 41 K(n, γ) 42 K. Processing consists of dissolving the irradiated target in the corresponding dilute acid and adding inactive salt when preparing isotonic solution. When specially requested the product is sterilized.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: Potassium carbonate, Merck analytical grade; amount variable, depending on order.
 Flux: 10¹³ n/cm² s.
 Time: 25 h.
 Container: Quartz ampoule with ground stopper.

Chemical treatment

No special separation or purification is carried out. Different compounds are produced by dissolving the irradiated target in the corresponding dilute acid.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The purity of the inactive target is previously checked by spectrometric methods.

Radiochemical purity is controlled with a multichannel pulse height analyser for each charge.

The pH is determined in the usual way by measuring aliquot samples.

Pharmaceutical control regarding sterility is carried out only in the case of products for medical use.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Radioactive purity:	> 99%.
Specific activity:	50 mCi/g.
Chemical form:	Potassium carbonate, white tablets.
•	Potassium chloride, isotonic sterilized solution.

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE, ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, SOREQ RESEARCH ESTABLISHMENT, YAVNE, ISRAEL

PRODUCTION OF ⁴²K AS KC1 ISOTONIC SOLUTION

1. GENERAL

The irradiation of K_2CO_3 produces ${}^{42}K$ by the (n, γ) reaction. The irradiated sample is dissolved in the required amount of 0.5 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid to obtain an isotonic solution of pH = 7.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:

Potassium carbonate (AR). Target amount (mg) is $10.6 \times$ the required solution volume (ml).

Irradiation in the

Israel Research Reactor 1 (IRR-1): Thermal neutron flux of 10^{13} n/cm² s ("rabbit") or 3×10^{13} n/cm² s (pool). Irradiation time is calculated from the simple formula t = 5 A/F

- where t = required irradiation time, (min)
 - A = required specific activity of the solution (calculated to irradiation's end time) (μ Ci/ml)
 - F = flux, expressed in units of 10^{12} n/cm² s.

This formula holds for short irradiations. For pool irradiation, the target is sealed into a silica ampoule, which is in turn put into an aluminium irradiation container.

For "rabbit" irradiation, the sample is sealed into a polyethylene vial.

Chemical treatment

Transfer irradiated sample into cell.

Wash silica ampoule with acetone.

Break ampoule. Transfer contents to beaker containing required amount of 0.15 N HC1.

After potassium carbonate is dissolved, check pH (it should be 7).

Filter through grade "F" sintered glass plate.

Take an aliquot; calibrate activity.

Deliver required amounts into penicillin bottles. Close bottles.

Sterilize to 120°C for one hour.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive purity is ascertained by γ -ray spectrography. Note: Pyrogen-free distilled water is used throughout.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the irradiation of a potassium carbonate target, and dissolution in dilute hydrochloric acid. The process is similar to that for the production of 24 Na.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	20 g K_2CO_3 (JISGR ¹) for JRR-1.
	8 g for JRR-2.
Container:	Sealed in a polyethylene sheet, then placed in a polyethy-
	lene capsule (JRR-1).
	Placed in a polyethylene bottle, then in a capsule (JRR-2).
Flux:	$\sim 3 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-1).
	$\sim 2 \times 10^{13}$ n/cm ² s (JRR-2 pneumatic tube).
Irradiation time:	10 h (5 h \times 2 d) for JRR-1.
	20 min for JRR-2.

Chemical treatment

The apparatus² used for the production of 42 K is the same as that for the production of 24 Na.

Place the target in the dissolving vessel (b), fix the cap, then add the following reagent from the reagent feed pipe (c) with magnetic stirring:

8.8 ml ~ 1.6 N HCl/g $K_2 CO_3$ (irradiation with JRR-1);

6 ml ~ 2.4 N HCl/g K₂CO₃ (irradiation with JRR-2).

Exhaust gases and bubblings are trapped in the trap (d).

Adjust the pH of the dissolved solution to 7-8.5. Then move the dissolving vessel (b) to the place where the remote control burette (f) is operated. The product solution is distributed in the sample bottles placed on the rotary table (g).

² See Fig. 1 of the section on ²⁴Na provided by the Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute, Japan.

¹ Japan Industrial Standard Grade Reagent.

The inner rubber cap and outer aluminium cap are fixed on the sample bottle with the capping machine (f).

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The same as for ²⁴Na.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	KCl in neutral solution (pH 7.0-8.5)
Radiochemical purity:	> 98%.
Specific activity:	\sim 1.3 mCi/g K (product of JRR-1);
	6.0 mCi/g K (product of JRR-2).
Concentration:	$\sim 0.08 \text{ mCi/ml} \text{ (product of JRR-1);}$
	0.5 mCi/ml (product of JRR-2).

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Potassium-42 is produced by irradiating potassium carbonate in a thermal neutron flux, ${}^{41}K(n,\gamma){}^{42}K$. After irradiation the potassium carbonate is converted to potassium chloride by reaction with hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	$3 \text{ g K}_2 \text{CO}_3$, Merck, p.a., dehydrated.
Time of irradiation:	2-3 d.
Container:	Aluminium can, with sealed polyethylene inner con-
	tainer.
Flux:	About $1.5 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Side reactions:	None.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated potassium carbonate is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid. After completion of the reaction the solution is evaporated to dryness and the chloride is dissolved in water. 3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative ionization chamber measurements. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography. Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

KS - potassium chloride in neutral solution, sterilized.

Radioactive concentration:	2 mCi/ml.
Isotopic purity:	Greater than 99.9%.
Specific activity:	About 30 mCi/g K.
pH:	6-7.
Chemical purity:	Metals, spectrographically determined, less than 10 $\mu g/ml$
KCl content:	11.5%.

KSI - potassium chloride in neutral isotonic solution, sterilized. Radioactive concentration: 0.2 mCi/ml. KCl content: 1.15%. Other specifications as for KS.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH. SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL [1-5]

Potassium-42 is obtained from K_2CO_3 irradiated in the reactor. The product is used mostly in the form of chloride which is prepared by dissolution of K_2CO_3 in HCl. The yield of the process is approximately 90%.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	1 g of anhydrous K_2CO_3 , analytical grade, powder in
	sealed quartz tube wrapped in aluminium foil.
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	18 h.
Container:	Aluminium capsule closed by welding.
Activity obtained:	200 mCi/g.
Chemical treatment

The capsule containing 1 g of irradiated target is placed in a dry-box for opening. The aluminium capsule is removed. The quartz tube with the target material is opened with a special cutter. The tube content is transferred to a 150-ml beaker and 88 ml N/7 HCl is added. The beaker is placed in a fume box and heated with a special device for 10 min to remove CO_2 . The acidity of the resulting isotonic solution which should be in the pH range 7 - 8.5 is checked after cooling on a pH meter. The solution is filtered through a sintered-glass filter and then dispensed into penicillin-type vials. Closed vials are sterilized at 2.5 atm for 25 min. "For injection" preparations are obtained by the use of pyrogen-free water and pyrogen-free reagents. Pyrogen-free water is also used for rinsing the glass equipment. All operations are carried out in a box with 10-cm-thick lead shields.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of the product is measured with an ionization chamber against standard 42 K.

The chemical purity is checked spectrally.

The radiation purity is determined by gamma spectrometry.

The sterility is checked with the use of the culture media.

Test for pyrogens is carried out on rabbits.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Potassium chloride-42 for injections

Radioactive concentration: 0.5-5 mCi/ml. (Accuracy of activity determina-

tions \pm 5%.)

Radiation purity: Specific activity: Dry residue: Sterile, pyrogen-free.

99.9%. 20-40 mCi/g K. 12 mg/ml.

REFERENCES

- [1] MULLINS LEDDICITTE, The radiochemistry of potassium NAS-NS, 3, 048.
- [2] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., «Projet d'une installation de traitement chimique de radioéléments à courtes périodes », Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors, Proc. IAEA Conf., Vienna, Nov. (1962), IAEA, Vienna I (1963) 49-65.
- [3] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures, Manual, ORNL 303 (1964).
- [4] KIMUR MOCHIZUKI, Production of radioisotopes by IRR-I-reactor. NSA 17, 18, 29, 943.
- [5] VEALL, N., VETTER, H., Radioisotope Technique in Clinical Research and Diagnosis, Butterworths, London (1958).

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Potassium-42 is prepared as a sterile isotonic solution of its chloride. The nuclear reaction utilised is 41 K (n, γ) 42 K. Irradiated potassium bicarbonate, in pellet form, is converted to potassium chloride by reaction with hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	KHCO ₃ , pellet, Burroughs Wellcome, analytical
	reagent grade, low Br and Na content.
Irradiation container:	Doubly encapsulated in aluminium screw top con-
	tainers.
Irradiation conditions:	Flux 1.2×10^{12} n/cm ² s for 4 days. ⁸² Br and ²⁴ Na
	impurities are kept to a minimum by careful selec-
	tion of target material.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target material is dissolved in water and titrated against hydrochloric acid using methyl orange indicator. Dissolved CO_2 is removed and methyl orange destroyed by boiling with hydrogen peroxide. The pH is then adjusted to 7 and checked by pH meter and the total volume of solution is corrected for isotonicity. After dispensing each consignment is sterilised by autoclaving.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The target material is subjected to activation analysis.

The product undergoes examination by γ -spectrometry for ²⁴Na and ⁸²Br, and for anionic impurities by ion exchange.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity (at	
time of dispensing):	$\sim 20 \text{ mCi } {}^{42}\text{K/g K.}$
Radioactive concentration	
(at time of dispensing):	$\sim 0.1 \text{ mCi } \frac{42}{\text{K}} \text{ml.}$
Radioisotopic purity	24 Na < 0.05%
(at time of dispensing):	82 Br < 0.005%.
Radiochemical purity:	42 KC1 100%.
Total solids:	11.5 mg KCl/ml (to give isotonic solution)
pH:	6-8.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Potassium-42 is produced by the (n, γ) reaction in a K_2CO_3 target, ${}^{41}K(n, \gamma){}^{42}K$, and is prepared as KCl in HCl solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:3 g K_2CO_3.Neutron flux: $\sim 1.3 \times 10^{14} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$ Irradiation time: 61 h.Reactor yield:700 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit¹ is used in processing. Processing facility and shielding required: manipulator cell 4-in lead equivalent.

Processing

Yield: > 95%.

The irradiated target is dissolved in a minimum amount of 12 M HCl added dropwise. The volume is adjusted to 50 ml of 1 M HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for molarity of HCl, total solids, ⁴²K concentration, and radio-chemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 90733641.

The precision and accuracy of the 42 K are: Calibration by $4\pi \beta - \gamma$ coincidence counter. Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 5%. Precision, 3%.

¹ See Fig. 2 of the section on ⁸² Br provided by ORNL, Tenn., United States of America.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, high specific activity 42 K is delivered as KCl in HCl solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are:

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA, YUGOSLAVIA

1. GENERAL

Potassium carbonate is used for the production of an isotonic solution of 42 KCl. The irradiated carbonate is dissolved in H₂O, the solution neutralized with HCl and evaporated to dryness. The 42 KCl is finally dissolved in water to obtain an isotonic solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	0.557 g Merck's reagent grade K_2CO_3 .
Irradiation containers:	Cylindrical, with screwed covers; internal length:
	70 mm, internal diam.: 25 mm.
Thermal flux:	$1.5 imes 10^{13}$ n/cm 2 s (RA Reactor at Vinča).
Irradiation time:	1-36 h.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

A sample of irradiated carbonate is put into a vessel for dissolution (A) and from a vessel for adding chemicals (D) 10 ml of twice distilled water is added. After dissolving the target, 20.1 ml of 0.4 N HCl is added and finally 10 ml of water to rinse the HCl remaining in the tube. The neutral liquid obtained is heated to remove CO_2 and evaporated to dryness. This is necessary as, to obtain an isotonic solution, the concentration of salt should be precisely adjusted. After complete evaporation the heater is switched off and vessel (A) is allowed to cool down. The chloride is dissolved with the addition of 49.5 g doubly distilled water. The sodium chloride solution is percolated through the G-5 sintered glass of the filtration vessel (B) and transferred to burette (C) for weighing. In this case vacuum

is used. If double amounts are taken, 100 ml of the solution can be produced with the same apparatus.

Apparatus

An apparatus of Pyrex glass is used for the production of isotonic solutions of ²⁴NaCl and ⁴²KCl (Fig.1).



C. Burette;

FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of isotonic solutions of ²⁴NaCl and ⁴²KCl

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution. Radioactive purity control. pH control. Sterility control.

A pyrogenity control of doubly distilled water used for preparing a radioactive solution.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION 4.

Reference: YVK42/1, sterile isotonic potassium chloride solution, pH 6-7

Radioactive concentration:	measured to within 10% ; 0.2 - 3 mCi/ml.
Radioactive purity:	⁴² K content more than 99%.
Specific activity:	1 Ci/g K.
Isotonic solution:	1.2% KCl.
Pyrogen-free.	

SODIUM-24

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

15 h

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

beta(β ⁻) 1.391	(100%)	gamma	1.368	(100%)
4.17	(0.003%)		2.75	(100%)

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Activity of element at 10 ¹² n/cm ² s (mCi/g) 1h 24 h sat.		Secondary reactions and half-life of nuclide formed	
²³ Na(n, γ) ²⁴ Na	100	0. 525 (th)	16	260	380	
²⁴ Mg(n, p) ²⁴ Na	78.7	0.001(f)	0.025	0.44	0 <u>.</u> 66	$^{26}_{12}$ Mg(n, $\gamma)^{27}_{12}$ Mg
						(T = 9.5 min) σ = 27 mb
$^{27}_{13}$ Al(n, α) $^{24}_{11}$ Na	100	0.0006 (f)	0.015	0.27	0.40	$^{27}_{13}$ Al(n, γ) $^{28}_{13}$ Al
						(T = 2.3 min) σ = 210 mb
						²⁷ Al(n, p) ²⁷ Mg
						(T = 9.5 min) σ = 2.8 mb

(th): for thermal neutrons.

(f): for fast neutrons.

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-3].

The nuclear reaction normally used for the production of 24 Na is the (n, γ) reaction on natural sodium.

3

The target is sodium carbonate (Na $_2$ CO $_3$) or sodium chloride (NaCl). In the second case, 36 Cl, 38 Cl, 35 S and 32 P occur also from the irradiation of the chlorine.

$^{35}_{17}$ Cl(n, p) $^{35}_{16}$ S	(87.1 d)
³⁵ ₁₇ Cl(n,γ) ³⁶ Cl	(2.5 $ imes$ 10 ⁵ yr)
$^{35}_{17}{ m Cl}({ m n},lpha)^{32}_{15}{ m P}$	(14.3 d)
$^{37}_{17}$ Cl(n, γ) $^{38}_{17}$ Cl	(37.3 min)

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Industrial

Sodium-24 is the short-lived isotope most used in tracer work, for such applications as:

Location of losses from undergroun	d piping	[4,5].
Discharge measurements (pipes and	l rivers)	[6].

Study of industrial circuits: mixers	[7,8].
Determination of retention and storage times of	
industrial materials	[9-11].

It is also used in activation analysis, particularly in graphite and highnuclear-grade aluminium [12], in hydrocarbons [13] and in glass [12,14].

In addition it is used in the glass industry for structure and surface investigations [15] and in hydrology [16].

In addition to the references given for industrial uses of 24 Na reference may be made to general works [17].

3.2. Medical and biological

In these fields it is used in the form of chloride.

3.2.1. Diagnostic: ²⁴Na is used for:

Sodium exchange studies [18-20] concerning

Permeability of hair. Permeability of digestive mucosa. Measurement of extra-cellular fluids (doses of the order of $1 \mu Ci/kg$) [21].

Urinary excretion studies [18].

Cardiovascular studies [18-20, 22-26] (doses of the order of 200 μ Ci [21]) regarding:

Measurement of circulation rate.

Measurement of the mixing rate of labelled blood and the blood circulating in various organs.

Heart output measurements.

Peripheral circulation.

Location of the placenta [20].

3.2.2. Therapeutic: ²⁴Na is used in the treatment of animal and human leukaemias [20, 27-29]. The dose administered in each treatment is between 20 and 30 mCi [20]. Besides the references given there are others dealing with medical uses of ²⁴Na [30].

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

4.1.1. Irradiation doses

Τł	ne dose delivered by 1 Ci of 24Na a	at a distance of 50	cm is:
-	for 1.368 MeV γ quanta (100%)	2.60 rem/h	
-	for 2.75 MeV γ quanta (100%)	4.20 rem/h	
		6.80 rem/h	[31]

358

4.1.2. Safety measures

	Tent		
	Pb	Ordinary concrete d = 2.3	
For a γ of 1.368 MeV	3.8	20	
For a γ of 2.75 MeV	5,5	. 30	Ref.[31]

The following tenth-thicknesses¹ for lead and ordinary concrete give some idea of the amount of protection needed in handling 24 Na:

In practice, to get a dose of 1 mrem/h at 50 cm one can handle:

- 10 mCi of ²⁴Na with 9 cm of lead shielding.
- 100 mCi of ²⁴Na with 14.5 cm of lead shielding.
- 1 Ci of ²⁴Na with 20 cm of lead shielding.

4.2. Internal irradiation

Sodium-24 is classified as a moderately toxic, class 3, isotope [32]. Its effective half-life, allowing for both radioactive decay and excretory processes, is 0.60 d [33].

In the case of internal irradiation (ingestion or inhalation), the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water, respectively, for a 40-h exposure, are:

 $10^{-6} \ \mu \text{Ci}/\text{cm}^3$ and $6 \times 10^{-3} \ \mu \text{Ci}/\text{cm}^3$ (soluble form)

[34]

 $10^{-7} \ \mu \text{Ci}/\text{cm}^3$ and $8 \times 10^{-4} \ \mu \text{Ci}/\text{cm}^3$ (insoluble form)

4.3. Decontamination

Except in one or two particular cases there is no special decontamination method for any given radioisotope. Some general texts on this subject [35-39] indicate that the following measures are adequate:

4.3.1. Skin

Rapid and repeated washing with good-quality soap, warm water and a soft brush. If this is not sufficient, use can be made of detergents or 5-10% solutions of complexing agents of the EDTA (ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid) type. It is also possible to apply saturated permanganate solutions followed by rinsing with a 5% bisulphite solution to neutralize and remove

1

¹The tenth-thickness is the thickness of shielding required to reduce the intensity of a γ -radiation of given energy by a factor of ten.

stain. Abrasive powders should not be used and the addition of entraining agents has proved disappointing.

If any wounds are contaminated, they must be treated rapidly by bleeding, washing with water, decontamination as for the skin and sometimes by additional surgical cleaning.

4.3.2. Hair

If the hair is contaminated, it is important not to take a shower, but merely to wash the head. A normal, good-quality shampoo is usually sufficient. If contamination is persistent, the following solutions can be used:

paraisopropylorthocresol;

lavandin oil;

AC-compounded terpene-free lemon;

glycerine diacetin;

benzoic acid;

Contamination is much easier to remove if the hair is not greasy.

4.3.3. Laboratory equipment

Glassware is usually cleaned by steeping and this is mainly a radiochemical problem. The use of a specific entraining agent or solutions of complexing agents gives good results and so do solutions of chromic acid, concentrated nitric acid, ammonium citrate, pentasodium triphosphate or ammonium bifluoride.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

Sodium-24 is generally prepared by bombarding a sodium salt with thermal neutrons, followed by solution in hydrochloric acid. The salt used may be sodium carbonate [40-42] or sodium chloride [43,44]. In both cases, ²⁴Na is obtained with an entraining agent.

Some authors have described methods of preparing ²⁴Na without carrier by using the Al(n, α) and Mg(n, p) reactions [45-48].

Govaerts [45] treats the target - magnesium carbonate or aluminium oxide - with water to which a trace of sodium chloride has been added to facilitate the entrainment of radioactive sodium. This passes into solution as sodium carbonate or sodium. He separates the sodium from the magnesium carbonate or insoluble aluminium hydroxide by filtration.

Kimura, Shibata and Shikata [47] adopt the ion-exchange method of chemical separation. The specific activity is 300 times greater than that obtained by the ${}^{23}Na(n,\gamma){}^{24}Na$ reaction.

Parker, Bildstein and Getoff [48] irradiate MgO or $Mg(OH)_2$ in water; the ²⁴Na isotope extracted in solution with water is then purified by ion exchange. This method is suitable up to activities of the order of one curie.

- SEELMANN, E.W., PFENNING, G. (co-operation MÜNZEL, H., ZUNDEL, G.) Chart of the Nuclides, 2nd ed. Gersbach & Sohn Verlag, Munich, (reprint 1963).
- HENRY, R., «Préparation de radioéléments à période courte à l'aide d'un réacteur de recherche», Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No.17, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 207-30.
- [3] HUGHES, D.J., Pile Neutron Research, Addison Wesley Publishing Co. Inc., Cambridge 42, Mass. (1953) 100.
- [4] LEVÊQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 12.4 (1962) 222.
- [5] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R.D., LUKENS, H.R., Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D.Van Nostrand Co.Inc., Princeton, N.J., Chap.10 (1961) 336.
- [6] LEVÊQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements) Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap.10,32 (1962) 190-91.
- [7] LEVÊQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements) Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap.10,32 (1962) 197-98.
- [8] BJERLE, J., FORSBERG, H.G., "Studies of powder mixing with short-lived radioisotopes", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 259-68.
- [9] TATSUO-SAITO, "Process analysis by radioisotopes in the chemical and metallurgical industries", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 19 (1958) 207.
- [10] ERWALL, L.G., FORSBERG, H.G., LJUNGGREN, K., "Short-lived isotopes used as tracers in industry", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 229-47.
- [11] FRUHAUF, K., "Studies with short-lived radioisotopes in the chemical process industry", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I IAEA, Vienna (1963) 229-47.
- [12] LEVÊQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments», (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 13.2 (1962) 251.
- [13] LEVEQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments», (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 12.71 (1962) 237.
- [14] LEVÉQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments», (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap.13.2 (1962) 253.
- [15] LEVÊQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments», (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT, Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Ed., Paris, Chap. 13 (1962) 243-46.
- [16] GASPAR, E., ONCESCU, M., SANDRU, P., GRIGORESCU, L., BIRNBAUM, M., TEITEL, T., «Emploi du ²⁴Na comme traceur dans les travaux édilitaires et hydrologiques», Production and Use of Shortlived Radioisotopes from Reactors I IAEA, Vienna (1963) 393-403.
- [17] SHAPPARD, C.W., Basic Principles of the Tracer Methods, John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York (1962). KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R.D., LUKENS, H.R., Radioisotopes Applications in Engineering, Van Nostrand (1961).

HOURS, R., Les applications industrielles des traceurs radioactifs (Industrial applications of radioactive tracers), Rapport CEA - DR/AR/63-I/RH/HLD (Jan. 1963).

LEYMONIE, C., Les Traceurs Radioactifs en Métallurgie (Radioactive tracers in metallurgy), Dunod, Ed., Paris (1960).

BROWNELL, L.E., Radiation Uses in Industry and Science, US Govt Printing Office, Washington (1961). UNITED NATIONS, Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 12 15 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 19 20 27 (1958).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, IAEA, Vienna (1962) Vol.I, 542 pp; Vol. II, 554 pp; Vol.III, 633 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in

Scientific Research, Proc. 1st. Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1957) (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London I II III (1958). INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotope applications in industry, Technical Directory, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp.

- [18] TUBIANA, M., Les Isotopes Radioactifs en Médicine et en Biologie, Masson et Cie., Ed., Paris (1950) 144, 246, 252.
- [19] BEIERWALTES, W.H., JOHNSON, P.C., SOLARI, A.J., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, W.B.Saunders Co., Philadelphia (1957) 314-18.
- [20] BEHRENS, C.F., Atomic Medicine, The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 3rd ed. Chap.20.10 (1959) 513-21.
- [21] COMAR, C.L., Radioisotopes in Biology and Agriculture, McGraw Hill, New York (1955) 300.
- [22] FIELDS, Th., SEED, L., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, The Year Book Publishers, Chicago, 2nd ed. (1961) 109.
- [23] QUIMBY, E.H., SMITH, B.C., Tracer studies with radioactive sodium on patients with peripheral vascular disease, Science 100 (1944) 175.
- [24] SMITH, B.C., QUIMBY, E.H., Use of radioactive sodium as tracer in study of peripheral vascular disease, Radiology 45 (1945) 335.
- [25] SMITH, B.C., QUIMBY, E.H., The use of radioactive sodium in studies of circulation in patients with peripheral vascular disease, Surgery Gynec. Obstet. 79 (1944) 142.
- [26] SMITH, B.C., QUIMBY, E.H., The use of radioactive sodium in the study of peripheral vascular disease, Ann. Surg. 125 (1947) 360.
- [27] FIELDS, Th., SEED, L., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, The Year Book Publishers, Chicago, 2nd ed. (1961) 212.
- [28] THYGESENS, J.G., VIDIBOEK, A., VILLAUME, J., Treatment of leukemia with artificial radioactive sodium, Acta radiol. 25 (1944) 305.
- [29] EVANS, T.C., Effects of radioactive sodium on leukemia and allied diseases, Am. J. Roentg. <u>59</u> (1948) 469.
- [30] VEALL, H., VETTER, H., Radioisotope Techniques in Clinical Research and Diagnosis, Butterworths, London (1958) 201-02.

OWEN, C.A., Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. (1959) 290, 303.

KAMEN, M.D., Isotopic Tracers in Biology, Academic Press Inc., New York (1957) 247-48, 361. HAHN, P.E., Therapeutic Use of Artificial Radioisotopes, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1956). INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Use of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. IAEA/WHO/FAO Conf., Mexico City, (Nov. 1961), Academic Press, London (1962) Vol.I.563 pp; Vol.II, 328 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1967) (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.), Pergamon Press, London III (1958).

URBAN and SCHWARZENBERG, Radioactive Isotopes in Clinical Practice and Research, Proc. Symp. Bad Gastein (1959), Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich (1960).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 10 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958).

- [31] JOFFRE, H., Les problèmes physiques de la radioprotection (Physical problems of radioprotection), INSTN, Saclay, Génie atomique I (1963).
- [32] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No.1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [33] MORGAN, K.Z., Protection contre les rayonnements, Recommandations de la commission internationale de protection radiologique, Rapport du comité II sur la dose admissible en cas d'irradiation interne (1959) Gauthier-Villars Ed. (1963).
- [34] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No. 9, IAEA. Vienna (1963) 57 pp.
- [35] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, National Bureau of Standards, Control and Removal of Radioactive Contamination in Laboratories, Handbook 48 (1951) 4-17.
- [36] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No.1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 69-76.

- [37] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No.2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 79-81, 82-88.
- [38] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Medical Addendum, Safety Series No.3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 62-74.
- [39] BLATZ, H., Radiation Hygiene Handbook, McGraw Hill, New York (1959) 18-15 to 18-23.
- [40] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., «Projet d'une installation de traitement chimique de radioéléments à courtes périodes», Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors. I IAEA, Vienna (1963) 49-65.
 [41] OAK DECE MARIONAL LADOR (2004), Dedicination Procedures Manual (OBM) 2022 (June 1964).
- [41] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL-3633 (June 1964).
- [42] KIMURA, K., MOCHIZUKI, T., "Production of radioisotopes by JRR-I reactor. IV. Test production of Na²⁴, K⁴², Au¹⁹⁸ and others", Proc. 4th Conf. on R.E., Tokyo (1961) NSA 17, 18 No.29,943 496-99.
- [43] HUDSWELL, F., NEATHWAY, F.A., PAYNE, B.R., PAYNE, J.A., SCARGILL, P., The handling and dispensing of chemically processed radioactive isotopes, AERE I/R 1360 (1954).
- [44] HUDSWELL, F., MILES, B.J., PAYNES, B.R., SCARGILL, P., TAYLOR, K.J., The preparation for dispensing of miscellaneous radioisotopes, AERE I/R 1386 (1954).
- [45] GOVAERTS, J., «Nouvelle méthode de séparation des radioéléments artificiels. Obtention par neutrons, du sodium 24 par irradiation de carbonate de magnésium et alumine, et du potassium 42 à partir du carbonate de calcium» Bull. Soc. r. Sci. Liège 9 (1940) 38-40. Trans. ORNL. TR. 230.
- [46] MURIN, A.N., NEFEDOV, V.D., YUTLANDOV, J.A., The production and the separation of carrier-free radioactive isotopes, AERE, Lib/trans 722 from Usp. Khim. 24 (1955) 527-74.
- [47] KIMURA, K., SHIBATA, N., SHIKATA, F., "Production of radioisotopes by JRR-I Reactor. 6. The study of preparation of special radioisotopes (F¹⁸, Na²⁴, Co⁵⁸, As^π)" 4th Japan Conference on Radioisotopes, Tokyo (1961) JRIA P and C-6-1.
- [48] PARKER, W., BILDSTEIN, H., GETOFF, N., Simple and rapid production of carrier-free sodium 24, Radiochim. Acta 3 1/2 (1964) 74-76.

PROCEDURES

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

The method consists of the irradiation of a sodium carbonate target and the simple dissolution of the irradiated target in order to obtain an isotonic final solution (9 mg NaCl/ml).

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:Sodium carbonate (Johnson Matthey).Irradiation conditions and yield:Irradiation of 500 mg of sodium carbonate
for 1 week at a flux of 2×10^{12} n/cm² s
yields about 100 mCi with a specific ac-
tivity of 0.2 - 0.3 mCi/mg of NaCl.

Two capsules each containing two inner capsules of 250 mg of sodium carbonate are generally irradiated. An activity of between 50 and 200 mCi can thus be obtained according to requirements.

Chemical treatment

Five hundred milligrams of sodium carbonate are dissolved in 58 ml of $\underline{N}/6$ hydrochloric acid. If no loss of sodium carbonate has occurred, this quantity should permit its exact neutralization and yield a solution at 9 mg/ml of sodium chloride and pH 7.

The pH is adjusted if necessary with 0.1 \underline{N} soda or 0.1 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid.

No special equipment is needed for this treatment; all that is necessary are beakers, pipettes and a pH meter.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of two 1-ml samples is measured with an ionization chamber, and a gamma spectrum analysis to check the radiochemical purity is carried out.

Biological tests to check sterility and the absence of toxicity are also made.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ²⁴Na S-1-injectable

A sterile, neutral, isotonic and pyrogen-free solution of sodium chloride, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 0.5-5 mCi/ml.

Radioactive purity: 24 Na content > 99.9% (gamma spectrum characteristic of 24 Na).

Specific activity: 50 - 500 mCi/g NaCl. NaCl content: 9 mg/ml.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

The production of ²⁴Na is based on the nuclear reaction ²³Na $(n, \gamma)^{24}$ Na. Processing consists of dissolving the irradiated target in the corresponding dilute acid and adding inactive salt when preparing an isotonic solution. At special request the product is sterilized.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: Sodium carbonate, Merck analytical grade; amount variable, depending on order.

364

Flux: 10¹³ n/cm² s. Time: 15 h. Container: Quartz ampoule with ground stopper.

Chemical treatment

No special separation or purification is carried out. Different compounds are produced by dissolving the irradiated target in the corresponding dilute acid.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The purity of the inactive target is previously checked by spectrometric methods.

Radiochemical purity is controlled with a multichannel pulse height analyser for each charge.

The pH is determined in the usual way by measuring aliquot samples.

Pharmaceutical control regarding sterility is carried out only in the case of products for medical use.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity: 212 mCi/g

Chemical form:

Sodium carbonate, white tablets. Sodium chloride, isotonic sterilized aqueous solution.

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Sodium-24 and Potassium-42 are produced by irradiating the respective carbonates with neutrons in a nuclear reactor. The irradiated carbonate is dissolved in hydrochloric acid and the chloride is supplied as sterile isotonic solution at pH 7 for medical use.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: For ²⁴Na very pure Na₂CO₃ or for ⁴²K pure K_2CO_3 (sodium content < 10 ppm). Container: 200 mg in can-type "A" (screw-capped 1S aluminium can of 73 mm height and 26.5 mm diam.) or type "C" (coldwelded 2S aluminium can of 44 mm height and 22 mm diam.). Flux: 10¹² n/cm² s. Irradiation time: 12-24 h.

Chemical treatment

The glassware to be used for the production is washed several times with doubly distilled water and after covering with brown paper, drysterilized at 150°C for 2 h.

The irradiation can containing 200 mg of Na_2CO_3 (or K_2CO_3) is opened and the contents are transferred into a beaker containing 10 ml of pyrogenfree water. The pH is adjusted to 7 by adding dilute hydrochloric acid and the solution is boiled for a few minutes. After cooling, the pH is adjusted again to 7, and the solution is filtered, collecting the filtrate in a graduated storage bottle. The volume is made up to 25 ml in the case of ²⁴Na (for ⁴²K the volume is diluted to 21 ml). The solution is stirred well and an aliquot is assayed for activity in an ion chamber. The rest of the solution is distributed into various vials and autoclaved along with a bacterial culture sample (to test the sterilizing conditions).

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity assay is done by measuring the ion current of 1 ml of the sample in a calibrated ion chamber.

Estimation of NaCl or KCl in stock solution: The chloride is estimated by the Volhard's method.

Radioactive purity: The gamma spectrum of the sample is taken and is compared with the known standard spectrum.

To confirm the absence of pyrogens in the active solutions, a simulated dummy-run is carried out with every batch and the dummy product is tested for pyrogens on rabbits.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Code N AM - 1

Sodium-24 as sodium chloride in isotonic solution, sterilized, pH 7. Specific activity: 50 mCi/g Na.

Code K AM - 1

Potassium-42 as potassium chloride in isotonic solution, sterilized, pH 7. Specific activity = 50 mCi/g K.

366

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE, ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, SOREQ RESEARCH ESTABLISHMENT, YAVNE, ISRAEL

A. PRODUCTION OF ²⁴Na AS NaCl ISOTONIC SOLUTION

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of Na₂CO₃ \cdot H₂O produces ²⁴Na by the (n, γ) reaction. The irradiated sample is dissolved in the required amount of 0.15 <u>N</u> hydrochloric acid to get an isotonic solution of pH 7.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material is sodium carbonate monohydrate (AR). Target amount (mg) is $9.3 \times$ required solution volume (ml). Irradiations are made in the Israel Research Reactor 1 (IRR-1) at a thermal flux of 10^{13} n/cm² s (rabbit) or 3×10^{13} n/cm² s (pool).

Irradiation time is calculated from the simple formula t = A/F where:

- t = required irradiation time (min)
- A = required specific activity of the solution (calculated to irradiation's end time) in μCi/ml
- F = flux, expressed in units of 10^{12} n/cm² s.

This formula holds for short irradiations.

For pool irradiation, the target is sealed into a silica ampoule, which is in turn put into an aluminium irradiation container. For rabbit irradiation, the sample is sealed into a polyethylene vial.

Chemical treatment

Transfer irradiated sample into cell.

Wash silica ampoule with acetone.

Break ampoule. Transfer contents to beaker containing required amount of 0.15 N HC1.

After sodium carbonate is dissolved check pH (it should be 7).

Filter through grade "F" sintered glass plate.

Take an aliquot; calibrate activity.

Deliver required amounts into penicillin bottles. Close bottles. Sterilize to 120°C for one hour.

Note: Pyrogen-free distilled water is used throughout.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive purity is ascertained by γ -ray spectrography.

B. PRODUCTION OF ²⁴Na IN AQUEOUS SOLUTION IN THE CURIE ACTIVITY RANGE ¹

1. GENERAL

A special small aluminium container, holding about 1 g sodium carbonate is irradiated, and then dissolved in HCl. All the processing is done in a lead-shielded plastic container as explained below.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Sodium carbonate (AR) is put into a special aluminium container of 1 cm^3 capacity, tightly closed by means of a screw-on cap and polyethylene gasket. This is irradiated at a thermal neutron flux of $2.5 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2$ s (pool irradiation). The polyethylene gasket will withstand up to one hour irradiation. After irradiation and a half-hour cooling time have elapsed, the lead-shielded plastic container shown in Fig. 1 is lowered into the pool by a crane.





¹ In collaboration with the Industrial Applications Unit.

Chemical treatment

Put the irradiated sample into container ${}^{'}A'$. Cut the aluminium wire above the irradiated sample.

Raise the container above the pool. Close opening 'O'. Apply air pressure for drawing the pool water out of the container.

Lower the container onto the truck. Take it out of the reactor hall. Dissolve the aluminium container and sodium carbonate by adding 2 litres 5 N hydrochloric acid through a tube.

Add 2 litres of 5 N sodium hydroxide.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process of ²⁴Na is based on the irradiation of a sodium carbonate target and the subsequent dissolution in dilute hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	3.0 g Na_2CO_3 (JISGR ¹) for JRR-1; 0.8 g for JRR-2.
Container:	JRR-1: sealed in the polyethylene sheet and placed in
	the polyethylene capsule.
	JRR-2: placed in the polyethylene bottle, then in the
	polyethylene capsule.
Flux:	$\sim 3 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-1).
	$\sim 2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-2 pneumatic tube).
Irradiation period:	10 h (5 h/d) in JRR-1; 20 min in JRR-2.

Chemical treatment

The apparatus for the chemical processing is shown in Figs. 1 and 2. Cut the polyethylene inner capsule by the cutter (a).

Transfer the target into the dissolving vessel (b). After fixing the cap of the vessel, add the following amount of hydrochloric acid from the reagent feed pipe (c) with magnetic stirring.

~ 6 ml 3 N HCl/g Na₂CO₃ (irradiations in JRR-1).

 $\sim 21 \text{ ml } 0.8 \text{ N}$ HCl/g Na₂CO₃ (irradiations in JRR-2). The gases and bubblings are trapped in the trap (d).

¹ Japan Industrial Standard Grade Reagent.



- a. Polyethylene capsule cutter
- b. Dissolving vessel

`

- c. Reagent feed pipe
- d. Trap for exhausting fume
- e. Electrode for pH measurement
- f. Remote pipetter for dispensing
- g. Rotary table
- h. Encapsulator

FIG.1. Arrangement of apparatus for ²⁴Na production



FIG.2. Apparatus for the production of ²⁴Na

Adjust the pH of the dissolved solution to 7-8.5. Place the dissolving vessel (b) under the remote pipette (f), suck the 24 Na solution into the pipette, then distribute into the bottles placed on the rotary table (g).

A rubber cap and an aluminium cap are fixed on the bottle with the encapsulator (h) (Fig. 3).



FIG.3. Encapsulator for the product bottle

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The analysis of heavy metals is carried out by the comparison of colour development with the standard lead solution on the addition of hydrogen sulphide gas.

Routine assay is carried out by the well-type ionization chamber, and for the calibration a $4\pi\beta$ - γ coincidence counter is employed.

In addition, a routine check of pH is carried out.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

The specifications of the product 24 Na are as follows:Chemical form:NaCl in neutral solution (pH 7.0 - 8.5)Radiochemical purity:Over 99%Specific activity:~ 13 mCi/g Na (Product of JRR-1);
~ 60 mCi/g Na (Product of JRR-2).Concentration:~ 0.8 mCi/ml (Product of JRR-1);
~ 1.0 mCi/ml (Product of JRR-2).

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Sodium-24 is produced by irradiating sodium carbonate in a thermal neutron flux, 23 Na $(n, \gamma)^{24}$ Na. After irradiation the sodium carbonate is converted to sodium chloride by reaction with hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	$200 \text{ mg Na}_2 \text{CO}_3$,	Merck, p.a. dehydrated.
Time of irradiation:	2-3 d.	
Container:	Aluminium can, tainer.	with sealed polyethylene inner con-
Flux: Side reactions:	About 1.5×10^{12} None.	$n/cm^2 s.$

Chemical treatment

The irradiated sodium carbonate is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid. After completion of the reaction the solution is evaporated to dryness, and the chloride is dissolved in water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, relative ionization chamber measurements. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control, emission spectrography.

Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

NSI - sodium chloride in neutral isotonic solution, sterilized.Radioactive concentration:1-2 mCi/ml.Isotopic purity:Greater than 99.9%.Specific activity:300-500 mCi/g Na.pH:6-7.Chemical purity:Metals, spectrographically determined, less than $10 \ \mu \text{Ci/ml}$.NaCl content:0.9%.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH, SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL [1-5]

Sodium-24 is obtained from Na_2CO_3 irradiated in the reactor. The product is usually distributed as chloride which is formed after the dissolution of Na_2CO_3 in HC1.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	140 mg of anhydrous Na ₂ CO ₃ , analytical grade, powder,
	in a sealed quartz tube wrapped in aluminium foil.
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	18 h.
Container:	Aluminium capsule closed by welding.
Activity obtained:	Approximately 180 mCi/g.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated capsule is placed in a dry-box for opening. The quartz tube with the target material is opened with a special cutter. The tube content is placed in a 50-ml beaker and 16.5 ml of 6 <u>N</u> HCl is added. The beaker is placed in a fume box and heated with a special device for 5-8 min to remove remaining CO_2 . Pyrogen-free water is used for the preparation of all solutions as well as for rinsing the glass equipment used. The acidity of the resulting solution which should be in the pH range 7-8 is checked, after cooling, on a pH meter. The concentrations of Na₂CO₃ and HCl are calculated so that the neutralization leads to the formation of the isotonic ²⁴NaCl solution. The ²⁴NaCl solution is divided into portions by pipetting into penicillin vials. The solutions prepared for injections are produced by the use of pyrogen-free water and pyrogen-free reagents and after stoppering are sterilized at 2.5 atm for 25 min. All operations are carried out in a box with 10-cm-thick lead shields.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity of the product is measured in an ionization chamber against standard.

The chemical purity is checked spectrally. The radiation purity is checked by gamma spectrometry.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Sodium chloride-24 for injectionRadioactive concentration:0.5-5 mCi/ml.Radiation purity:99.9%.Specific activity:50-250 mCi/g Na.Dry residue:9 mg/ml.Sterile, pyrogen-free.

REFERENCES

- [1] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors I IAEA, Vienna (1962) 49.
- [2] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL 3633 (1964).
- [3] KIMURA, K., MOCHIZUKI, T., Production of Radioisotopes by JRR-I Reactor, NSA, 17, 18, No 29, 943, Proc. 4th Conference on R.E., Tokyo (1961).
- [4] EVANS, T.C., Effects of radioactive sodium on leukemia and allied diseases, Am. J. Roentgenol. 59 (1948) 469
- [5] OWEN, C.A., Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. (1959).

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Sodium-24 is prepared as a sterile isotonic solution of its chloride. The nuclear reaction utilized is ${}^{23}Na(n,\gamma){}^{24}Na$. Irradiated sodium bicarbonate, in pellet form, is converted to sodium chloride by reaction with hydrochloric acid.

374

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	NaHCO3, pellet, Burroughs Wellcome, analytical
-	reagent grade, low Br and K content.
Irradiation container:	Doubly encapsulated in aluminium screw-top con-
	tainers.
Irradiation conditions:	Flux 1.2×10^{12} n/cm ² s for 4 d.
	⁸² Br and ⁴² K impurities are kept to a minimum by
	careful selection of target material.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target material is dissolved in water and titrated against hydrochloric acid, using methyl orange indicator. Dissolved CO_2 is removed and methyl orange destroyed by boiling with hydrogen peroxide. The pH is then adjusted to 7 and checked by pH meter and the total volume of the solution is corrected for isotonicity. After dispensing each consignment is sterilized by autoclaving.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The target material is subjected to activation analysis. The product undergoes examination by γ -spectrometry for 42 K and 82 Br and for anionic impurities by ion exchange.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity (at time	
of dispensing):	\sim 300 mCi ²⁴ Na/g Na.
Radioactive concentration	
(at time of dispensing):	$\sim 1 \text{ mCi } ^{24}\text{Na/ml}.$
Radioisotopic purity (at	4^{2} K < 0.005%.
time of dispensing):	8^{2} Br < 0.005%.
Radiochemical purity:	²⁴ NaCl 100%.
Total solids:	9 mg NaCl/ml (to give isotonic solution).
pH:	6-8.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Sodium - 24 is produced by the (n,γ) reaction in a Na₂CO₃ target, ²³Na $(n,\gamma)^{24}$ Na, and is prepared as NaCl in a water solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: $250 \text{ mg Na}_2\text{CO}_3$.Neutron flux: $1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$.Irradiation time:60 h.Reactor yield:250 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit¹ is used in processing. Processing facility and shielding required: manipulator cell, 6-in. lead equivalent.

Processing

Yield: > 90%

The irradiated target is transferred into a beaker under the hot off-gas scrubber assembly, and 12 M HCl is added dropwise (to minimize effervescing) and heated until all target material is dissolved. The solution is evaporated to complete dryness to remove excess HCl. The residue is dissolved in ~ 20 ml of distilled H₂O and again evaporated to dryness to remove traces of HCl. Finally, the volume is adjusted to 50 ml of distilled H₂O to give a product solution that is water-white, pH ~ 7.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for pH, total solids, ²⁴Na concentration, and radiochemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 9 0733792.

Precision and accuracy of the ²⁴Na assay are:

Calibration by $4\pi\beta$ - γ coincidence counter.

Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 3%.

Precision, 2%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, high specific activity ²⁴Na is delivered as NaCl in water solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are: pH: 7.0-8.5.

¹See Fig. 2 of section on ⁸² Br provided by ORNL, Tenn., United States of America.

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA, YUGOSLAVIA

1. GENERAL

Sodium carbonate is used for the production of the isotonic solution of $^{\rm 24}{\rm NaCl.}$

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	0.408 g Merck's reagent grade Na ₂ CO ₃ .
Thermal flux:	$1.5 imes10^{13}~{ m n/cm^2}$ s (RA reactor at Vinča).
Irradiation time:	1-36 h.
Irradiation containers:	Cylindrical with screwed covers, internal length
	70 mm, internal diam: 25 mm.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

A sample of irradiated carbonate is put in a dissolution vessel (Fig. 1) (A) and, from a vessel for adding chemicals (D), 10 ml of doubly distilled water is added. After dissolving the target 19.2 ml of 0.4 <u>N</u> HCl is added and finally 10 ml of water to rinse the HCl remaining in the tube. The neutral liquid obtained is heated to remove the CO_2 and evaporated to dryness. This is necessary as, to obtain an isotonic solution, the concentration of salt should be precisely adjusted. The evaporation of the solution is regulated by switching on the adjustable heater (I). After complete evaporation the heater is switched off and vessel (A) is left to cool down. The chloride is dissolved with the addition of 49.5 g of doubly distilled water. Sodium chloride is dissolved and eluted from the vessel. It is percolated through the G-5 sintered glass of the filtration vessel (B) and transferred to burette (C) for weighing. In this case vacuum is used. If double amounts are taken 100 ml of the solution can be produced with the same apparatus.

Apparatus

An apparatus of Pyrex glass is used for the production of isotonic solutions of 24 NaCl and 42 KCl (Fig. 1).



A. Vessel for dissolutionB. Vessel for filtration

D. Vessel for reagent addition I. Heater

C. Burette

FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of isotonic solutions of ²⁴NaCl and ⁴²KCl

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution.

Radioactive purity control.

pH control.

ł

Sterility control.

Pyrogenity control of doubly distilled water used for preparing a radioactive solution.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: YVNa24/1, sterile isotonic sodium chloride solution,pH=6-7. Radioactive concentration: Measured to within 10%; 1-15 mCi/ml. Radioactive purity: ²⁴Na content more than 99%. Specific activity: 1 Ci/g Na. Isotonic solution. Pyrogen-free.

SULPHUR-35

NUCLEAR DATA

- 1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES
- 1.1. Half-life

87 d

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

Pure beta emitter

beta (β^{-}) 0.167 (100%)

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Activi at 1 (1 h	ty of ele 0 ¹³ n/cn mCi/g) 24 h	ment 1 ² s sat.	Secondary reactions and half-life of nuclide formed
³⁴ S(n,γ) ³⁵ S	4. 22	0.27	0.019	0.47	58	$^{32}S(n,p)^{32}P$ (T = 14.3 d)
						isot. abund. : 95. 0% ³³ S(n, p) ³³ P
						(T = 24.6 d) isot. abund.: 0.75%
³⁵ Cl(n,p) ³⁵ S	75.529	0. 35 ^a	0.42	9.7	1220	³⁵ Cl(n, γ) ³⁶ Cl
						(T = 2.5×10 ⁵ yr) isot. abund. : 75.4% σ = 33 barn
						35 Cl(n, α) 32 P
						(T = 14.3 d) $\sigma_{(f)} = 0.0145 barn, \sigma_{(th)} = 0.08 mbarn$

^a The mean of nine reported values [3-12]. Only the side-reactions producing nuclides with half-lives exceeding 1 h are taken into consideration.

For nuclear data see Refs. [1-13].

3. APPLICATIONS

Sulphur-35 has found wide application, mainly as a tracer. Sulphur-35labelled inorganic sulphate, as well as sulphide or elementary sulphur, are used either as such, or as starting material for further syntheses of compounds. Many 35 S-labelled compounds have been prepared [14], some of them by exchange reactions [15, 16].

[23]

Some references to the main applications are given below.

3.1. Biochemistry and biology

Metabolism of proteins	[17]
Sulphur metabolism in microorganisms	[18]
viruses and bacteriophages	[19]
Sulphur metabolism in bones and teeth	[20]
Genetic studies	[21]
Immunology	

3.2. Plant physiology

3.3. Analytical chemistry

3.4. Organic chemistry

Studies of structure and reaction mechanisms[25]Chemistry of elastomers[26]

3.5. Drug research

[27]

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External irradiation

The maximum range of ${}^{35}S$ beta particles is 35 mg/cm^2 ; thus chemical glassware is quite sufficient for shielding. The resulting bremsstrahlung (for calculation see [29]) has a maximum energy of 0. 16 MeV; the experimentally determined spectrum of the bremsstrahlung shows a maximum in the 15-40 keV interval of energy [30] depending on the atomic number of the absorber. If ${}^{35}S$ has been prepared by the (n, γ) reaction, ${}^{32}P$ will also be present. Appropriate parts of apparatus must therefore be shielded with 1 cm of Perspex and, for large ${}^{32}P$ activities, with lead. Remote handling is necessary as well, if ${}^{32}P$ is present in significant quantities.

4.2. Internal contamination

Sulphur-35 is classified [28] as a class 3 (moderate toxicity) isotope and has an effective half-life of 18 d [31].

4.3. Decontamination

³⁵S-sulphate can be removed from surfaces by dilute inorganic acids [32]; washing with water is sufficient for glass, Polythene, Plexiglass and linoleum [33]. A dilute carrier solution containing saponates is suitable for removal from clothing [33].

³⁵S-sulphide contamination should be removed with an alkaline solution of an oxidizing agent (hydrogen peroxide). Acid solutions must not be used to avoid the release of volatile hydrogen sulphide. For the same reason, an alkaline solution of an oxidizing agent must be employed in traps closing apparatus in which the labelled hydrogen sulphide may be formed. The wastes containing ³⁵S-sulphide should be thoroughly oxidized.

General methods for the treatment of active waste are applicable [34]; adsorption columns have been recommended [35].

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

The production of carrier-free ${}^{35}S$ is based on the nuclear reaction ${}^{35}Cl(n, p){}^{35}S$. The application of the ${}^{34}S(n, \gamma){}^{35}S$ reaction is very limited [36].

After chemical processing ${}^{35}S$ is present as sulphate. The methods for the preparation of ${}^{35}S$ -labelled sulphide or elementary sulphur are also reviewed.

5.1. Targets

The following targets are reported in the literature:

Sodium or potassium chloride.

Anhydrous ferric chloride.

Carbon tetrachloride.

Carefully dried Analar grade sodium or potassium chloride should be used. Ferric chloride is purified by sublimation [37]. Carbon tetrachloride is unsuitable for pile irradiation; this target was used for the preparation of ³⁵S, using radium-beryllium neutron sources [38-43] and is mentioned here for completeness only.

5.2. Chemical processes

5.2.1. Preparation of ³⁵S-sulphate

Sodium or potassium chlorides are the main targets used for the production of ^{35}S . Sulphur-35 formed in these targets is found as sulphate ion on dissolving the target in water and no additional oxidation is necessary. Sulphur-35sulphide may also be expected [44-46] but is found only in slightly irradiated crystals [47-48], in contrast to highly irradiated ones used for production. Phosphorus-32 atoms arising in these targets react with water to give phosphates; compounds in lower oxidation states are formed under the conditions mentioned for ^{35}S -sulphides [49-51].

In all separation methods the short-lived activity (especially that of 24 Na or 42 K) is allowed to decay before the target is processed. Chlorine-36, which arises together with sulphur-35, is often processed as a valuable by-product [46, 52, 53].

The production methods reported are:

(a) Removal of cations from the dissolved targets

Cations are removed after dissolving the target in hydrochloric acid which is then evaporated, leaving ^{35}S -sulphate in the residue.

Removal of cation on cation exchange resin

The solution of the target is adjusted for concentration and passed through a column [46, 52, 54-59]. A column, 30-mm diam., containing 300 g of Amberlite IR-120, is used for processing 20 g of potassium chloride [57, 58]. Continuous [46] or vacuum [59] evaporation of hydrochloric acid may be employed.

Precipitation of cation

Hydrogen chloride gas is passed into a concentrated solution of the target which is cooled to -10° C. After saturation, the precipitated crystals of

potassium or sodium chloride are removed, the filtrate evaporated and the whole process repeated. The last traces of cations are removed on a small cation exchange column [36, 37, 60].

Extraction of cations

Irradiated ferric chloride is dissolved in concentrated hydrochloric acid in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. After dilution with water to 6 N hydrochloric acid, the ferric ions are repeatedly extracted with isopropylether, when the ^{35}S remains in the aqueous phase [37].

In all the above processes the ^{32}P has to be removed either on a column of aluminium shavings [46, 59] or by co-precipitation with ferric hydroxide in alkaline solution [56-58].

(b) Isolation of ³⁵S from the dissolved targets

Sulphur-35-sulphates are adsorbed on appropriate materials leaving cations and chlorides in solution

Adsorption on alumina

The solution of the irradiated target in 0.5 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid is passed through an alumina column. After washing with water the ${}^{35}S$ -sulphate is quantitatively eluted with 1 \underline{N} ammonia, while 96% of the ${}^{32}P$ activity remains on the column. The ${}^{35}S$ -solution is then evaporated and cations removed on a small ion exchanger column [61]. Some improvements have been proposed (elution of ${}^{35}S$ by 0.1 \underline{N} ammonia [62] or 0.05 \underline{N} sodium bicarbonate [63], removal of aluminium traces by precipitation [64], etc.) and designs of production apparatus have been developed [33, 62-67].

Separation on anion exchanger resin

The 0.1 <u>M</u> solution of the target is passed through an Amberlite IRA-400 column. Phosphorus-32 is collected in the first fractions, when eluted by 0.1 <u>M</u> hydrochloric acid, and the pure 35 S-sulphate in the next fraction [68].

Adsorption on other materials

Barium sulphate columns [69] and iron hydroxide columns [70] have also been proposed for the separation of ^{35}S .

Co-precipitation of 35 S with barium chromate

Barium chromate is precipitated from a solution of the irradiated potassium chloride. The precipitate containing ³⁵S is dissolved in hydrochloric acid, the chromate ions reduced and the cations removed on a cation exchanger [53]. In the second process [71, 72], the barium chromate precipitate is dissolved in a warm solution of potassium carbonate, and the solution containing ^{35}S is evaporated with phosphoric acid and powdered copper. Sulphur-35-labelled sulphate is reduced to ^{35}S -sulphur dioxide at the end of evaporation and trapped in hydrogen peroxide solution as ^{35}S -sulphate.

Precipitation of ³⁵S in the presence of sulphate carrier

Barium sulphate is precipitated from a solution of the target containing sulphate carrier. The precipitate is then reduced to barium sulphide and the released hydrogen sulphide oxidized to sulphate [44,73].

(c) Isolation of ³⁵S from the solid targets

The irradiated crystals of the alkali chloride are heated at 770° C in a stream of hydrogen. The ³⁵S-hydrogen sulphide is trapped in bromine water [74,75]. Phosphorus-32 remains in the crystals.

5.2.2. Preparation of ³⁵S-sulphide

 35 S-sulphide is usually prepared from separated 35 S-sulphate, although direct processing of irradiated targets has also been reported. The 35 S-sulphide is usually prepared with added carrier. All operations with water solutions of sulphide or hydrogen sulphide gas must be carried out in an inert atmosphere to prevent oxidation. Methods available for the reduction of 35 S-sulphate can be essentially classified as dry or wet ones, according to the conditions.

(a) Reduction of ³⁵S-sulphate in the solid state

Sulphur-35-labelled barium sulphate is mostly used as the starting material in the dry processes. The following reducing agents were reported:

Elementary carbon

For low activity samples [39, 41, 43, 76].

Hydrogen

Heating at temperatures of 850-1000°C for several hours [73, 77, 78]. See also Refs. [74, 75].

Metallic potassium

Heating in a sealed tube at 500°C for 2-3 min [79].

Aluminium powder

For low activity samples [80].

(b) Reduction of ³⁵S sulphate in solution

The wet reduction methods, proposed and worked out for use in analytical chemistry [81-86], have been applied to the preparation of 35 Ssulphides. The isotope effect has been observed in the reduction of sulphate, independent of the reduction mixture used [87, 88]. The heavier isotopes of sulphur are concentrated in the residue; it is therefore necessary to prolong the reduction for some time, even though the chemical yield has already reached 95%. The following mixtures were reported for 35 S-sulphate reduction:

Hydroiodic acid and formic acid [89]

Hydroiodic acid, formic acid and sodium hypophosphite

Heating at $80-90^{\circ}$ C for 0.5 h [90]. This mixture is also applied directly for the solution of the irradiated target [91].

Phosphoric acid, potassium iodide, and sodium hypophosphite.

This mixture is used for direct processing of the target [56].

Hydroiodic acid, formic acid and red phosphorus

Heating at $90-150^{\circ}$ C for 4 h [92]. A temperature of 150° C for 2 h is recommended for direct processing of the target [93, 94].

Phosphoric acid containing stannous ions

Heating at 200-250°C for 45 min [91, 95]. No volatile compounds except hydrogen sulphide have been observed during the reduction.

The processing of the ³⁵S-hydrogen sulphide obtained by one of the above methods depends on the product required. The absorption of ³⁵S-hydrogen sulphide in an aqueous solution of alkali hydroxide [90, 92, 95] or carbonate [56], in an ethanolic solution of alkali hydroxide [93], or in an ethanolate [56] were reported for the preparation of alkali sulphide; solutions of appropriate salts were used for preparing other metal sulphides [93].

5.2.3. Preparation of ³⁵S-elementary sulphur

³⁵S-elementary sulphur can be prepared by oxidation of ³⁵S-sulphide. Iodine in an acid solution [73, 78] or potassium ferricyanide in alkaline solution [39, 91, 92, 94] are used for oxidation. The direct introduction of ³⁵Shydrogen sulphide into an oxidizing solution has been described [89, 94], but dropwise oxidation in the presence of a benzene layer with stirring was recommended to obtain the crystalline sulphur (after separation and evaporation of the benzene layer) [92].

6. RADIOASSAY

Relative measurement is recommended for routine work. To avoid discrepancies due to self-absorption losses, counting of the sulphur-35 activity in aqueous solutions is recommended. The counting equipment can be calibrated with standard solutions of sulphur-35, which are commercially available, their activity being estimated by 4π absolute counting.

The relative counting of the diluted product can be carried out using a thin window GM counter, or a scintillation counter. The presence of ^{32}P will of course cause erratic results.

REFERENCES

- ENDT, P.M., Van der LEUN, C., Energy levels of light nuclei, Nucl. Phys. <u>34</u> 1 (1962) 324.
- [2] OZIAS, Y., ROUX, H., BOIVINET, P., CALVET, E., Détermination microcalorimétrique des caractéristiques d'un élément radioactif, C. r. 253 (1961) 2944.
- [3] DURHAM, R.W., GIRARDI, F., Effective neutron activation cross-sections of some chlorine and sulphur reactions in NRX, Nuovo Cim. 19 Suppl.1 (1961) 4.
- [4] HUGHES, D.J., SCHWARTZ, R.B., Neutron cross sections, BNL-325 (1958).
- [5] GIBERT, A., ROGGEN, F., ROSSEL, J., Nuclear reactions of chlorine with neutrons, Helv. phys. Acta <u>17</u> (1944) 97.
- [6] LANGSDORF, A., USAEC Rep. C.P. 2638 (1944) (see Ref.[3]).
- [7] SEREN, L., FRIEDLANDER, H.N., TURKEL, S.H., Thermal neutron activation cross sections, Phys. Rev. <u>72</u> (1947) 888.
- [8] WAY, K., HAINES, G., USAEC Rep. AECD-2274 (1947).
- [9] MAURER, W., Umwandlung von Chlor 35 mit thermischen Neutronen unter Aussendung von Protonen, Z. Naturf. <u>4</u> <u>a</u> (1949) 150.
- [10] BERTHET, H., ROSSEL, J., Sur la réaction Cl³⁵(n, p)S³⁵, Helv. phys. Acta <u>27</u> (1954) 159.
- [11] BERTHET, H., ROSSEL, J., Etude de la réaction Cl³⁵(n_{th},p)S³⁵ par émulsion nucléaire spéciale au chlorure d'argent, Helv. phys. Acta <u>28</u> (1955) 265.
- [12] SHIKATA, E., Investigation of (n, p) and (n, α) reactions on ³⁵Cl, J. atom. Energy Soc. Japan <u>5</u> (1963) 269.
- [13] ALLEN, R.A., SMITH, D.B., HISCOTT, J.E., Radioisotope data, AERE R-2938 (1961).
- [14] MURRAY, A., WILLIAMS, D.L., Organic Syntheses with Isotopes. Part II. Organic Compounds Labeled with Isotopes of the Halogens, Hydrogen, Nitrogen, Oxygen, Phosphorus and Sulfur, Interscience Pub. Inc., New York (1958).
- [15] АНОРОВА Г.А., Получение органических соединений, меченных ³⁵S, методом изотопного обмена. В кн. "Методы получения и измерения радиоактивных препаратов". БОЧКАРЕВ В.В., ред. Атомиздат. Москва, 1960, 177.
- [16] АНОРОВА Г.А., ШИШКОВ В.П., Получение некоторых огранических соединений, меченных серой-35. В кн. "Методы получения радиоактивных препаратов". БРЕЖНЕ-ВА Н.Е., ред. Госатомиздат. Москва, 1962, 5.
- [17] TARVER, H., ROTHSTEIN, M., "Metabolism of amino acids and protein", Künstliche radioaktive lsotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds.), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>1</u> (1961) 564.
- [18] JAENICKE, L., "Stoffwechsel der Mikroorganismen", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds.), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>2</u> (1961) 268.
- [19] KOCH, G., "Isotope studies on viruses and bacteriophages", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds.), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 349.
- [20] JOHNSTON, P.M., "Isotopes in studies on the metabolism of bones and teeth", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds.), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>2</u> (1961) 252.
- [21] KAUDEWITZ, F., "Isotope bei genetischen Untersuchungen", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds.), Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>2</u> (1961) 367.
 [22] MAURER, P.H., "Radioactive isotopes in immunology", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope
- [22] MAURER, P.H., "Radioactive isotopes in immunology", Künstliche radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie (SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F., Eds.), Springer Verlag, Berlin 2 (1961) 393.
- [23] RUHLAND, W. (Ed.), "Der Stoffwechsel der Schwefel- und Phosphorhaltigen Verbindungen", Handbuch der Pflanzenphysiologie, Springer Verlag, Berlin <u>9</u> (1958).
- [24] REYNOLDS, S.A., LEDDICOTTE, G.W., Radioactive tracers in analytical chemistry, Nucleonics 21 8 (1963) 128.
- [25] SAUNDERS, W. H. H., Some applications of isotopic sulfur, Org. Sulfur Compds 1 (1961) 41.
- [26] KRUMBIEGEL, P., Isotopes in the chemistry of elastomers, Isotopen-Tech. <u>2</u> (1962) 282.
- [27] SCHULTE, K.E., MLEINEK, 1., "Die Anwendung radioaktiver Isotope in der pharmazeutischen Forschung", Progress in Drug Research (JUCKER, E., Ed.) <u>7</u> (1964) 59.
- [28] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st Ed. with Rev. App. Safety Series No.1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [29] PHOSPHORUS-32, Part II, this publication.
- [30] STARFELT, N., SVANTESSON, N.L., Internal and external bremsstrahlung in connection with the beta decay of S³⁵, Phys. Rev. <u>97</u> (1955) 708.
- [31] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations, Br. J. Radiol. 28 Suppl. No.6 (1955).
- [32] MIAZEK-KULA, M., Removal of radioactive contamination from surfaces, Nukleonika 5 (1960) 373.
- [33] CIFKA, J., Preparation of carrier-free ³⁵S, Nucl. Res. Inst. Czechoslovak Acad. Sci., Rep. No.1538 (1964).
- [34] AMPHLETT, C.B., Treatment and Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, Pergamon Press, Oxford (1961).
- [35] КЭПАК Ф., Сорбция радиоизотопов ³²Р, ³⁵S, ¹³¹Ј на ионных осадках и гидратированных окислах. Инст. ядерных исследований, Чехословацкая академия наук. Доклад № 1115 (1964).
- [36] HUDSWELL, F., MILES, B.J., PAYNE, B.R., PAYNE, J.A., SCARGILL, P., TAYLOR, K.J., The preparation for dispensing of miscellaneous radioisotopes, AERE I/R-1386 (1954).
- [37] WILK, M.B., Preparation and extraction of S³⁵, Can. J. Res. B 27 (1949) 475.
- [38] KAMEN, M.D., Production and isotopic assignment of long-lived radioactive sulfur, Phys. Rev. <u>60</u> (1941) 537.
- [39] ANDERSEN, E.B., Ein radioaktives Isotop des Schwefels, Z. Phys. Chem. <u>B</u> <u>32</u> (1935) 237.
- [40] VOGE, H.H., LIBBY, W.F., Exchange reactions with radiosulfur, J. Am. chem. Soc. 59 (1937) 2474.
- [41] VOGE, H.H., Exchange reactions with radiosulfur, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>61</u> (1939) 1032.
- [42] ERBACHER, O., Trennung von Elementen in unwägbarer Menge, Angew. Chem. <u>54</u> (1941) 485.
- [43] ERBACHER, O., LAUE-LEMCKE, H., Gewinnung des künstlich radioaktiven Schwefels 16S³⁵ in unwägbarer Menge aus Tetrachlorokohlenstoff, Z. anorg. Chem. <u>259</u> (1949) 249.
- [44] LEVI, H., Radio-sulphur, Nature 145 (1940) 588.
- [45] LEVEY, G., MILHAM, R., RICE, W., WILLARD, J.E., Chemical properties of monoatomic sulfur formed by the Cl³⁵(n, p)S³⁰ reaction, USAEC Rep. AECU-50 (BNL-C-7) (1948) 6.
- [46] RUPP, A.F., "Large-scale production of radioisotopes", Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 14 (1956) 68.
- [47] KOSKI, W.S., The state of oxidation of S³⁵ formed by neutron irradiation of potassium chloride, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>71</u> (1949) 4042.
- [48] MILHAM, R.C., A study of the chemical nature of the sulfur produced in alkali metal chlorides by the Cl³⁵(n, p)S³⁵ reaction, Thesis, Univ. Wisconsin (1952).
- [49] CARLSON, T.A., KOSKI, W.S., Oxidation states of phosphorus-32 produced by neutron irradiation of potassium chloride, J. chem. Phys. 23 (1955) 1596.
- [50] BUTTERWORTH, J.S., CAMPBELL, I.G., Effects of the ³⁵Cl(n, p) ³²P Reaction in Potassium Chloride Crystals, Trans. Faraday Soc. 59 (1963) 2618.
- [51] CIFKA, J., Chemical states of ³²P in neutron irradiated potassium chloride, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. <u>26</u> (1964) 683.

- [52] CONSTANT, R., Préparation du soufre 35 sans porteur et du chlore 36, Rapport CEN BLG-15, Bruxelles (1958).
- [53] MÜNZE, R., Spezielle Fragen der Produktion radioaktiver Nuklide, Isotopen Tech. 2 (1962) 23.
- [54] GARRISON, W.M., HAMILTON, J.G., Production and isolation of carrier-free radioisotopes, Chem. Rev. 49 (1951) 237.
- [55] RUPP, A.F., BINFORD, F.T., Production of radioisotopes, J. appl. Phys. <u>24</u> (1953) 1069.
- [56] GUERONNIERE, E., HENRY, R., Préparation de H₂SO³⁵ et quelques autres simples composés minéraux marqués par S³⁵, Rapport CEA (1958) 858.
- [57] КУХАРСКИ М. и ПЛЕЕВСКИ Р., Метод получения серы S³⁵ в виде H₂S³⁵O₄ (без носителя). Польская академия наук, Институт ядерных исследований. Доклад № 192/ XIII. (1960).
- [58] KUCHARSKI, M., PLEJEWSKI, R., Die Herstellung trägerfreier Schwefelsäure (³⁵Smarkiert), Kernenergie <u>4</u> (1961) 445.
- [59] СОКОЛОВ В.А., Выделение S³⁵ без носителя из облученного хлористого калия. В кн. "Методы получения и измерения радиоактивных препаратов". БОЧКАРЕВ В.В., ред. Атомиздат, Москва, 1960, 29.
- [60] WILK, M.B., Br. Patent 656 936 (5 Sept. 1951).
- [61] VELJKOVIĆ, S.R., MILENKOVIC, S.M., "Concentration of carrier-free radioisotopes by adsorption on alumina", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>20</u> (1958) 45.
- [62] MILENKOVIĆ, S., DIZDAR, Z., SERVIAN, J.L., Separation of S³⁵, P³² and Cl³⁶ on alumina, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidric <u>12</u> (1961) 81.
- [63] GEITHOFF, D., SCHNEIDER, V., Die Isolierung der Radionuklide ³²P, ³⁵S und ¹³¹J aus bestrahlten Materialien und die Herstellung von kolloidalem Radiogold, Atompraxis <u>7</u> (1961) 423.
- [64] MANI, R.S., SUBRAMANIAN, M., IYA, V.K., Production of Cl^{3b} and carrier-free S³⁵ from pile-irradiated potassium chloride, Indian J. Technol. <u>1</u>, 1 (1963) 24.
- [65] MILENKOVIĆ, S., TEOFILOVSKI, Ć., DIZDAR, Z., BIRCANIN, Lj., A new procedure for the production of carrier-free S³⁵, Bull. Inst. nucl. Sci. Boris Kidric <u>12</u> (1961) 89.
- [66] BRESESTI, M., Del TURCO, A.M., LANZ, R., RESTELLI, G., Carrier-free sulpher-35 separation from pile irradiated potassium chloride, CNEN Rep. CNI-101 (1961).
- [67] PLEJEWSKI, R., KUCHARSKI, M., Neues Verfahren zur Herstellung von trägerfreier H₂³⁵SO₄ im Produktionsmasstab, Kernenergie <u>7</u> (1964) 38.
- [68] DESHPANDE, R.G., Extraction of sulphur-35 from pile-irradiated potassium chloride, J. Chromat. <u>2</u> (1958) 117.
- [69] BARRACHINA, M., Heterogenous exchange of isotopic ions on a column. Radiochemical applications. Separation of P³² and S³⁵ on a BaSO₄, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. <u>24</u> (1962) 777.
- [70] KOHLSCHNETTER, H.W., STAMM, H.H., Separation of irradiation products of sodium chloride by iron hydroxide columns, Z. anorg. allg. Chem. <u>320</u> (1963) 112.
- [71] ABELLAN, J.O., ORTEGA, J., NUNEZ, S., CUBERO, S.N., Préparation de $S^{35}O_4^2$ et $S^{35}O_4H_2$ sans entraîneur, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>15</u> (1964) 43.
- [72] ORTEGA, J., Technique for the Preparation of Carrier-free Radioactive Sulphate and Sulphite (S³⁵), Span. Patent 278 692 (24 Nov.1962).
- [73] МАРКОВА Ю.В., ПОЖАРСКАЯ А.М., МАИМИНД В.И., ЖУКОВА Т.Ф., КОСО-ЛАПОВА Н.А. и ЩУКИНА М.Н., Синтез физиологически активных соединений, меченных ³⁵ S. Докл. Акад. наук <u>91</u> (1953) 1129.
- [74] CHEMLA, M., SÜE, P., Nouvelle méthode de préparation de radioéléments artificiels sans entraîneur. Cas du S³⁵, C. r. <u>233</u> (1951) 247.
- [75] CHEMLA, M., SUE, P., Séparation de S³⁵ sans entraîneur à partir de ClNa irradié aux neutrons, C. R. <u>238</u> (1954) 1502.
- [76] TUCK, J.L., Radioactive sulfur for biochemical experiments, J. chem. Soc. (1939) 1292.
- [77] COOLEY, R.A., YOST, M.D., The rate of exchange of elementary radiosulfur with sulfur monochloride, J. Am. chem. Soc. <u>62</u> (1940) 2474.
- [78] WOOD, J.L., RACHELE, J.R., STEVENS, C.M., CARPENTER, F.H., Du VIGNEAUD, V., The reaction of some radioactive mustard-type vesicants with purified proteins, J.Am. chem. Soc. <u>70</u> (1948) 2547.
- [79] SIMON, H., APEL, G., Darstellung einiger ³⁵S-markierter Verbindungen im Mikromasstab, Z. Naturf. <u>11 b</u> (1956) 693.
- [80] ERICHSEN, L., MULLER, G., Untersuchungen zur Methodik der ³⁵S-Aktivitätsbestimmung am elementaren Schwefel, Angew. Chem. <u>69</u> (1957) 737.

- [81] LORANT, I.S., Über eine neue kolorimetrische Mikromethode zur Bestimmung des Schwefels in Sulphiden, Sulphaten usw., Z. physiol. Chem. <u>185</u> (1929) 245.
- [82] LUKE, C.L., Determination of total sulphur in rubber, Ind. Engng Chem. analyt. edn <u>15</u> (1943) 602; <u>17</u> (1945) 298; Analyt. Chem. <u>21</u> (1949) 1369.
- [83] ROTH, H., Kolorimetrische Bestimmung kleinster Mengen Schwefel, Mikrochim. Acta <u>36/37</u> (1951) 379.
- [84] JOHNSON, C.M., NISHITA, H., Microestimation of sulfur, Analyt. Chem. 24 (1952) 736.
- [85] KIBA, T., TAKAGI, T., YOSHIMURA, Y., KISHI, I., Bivalent tin-phosphoric acid: a new reagent for the determination of sulphate by reduction to hydrogen sulphide, Bull. chem. Soc. Japan <u>28</u> (1955) 641.
- [86] KIBA, T., AKAZA, I., SUGISHITA, N., Rapid determination of inorganic sulphur in various forms, particularly in sulphide ores by the tin (II) - strong phosphoric acid reduction method, Bull. chem. Soc. Japan <u>30</u> (1957) 972.
- [87] HARRISON, A.G., THODE, H.G., The Kinetic Isotope Effect in the Chemical Reduction of Sulphate, Trans. Faraday Soc. <u>53</u> (1957) 1648.
- [88] IWASAKI, I., SHIMOJIMA, H., FUKUTOMI, H., Fractionation of sulfur isotope during reduction, Bull. chem. Soc. Japan <u>31</u> (1958) 496.
- [89] KILMER, G.W., Du VIGNEAUD, V., A synthesis of methionine containing isotopic carbon and sulfur, J. biol. Chem. 154 (1944) 247.
- [90] WIELAND, T., KRANTZ, H., Notiz zur einfachen Darstellung von ³⁵S-Schwefelwasserstoff, Chem. Ber. 91 (1958) 681.
- [91] СОКОЛОВ В.А. и ЛЕВИН В.И., Новый метод получения соединений, меченных ³⁵S. В кн. "Методы получения радиоактивных препаратов". БРЕЖНЕВА Н.Е., ред. Госатомиздат. Москва, 1962, 124.
- [92] OTTO, H.L., WINAND, M., The preparation of curie quantities of S³⁵-labelled element sulphur, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>10</u> (1961) 130.
- [93] KUCHARSKI, M., PLEJEWSKI, R., Methode zur Herstellung von ³⁵S-markierten Sulfiden von Natrium, Kalium, Cadmium und Eisen unmittelbar aus dem neutronenbestrahlten KCl-Target, Kernenergie <u>6</u> (1963) 701.
- [94] KUCHARSKI, M., PLEJEWSKI, R., Herstellung von ³⁵S-markiertem elementarem Schwefel, Kernenergie <u>7</u> (1964) 41.
- [95] CÍFKA, J., The reduction of S³⁵-labelled sulphates, Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes <u>14</u> (1963) 174.

PROCEDURES

ATOMIC ENERGY OF CANADA LTD., CHALK RIVER, CANADA

1. GENERAL

Sulphur-35 is a beta emitter with a half-life of 87 d. It is produced in the reactor by the irradiation of a chloride target, ${}^{35}Cl(n, p){}^{35}S$.

After irradiation, the sulphur-35 is chemically separated from the target, analysed and shipped as required.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Each irradiation consists of 18-20 g of potassium chloride sealed in a standard reactor capsule. The normal irradiation time is six months. The

usual yield is 12 to 15 Ci from each capsule, depending on the neutron flux. An appropriate number of capsules are held under irradiation to provide our normal and standby requirements.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target is cooled for several days to allow the high energy ⁴²K to decay and is then entered to a glove box for processing. The capsule lid is removed and the contents poured into a small glass vessel where they are dissolved in approximately 100 ml warm distilled water. This solution is applied to a Dowex~50 cation exchange column at a flow-rate of about one drop per second. The column retains the potassium ion. The effluent contains the sulphur-35 and the chloride-35,-36 ions. This effluent is transferred to a distillation and condenser assembly where it is distilled to near The distillate contains the chlorine-35,-36 ions in HCl. The dryness. sulphur-35 remains in the distillation flask. This is treated with a small quantity of fuming nitric acid to destroy any organic material present, which is subsequently distilled off as waste material. The remaining residue is refluxed in a few millilitres of concentrated HCl, which is also distilled off to waste. The residue is dissolved in distilled water and drawn off as H_2SO_4 in dilute HCl, which is the final product.

Equipment

The equipment is enclosed in a lucite box fitted with rubber gloves since no additional shielding is required. The decayed capsule is transferred with extension tongs from the storage container to the first compartment in the box. The capsule is placed into a manually operated capsule opener located above a small dissolution vessel. The capsule contents are poured into this vessel where the initial dissolution step begins. The remainder of the equipment is a sealed glassware system consisting of the ion exchange column, distillation and condenser assembly and a burette for product dispensing. Reagents are added as required through header vessels located on top of the box. Liquids are transferred by means of small vacuum pumps and appropriate glass piping. Stopcocks are manually operated, using the rubber gloves. The box is exhausted via absolute filters. Waste solutions are collected inside the box in glass bottles.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Chemical

Small samples of the product are removed and analysed for total solids, non-volatile solids, oxidizing materials and metals. The acidity is adjusted to the appropriate normality. An archive sample is kept for record purposes.

Radiochemical

A 0.167 MeV beta particle is the only radiation emitted in the disintegration process. A suitable dilution of the active solution is made so that a small quantity of activity can be dried on a stainless-steel counting disc.. This activity is then measured on a beta electroscope. The radiochemical purity is checked using a 512-channel analyser.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCE, NATIONAL TSING HUA UNIVERSITY, HSINCHU, TAIWAN, REPUBLIC OF CHINA

1. GENERAL

Sulphur-35 is prepared by the nuclear reaction 35 Cl(n, p) 35 S. Potassium chloride is used as the target. After irradiation, potassium chloride is converted to hydrogen chloride by passing through a cation exchange column. The hydrogen chloride is then removed by distillation. Sulphur-35 is obtained from the residue by leaching with dilute hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation	
Target:	$50\ {\rm g}$ of potassium chloride purified by recrystallization twice.
Irradiation container:	The target is wrapped with aluminium foil, and placed in the aluminium can 4.7 cm diam. \times 9 cm.
Flux:	$2.2 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Irradiation time:	30 h.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated potassium chloride is allowed to cool for about a week before chemical processing. The target is dissolved in 1 litre of distilled water and the solution is passed through an ion exchange column. (4.0 cm diam. $\times 55$ cm, Dowex 50 X12, 50 ~ 100 mesh conditioned in H⁺ form.) The column is washed with an additional 200 ml of distilled water. The effluent is then transferred to the distillation unit to distil off the hydrogen chloride to dryness. After cooling, 100 ml of hydrogen peroxide (1:10) are added to the distillation flask and re-distilled to dryness again. One hundred millilitres of distilled water are then added to the flask to leach out the sulphur-35 from the residue. The leaching solution is then passed through an ion exchange column (1.2 cm diam. \times 15 cm. Dowex 50 X12 conditioned in Fe³⁺ form). The effluent is condensed to appropriate concentration for use. About 80 mCi of sulphur-35 is obtained.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The chemical analysis of the product is carried out according to Oak Ridge National Laboratory Master Analytical Manual 90733811-5. The chemical form of sulphur-35 is determined by paper chromatography. Chemical form: Concentration: Specific activity: Acidity: Radiochemical purity:

SO^{$\frac{1}{4}$} in HCl solution. 8.7 mCi/ml. Carrier-free. 0.03 <u>N</u>. > 99%.

NUCLEAR RESEARCH INSTITUTE, ŘEŽ, CZECHOSLOVAK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

1. GENERAL

The irradiated potassium chloride target is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid and poured onto an alumina column where the ${}^{35}S$ and ${}^{32}P$ are adsorbed. Sulphur-35 is then eluted with dilute ammonia and the cations are removed on a cation exchanger. The total yield is in the range of 80 -83%. The process is based on the Yugoslav method [1]. This method has been used in Czechoslovakia since 1959. The product, ${}^{35}S$ -sulphuric acid, is used for the preparation of ${}^{35}S$ -compounds. The reduction of sulphates is carried out by a wet method using a reduction mixture prepared from stannous chloride and phosphoric acid [2].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	KCl (R.G.) dried at 140°C for 10 h, 200 g for each irradiation.
Irradiation container:	Sealed aluminium container.
Irradiation conditions:	Irradiation for 480 h (over a period of 3 months) at a flux of 1×10^{13} n/cm ² s; 200 g of the target willyield 3-4 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Two hundred grams of the irradiated target material are stored for 2 months for the 32 P to decay and then dissolved in 3 litres of 0.5 N hydrochloric acid, Fig. 1 (Flask A). This solution is transferred into the reservoir (B) and then passed through a chromatographic column (C) filled with 20 g of alumina. The column is washed with 1.5 litres of distilled water. The 35 S-sulphate fixed on the alumina is eluted by 100 ml of 0.2 N solution of ammonia and this solution is evaporated (evaporator D) almost to dryness. After dilution with 50 ml of 0.01 N hydrochloric acid, cations are removed on an ion-exchanger column (E) (10 g Dowex-50 in hydrogen form). The



FIG.1. System for the routine production of ³⁵S

effluent is evaporated to dryness (evaporator F). To destroy organic compounds, 10 ml of 30% hydrogen peroxide (sulphate free) are added and evaporated. This operation is repeated. The 35 S-sulphate is washed out with 30-50 ml of distilled water and transferred into the storage vessel (G).

The alumina is prepared for use in the following manner. Alumina (for chromatographic purposes) is mixed with water and small particles are removed by decantation. The remaining larger particles are washed successively with 0.5 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid, water, 1 \underline{N} ammonia, water, and 0.5 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid. The slurry of the alumina is then poured onto the column.

All the processes are carried out in a closed apparatus which is placed in a Perspex-shielded box. Transfer of the solutions is done by vacuum. The evaporators are heated with xylene (b. p. 140-143°C) to prevent overheating [3]).

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The content of ^{32}P in the product of ^{35}S -sulphate is determined by the absorption of beta rays in aluminium. The content of ^{35}S is determined by

liquid counting, the counting assembly being calibrated with a standard solution of 35 S.

The 35 S-standards are prepared by 4π counting. Metallic impurities are determined by spectroscopic analysis, the sum of heavy metals is estimated by a sulphide test (Pharmacopoeia method).

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

A solution of 35 S-sulphuric acid in weak hydrochloric acid (pH 3-4). Radioactive concentration: 80-120 mCi/ml. For dispensing diluted to

20 mCi/ml

	20 mor/ mr.
Radioactive purity:	35 S content 99.9%, 32 P content 0.02%.
Radiochemical purity:	100%.
Chemical purity:	Heavy metals content below the sensitivity of sulphide test.
Specific activity:	> 2 Ci/mg S.

REFERENCES

[1] VELJKOVIĆ, S.R., MILENKOVIĆ, S.M., Proc. UN 2nd Int. Conf. PUAE 20 (1958) 45.

[2] CÍFKA, J., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isotopes 14 (1963) 174.

[3] ARROL, W.J., AERE-I/R 748 (1951).

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

Sulphur-35 is formed by the (n, p) reaction on a KCl target, 35 Cl(n, p) 35 S. The recoil energy released during the reaction causes oxidation of the sulphur nucleus formed [1] and dissolution of the KCl target in water causes its hydration to H₂SO₄.

The separation between Cl⁻ and SO_4^- is carried out by the Rupp method [2,3] consisting of the fixation of all the potassium on a cation exchange resin. The H_2SO_4 -HCl mixture thus obtained is separated by distillation. After elimination of all the HCl, the residue contains $H_2^{35}SO_4$.

Irradiation of the targets in swimming-pool reactors in high fast-neutron fluxes leads to the formation of ³²P by the (n, α) reaction, ³⁵Cl (n, α) ³²P. The method has therefore been subjected to a slight modification consisting of separation of ³²P mainly in the form of. H₃PO₄ by absorption on a ferric hydroxide precipitate.

The advantage of this separation lies in the fact that it is unnecessary to await the disappearance of ^{32}P by decay.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	High purity potassium chlo	ride powder (Johnson less than 0, 1%
Irradiation conditions:	Swimming pool reactors and radiation, owing to their st flux. Targets are usually Irradiation in MELUSINE:	The preferred for the ir- ubstantial fast neutron irradiated for three months. fast neutron flux of about $2-4 \times 10^{12}$ n/cm ² s.
	Irradiation in TRITON:	fast neutron flux of about $2-4 \times 10^{12}$ n/cm ² s.
	Irradiation in SILQE:	fast neutron flux of about $7-8\times10^{12}$ n/cm ² s.
Container:	The same type as that for and the same dimensions.	the irradiation of TeO_2 ,
Side reactions:	$^{35}Cl(n, \alpha)^{32}P$ $^{35}Cl(n, \gamma)^{36}Cl$ $^{37}Cl(n, \gamma)^{38}Cl$.	
Activity produced:	For a fast flux of 10 ¹³ n/cm per gram of KCl target is	m ² s the formation of ³⁵ S given belo w:
Irradiation	³⁵ S activity	³² P activity
(d)	(mCi/g)	(mCi/g)
30	55	2
60	99	3.7
90	130	4.8
saturation	261	9 . 6

Chemical treatment

Chemical separation

After the KCl target is placed in a dissolving flask, 200 ml of distilled water are poured in, and bubbling is caused in this solution by circulating a stream of nitrogen. The bubbling is stopped when the powder is wholly dissolved. The solution is then transferred to a co-precipitation vessel by means of a siphon connection.

Two millilitres of 110 vol. hydrogen peroxide, 3 drops of 4 \underline{N} HCl and 5 ml of the water used for rinsing the piping are added and the solution is heated until boiling begins. It is left to cool and 1.5 ml of a 1% ferric nitrate solution are added. After stirring, a solution of 5 \underline{N} soda is added drop by drop until total precipitation of Fe(OH)₃ has occurred. The solution is stirred, heated and filtered by suction through a fritted glass up to a siphon connection. The precipitate is washed with 3 portions of 20 ml of water.

The solution and the washing water are collected in a neutralization vessel into which a solution of 4 N HCl is poured drop by drop until a neutral pH is attained.

The solution is passed over two Dowex-50 columns. Each column is then washed with 1 litre of distilled water. The quantity of liquid is then reduced by boiling in a concentrator vessel.

The use of an evaporator enables the solution to be reduced almost to dryness (about 1 to 2 ml). One millilitre of 110 vol. hydrogen peroxide and 1 ml of water are added three times, and each time they are evaporated almost to dryness. Lastly, the solution is made up with two portions of distilled water in order to yield a final volume of 100 ml.

A solution of $H_2^{35}SO_4$ in a solution of HCl of pH ~2 is thus obtained.

Apparatus (Figs. 1, 2)

This consists solely of small laboratory glassware.

Evaporation vessel: this has a fritted glass in its lower part permitting both the passage of a nitrogen stream and the filtration of the solution.

Neutralization and co-precipitation vessels: graduated every 10 ml; they are emptied by introducing a fritted glass plunger linked to a siphon connection.

Dowex-50 resin columns - made of glass.

Concentrator and evaporator: heated by an infra-red heater.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of ³⁵S

396



4. Siphon connections with fritted plate mobile plunger

FIG.2. ³⁵ S flowsheet

- 8. Bottle for storage of H, 35SO,

Investigation of chemical forms

Activity per unit volume and the absence of impurities are determined by radioactive measurements. In particular the ³²P content must be less than 0.01%.

Determination of the dry extract, whose weight must not exceed 1 mg/ml. A γ -spectrum analysis to determine the absence of γ -emitting impurities.

REFERENCES

[1] CROATTO, U., MADDOCK, A.G., J. Chem. Soc. 17 (1949) 502.

[2] RUPP, A.F., "Large-scale production of radioisotopes", 1st UN Int. Conf. PUAE 14 (1955) 68.

[3] de la GUERONNIERE, E., HENRY, R., CEA Report No. 858 (1958).

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

The irradiation of crystalline potassium chloride in a reactor gives rise to ³⁵S by (n, p) reaction on ³⁵Cl. The other isotopes produced in the target are ³²P, ⁴²K, ³⁶Cl and ³⁸Cl. A post-irradiation cooling of one week ensures the complete decay of the short-lived activities of 42 K and 38 Cl. The 35 S is separated by selective adsorption on an alumina column, from which it is then eluted out with dilute ammonia solution. The cationic impurities like aluminium are then removed by precipitation as hydroxides.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	60 g of reagent grade potassium chloride.
In APSARA:	Container type "A" can (screw-capped 1S aluminium can of
	73 mm height and 26.5 mm diam.).
	Flux: $3 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
	Irradiation period: 3 months.
Target:	60 g of reagent grade potassium chloride.
In APSARA:	Container type "A" can (screw-capped 1S aluminium can of
	73 mm height and 26.5 mm diam.).
	Flux: $3 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
	Irradiation period: 3 months.
In CIR:	Container type "C" can (cold-welded 2S aluminium can of 44 mm
	height and 22 mm diam.).
	Flux: $4-6 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
	Irradiation period: 3 months.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated KCl is allowed to cool for one week and then it is dissolved in 0.1 <u>N</u> HCl. The solution is passed down an alumina column (1 cm² \times 6 cm length, in the chloride form, washed with 0.1 <u>M</u> HCl) and the effluent is collected and set aside for ³⁶Cl processing. The column is washed with 100 ml of 0.1 <u>M</u> HCl followed by 100 ml of distilled water.

The ${}^{35}S$ is then eluted with 25 ml of 1 <u>M</u> ammonia. To the eluate 1.5 ml of 9 <u>M</u> HCl is added and the solution is evaporated to a small volume, allowed to cool and filtered through a fine sintered-glass filter. The filtrate is evaporated to the point of dryness. The residue is treated with strong nitric acid to destroy ammonium chloride. After evaporation, the mixture is digested with strong HCl and again evaporated to near dryness. Finally the ${}^{35}S$ activity is leached out with 0.1 M HCl solution.

For the recovery of ${}^{36}\text{Cl}$, the effluent potassium chloride solution from the alumina column is distilled with the requisite amount of 6 M H₂SO₄ through a small rectifying column, and the ${}^{36}\text{Cl}$ is recovered as the approximately 20% constant boiling HCl solution.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

(a) The activity is assayed by using a liquid scintillation counter having a known efficiency.

(b) The absence of heavy metal impurities is confirmed by the hydroxide and sulphide precipitation tests and also by spot tests.

- (c) The radiochemical purity is ascertained as follows:
 - The aluminium absorption curve for the test sample is compared with that of the standard.
 - Aliquots of the stock solution are taken. The ³⁵S is precipitated as

 $BaSO_4$, the ${}^{36}Cl$ as AgCl and the precipitates are filtered and the fil-. trates are assayed for other activities, if any.

(d) The acidity is determined by titration against standard alkali.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity:	Carrier-free.
Chemical form:	$H_2^{35}SO_4$.
Acidity:	0.1 <u>M</u> HCl.
Radiochemical purity:	Greater than 99% as sulphate.
Radioactive concentration:	1 - 200 mCi/ml.

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE, ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION, SOREQ RESEARCH ESTABLISHMENT, YAVNE, ISRAEL

PRODUCTION OF 35S AS CARRIER-FREE H₂ 35SO₄

1. GENERAL

Irradiation of KCl produces ${}^{35}S$ by the ${}^{35}Cl(n, p){}^{35}S$ reaction. Other activities produced are ${}^{32}P$, ${}^{36}Cl$, ${}^{42}K$. The ${}^{35}S$ is adsorbed on activated alumina, together with the ${}^{32}P$ which is present as phosphate. Chlorine and potassium are not adsorbed. The ${}^{35}S$ is then eluted with a 0.2 <u>N</u> NH₄OH solution. The method is based on the process developed at the Boris Kidrič Institute in Yugoslavia [1].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

The target material is KCl (AR) dried overnight at 110° C. The target amount is 20 g, distributed in three silica ampoules of approximately 12 cm³ each. The ampoules are sealed, put into aluminium irradiation cans and irradiated for 100 h at a flux of 2.5×10^{13} n/cm²s in the Israel Research Reactor 1, and allowed to decay for 1 week.

Chemical treatment

This is done in a glove-box provided with tongs.

Preparation

Prepare two 1.5 cm high, 0.6 cm diam. alumina columns (Fluka alumina, 100-200 mesh, activity 1, can be used).

Pass 100 ml 1 \underline{N} HCl through each column. Wash with distilled water. Pass 50 ml 1 \underline{N} NH₄OH. Wash with distilled water. Pass 100 ml 0.5 N HCl.

Prepare a 0.6 cm diam., 5-cm-long Dowex-50 (50-100 mesh) column.

Pass 200 ml 3 \underline{N} HCl through a Dowex-50 column. Adjust the pH with water.

Processing

(a) Transfer irradiated samples to glove-box.

(b) Crush ampoules under 50 ml water. Heat gently to dissolve.

(c) Pass solution to beaker. Rinse crusher with 10 ml water and add to beaker. Repeat rinsing.

(d) Add 67 ml of 1 N HCl to beaker and 0.2 mg of phosphate ion.

(e) Pass solution through alumina column, at a flow-rate of up to 4 ml/min.

(f) Pass 50 ml of 0.5 N HCl, then wash twice with 100 ml H_2O each time. Eluates from the last two steps go to waste.

(g) Pass 20 ml of 0.2 N NH₄OH.

(h) Take a sample from the eluate. Check the ^{32}P to ^{35}S ratio. If no further purification is necessary, follow steps (m) to (s) below. If further phosphorus/sulphur separation is required:

- (i) Add 28 ml 1 N HCl to ammonia eluate.
- (j) Pass through the second alumina column.
- (k) Wash twice with $100 \text{ ml } H_2O$.
- (1) Pass 20 ml 0. 2 N NH_4OH .
- (m) Receive into 25 ml of 0.2 N HCl.
- (n) Pass through a Dowex-50 column.
- (o) Wash with 25 ml H_2O . Take a sample for calibration.
- (p) Add 300 mg NaCl.
- (q) Neutralize to pH 7.
- (r) Dispense into bottles.
- (s) Sterilize at 120°C for one hour.

REFERENCE

 MILENKOVIČ, S., TEOFILOVSKY, C., DISDAR, Z., BIRZCANIN, Lj., Bull. Inst. Nucl. Sciences Boris Kidrič 12 258 (Oct. 1961) 89.

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process for 35 S is based on the irradiation of a potassium chloride target. After irradiation, ion exchange treatment is used to remove the potassium and phosphate ions.

400

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:10 g KCl (JISGR1).Container:Cold-welded-type aluminium capsule.Flux: $\sim 2 \times 10^{13}$ n/cm2 s (Reactor JRR-2).Irradiation time:130 h.Side reactions:Formation of ^{32}P , ^{42}K , 38 Cl and 36 Cl.

Chemical treatment

The apparatus for the production is shown in Figs. 1 and 2. Cut the aluminium capsule.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of ³⁵S

Place the irradiated target into the dissolving vessel (a), Fig. 2, then add 150 ml distilled water to dissolve the target by gentle heating.

Pass the dissolved solution through the cation exchange resin (b) to remove K^{\star} ions.

Concentrate the effluent in the evaporator (c), then add hydrogen peroxide to decompose the organic materials.

Pass the solution through the anion exchange resin in the iron form (d) to remove PO_2^{2-} ions.

Concentrate the effluent in the evaporator (e), then add hydrogen peroxide to decompose the organic materials.

¹ Japan Industrial Standard Grade Reagent.



- a. Dissolving vessel
- b. Cation exchange resin column
- c. Evaporator 1

1

- d. Cation exchange resin column of Fe³⁺ form
 e. Evaporator 2
- f. Bottles of product

FIG.2. Arrangement of apparatus for ³⁵S production

Add 20 ml 0.1 N HCl and warm gently.

Distribute the solution into the sample bottles with a rubber inner cap and aluminium outer cap.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The routine determination of total solids, non-volatile materials and heavy metals is carried out by the following procedures: Total solid: Weighing after the evaporation and heating to 110°C

Weighing after the evaporation and heating to 110°C of 1 ml sample solution.

Non-volatile materials: Weighing after the evaporation and heating to 600°C of 1 ml sample solution.

Heavy metals: Comparison of colour development with lead standard by the addition of hydrogen sulphide.

Routine assay is carried out with a $2\pi\beta$ proportional counter, and the calibration is made by a $4\pi\beta$ counter.

The amount of carrier in the product is made by the spectrophotometric method by methylene blue.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	H_2SO_4 in HCl solution; acidity ~ 0.1 N.
Radiochemical purity:	Over 99%.
Specific activity:	Carrier-free.
Concentration:	> 1.0 mCi/ml.

402

26*

1. GENERAL

Sulphur-35 is produced by irradiating potassium chloride in a fast neutron flux, ${}^{35}Cl(n, p){}^{35}S$. The target material is dissolved in water, and potassium is removed by means of cation exchange resin. Any excess of hydrochloric acid produced during the ion exchange process is removed by evaporation.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	KCl, Merck, p.a.
Amount:	20 g.
Time of irradiation:	3 months.
Container:	Aluminium can.
Flux:	Fast neutron flux $1-2 \times 10^{11}$ n/cm ² s.
Side reactions:	35 Cl(n, α) 32 P (14.2 d).
	35 Cl(n, γ) 36 Cl (3 \times 10 ⁵ yr).
	37 Cl(n, γ) 38 Cl (37.3 min).
	41 K(n, γ) 42 K (12.4 h).

The target is stored a few days before processing to remove foreign activity due to ^{38}Cl and ^{42}K .

Chemical treatment

The irradiated potassium chloride is dissolved in water and transferred to a column filled with Dowex-50 cation exchange resin. Sulphur-35 present as SO_4^- (together with small amounts of ^{32}P and ^{36}Cl), passes through, and the solution is evaporated to dryness. The excess of hydrochloric acid, together with ^{36}Cl is then removed. After dissolution in water ^{32}P can be removed by passing the solution through a column packed with aluminium shavings.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity: Geiger-Müller counting of samples evaporated on polyethylene foils.

Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH.

Chemical purity control: emission spectrography, dry matter content (evaporation).

Radiochemical purity control, radiochromatography.

Toxicity and pyrogen control, test on animals.

All products are subject to individual inspection and approval by pharmaceutical personnel.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

SO – sulphate in neutra	al solution.	
Radioactive concentration:	10-15 mCi/ml.	
Isotopic purity:	Greater than 99%.	
Specific activity:	Greater than 100 mCi/mg S.	
pH:	5-7.	
Total solids:	Less than 1 mg/ml.	
Chemical purity:	Metals, spectrographically determined, than 10 μ g/ml.	less

SSI - sulphate in neutral isotonic solution, sterilized. Total solids: About 10 mg/ml. Other specifications as for SO.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH, SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL [1-15]

Sulphur-35 is isolated from an irradiated KCl target. The isolation is carried chromatographically on two columns. The first is filled with Al₂O₃ and allows ³⁵S and ³²P to be separated from Cl and ⁴²K and the main part of KCl. The second column, filled with a cation exchange resin, allows purification of the final product; on this column the remaining K⁺ and other metallic impurities are separated. The overall yield of the process is approximately 85-97%. The final product gives carrier-free sulphuric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation `

full power).
E

Chemical treatment

Twenty grams of irradiated KCl target are dissolved in 0.1 \underline{N} HCl to obtain 1 N solution in respect to KCl. This solution is introduced to an Al₂O₃

404

column (diam. 9 mm, length 100 mm, containing 3.5 g Al_2O_3) at a rate of 1 ml/min. The column is then washed with 10 ml of deionized water. This volume of water allows potassium to be removed from the column. The column is then washed with 15 ml of NH₄OH solution, pH 11.0 and with 10 ml of deionized water. A fraction of between 1/6 and 1/12 ml eluate is collected. This fraction contains practically the whole amount of sulphur (in the form of ${}^{35}SO_4$) and K⁺ (0.49-0.70 mg/ml). The fraction is introduced to an Amberlite IR 120 column H⁺ form, 9 mm diam., 10 cm long, flow-rate 1 ml/min. Then the column is washed with 10 ml of deionized water and the whole eluate is transferred to a flask equipped with a reflux condenser. One millilitre of 10% H₂O₂ is added and the mixture is refluxed for 2 h to destroy traces of organic substances eluted from the column. After cooling the solution is transferred to a vessel equipped with a dosing pipette. The product gives H₂ ${}^{35}SO_4$ in hydrochloric acid, pH 2-3.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity is measured in a well-type scintillation counter N. S. T. against a standard prepared by 4π counting. The chemical purity is checked spectrally and, for K, by flame photometry.

The radiation purity is checked by beta and gamma spectrometry.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity: 20 mCi/ml. Radiation purity: 99.9%. Impurities: As, Pb 5 μg/ml.

REFERENCES

- [1] HUNDSWELL, F. et al., AERE-J/R-1386 (1954).
- [2] HENRY, R., GUERONNIERE, E., Report CEA No. 858 (1958).
- [3] VELJKOVIČ, S.R., MILENKOVIČ, S.M., "Concentration of carrier-free radioisotopes by adsorption on alumina", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 20 (1958) 45.
- [4] DESHPANDE, R.G., J. Chromatogr. 1 (1959) 117.
- [5] KUCHARSKI, M., PLEJEWSKI, R., Kernenergie 4 (1961) 445.
- [6] PLEJEWSKI, R., KUCHARSKI, M., Kernenergie 7 (1964) 38.
- [7] KENNY, J., SPRAGG, L., J. chem. Soc., Supp. 326 (1949).
- [8] CAMPBELL, I.G., POCINAYLO, A., Report No. 69/V, INR, Warsaw (1959).
- [9] NESMEYANOV, A. et al., Production of Radioisotopes (Russia) Moscow (1955).
- [10] Production and determination of labelled atoms (Russia), Moscow (1948).
- [11] KORSHUNOV, J.A., SHAFIEV, A.J., Zh. Neorgan. Khim. 3 (1958) 95.
- [12] WILK, M.B., Canad. Pat. No. 494652, 21 (1953) 07.
- [13] BRESESTI, M. et al., ISPRA-CNJ-101 (1961).
- [14] KOSKI, W.S., J. Amer. chem. Soc. 71 (1949) 4042.
- [15] KUBLI, H., Helv. chim. Acta 30 (1947) 453.

INSTITUTE OF ATOMIC PHYSICS, BUCHAREST, ROMANIA

PRODUCTION OF CARRIER-FREE ³⁵S IN THE FORM OF SO₄²⁻

1. GENERAL

The production of ${}^{35}S$ is based on the (n, p) reaction of the KCl target. Radiosulphur in the form of bisulphate is absorbed over 99% on an alumina column. Finally ${}^{35}S$ is eluted with ammonia 1 M.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE [1-3] (Fig. 1)



FIG.1. Cell for ³⁵S separation

Irradiation

Target:	KCl p.a. The amount depends on the request.
Flux:	$1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s.}$
Time of irradiation:	400 h.
Container:	Aluminium cans.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target is dissolved in distilled water and is acidified with hydrochloric acid, HCl 0.5 <u>M</u>. It is then passed through an activated acid alumina-column at the standard speed of $12 \text{ cm}^3/\text{cm}^2$ min.

After the column is washed with distilled water, $^{35}\mathrm{S}$ is eluted with ammoniac 1 M.

For the production of $H_2^{35}SO_4$, the ammoniacal solution is neutralized with HCl to obtain a pH of about 1 and passed through an Amberlite IR. 120 column. For the production of alkaline sulphates the solution eluted is neutralized with alkaline hydroxides.

For the production of $Na_2^{35}S$, $Na_2^{35}SO_4$ is reduced with a mixture of H_3PO_4 and $SnCl_2$.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radiochemical purity is controlled by paper radiochromatography.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Prepared to order.

PRODUCTION OF ELEMENTARY 35S

1. GENERAL

 $^{\cdot}$ The production of elementary ^{35}S is based on the (n,p) reaction of chlorine targets. The separation of ^{35}S is carried out by trichloroethylene extraction.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE [4]

Irradiation

Target:	KCl dried and degassed.
Flux:	$1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Time of irradiation:	400 h.
Container:	$\label{eq:Quartz} \textbf{Quartz} \text{ ampoule sealed in vacuum}.$

Chemical treatment

After irradiation the target of KCl is heated for 4 h at 500° C. The target is then refluxed with trichloroethylene for 6 h in a Soxhlet apparatus.

 $^{32}\mathrm{P}$ is removed by washing the trichloroethylene solution with HCl 0.1 $\underline{\mathrm{N}}.$

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The radiochemical purity is controlled by paper radiochromatography.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Prepared to order.

REFERENCES

- VELJKOVIČ, S.R., MILENKOVIČ, S.M., "Concentration of carrier-free radioisotopes by adsorption on alumina", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 20 (1958) 45.
- [2] BEBEŞEL, P., CHIOTAN, C., RENŢEA, C., Rev. Chim. 11 (1963).
- [3] CÍFKA, J., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isotopes 13 3 (1963).
- [4] CHIOTAN, C., ZAMFIR, I., SZABO, M., Rev. Roumaine de Chim. T-9 3 (1964) 191.

JUNTA DE ENERGIA NUCLEAR, MADRID, SPAIN

1. GENERAL

The production process of ${}^{35}S$ is based on the irradiation of a potassium chloride target and co-precipitation on barium chromate. Carrier-free ${}^{35}SO_2$ is then distilled in the presence of phosphoric acid and powdered copper [1].

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Ir**r**adiation

Target:	60 g potassium chloride, of analytical-grade quality.
Container:	Leak-tight aluminium container, $24 imes 26$ mm diam.
Flux:	$5 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s}$ (JEN-1).
Irradiation time:	Depends on requirements; at least 8 weeks; possible yield
	is 250 mCi.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

The ${}^{32}S$ is co-precipitated from the irradiated potassium chloride, then ${}^{35}SO_2$ is distilled. The apparatus for the production of ${}^{35}S$ is shown in Figs. 1 and 1a. The process comprises the following steps.

Dissolve 30 g irradiated KCl in 150 ml of distilled water in the vessel(A). The solution is heated with the epiradiators EP-1 and EP-2, while air is injected under pressure through the filter (P) to stir the solution.



FIG.1. Apparatus for the production of ^{35}S



FIG.1a. Apparatus for the production of ^{35}S

409

Add 5 g BaCl₂ and 0.3 ml 5% K_2 CrO₄ aqueous solution while the solution is still being stirred. Heat the solution for 15 min, then allow to cool for 45 min. Filter the solution under vacuum.

Wash the precipitate three times with 50 ml 96% ethyl alcohol. Apply vacuum for 15 min to remove alcohol.

Replace the collector (B) by an identical fresh, clean and dry collector. The BaCrO₄ precipitate is washed with 10 ml of a warm $3 \ N \ K_2 CrO_3$ solution, applying compressed air for the stirring. Filter the solution after 5 min under vacuum, and wash the precipitate with 20 ml distilled water. Repeat this operation three times. The solution, with a final volume of 90 ml, is slowly decanted into the flask (C) which contains the reducing mixture.

Preparation of the reducing mixture. Before the above solution is added, 15 ml of phosphoric acid (85%) and 5 g of powdered copper are heated in the flask (C) until the fumes of phosphorous pentoxide appear.

Heat the flask (C) containing the reducing mixture and 90 ml of the active solution to expel some of the water and all of the CO_2 . Flask (C) is then connected to the collector (F), and the distillation is continued under a weak nitrogen stream; 20 ml of 1% hydrogen peroxide are placed in the collector (F). When the fuming of phosphorous pentoxide begins in the flask (C), stop heating, but continue the nitrogen stream until complete cooling of the flask is reached.

Any excess of hydrogen peroxide present in the solution in the collector (F) is removed by boiling. Add hydrochloric acid to bring the solution to 0.1 N.

If ${}^{35}S$ is collected in the form of sulphite, 20 ml 1 N NaOH are placed in the collector (F).

If an isotonic solution of pH 7 is desired, the hydrochloric acid solution is neutralized with a suitable buffer such as that used for ^{32}P .

Apparatus

The operation is carried out in an ordinary glove box where the equipment shown in Figs. 1 and 1a is contained.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Determination of chemical purity is made by emission spectrography as in the case of ^{32}P preparations. Radioactive purity is also determined as for ^{32}P . The chemical form of the product is determined by electrophoresis [2] by the technique described in the section on $^{32}P.^{1}$ Autoradiography of the paper subjected to electrophoresis is performed by the Duncombe technique [3].

Measurement of activity is made by comparison with standards. For a product of relatively high activity, the ionization chamber described in the section on ${}^{32}P^{1}$ is used. For activities of less than 1 mCi a liquid scintillation counter, an ionization chamber or a Geiger-Müller counter (in the gaseous phase) is employed. The latter two methods are used more frequent-

¹ Provided by the Junta de Energía Nuclear, Madrid.

ly for labelled compounds. An error of less than 10% in the activity measurements is allowed.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

³⁵S-Sulphuric acid solution, carrier-free, non-injectable

Sulphuric acid solution	in 0.1 N HCl meeting the following specifications:				
Chemical purity:	The results of a typical analysis are: Elements				
	not detected (sensitivity 0.2 μ g/ml): As, Cd,				
	Cr, Fe, La, Mn, Ni, Pb, Sn and Te.				
	Elements with a concentration of less than $1 \mu g/ml$:				
	Al, B, Si.				
	Ditto between 0.5 and 10 μ g/ml; Mg.				
	Ditto between 4 and 20 μ g/ml: Ca.				
	Dry residue: less than 0.5 mg/ml .				
Radioactive purity:	35 S content > 99.5%.				
Radiochemical purity:	Sulphuric acid content > 99%.				
Radioactive concentration.	Maximum 25 mCi/ml.				

Sodium sulphate - ³⁵S solution, injectable

Neutral (pH 7), isotonic, sterile and pyrogen-free solution of sodium sulphate meeting the following specifications: Chemical purity: See above. Radioactive purity: 35 S content > 99.5%. Radiochemical purity: Sulphate content > 99%. Radioactive concentration: 1-10 mCi/ml. Sterilization is carried out in an autoclave at Sterility: 120°C for about 1 h. Analysis of pyrogens: See the Section on ${}^{32}P_{\cdot}^{1}$ Adjusted by means of conductimetric measure-Isotonicity: ments.

PATENT

Sulphur-35

Spanish patent No. 278. 692: ORTEGA, J., Technique for the preparation of carrier-free radioactive sulphate and sulphite (^{35}S) .

REFERENCES

[1] ORTEGA, J., NUÑEZ, S., Int. J. appl. Rad. Isotopes 15 (1964) 43.

[2] DEL VAL, M., CARNICERO, I., ORTIN, N., GAMBOA, J.M., An. Soc. esp. Fis. Quím. 59 B (1963) 755.

[3] DUNCOMBE, W.G., Rev. sci. Inst., 19 (1948) 441.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Sulphur-35 is produced by the (n, p) reaction in a KCl target, ${}^{35}Cl(n,p){}^{35}S$. Radioisotopes of potassium and chlorine are also produced in the target by the (n, γ) reaction, and are removed by ion exchange and distillation. Processed carrier-free or high-specific-activity ${}^{35}S$ is prepared as either H₂SO₄ in HCl solution, BaS in Ba(OH)₂ solution, or as elementary sulphur in benzene.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target: KCl.

Chemical treatment Apparatus

Glass distillation equipment (2 to 3 litres), an ion exchange column, tube furnace assembly, and conversion equipment (Figs. 1-4) are used in processing. Processing facility and shielding required: hot hood.



FIG.1. Glass distillation equipment with reflux condenser



FIG.2. Tube furnace assembly with scrubber



FIG.3. Sulphur-35 barium-sulphide conversion equipment

Processing of $^{35}\mathrm{S}$ for $\mathrm{H}_2\,\mathrm{SO}_4$ form

The irradiated target is dissolved in 200 ml of distilled water and diluted to 1 litre. An ion exchange column is prepared with Amberlite IR-120 resin by washing the column with 6 <u>M</u> HCl followed by a water wash until the column effluent is neutral. The column should contain $\sim 50\%$ excess capacity. The KCl-H₂O solution is transferred into the head flask and the



FIG.4. Elemental ³⁵S conversion equipment

column flow rate is adjusted to ~1 ml/min. Potassium ions remain on the column; 36 Cl and 35 S pass through the column as H_2 SO₄ and HCl. The column is washed with 1 litre of water to ensure complete removal of 36 Cl and 35 S. Effluents are distilled, and distillates discarded until HCl appears (in distillate). The removal of HCl is determined by testing with litmus paper. After acid appears in distillate, distillation is continued until no more than 0.5 ml remains in the flask. Removal of the last traces of HCl without loss of H_2 SO₄ is accomplished in this step. The flask, therefore, is not permitted to become dry. Sulphur is recovered from the distillation residue after the removal of 36 Cl. About 10 ml of 16 M HNO₃ is added to the boiling solution. This step is repeated three times to remove organic material. About 10 ml of 12 M HCl is added and fumed. This step is repeated three times to remove is adjusted to 50 ml with water.

Processing of ³⁵S for BaS form

Two curies of ³⁵S as H₂SO₄ in HCl are treated with BaCl₂ solution to yield BaSO₄. Barium sulphate is filtered on a fine filter paper and washed with water. The filtrate is discarded. The filter paper containing precipitate is placed in a platinum boat and heated in a quartz tube under a stream of hydrogen for ~ 16 h at red heat. This step converts BaSO₄ to BaS. The platinum boat containing BaS is transferred to a gas-generation flask and sufficient concentrated H_3PO_4 is added to cover the boat. The H_2S generated is swept from the flask with a stream of nitrogen at a flow-rate of $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^3/\text{min}$ into a scrubber containing $Ba(OH)_2$ solution. The system is protected from air at all times to prevent conversion of the sulphide to sulphate or formation of $BaCO_3$ in the scrubber solution. When H_2S generation is complete, as shown by the cessation of bubbles from the platinum boat, the gas generator is swept with nitrogen for an additional hour and the scrubber system is valved off. The solution in the scrubber is held as a storage container for the ³⁵S product, which is eventually packaged in sealed ampoules evacuated and filled under nitrogen atmosphere.

Processing of ³⁵S for elementary sulphur product

Yield: 80%

Barium sulphide is loaded into a reaction flask and enough concentrated H_3PO_4 is added to the reaction flask to cover it. The flask is swept with helium at a flow-rate of ~1 cm³/min. The H_2S generated is transferred to a cold trap maintained at a liquid-nitrogen temperature, where the H_2S is collected. The reaction flask is valved off at the completion of the H_2S generation, and the cold trap isolated. The H_2S gas receiver and warm trap are evacuated to release H_2S to the gas receiver. The residual H_2O and H_3PO_4 remain in the trap. Hydrogen sulphide is recycled.

(Conversion to elementary sulphur is made by decomposition of the H_2S in a glow discharge formed between two platinum electrodes in a low-pressure chamber. A Tesla coil is used as a high-voltage power supply. The chamber is maintained at low pressure by pumping with a high vacuum pump. A cold trap is installed between the pump and chamber to recover H_2S that is not decomposed in the arc chamber. Elementary sulphur collects on the sides of the arc chamber and on the electrodes. Hydrogen sulphide gas collected in the cold trap between the chamber and pump is recycled back to the gas receiver by evacuating the receiver and warming the cold trap.)

The recycle is repeated until all the H_2S is decomposed to elementary sulphur. Elementary sulphur is washed from the arc chamber and electrodes with warm benzene and transferred to a product bottle.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for total solids, molarity of HCl, radiochemical purity, 35 S concentration, nonsulphide sulphur, and molarity of Ba(OH)₂, according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015) procedure No. 9 0733811.

The precision and accuracy of the $^{35}\,{\rm S}$ assay are: Calibration by 4π $\beta-\gamma$ coincidence counter.

Routine assay by liquid scintillation counter.

Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 10%.

Precision, 3%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed ³⁵S in various forms is delivered as stock items, and the specifications of interest are:

Chemical form:	H_2SO_4 in HCl solution.
Acidity:	$\sim 0.1 $ <u>N</u> .
Concentration:	> 1 mCi/ml.
Total solids:	< 1 mg/mCi.
Specific activity:	Carrier-free.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.
³² P:	< 0.1%.

Chemical form:
Basicity:BaS in Ba(OH)2 solution.
 ~ 0.15 N.Concentration:> 5 mCi/ml.Specific activity: \cong 10 000 mCi/g of S.Radiochemical purity:> 99%. 32 P:Negligible.Nonsulphide S:< 30%.</td>

Chemical form;Elementary sulphur in benzene solution.Concentration:> 2 mCi/ml.Specific activity:> 1000 mCi/g of S.Radiochemical purity:> 99%.

BORIS KIDRIČ INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR SCIENCES, VINČA, YUGOSLAVIA

CARRIER-FREE SULPHUR-35

1. GENERAL

A new procedure for the production of carrier-free ${}^{35}S$ has been developed [1, 2]. The method is based on the separation of ${}^{35}S$, ${}^{32}P$ and ${}^{36}Cl$ on alumina from irradiated KCl, ${}^{35}Cl(n,p){}^{35}S$ reaction. Al₂O₃ has proved to be very suitable for the separation of ${}^{35}S$ of high specific activity. The method has the following advantages: small amounts of the adsorbent are required; work is possible with highly concentrated solutions; volumes of the solutions are small, so the time required for treating the irradiated target is also short, not longer than 2 or 3 hours; considerable changes of the working conditions do not affect the yield, nor the chemical and the radiochemical purities; as distinct from some other procedures, work is carried out only with two phases, avoiding the gaseous phase; high chemical and radiochemical purity of the product is achieved.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Irradiations are made under the following conditions:Target:20 g reagent-grade KCl in tablet form. The formation of isotopes ${}^{32}P$ and ${}^{36}Cl$ by the reactions; ${}^{35}Cl(n, \alpha){}^{32}P$ and ${}^{35}Cl(n, \gamma){}^{36}Cl$ should be noted. Other isotopes formed: ${}^{42}K$ and ${}^{38}Cl$ are practically allowed to decay by cooling the irradiated sample for 7-10 d.Fast flux:About $1-2 \times 10^{12}$ n/cm² s (RA reactor, Vinča).

416

Irradiation time: 4-5 d. Irradiation containers: Cylindrical, aluminium cans with screwed covers: internal length - 70 mm; internal diam. - 25 mm.

Chemical treatment

Separation method

A solution of irradiated KCl in 0.5 <u>N</u> HCl is passed through an acid activated alumina column on which only ${}^{35}S$, ${}^{32}P$ and part of ${}^{36}Cl$ are adsorbed. The column is then washed with 0.5 <u>N</u> HCl to remove ${}^{36}Cl$ by isotopic exchange; ${}^{35}S$ is eluted from the column with 0.2 <u>N</u> NH₄OH, the eluent acidified with 0.2 <u>N</u> HCl and finally allowed to pass through a cation-exchange column to remove NH₄ and some other impurities from the solution. By this procedure $H_2 {}^{35}SO_4$ in a 0.05 <u>N</u> solution of HCl is obtained. The high selectivity of alumina makes possible the separation of curie activities of ${}^{35}S$ from irradiated KCl with radiochemical purity better than 99.9% [3].

Apparatus

The procedure is carried out in an apparatus made of Pyrex glass (Fig. 1). The reduced pressure required in the apparatus is maintained by



Α	Flask for potassium chloride dissolution
B,F,D,I	Vessels for solution transfer
С	Al_2O_3 column
G	Dowex-50 column
J	Burette
0,N	Vacuum systems
K,L,M	Vessels for reagent addition
E	Vessel for effluents from $A1_2O_3$ column
н	Vessel for effluents from Dowex-50 column
FIG. 1.	Apparatus for the production of carrier-free ³

35 S

a small diaphragm pump. Filters of activated carbon and soda-lime are placed between the apparatus and the pump. The apparatus is connected to the diaphragm pump over a manostat.

A reduced pressure of about 15 cm Hg for liquid transfer is maintained in system O. System N is used for maintaining a constant reduced pressure in the apparatus (about 10 mm H₂O). The apparatus is placed in a protective box made of 10-mm-thick Plexiglass. During work a reduced pressure of about 20 mm H₂O is maintained in this box. This is achieved by a tornadotype aspirator. The ventilation system of the box is connected over an absolute filter to the main ventilation system.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactive measurement of the solution. Radioactive control - check the absence of β and γ impurities.

Chemical purity control.

Radiochemical purity control. Only if the material is used for medical purposes.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: $YVS35/1x - {}^{35}S$ sulphuric acid solution, carrier-free, non-injectable

A solution of sulphuric acid $H_2^{35}SO_4$ in about 0.05 <u>N</u> HCl, meeting the following specifications:

Radioactive concentration:	Measured to within 10%: 40 mCi/ml.
Radioactive purity:	³⁵ S content more than 99.9%.
Radiochemical purity:	Sulphuric acid content more than 99.9%.
Specific activity:	1 Ci/mg S.

REFERENCES

- VELJKOVIČ, S., MILENKOVIČ, S.M., "Concentration of carrier-free radioisotopes by adsorption on alumina", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 20 (1958) 45.
- [2] MILENKOVIČ, S., DIZDAR, Z., SERVIAN, I.J., Bull. Boris Kidrič Inst. Nucl. Sci. 12 (1961) 81.
- [3] MILENKOVIČ, S., TEOFILOVSKI, Č., DIZDAR, Z., BIRČANIN, Lj., Bull. Boris Kidrič Inst. Nucl. Sci. 12 (1961) 89.

NUCLEAR DATA

1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES

1.1. Half-life

64.3 h

1.2. Type of decay and energy (MeV)

Pure beta emitter beta (β^{-}) 2.27 (100%)

1.3. Decay scheme



2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

Reaction	Abundance of target nuclide	Cross- section (barn)	Activity per g of element at 10 ¹² n/cm ² s (mCi)			Side reactions
			24 h	7 d	saturation	
⁸⁹ Υ(n,γ) ⁹⁰ Υ ·	100%	1.3	53	192	230	None

For nuclear data see [1].

⁹⁰Y can also be produced via ⁹⁰Sr by uranium fission: $U(n, f) \rightarrow {}^{90}Sr \xrightarrow{28 \text{ yr}} {}^{90}Y$. Fission yield: 5.9%.

3. APPLICATIONS

Yttrium-90 has found application in solutions, suspensions and in solid form. A brief survey of published applications is given below.

3.1. Medicine

Yttrium-90 is widely used in medical applications, mostly as seeds or rods of yttrium oxide, Y_2O_3 , as carrier-free solutions in nitric, citric or hydrochloric acid or in colloidal suspensions [2-10, 17-25, 31, 38].

3.2. Biological research [11, 12, 16, 26].

3.3. Tracer applications [15].

3.4. Radiography [13, 14].

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External radiation

Yttrium-90 is a pure β -emitter. The maximum range of the 2.27 MeV β -ray is about 1100 mg/cm². The thickness of shielding required to stop the β -radiation completely is: copper 1.3 mm, Pyrex glass 5 mm, Perspex 9 mm or water 11 mm. Some remote-handling equipment, e.g. short tongs or forceps, should be used always, even for handling small activities, to avoid high local β doses.

Bremsstrahlung are formed in the shielding material from the retardation of β -particles. The bremsstrahlung become significant when handling large amounts (more than 100 mCi) of yttrium-90. The necessary lead shield thickness to reduce the ⁹⁰Y bremsstrahlung by a factor of 10 is about 2.1 cm [41].

4.2. Internal radiation

Yttrium-90, together with its "parent" isotope strontium-90, has been classified as a class 1, very high toxicity nuclide [36]. Yttrium-90 alone, arising from thermal neutron irradiation of yttrium oxide, has not been included in the Classification List in [36]; [42] classifies yttrium-90 in the medium toxicity group, lower sub-group B.

The biological excretion of yttrium-90 is too slow, 38.3 yr [40] to be significant compared to the radioactive decay.

4.3. Decontamination

The radionuclide yttrium-90 represents no special decontamination problem. It is effectively removed from working surfaces, benches, etc. with dilute mineral acid (~ 0.002 <u>N</u>) or detergent solutions. Detailed instructions for decontamination of personnel, equipment and working surfaces are given in [36].

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

5.1. Irradiation of yttrium compounds

The usual target material for 90 Y production is Y₂O₃. For the preparation of YCl solutions the irradiated oxide is dissolved in hydrochloric acid and converted to the chloride. Excess of acid is evaporated, and the residual chloride is taken up in distilled water.

Yttrium oxide or hydroxide pellets, seeds, rods, etc. are pressed and sintered beforehand and irradiated in that form for use.

Colloidal forms of the isotope may be prepared from yttrium chloride solutions [26, 37].

5.2. Preparation from strontium-90

Strontium-90 is separated from fission products and yttrium-90, the "daughter" isotope, is formed by decay; ⁹⁰Y can be separated from the "parent" isotope by precipitation of the Sr from a nitric acid solution [28, 31, 32]. The yttrium is recovered from the filtrate.

Other methods for the separation of Sr and Y are chromatography and electrolysis [31,32]. A so-called "cow" system is prepared by fixing the strontium ions to a cation exchange resin bed and eluting this with a solution which selectively releases the yttrium ions produced by decay [33,35].

6. RADIOASSAY

See section 6 of Part I.

REFERENCES

- [1] HUGHES, D.J., SCHWARTZ, R.B., Neutron cross sections, BNL 325, 2nd ed.
- [2] DUGGAN, M.H., et al., "The technique and dosimetry of pituitary implantation using sources of yttrium-90", Production and Use of Short-lived Radioisotopes from Reactors II, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 213-23.
- [3] SCHWIEGK, H., TURBA, F. (Eds), Künstliche Radioaktive Isotope in Physiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Göttingen, Heidelberg (1961).
- [4] FORREST, A.P.M., et al., Br. J. Surg. 47 (1959) 61.
- [5] NOTTER, G., WALINDER, G., Dose measurements of yttrium-90 beads for elimination of the hypophysis, Strahlentherapie 110 (1959) 95.
- [6] FELLINGER, K., VETTER, H. (Eds), Radioaktive Isotope in Klinik und Forschung III. Vorträge am Gasteiner Internationalen Symposium 1958, Urban & Schwarzenberg, Munich, Berlin (1958).
- [7] PACK, G.T., ARIEL, I.M. (Eds), Treatment of Cancer and Allied Diseases, Paul B. Hoeber Inc., New York, 2nd ed., 1 (1958).
- [8] MOSELEY, R. D., et al., Transphenoidal destruction of the hypophysis with radioactive yttrium, Am. J. Roentg. 82 (Oct. 1959) 604.
- [9] TALAIRACH, J., et al., Therapeutic Use of Radioisotopes, 2nd Int. Congr. neurol. Surgery, Excerpta Medica Foundation, Amsterdam, Milan, London, New York (1962) E5.
- [10] SCHEER, K.E., Medical treatment of pleural and peritoneal carcinoses. Radioactive yttrium as a radiation source for pleural and peritoneal application, Strahlentherapie 101 (Oct. 1956) 283.

[11] FREY, E., Experimental study of interstitial therapy with yttrium-90 rods, Oncologia 13 (1960) 25.

- [12] HOLMGREN, U., NOTTER, G., A technique for destruction of the pineal body using yttrium-90 spheres, Nature 189 (March 1961) 773.
- [13] KEREIAKES, J. G., KREBS, A. T., Technical radiography with beta-emitting radioisotopes, AMRL-180 (1955).
- [14] KEREIAKES, J.G., KREBS, A.T., X-radiography with beta-emitting isotopes, AMRL-173 (1954).
- [15] BERRY, P.F., Radioactive isotopes, Br. Pwr Engng <u>3</u> 4 (1961) 40.
- [16] JACOBSON, L.O. (Ed.), Semiannual Report to the Atomic Energy Commission, Argonne Cancer Research Hospital, Chicago, ACRH-3 (1955).
- [17] MIYAGAWA, M., et al., Studies on the clinical application of Y⁹⁰(Y⁹⁰Cl₃), AEC-tr-4482 (1961) 1161.
- [18] EINHORN, J., LARSSON, L.G., RAGNHULT, I., Radioactive yttrium as a possible adjunct in the treatment of papillomatosis of the urinary bladder, Acta radiol. 43 (1955) 298.
- [19] MIYAKAWA, T., YOSHIZAWA, Y., NAGATSUKA, A., "Studies of the clinical application of colloidal yttrium", Radioaktive Isotope in Klinik und Forschung, Urban & Schwarzenberg, Munich, Berlin <u>4</u> (1960) 93.
- [20] MIYAKAWA, T., YOSHIZAWA, Y., Proc. Japan Conf. Radioisotopes 4 (1961) 873.
- [21] GREENBERG, J., et al., Therapy of Polycythemia Vera with radio-yttrium (Y⁹⁰), J. nucl. Med. <u>3</u> (Jan. 1962) 18.
- [22] GREENBERG, J., et al., Therapy of multiple myeloma with radio-yttrium, J. Lab. clin. Med. (June 1962) 898.
- [23] YOUNG SONG KIM et al., The use of radiating microspheres in the treatment of experimental and human malignancy, Surgery 52 (July 1962) 220.
- [24] WALTER, J., Br. med. J. (Oct. 1962) 1282.
- [25] WALTER, J., JONES, J.C., FISHER, M., Br. J. Radiol. 34 (1959) 337.
- [26] SPEER, R. J., HILL, J. M., DENTON, A. D., Jr., Colloidal yttrium hydroxide-Y⁹⁰. Preparation and tissue distribution following I.V. administration, Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med. 106 (1961) 444.
- [27] SMITH, E.H., Isotopic Power Sources, Property and Processes Review, Martin Co. Nuclear Div. Baltimore, USA MND-P-2581-III, Part I (1961).
- [28] SALUTSKY, M.L., KIRBY, H.W., Preparation of carrier-free yttrium-90, MLM-938 (1954).
- [29] KIBA, T., OHASHI, S., MINABE, T., Preparation of carrier-free yttrium-90, Bul. chem. Soc. Japan 28 (1955) 443.
- [30] DYRSSEN, D., Separation of strontium-90 and yttrium-90 and the preparation of carrier-free yttrium-90, Acta chem. scand. 11 (1957) 1277.
- [31] MOSELEY, R. D., et al., "Trans-sphenoidal hypophyseal destruction with radioactive yttrium", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958) 399.
- [32] RUDENKO, N.P., Préparation de l'yttrium 90 sans entraîneur, a l'état de pureté radiochimique, Rapport CEA-tr-R-1339 (1959).
- [33] STANG, L.G., Jr., Manual of Isotope Production Processes in Use at Brookhaven National Laboratory, BNL-864 (T-347) (1964).
- [34] STANG, L.G., Jr., BNL-6407 (1962).
- [35] NIEMANN, E., FRUEHAUF, K., Gewinnung und Reinheitspr
 üfung von tr
 ägerfreiem ⁹⁰Y, Radiochim. Acta 1 (Jan. 1963) 55.
- [36] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st. ed. with Rev. App. Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [37] COOK, G.B., et al., Strahlentherapie 38 Sonderbände (1958) 348.
- [38] LAFAVE, J. W., et al. Y⁹⁰-Tagged microspheres in adjuvant tumor therapy, Surgery 53 (June 1963) 778.
- [39] VON GUNTEN, H.R., et al., The preparation of Y90 for therapeutic application, Nucl. Med. 3 (1963) 417.
- [40] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations, ICRP Publication 2, Pergamon Press, London (1959).
- [41] STEIGELMANN, W.H., Radioisotope Shielding Design Manual, NYO-10721 (July 1963).
- [42] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, A Basic Toxicity Classification of Radionuclides, Technical Reports Series No. 15, IAEA Vienna (1963) 39 pp.
PROCEDURES

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT, TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Yttrium-90 is produced by the neutron irradiation of pure Y_2O_3 , and is supplied in the form of yttrium chloride in hydrochloric acid solution. Carrier-free ⁹⁰Y can be separated from its parent ⁹⁰Sr, which is extracted from fission products.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Spec-pure Y_2O_3 . 25-50 mg in type "C" can (cold-welded
	2 S aluminium can, 44 mm high and 22 mm diam.)
Flux:	$1 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$
Irradiation period:	1 week.

Chemical treatment

After irradiation, the can is opened and the yttrium oxide powder is tranferred into a two-necked 250-ml flask. Excess of 2-3 hydrochloric acid is added and the contents of the flask are boiled till complete dissolution of the oxide; the excess acid is distilled off. After cooling, the 90 Y activity is leached out with dilute hydrochloric acid and transferred into a stock bottle.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Activity assay is done by absolute beta counting.

Radiochemical purity is determined by taking a beta absorption spectrum in aluminium and finding out the range of the beta particles.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity:	1-2 Ci/g.		
Chemical form:	YCl ₃ in HCl solution.		
Radioactive concentration:	> 10 mCi/ml.		
Radioactive purity:	> 99%.		

JAPAN ATOMIC ENERGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, TOKAI, IBARAKI, JAPAN

1. GENERAL

The production process is based on the irradiation of yttrium oxide target and dissolution in hydrochloric acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	4.0 g Johnson Matthey spec-pure yttrium oxide (Y_2O_3)
	for JRR-1;
	1.0 g for JRR-2.
Container:	Placed in the polyethylene bottle, then in the polyethylene
	capsure.
Flux:	$\sim 3 \times 10^{11} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s}$ (JRR-1).
	$\sim 2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s (JRR-2)}.$
Irradiation time:	10 h (5 h \times 2 d) for JRR-1;
	20 min for JRR-2.

Chemical treatment

The irradiated target is dissolved in 6 \underline{N} HCl by heating, evaporated to dryness, then redissolved in 1 N HCl. The apparatus is shown in Fig.1.

١,



A. Electric polyethylene capsule cutter

- B. Dissolving vessel
- C. Reagent feed pipes
- E. Remote pipetter for dispensing
- F. Turret of bottles

FIG.1. Arrangement of the apparatus for 90 Y production

Cut the inner capsule by the electric cutter (a).

Place the target in the dissolving vessel (b), add 5 ml 6 \underline{N} HCl, fix the cap, dissolve by heating, and evaporate to dryness.

Add the following reagent to redissolve the residue: 10 ml 1 N HCl/g of Y_2O_3 for irradiation in JRR-1. 20 ml 1 N HCl/g of Y_2O_3 for irradiation in JRR-2.

The product solution is dispensed in the sample bottles.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The routine assay is carried out with a $2\pi \beta$ ionization chamber. The calibration is made with a $4\pi \beta$ counter. The heavy metal content is determined by comparison of the colour development with a lead standard by the addition of hydrogen sulphide.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Chemical form:	YCl_3 in HCl solution; acidity ~1 <u>N</u> .
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.
Specific activity:	\sim 3.2 mCi/g of Y (JRR-1 product).
	\sim 14 mCi/g of Y (JRR-2 product).
Concentration:	$\sim 0.2 \text{ mCi/ml}$ (JRR-1 product).
	\sim 1.0 mCi/ml (JRR-2 product).

INSTITUTT FOR ATOMENERGI, KJELLER, NORWAY

1. GENERAL

Yttrium-90 is produced by irradiating yttrium oxide in a thermal neutron flux 89 Y(n, γ) 90 Y. The oxide is dissolved and converted to yttrium chloride.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	200 mg Y ₂ O ₃ , spectral pure, Johnson, Matthey	& Co.
Time of irradiation:	4 d.	
Container:	Aluminium can with a sealed polyethylene inner tainer.	con-
Flux:	$\sim 2 \times 10^{12} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{ s.}$	
Side reactions:	None.	

Chemical treatment

The oxide is dissolved in 1 ml concentrated hydrochloric acid. The solution is evaporated to dryness, and the residue is dissolved in water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Radioactivity, Geiger-Müller counting. Isotopic purity control, β -absorption analysis, γ -spectrography. pH. Chemical purity control, emission spectrography.

.4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

YT-yttrium chloride in aqueous solution.Radioactive concentration:1.5 mCi/ml.Specific activity:150 mCi/g Y.pH:5-7.Chemical purity:Metals, spectrographically determined (except Y),
less than $10 \mu g/ml.$

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Yttrium as Y_2O_3 is irradiated in a thermal neutron flux, ⁸⁹Y $(n,\gamma)^{90}$ Y. The oxide is converted to the chloride.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation .

Target material:	Johnson Matthey spec-pure yttrium oxide.
Amount:	Up to 1 g.
Irradiation time:	1 week.
Container:	Primary and secondary screw-top Al containers.
Flux:	$10^{12} n/cm^2 s.$
Side reactions:	None.

Chemical treatment

The target is dissolved in 6 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid, evaporated to dryness and taken up in water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Impurities by $\gamma\text{-spectrometry;}\,$ assay against ^{90}Sr standard by Geiger counting; pH by Capillator.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Yttrium-90 is produced by fission and is separated from 90 Sr by solvent extraction using di-2(ethylhexyl)phosphoric acid, 90 Sr $\frac{\beta^{-}}{28 \text{ vr}}$, 90 Y. Fission yield: 5.9%. The isotope is further purified by successive washes and separations with HCl, dried, fumed with concentrated HNO₃ to destroy organic material, and prepared as YCl₃ in HCl solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

Processing facility and shielding required: manipulator cell, 6-in. lead equivalent.

Processing

Twenty-five millilitres of di-2(ethylhexyl)phosphoric acid (HDEHP) (10 ml HDEHP and 15 ml Amsco 120) is equilibrated with 25 ml of 0.1 M HCl by manually shaking them together in a separatory funnel. This step adjusts the acidity of HDEHP to $\sim 0.1 \text{ M}$ HCl. The organic phase is saved and the aqueous phase discarded. A total of 25 ml of 0.1 M HCl solution of 90Sr-90Y is added to the 25 ml of organic phase in a separatory funnel. The mixture is manually shaken, then for ~ 5 min the phases are allowed to settle out. Yttrium-90 extracts into the organic phase and ⁹⁰Sr into the aqueous phase. The bottom phase (aqueous) is drained into a clean bottle and saved. The organic phase, which contains 90Y and some 90Sr contamination, is washed four times with 25 ml of 0.1 M HCl each time and the funnel shaken. After settling, the aqueous phase is strained off each time and saved. Washing removes most of the ⁹⁰Sr contaminant. (The bottle containing the original separation and all washes is saved; this material is used two to three weeks later for another 90 Y separation after 90 Y appears again.) A total of 25 ml of 6 M HCl is added to the funnel and shaken for \sim 5 min. The aqueous phase is drawn off after the phases settle. The aqueous solution contains most of the 90 Y. This step is repeated to remove the remaining 90 Y. The aqueous solution is boiled to dryness to remove acid, and the volume is adjusted to 25 ml with 0.1 M HCl to reduce the 90 Sr contaminant even more, extractions being repeated in new glassware. The resulting residue is fumed twice with 25 ml of concentrated HNO3 to destroy organic matter, and twice with concentrated HCl to convert 90 Y to 90 YCl₃ and to remove HNO₃. The volume is adjusted to 25 ml with 1.0 M HCl.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

A sample is analysed for 90 Y and 90 Sr concentrations, total solids, molarity of HCl, and heavy metals, according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 90733960.

The precision and accuracy of the ⁹⁰Y assay are:

Calibration by $4\pi\beta$ - γ coincidence counter.

Routine assay by windowless 2π proportional counter.

Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine shipment, 5%.

Precision, 3%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, carrier-free 90 Y is delivered in the form of YCl₃ in HCl solution on request. Other specifications of interest are:

Acidity: $1 \ \underline{N} \pm 50\%$.Concentration:> 5 mCi/ml.Total solids:< 1 mg/mCi.</td>Radiochemical purity:99.9%.

ZINC-65

NUCLEAR DATA

- 1. NUCLEAR PROPERTIES
- 1.1. Half-life

245 d

1.2. Type of decay, and energy (MeV)

beta (β ⁺) 0.326	(1.7%)	gamma	0.51	from β^+
			1.11	(45%)
EC	(98.3%)			

1.3. Decay scheme



Reaction	Isotopic abundance of the nuclide (%)	Cross- section (barn)	Act 2 1 week	tivity of ele at 10 ¹² n/ci (mCi/g) 4 weeks	ement m ² s saturation	Secondary reactions and half-life of nuclide formed
⁶⁴ 30 ² л(n,γ) ⁶⁵ 3 ² л	48.89	0.47 (th)	1.2	3.2	58.3	$\begin{cases} \frac{64}{30}Zn(n, p)\frac{64}{29}Cu \\ (T = 12.8 h) \\ \sigma = 35 mbarn \\ \frac{56}{30}Zn(n, \alpha)\frac{53}{28}Ni \\ (T = 120 yr) \\ \text{isot. abund. : } 27.8\% \\ \sigma = 0.02 mbarn \\ \frac{67}{30}Zn(n, p)\frac{67}{29}Cu \\ (T = 61.6 h) \\ \text{isot. abund. : } 4.11\% \\ \sigma = 43 mbarn \\ \frac{56}{30}Zn(n, \gamma)\frac{69}{30}Zn \\ (T = 13.9 h) \\ \text{isot. abund. : } 18.57\% \\ \sigma = 0.097 barn \\ \frac{69}{30}Zn(n, \gamma)\frac{69}{30}Zn \\ (T = 55 min) \end{cases}$
						$\sigma = 1$ barn ${}^{69}_{30} Zn(n, \alpha){}^{65}_{28} Ni$ (T = 2. 56 h) ${}^{70}_{30} Zn(n, \gamma){}^{71}_{30} TZn$ isot. abund. : 0. 62%

2. NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND PRODUCTION

(th): for thermal neutrons. For nuclear data see Refs. [1,2].

The target irradiated is usually zinc oxide (ZnO). Zinc-65 of high specific activity can be obtained using the Szilard-Chalmers reaction on zinc phthalocyanine.

3. APPLICATIONS

3.1. Industrial

Zinc-65 has been used: For measurements of diffusion [3], friction, lubrication [4] and wear [5].

.

In the metallurgy of copper [6].
In geology [7].
In hydrology [8, 9].
Instudying reaction kinetics [10].
In the glass industry [11].
General references on this subject are available [12].

3.2. Medical and biological

The chloride is used in diagnosis:For studying zinc metabolism (absorption and elimination), especially in diabetic studies [13].For labelling red blood cells.In urology, for diagnosing cancer of the prostate [14].Other general works [15] can be consulted.

4. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION

4.1. External exposure

4.1.1. Irradiation doses

The dose delivered by 1 Ci of zinc-65 at a distance of 50 cm is: for 0.511 MeV γ quanta (3.5%) 0.038 rem/h for 1.11 MeV γ quanta (45%) 0.9704 " [16]

4.1.2. Safety measures

The following tenth-thicknesses¹ for lead and ordinary concrete give an idea of the amount of protection needed in handling zinc-65.

	Tenth-thickness (cm)			
	РЪ	Ordinary concrete d = 2, 3		
For a y of 0. 511 MeV	1.4	11.5		
For a y of 1.11 MeV	3.2	17 Ref. [16]		

 $^{^1}$ The tenth-thickness is the thickness of shielding required to reduce the intensity of a γ -radiation of given energy by a factor of ten.

In practice, the following lead thicknesses are needed to reduce the dose to 1 mR/h at 50 cm:

3.1 cm to handle 10 mCi of ${}^{65}Zn$ 6.3 cm to handle 100 mCi of ${}^{65}Zn$ 9.5 cm to handle 1 Ci of ${}^{65}Zn$.

4.2. Internal irradiation

5

Zinc-65 is classified as a moderately toxic (Class 2) isotope [17]. Its effective half-life, allowing for both radioactive decay and excretory processes, is:

(d)	for			
194	whole body			
13	prostate			
206	bones			
93	kidney			
218	muscle			
66	liver			
23	pancreas			
128	testicles			
74	ovaries			

In the case of internal irradiation (ingestion or inhalation), the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water respectively, for a 40-h exposure, are:

10⁻⁷ μ Ci/cm³ and 3×10⁻³ μ Ci/cm³ (soluble form) 6×10⁻⁸ μ Ci/cm³ and 5×10⁻³ μ Ci/cm³ (insoluble form) [19]

4.3. Decontamination

Except in one or two particular cases, there is no special decontamination method for any given radioisotope. General texts on this subject [20-24] indicate that the following measures are adequate.

4.3.1. Skin

Rapid and repeated washing with good-quality soap, warm water and a soft brush. If this is not sufficient, use can be made of detergents or 5-10% solutions of complexing agents of the EDTA (ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid) type. It is also possible to apply saturated permanganate solutions followed by rinsing with a 5% bisulphite solution to neutralize and remove the stain. Abrasive powders should not be used and the addition of entraining agents has proved disappointing.

If any wounds are contaminated, they must be treated rapidly by allowing them to bleed, washing with water, decontamination as for the skin and sometimes by additional surgical cleaning. 4.3.2. Hair

If the hair is contaminated, it is important not to take a shower, but merely to wash the head. A normal, good-quality shampoo is usually sufficient. If contamination is persistent, the following solutions can be used: paraisopropylorthocresol;

Javandin oil; AC compounded terpene-free lemon; glycerine diacetin; or

benzoic acid.

Contamination is much easier to remove if the hair is not greasy.

4.3.3. Laboratory equipment

Glassware is usually cleaned by steeping and this is mainly a radiochemical problem. The use of a specific entraining agent or solutions of complexing agents gives good results and so do solutions of chromic acid, concentrated nitric acid, ammonium citrate, pentasodium triphosphate or ammonium bifluoride.

5. SUMMARY OF PRODUCTION METHODS

(a) Zinc-65 can be prepared by (n, γ) reaction on metallic zinc [25]; the target is dissolved in dilute hydrochloric acid (1 to 2 M), finishing with 1 M HCl.

(b) To obtain zinc-65 of high specific activity, use is made of the Szilard-Chalmers effect on zinc phthalocyanine. In this case there are two methods of extracting the "recoil zinc":

- By dissolving the irradiated phthalocyanine in concentrated sulphuric acid, followed by reprecipitation of the phthalocyanine by dilution and filtration [26, 27];

- By stirring the phthalocyanine in dilute sulphuric acid (4 \underline{N} H₂SO₄) [28, 29].

The process is followed by filtration and dilution of the 4 \underline{N} sulphuric solution, which is then passed through a resin ion-exchange column to fix the metallic atoms. Elution follows, using 6 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid. After evaporation and taking up with water, zinc chloride is obtained in a hydrochloric acid solution. In this way, enrichment factors of 1000 to 3000 can be obtained.

REFERENCES

- SEELMANN, E. W., PFENNING, G., (co-operation of MÜNZEL, H. and ZUNDEL, G.) Chart of the Nuclides, 2nd ed. Gersbach & Sohn Verlag, Munich (reprint 1963).
- [2] HENRY, R., «Préparation de radioéléments à période courte à l'aide d'un réacteur de recherche» (Use of a research reactor for the preparation of short-lived radioisotopes), Chemistry Research and Chemical Techniques Based on Research Reactors, Technical Reports Series No. 17, IAEA, Vienna (1963) 207-30.

- [3] LAZARUS, D., "Tracer studies of intermetallic diffusion", Proc. 2nd UN Inf. Conf. PUAE <u>20</u> (1958) 108-12.
- [4] LEVEQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la Recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Paris, Chap. 12, 6 (1962) 234, Chap. 12, 6 (1962) 232.
- [5] LEVEQUE, P., «Les applications industrielles des radioéléments» (Industrial applications of radioelements), Association nationale de la Recherche technique, Collection de l'ANRT Eyrolles et Gauthier-Villars, Paris, Chap. 12. 6 (1962) 234, Chap. 12. 6 (1962) 234.
- [6] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N. J., Chap. 16 (1961) 509.
- [7] MANDOL, S., HALEVY, E., NIZ, A., HARPAZ, Y., "Use of radioisotopes in studies of ground water flow. Part I: Laboratory and field experiments on the suitability of various tracers", Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE <u>20</u> (1958) 158-61.
- [8] PAYNE, B.R., CAMERON, J.F., PECKHAN, A.E., THATCHER, L.L., "The role of radioisotope techniques in hydrology", Proc. 3rd UN Int. Conf. PUAE, P/875 (1964).
- [9] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N.J., Chap. 10 (1961) 335.
- [10] SAMARIN, A. M., "The use of artificially radioactive isotopes in the study of the processes of the production of steel and iron", Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 15 (1956) 151.
- [11] KOHL, J., ZEUTNER, R. D., LUKENS, H. R., Radioisotope Applications in Engineering, D. Van Nostrand Co. Inc., Princeton, N. J., Chap. 10 (1961) 334.
- HOURS, R., Les applications industrielles des traceurs radioactifs (Industrial applications of radioactive tracers), Rapport CEA DR/AR/63-I/RH/HLD (Jan. 1963).
 SHEPPARD, C. W., Basic Principles of the Tracer Methods, John Wiley & Sons, New York (1962).
 LEYMONIE, C., Les Traceurs Radioactifs en Métallurgie (Radioactive tracers in metallurgy) (DUNOD, Ed.)
 Paris (1960).
 BROWNELL, L. E., Radiation Uses in Industry and Science, US Govt Printing Office, Washington (1961).
 DETENIATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY ACENCY. Radioactions in Industry Technical Nucleur.

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotope Applications in Industry, Technical Directory IAEA, Vienna (1963) 132 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, "Research with radioisotopes in physics and industry," Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int, UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept. 1957), (EXTERMANN, R. C., Ed.) Pergamon Press, London I (1958).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry, IAEA, Vienna (1962) Vol. I, 542 pp; Vol. II, 554 pp; Vol. III, 633 pp.

- [13] VALLEE, B.L., The metabolic role of zinc, JAMA (10 Nov. 1956) 1053-57.
- [14] BEHRENS, C. F., Atomic Medicine, Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore Chap. 205 (1959).
- [15] OWEN, C. A. Diagnostic Radioisotopes, Blackwell, Oxford; C. T. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. (1959). BEIERWALTES, W. H., JOHNSON, P. C., SOLARI, A. J., Clinical Use of Radioisotopes, W.B. Saunders & Co., Philadelphia (1957).

VEALL, N., VETTER, H., Radioisotope Techniques in Clinical Research and Diagnosis, Butterworths, London (1958).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Uses of Radioisotopes in Animal Biology and the Medical Sciences, Proc. IAEA/FAO/WHO Conf., Mexico City (Nov. 1961) Academic Press, London (1962) Vol. I, 563 pp; Vol. II, 328 pp.

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION, Radiosotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int, UNESCO, Conf., Paris (Sept. 1967) (Extermann, R. C., Ed.) Pergamon Press, London III (1958).

URBAN and SCHWARZENBERG, Radioactive Isotopes in Clinical Practice and Research, Proc. Symp. Bad Gastein (1959) Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich (1960).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. UN Int. Conf. PUAE 10 (1956).

UNITED NATIONS, Proc. 2nd UN Int. Conf. PUAE 26 (1958).

- [16] JOFFRE, H., Les problèmes physiques de la radioprotection (Physical problems in radiological protection), INSTN Saclay, Génie atomique <u>I</u> (1963).
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Safety Series No. 1, 1st ed. with Rev. App., IAEA, Vienna (1962) 100 pp.
- [18] MORGAN, K. Z., Protection against radiation, International Commission on Radiological Protection,

Recommendations, Report of Committee II on Permissible Dose in the Case of Internal Irradiation, Gauthier-Villars, Ed. (1963).

- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection, Safety Series No.9, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 57 pp.
- [20] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, National Bureau of Standards, Control and Removal of Radioactive Contamination in Laboratories, Handbook 48 (1951) 4-17.
- [21] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, 1st ed. with Rev. App., Safety Series No. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1962) 69-76.
- [22] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Health Physics Addendum, Safety Series No. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 79-81 and 82-88.
- [23] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safe Handling of Radioisotopes, Medical Addendum, Safety Series No.3, IAEA, Vienna (1960) 62-74.
- [24] BLATZ, H., Radiation Hygiene Handbook, McGraw Hill Book Co.', New York (1959) 18-15 and 18-23.
- [25] OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes procedures manual, ORNL-3633 (June 1964).
- [26] PAYNE, B.R., "The Szilard-Chalmers reaction in metal phthalocyanine irradiated in a nuclear reactor. (Co, Cu, Zn, Ga)" UNESCO/NS/RIC/15 (1957); Radioisotopes in Scientific Research, Proc. 1st Int. UNESCO Conf., Paris (Sept, 1957) (EXTERMANN, R.C., Ed.) Pergamon Press, London II (1958) 154; Int. J. appl. Radiat. Isotopes 2 3/4 (1957) 184.
- [27] HERR, W., Separation of radioisotopes of Zn, Ga, In, V, Mo, Pd, Os, Ir, Pt in a practically carrier-free form from metallic complexes of phthalocyanine by recoil process in the (n, α) reaction, Z. Naturf. 7b 4 (1952) 201-07.
- [28] COOK, G.B., Szilard-Chalmers reaction in metal phthalocyanines, J. inorg. nucl. Chem. <u>14</u> 3/4 (1960) 301-03.
- [29] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Une installation de préparation de radioéléments par effet Szilard-Chalmers (An installation for preparing radioisotopes by the Szilard-Chalmers effect), Rapport CEA No. 2072 (1961) 20-22.

PROCEDURES

CENTRE D'ETUDES NUCLEAIRES DE SACLAY, FRANCE

1. GENERAL

Formerly, high-specific-activity 65 Zn was prepared [1] by the Szilard-Chalmers effect on zinc phthalocyanine, based on the 64 Zn(n, γ) 65 Zn reaction.

Specific activities as high as those obtained in Szilard-Chalmers processes, and even higher, are now achieved by direct irradiation of a zinc oxide target at a high flux.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	500 mg of zinc oxide (Johnson Matthey).			
Irradiation conditions:	Irradiated for 8 months at 2×10^{13} n/cm ² s or for			
	9 weeks at 7×10^{13} n/cm ² s.			
Yield:	400 mCi are obtained with a specific activity of			
	1 mCi/mg.			

Side reactions:

⁶⁸Zn(n, γ) ^{69*}Zn
$$\frac{I. T.}{14 h}$$
 ⁶⁹Zn (55 min)
⁷⁰Zn(n, γ) ^{71*}Zn $\frac{I. T.}{3 h}$ ⁷¹Zn (2.2 min)

The product is allowed to decay for 8 d to eliminate the ${\rm ^{69}Zn}$ and ${\rm ^{71}Zn}$ formed.

Chemical treatment

Preparation

Five hundred milligrams of zinc oxide are dissolved in 20 ml of hot concentrated hydrochloric acid. The solution is evaporated to one drop and taken up with 20 ml of 1 N hydrochloric acid; 0.2 N hydrochloric acid may also be used for this purpose, followed by neutralization with 0.2 N soda, to pH = 4.5, to obtain the isotope in an isotonic solution for medical purposes.

Apparatus

This consists merely of a dissolving apparatus in two parts: a cylindrical vessel closed in its upper part by a ground joint and a condenser jointed into the first vessel.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Ionization chamber measurements are made of the activity of two samples, the zinc carrier content of which is then determined.

The radiochemical purity is demonstrated by γ spectrometry.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Reference: ⁶⁵ZnS

A hydrochloric acid solution of zinc chloride. Radioactive concentration, measured to within 5%: 10-20 mCi/ml. Specific activity: 200-1000 mCi/g.

1

REFERENCE

[1] DOUIS, M., VALADE, J., Une installation de préparation de radioéléments par effet Szilard-Chalmers, CEA Report No. 2072.

CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

1. GENERAL

Production is based on the thermal-neutron-induced nuclear reaction on zinc metal. Processing consists of the dissolution of irradiated metal in the corresponding acid.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Zinc metal (BDH). Amount depending on th	ne request.
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s.}$	
Time of irradiation:	50 d.	
Container:	Quartz ampoule with ground stopper.	

Chemical treatment

No special separation or purification is carried out; different compounds are produced by dissolving the irradiated metal in the corresponding dilute acid. A cooling period of 6 d is necessary for the elimination of 69m Zn and 71 Zn activities.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The purity of the target is previously checked by routine spectrometric method.

Radiochemical purity is controlled with a multichannel pulse height analyser for each charge.

The pH of the solutions is determined in the usual way by measuring aliquot samples. As the products are not used for medical purposes, no pharmaceutical control is carried out.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity (mCi/g)

Zn	grey powder	~70
ZnCl_2	in aqueous solution	~ 30
ZnSO ₄	in aqueous solution	~15
$Zn(NO_3)_2$	in aqueous solution	~ 20

ATOMIC ENERGY ESTABLISHMENT TROMBAY, BOMBAY, INDIA

1. GENERAL

Zinc-65 is produced by the neutron irradiation of pure ZnO in a nuclear reactor. Other isotopes produced, namely ^{69m}Zn (13.8 h), ^{69}Zn (51 min) are both short-lived and are allowed to decay. Zinc-65 of high specific activity is prepared by Szilard-Chalmers enrichment using the phthalocyanine as the target.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:5 g ZnO (E. Merck G. R. grade) per can type "C" (cold-
welded 2 S aluminium can, 44 mm high and 22 mm diam.)Flux:4-6×1013 n/cm2s.Irradiation period:6 months.

Chemical treatment

After unloading the irradiated can it is cooled for about 2-3 weeks to allow the short-lived activities of zinc to decay. Then the can is cut open and the irradiated ZnO is transferred into a two-necked 250-ml roundbottomed flask fitted with a distillation condenser. Excess of 2-3 <u>N</u> HCl is added and the solution is boiled until the complete dissolution of ZnO. Then the excess acid is removed by distillation. After allowing the flask to cool, the zinc-65 activity is leached out with dilute hydrochloric acid to give a zinc chloride solution.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The activity assay is done by measuring the ion current of a known volume of the stock solution in a calibrated ion-chamber.

The radionuclide is identified by the photo-peak of 65 Zn (1.11 MeV 45%).

The radioactive purity is determined by comparing the gamma-ray spectrum of the test sample with that of the standard spectrum for pure 65 Zn.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Specific activity:	> 50 mCi/g.
Chemical form:	ZnCl ₂ in dilute hydrochloric acid solution.
Concentration:	> 1 mCi/ml.
Radiochemical purity:	> 99%.

INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR RESEARCH, SWIERK NEAR OTWOCK, POLAND

1. GENERAL [1-5]

The production of 65 Zn is based on the (n, γ) reaction of ZnO or Zn target material irradiated with neutron flux in the reactor. For isolation of the radioisotope the target is dissolved in an appropriate solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:	Zinc oxide or zinc amount corresponding to the requirements.		
Flux:	$2 \times 10^{13} \text{ n/cm}^2 \text{s.}$		
Irradiation time:	2-3 months (reactor working 86 h per week at full power).		
Container:	Aluminium capsule closed by welding.		

Chemical treatment

Zinc-65 in the form of inorganic compounds is obtained by dissolution of the irradiated target material in HCl, HNO_3 or H_2SO_4 . The resulting solution is concentrated to a small volume and then diluted with water to the required concentration; the target material is left for 6 d after irradiation for the decay of the short-lived isotopes ^{69m}Zn and ⁷¹Zn.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

The chemical purity of the target material is checked by a routine spectral method.

The radiation purity is controlled by gamma spectrometry.

The activity of the final product is determined by an ionization chamber calibrated with a standard.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Zinc chloride in aqueous solution

Specific activity: 100-500 mCi/g Zn. Radiochemical purity: Not less than 99%.

REFERENCES

HICKS., H.G., The radiochemistry of zinc, Un. of California NAS-NS 3015 (June 1960).
 OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Radioisotopes Procedures Manual, ORNL 3633 (1964).

- [3] CENTRAL INSTITUTE FOR PHYSICS, BUDAPEST, The production of Zn⁶⁵ at Central Institute for Physics, Budapest, Hungary.
- [4] HOURS, R., Les applications industrielles des traceurs radioactifs, Rap. CEA-DR/AR/63-1/RH/HLD 1 (1963).
- [5] VALLEE, B.L., The metabolic role of zinc, JAMA 163 (1956) 1053.

THE RADIOCHEMICAL CENTRE, AMERSHAM, BUCKS., UNITED KINGDOM

1. GENERAL

Metallic zinc is irradiated in a high thermal neutron flux ${}^{64}Zn(n, \gamma){}^{65}Zn$. The metal is converted into chloride in solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target material:	Johnson Matthey spec-pure zinc metal.
Amount:	200 mg.
Irradiation time:	21 d.
Container:	Sealed silica tube primary; aluminium tube secondary.
Flux:	$10^{14} n/cm^2 s.$
Side reactions:	$^{68}Zn(n, \gamma) ^{69m}Zn/^{69}Zn.$
	Product stored for two weeks before use.

└ Chemical treatment

The target is dissolved in 6 \underline{N} hydrochloric acid, evaporated to dryness and taken up in water.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Identity by γ -spectrometry, assay by scintillation count against ¹³⁷Cs reference. pH by Capillator.

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, TENN., UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

1. GENERAL

Zinc-65 is produced by the (n, γ) reaction in a zinc metal target, $^{64}Zn(n, \gamma)^{65}Zn$, and is prepared as $ZnCl_2$ in HCl solution.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Irradiation

Target:1 g zinc metal.Neutron flux: 2×10^{14} n/cm² s.Irradiation time:2.5 yr.Reactor yield:13 Ci.

Chemical treatment

Apparatus

A hot off-gas scrubber unit¹ is used in processing. Processing facility and shielding required: manipulator cell, 4 in. lead equivalent.

Processing

Yield: > 95%.

The irradiated sample is placed in a beaker containing 10 ml of distilled water, and about 10 ml of 1 to 2 M HCl is added. The beaker is placed under the hot off-gas scrubber unit and heated gently until all zinc is dissolved. The volume is adjusted to 50 ml of 1 M HCl for the final product.

3. ASSAY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Samples are analysed for molarity of HCl, total solids, ⁶⁵Zn concentration, and radiochemical purity according to ORNL Master Analytical Manual (TID-7015), procedure No. 90733971.

The precision and accuracy of the ^{65}Zn assay are: Calibration by X ray - γ coincidence counter. Routine assay by ionization chamber and well-type scintillation counter. Estimated limit of error in disintegration-rate concentration of routine

shipment, 5%.

Precision, 2%.

4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FINAL SOLUTION

Processed, high specific activity 65 Zn is delivered in the form of ZnCl₂ in HCl solution as a stock item. Other specifications of interest are: Acidity: 1 N ± 50%.

Concentration:	> 1 mCi/ml.		
Specific activity:	$\approx 500 \text{ mCi/g of Zn}.$		
Radiochemical purity:	99%.		

 $^1\,$ See Fig. 2 of Section on ^{82}Br provided by ORNL, Tenn. , United States of America.

· ·

LIST OF CONSULTANTS

S. AMIEL

Y. COHEN

Soreq Research Establishment Israel Atomic Energy Commission Yavne, Israel

Commissariat à l'énergie atomique Centre d'études nucléaires de Saclay France

J.B. DAHL

C.C. EVANS

R. HENRY

M. DUIS

Institute for Atomic Energy Kjeller, Norway

Commissariat à l'énergie atomique Centre d'études nucléaires de Saclay France

The Radiochemical Centre United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority Amersham, Bucks., United Kingdom

Commissariat à l'énergie atomique Centre d'études nucléaires de Saclay France

Central Research Institute for Physics

The Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences

Institute for Atomic Energy

Hungarian Academy of Sciences

The Nuclear Research Institute

Řež by Prague, Czechoslovakia

Institute of Nuclear Research **Polish Academy of Sciences** Zeran ut. Dorodna 16 Warsaw 9, Poland

Kjeller, Norway

Budapest, Hungary

N. KALTENBORN

I. KISS

K. PANEK

R. PLEJEWSKY

H. HOUTERMANS

International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna I

International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna I

G.E. SWINDELL

Chief Scientific Editor:

C.C. EVANS

The Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, Bucks., United Kingdom

Co-Scientific Editors:

C. HOLLEY International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna I

R. HARA International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna I

LIST OF CONTRIBUTING ORGANIZATIONS

Atomic Energy of Canada, Ltd. Chalk River, Canada

National Tsing Hua University Hsinchu, Taiwan, China

The Nuclear Research Institute Rez, Czechoslovakia

Commissariat à l'énergie atomique Centre d'études nucléaires de Saclay France

Hungarian National Atomic Energy Commission Budapest, Hungary

Atomic Energy Research Establishment Trombay, Bombay, India

Soreq Research Establishment Israel Atomic Energy Commission Yavne, Israel

Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute Tokai, Ibaraki-ken, Japan

Institutt for Atomenergi Kjeller, Norway

Institut de Physique Atomique Académie de la République Populaire Roumaine Bucarest, Romania

Institute of Nuclear Research Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw, Poland

Junta de Energia Nuclear Madrid, Spain

The Radiochemical Centre United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority Amersham, Bucks., United Kingdom

Oak Ridge National Laboratory Oak Ridge, Tenn., United States of America

Brookhaven National Laboratory Upton, L.I., N.Y., United States of America

Boris Kidrič Institute of Nuclear Sciences Vinča, Yugoslavia

IAEA SALES AGENTS

Orders for Agency publications can be placed with your bookseller or any of our sales agents listed below:

A R G E N T I N A Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica Avenida del Libertador General San Martin 8250 Buenos Aires - Suc. 29

AUSTRALIA Hunter Publications, 23 McKillop Street Melbourne, C.1

A USTRIA Georg Fromme & Co. Spengergasse 39 A-1050, Vienna V

BELGIUM Office international de librairie 30, avenue Marnix Brussels 5

BRAZIL Livraria Kosmos Editora Rua do Rosario, 135-137 Rio de Janeiro

Agencia Expoente Oscar M. Silva Rua Xavier de Toledo, 140-1º Andar (Caixa Postal No. 5.614) São Paulo

BYELORUSSIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC See under USSR

CANADA The Queen's Printer Ottawa, Ontario

CHINA (Taiwan) Books and Scientific Supplies Service, Ltd., P.O. Box 83 Taipei CZECHOSLOVAK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

S.N.T.L. Spolena 51 Nové Město Prague 1 DENMARK

Ejnar Munksgaard Ltd. 6 Nörregade Copenhagen K FINLAND Akateeminen Kirjakauppa Keskuskatu 2 Helsinki

FRANCE Office international de documentation et librairie 48, rue Gay-Lussac Paris 5^e

GERMANY, Federal Republic of R. Oldenbourg Rosenheimer Strasse 145 8 Munich 8

HUNGARY Kultura Hungarian Trading Co. for Books and Newspapers P.O.B. 149 Budapest 62

ISRAEL Heiliger and Co. 3 Nathan Strauss Street Jerusalem

ITALY Agenzia Editoriale Internazionale

Organizzazioni Universali (A.E.I.O.U.) Via Meravigli 16 Milan

JAPAN Maruzen Company Ltd. 6, Tori Nichome Nihonbashi (P.O. Box 605) Tokyo Central

MEXICO Libraria Internacional Av. Sonora 206 Mexico 11, D.F.

NETHERLANDS N.V. Martinus Nijhoff Lange Voorhout 9 The Hague

NEW ZEALAND Whitcombe & Tombs, Ltd. G.P.O. Box 1894 Wellington, C.1 NORWAY Johan Grundt Tanum Kari Johans gate 43 Oslo

- PAKISTAN Karachi Education Society Haroon Chambers South Napier Road (P.O. Box No. 4866) Karachi 2
- POLAND Ośrodek Rozpowszechniana Wydawnictw Naukowych Polska Akademia Nauk Pałac Kultury i Nauki Warsaw

ROMANIA Cartimex Rue A. Briand 14-18 Bucarest

- SOUTH AFRICA Van Schaik's Bookstore (Pty) Ltd. Libri Building Church Street (P.O. Box 724) Pretoria
- SPAIN Libraria Bosch Ronda de la Universidad 11 Barcelona

SWEDEN C.E. Fritzes Kungl. Hovbokhandel Fredsgatan 2 Stockholm 16 SWITZERLAND Librairie Payot Rue Grenus 6 1211 Geneva 11 TURKEY Librairie Hachette 469. Istiklål Caddesi Beyoglu, Istanbul UKRAINIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC See under USSR UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS Mezhdunarodnaya Kniga. Smolenskaya-Sennaya 32-34 Moscow G-200 UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND Her Majesty's Stationery Office P.O. Box 569 London, S.E.1 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA National Agency for International Publications, Inc. 317 East 34th Street New York, N.Y. 10016 VENEZUELA Sr. Braulio Gabriel Chacares Gobernador a Candilito 37 Santa Rosalia (Apartado Postal 8092) Caracas D.F.

Y UGOSLAVIA Jugoslovenska Knjiga Terazije 27 Belgrade

IAEA publications can also be purchased retail at the United Nations Bookshop at United Nations Headquarters, New York, at the news-stand at the Agency's Headquarters, Vienna, and at most conferences, symposia and seminars organized by the Agency.

In order to facilitate the distribution of its publications, the Agency is prepared to accept payment in UNESCO coupons or in local currencies.

Orders and inquiries from countries where sales agents have not yet been appointed may be sent to:

Distribution and Sales Group, International Atomic Energy Agency, Kärntner Ring 11, A-1010, Vienna I, Austria



			¢
<u></u>		<u> </u>	
	INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 1966		
	PRICE: US \$9.50 Austrian Schillings 246,- (£3.7.0; F.Fr. 46,60; DM 38,-)		

o